
GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS MEETING 

Thursday, November 30, 2023 
 

Hazel Conference Room 
Merten Hall 1201 

 
AGENDA 

 
7:30 a.m. – 8:00 a.m.  Continental Breakfast  

8:00 a.m. – 8:20 a.m.  Executive Committee Meeting  

8:35 a.m. – 9:35 a.m.  Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee  

9:50 a.m. – 10:40 a.m.  Finance and Land Use Committee Meeting  

10:55 a.m. – 11:45 a.m.  Development Committee Meeting  

12:00 p.m. – 12:40 p.m.  Research Committee Meeting  

12:40 p.m. – 1:10 p.m. Lunch Break  

1:10 p.m. – 2:00 p.m.  Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee Meeting  

BOARD OF VISITORS MEETING AGENDA 

2:15 p.m.   I. Call to Order 
 
2:15 p.m. – 2:25 p.m.  II.  Approval of the Minutes 

A. Full Board Meeting on September 28, 2023 (ACTION ITEM) 
 
2:25 p.m. – 2:35 p.m. III.        Rector’s Report 

A. SCHEV Orientation Attendance (ACTION ITEM) 
 
2:35 p.m. – 3:20 p.m. IV. President’s Report 

A. University Update 
B. Cricket Overview (Ken Walsh & Sanjay Govil) 
C. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion University Committee Report (Sharnnia Artis & 

Rose Pascarell) 
 

V. Committee Reports    
                
3:20 p.m. – 3:25 p.m.  A.   Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee 

1. Program Actions 
a. New Degree Programs 

i. Master of Education (MEd) in Literacy Education 
(ACTION ITEM) 

ii. Master of Education (MEd) in Inclusive Early 
Childhood Education (ACTION ITEM) 

iii. Bachelor of Science in Education (BSEd) in 
Secondary Education (ACTION ITEM) 



Updated 11/27/2023 

2. Faculty Actions 
a. Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita Status (ACTION ITEM) 
b. Elections of New Tenured Faculty (ACTION ITEM) 

 
3:25 p.m. – 3:30 p.m.  B.   Finance and Land Use Committee 

1. Financial Matters 
a. State Six-Year Operating Plan (ACTION ITEM) 

2. Capital Matters 
a. Schematic Design for Activities Building (ACTION ITEM) 

 
3:30 p.m. – 3:35 p.m.  C.   Development Committee 
 
3:35 p.m. – 3:40 p.m.  D.    Research Committee 
 
3:40 p.m. – 3:45 p.m.  E.    Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
 
3:45 p.m. – 4:50 p.m. VI.   Closed Session 

A. Honorary Degrees and Special Awards (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.11) 
B. Public Contract (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.29) 
C. Consultation with Legal Counsel pertaining to actual or probable litigation (Code of 

VA: §2.2-3711.A.7) 
D. Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring the 

provision of legal advice (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8)  
 
4:50 p.m. – 5:10 p.m. VII.   Public Comments 

5:10 p.m.      VIII.   Adjournment 
 
 
The November 30, 2023, Meeting of the Board of Visitors will be in-person. Members of the public are welcome 
to observe in person or may view the meeting live at the following link: https://bov.gmu.edu/live/.  Overflow 
gallery seating in Merten 1204. 
 
Twenty minutes will be allotted for oral public comments. Both written and oral comments will be entered into 
the public record. To register to provide oral public comment in person, or to submit a written public comment, 
please complete the form at the following link: https://forms.office.com/r/rBwA6TDGDA.  
 
Please be aware that the full board agenda timing is for planning purposes only, the formal meeting could 
conclude before the time noted so participants should plan accordingly. A time limit of two minutes for each 
oral comment registrant has been established at the discretion of the Rector. Speakers are also encouraged to 
submit their comments in writing at the time of registration, in the event time constraints do not allow all 
registrants the opportunity to speak. Registration for oral comments will be accepted until 9:30 a.m. on 
November 27, 2023, and written comments will be accepted until the full board meeting adjourns on 
November 30, 2023. 

https://bov.gmu.edu/live/
https://forms.office.com/r/rBwA6TDGDA


 

 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

 
Executive Committee Meeting 
Thursday, November 30, 2023 

Merten Hall, Hazel Conference Room (1201) 
 

AGENDA 

 

I. Call to Order 
 

II. Approval of Minutes 
A. Executive Committee Meeting Minutes for September 28, 2023 

(ACTION ITEM) 
 

III. Rector’s Comments 
 

IV. President’s Comments 
 

V. Closed Session  
A. Honorary Degrees and Special Awards (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.11) 

B. Public Contract (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.29) 

C. Consultation with Legal Counsel pertaining to actual or probable 

litigation (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.7) 

D. Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters 

requiring the provision of legal advice (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8)  

 
VI. Adjournment 



 
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF VISITORS 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
 

Meeting of 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 

Merten Hall, Hazel Conference Room (1201) 
 

MINUTES 
 
PRESENT:  Rector Horace Blackman, Vice Rector Jon Peterson, Visitors Reginald Brown and Wendy 
Marquez. 
 
ABSENT:  Secretary Michael Meese 
 
ALSO, PRESENT:  Visitors James Hazel, Robert Pence and Charles Stimson; Melissa Broeckelman-Post, 
Faculty Representative; Will Gautney, Staff Liaison; Paul Wyche, Undergraduate Student Representative; 
Gregory Washington, President; Ken Walsh, Executive Vice President for Strategic Initiatives and Chief of 
Staff; Mark Ginsberg, Provost and Executive Vice President; Deb Dickenson, Executive Vice President for 
Administration and Finance; Anne Gentry, University Counsel; and Sarah Hanbury, Secretary pro tem. 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

Rector Blackman called the meeting to order at 8:03 a.m.   
 

II. Approval of Minutes 
A. Executive Committee Meeting Minutes for July 29, 2023 (ACTION ITEM) 

 
Rector Blackman MOVED that the committee approve the Executive Committee Meeting Minutes for July 29, 
2023.  The motion was SECONDED by Vice Rector Peterson.  The MINUTES STOOD APPROVED AS 
WRITTEN. 

 
III. Rector’s Comments 

 
Rector Blackman was pleased to relay that Foster’s Grille is serving lunch today in light of the gift from the 
namesake of the Donald G. Costello College of Business who also owned Foster’s.  Rector Blackman encouraged 
participation in the Mason Now:  Power the Possible Faculty and Staff Reception following the conclusion of the 
full board meeting on the Merten Hall lawn.  
 
 

IV. President’s Comments 
 

Dr. Washington reserved his comments for the full board meeting.  
 

V. Closed Session 
A. Honorary Degrees and Special Awards (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.11) 
B. Personnel Matter (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.1)  
C. Consultation with Legal Counsel pertaining to actual or probable litigation (Code of 

VA: §2.2-3711.A.7) 
D. Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring the 

provision of legal advice (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8)  
 



Executive Committee 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 2 
 
                                     
Vice Rector Peterson MOVED that the committee go into Closed Session under the provisions of Section 2.2-
3711.A.11, for Honorary Degrees and Special Awards; Section 2.2-3711.A.1 to discuss President Washington’s 
contract and a university investigation;  Section 2.2-3711.A.7, for Consultation with legal counsel pertaining to 
actual or probable litigation including briefings on: 
 

Agrawal v. GMU  
Amison v. GMU et al  
Ganley and Surber v. GMU et al.   
Jeong v. GMU et al  
Kinuani v. GMU  
Morrison v. GMU et al.    
Ukor v. GMU 
 

and Section 2.2-3711.A.8 for Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring the 
provision of legal advice concerning the aforementioned items, a university review and admissions policies. 
The motion was SECONDED by Visitor Brown.  MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Following the closed session, Vice Rector Peterson MOVED that the Executive Committee go back into public 
session and further moved that by roll call vote the committee certify that only public business matters lawfully 
exempted from open meeting requirements and only such public business matters as were identified in the motion 
by which the closed meeting was convened were heard, discussed or considered in the meeting by the committee. 
Any member of the committee who believes that there was a departure from the requirements as stated above, 
shall so state prior to the vote, indicating the substance of the departure that, in his or her judgment, has taken 
place.   
 
ALL PRESENT COMMITTEE MEMBERS RESPONDED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE BY ROLL CALL. 
 

VI. Adjournment 
 
Rector Blackman adjourned the meeting at 8:14 a.m. 
 
Prepared by: 
 
Sarah Hanbury 
Secretary pro tem 



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

BOARD OF VISITORS 

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee Meeting 

Thursday, November 30, 2023 

AGENDA 

I.  Call to Order  

 

II. Approval of Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee Minutes from 

September 28, 2023 (Action Item)  

 

III.   New Business 

A. Provost’s Update (K. Walsh)  

B. Admission Process Review (D. Burge, A. Byrd) 

C. Program Actions (Action Item) 

1. New Degree Programs 

a. Master of Education (MEd) in Literacy Education 

b. Master of Education (MEd) in Inclusive Early Childhood Education 

c. Bachelor of Science in Education (BSEd) in Secondary Education  

D. Faculty Actions (Action Item) 

1. Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita Status 

2. Elections of New Tenured Faculty 

E. Undergraduate Student Success at Mason (R. Braun, S. Lorentson) 

F. College Spotlight: College of Education and Human Development (I. Guerra-Lopez) 

G. Announcements 

1. Appointment of Faculty 

2. Appointment of Administrative and Professional Faculty 

3. Appointments/Reappointments of Deans/Directors and Department 

Chairs/School Directors 

4. Renewals and Reappointments 

5. Separations 

6. Other Announcements 

7. BOV Summary Sheet 

IV. Adjournment 



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

Academic Programs, Diversity & University Community Committee 
 

MINUTES 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 

 
 

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair: Lindsey Burke; Vice Chair Nancy Prowitt; Visitors: Jimmy 
Hazel, Mike Meese, Jeff Rosen, Bob Witeck; Staff Representatives: Provost Mark Ginsberg, Sharnnia Artis; 
Rose Pascarell; Faculty Senate President: Melissa Brockelman-Post; Staff Senate Chair: William Gautney; 

Faculty Representative: Cameron Harris; Student Representatives: Paul Wyche, Vikas Velegapudi 

 
ABSENT: Visitors: Anjan Chimaladinne, Wendy Marquez, Faculty Representative: Cesar Rebellion 
 
ALSO PRESENT: President Washington, Rector Horace Blackman; Visitors: Armand Alacbay, Dorothy Gray, 
Dolly Oberoi, Bob Pence, Jon Peterson, Cully Stimson 
 
I. The meeting was called to order by Chair Lindsey Burke at 10:45 a.m. 

 
II. Approval of Minutes (Action Item) 

It was MOVED by Visitor Burke to approve the minutes from the May 4, 2023 APDUC Committee 
Meeting. Approval of the meeting minutes was unanimously approved with no changes or discussion. 

 
III. New Business 

A. Provost’s Update and Medical Education at Mason Update 
Mark R. Ginsberg – Provost and Executive Vice President 
Provost Mark Ginsberg provided an update for the fall 2023 semester and a retrospective of his time as 
provost as he departs Mason this fall to become president of Towson University. He gave an overview 
of the Provost's office and its efforts to enhance access to excellence and opportunity for Mason 
students. In Fall 2023, Mason enrolled over 40,000 students and welcomed new students during move-in 
and convocation. Provost Ginsberg gave a review of the modality of instruction, detailed that Mason's 
rankings have seen an upward trajectory, and highlighted faculty honors. He discussed faculty 
promotion and tenure policies and then reflected on accomplishments during his tenure as provost across 
many critical domains, including students, faculty, and administrative leadership. 
 

B. Resolution to Appoint Board of Trustee Member for Online Virginia Network Authority 
Visitor Hazel outlined the need of the Board of Visitors to appoint a member to serve on the Online 
Virginia Network Authority (OVN). The OVN is governed by a Board of Trustees that has a total 
membership of 15 members. One non-legislative citizen member is appointed by the Board of 
Visitors of George Mason University.   Visitor Hazel has served as George Mason University’s 
appointed member for the past 4 years. Visitor Meese has agreed to serve as the new appointed 
member from George Mason University. 
 
Chairperson Burke called for a MOTION to approve the Resolution to appoint Mike Meese to as the 



Board of Trustees member for the Online Virginia Network Authority of George Mason University; 
Visitor Hazel MOVED; and Visitor Witeck SECONDED. 

 The motion PASSED. 
 
C. Admissions and Enrollment Update 

David Burge – Vice President, Enrollment Management 
Alan Byrd – Dean, Admissions 
David Burge, Vice President for Enrollment Management, and Alan Byrd, Dean of Admissions, 
reported on Admissions and Enrollment for the Fall 2023 semester. At the time of their report, Mason’s 
overall enrollment reached over 40,000 students. They also provided a brief overview of Mason’s 
admissions processes. Those processes are race-neutral and efforts are made to find reasons to include 
someone in the Mason community, welcoming everyone who is academically prepared for the rigors of 
study. When students apply to Mason, they are evaluated on their high school academic performance, 
extracurricular and community activities, and personal essays. Mason reports an admission rate of 
approximately 90 percent for undergraduates.  
 

 
D. Undergraduate Student Success at Mason 

Ryan Braun, Director of Undergraduate Academic Success 
Sally Lorentson, Assistant Vice President, University Life 
In the interest of time, the presentation was delayed until the November Board Meeting. 
 

E. Faculty Actions 
Chairperson Burke called for a MOTION to approve the actions; Visitor Hazel MOVED; Visitor 
Prowitt SECONDED the following program actions: 

1. Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita Status 
The motion PASSED. 
 

F. Faculty Announcements and Reports 
Faculty announcements and reports were acknowledged for the Committee’s benefit. No further 
discussion was held. 

 
IV. Adjournment 

Chairperson Moss adjourned the meeting at 11:42 a.m.  
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Sarah Parnell 
Secretary Pro Tem 
 



G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

Thursday, November 30, 2023

Academic Programs, 
Diversity and University 
Community Committee

Board of Visitors



Agenda
I. Call to Order
II. Approval of Minutes (Action Item)
III. New Business

A. Provost’s Update
B. Admissions Process Review
C. Program Actions (Action Item)
D. Faculty Actions (Action Item)
E. Undergraduate Student Success at Mason
F. College Spotlight: College of Education and Human Development
G. Announcements

IV. Adjournment

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

2 | APDUC



Action Item

Approval of Minutes
September 28, 2023

3 | APDUC



Provost’s 
Update

Kenneth Walsh, PhD
Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

4 | Provost's Update



Kenneth Walsh, PhD
Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

5 | Provost's Update



Undergraduate Education
By the Numbers: 2022-2023

11
Curriculum and 
Summer Team 
Impact Grants

Curriculum and 
Summer Team 
Impact Grants

366
OSCAR-supported 

Undergraduate 
Researchers

213
University Studies 

Courses Taught

66

1,022
Individual Advising 

Appointments

213213

Individual Advising 

27,014
Undergraduate 

StudentsIndividual Advising 

668
First-years in 

UNIV 100sUNIV 100s

738
Students Ser ved by 

the Office of 
Academic Advising

Students
592

Curriculum 
Proposals Reviewed 

by Undergraduate 
Council

Academic Advising87
Applicants for 

Undergraduate 
Research Scholars 

Program

128
Federal Work 

Study Research 
Assistants

88

21
Courses Added 

to the Mason 
Core

50
CECIL Community 

Engagement 
Programs 

G
EO

R
G

E
M

AS
O

N
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY

6 | Provost's Update



Graduate Education
By the Numbers: 2022-2023

582
Certificate

Students2
New

Funding
Programs

StudentsStudents
Certificate

Students
Certificate

Students

7,735
Master’s 

Students
1

New Online 
Orientation

1

1,650
Assistantships 

and 
Lecturers

Assistantships Assistantships Assistantships Assistantships 

2,262
Doctoral 
Students

1
New

Teaching Training 2Teaching Training

1,696
Scholarships, 

Awards, Grants, 
and Fellowships 

107
New Faculty Hired

10
Revised and 

Enhanced Policies

937
Curriculum 

Proposals Reviewed 
by Graduate Council

G
EO

R
G

E
M

AS
O

N
U

N
IV

ER
SI

TY

7 | Provost's Update



Winter Graduation

Commencement
Ceremony

Degree
Celebrations

2024 Winter
Graduates

Thursday, December 14:
• 9:30 a.m. at EagleBank Arena
• Formal faculty procession, music, 

keynote speaker, etc. 
• Regalia required

• 102 Doctoral Students
• 1075 Graduate Students
• 1878 Undergraduate Students

Thursday, December 14:
• 1:30 p.m. for CHSS, COS,

SCHAR, CARTER, CVPA, CEHD
• 5:30 p.m. for CEC, CCB, CPH

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

8 | Provost's Update



G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y Student Credit Hours

*as of 11/27/23 compared to this time 2022

Spring 2024

9 | Provost's Update



Historical Spring Sections by 
Level

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

10 | Provost's Update



Spring
Semester

Spring Schedule

Tuesday, January 16 –
Monday, April 29

Spring
Break
Monday, March 4 –
Sunday, March 10

Spring
Commencement
Thursday, May 9

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

11 | Provost's Update



Spring 2024 Study Abroad

Total
Students 

Abroad

445

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

12 | Provost's Update



Freshman Application 
Comparison

FRESHMAN APPLICATIONS

Fall 2022 Fall 2023 Fall 2024

VA 6,851 9,062 10,383

OOS 3,881 4,857 5,514

Total 10,732 13,919 15,897

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

13 | Provost's Update*applications received by Early Action deadline



Virginia University Growth
G

E
O

R
G

E
 M

A
S

O
N

U
N

IV
E

R
S

IT
Y

14 | Provost's Update

https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/15500337/
https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/15500337/


15 | Provost's Update

Mason College/School Growth
G

E
O

R
G

E
 M

A
S

O
N

U
N

IV
E

R
S

IT
Y

https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/15490184/
https://public.flourish.studio/visualisation/15490184/


16 | Provost's Update

Carnegie Classification – 2021

Source: https://jstring.shinyapps.io/deployed/?_ga=2.30486975.1273675596.1650381322-1241448669.1650381322

Higher education institutions plotted per capita against aggregate scores on 
Carnegie Classification criteria including research expenditures, research staff, 
and doctoral degrees awarded.

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

https://jstring.shinyapps.io/deployed/?_ga=2.30486975.1273675596.1650381322-1241448669.1650381322


17 | Provost's Update

Carnegie Classification – 2021

Source: https://jstring.shinyapps.io/deployed/?_ga=2.30486975.1273675596.1650381322-1241448669.1650381322

Higher education institutions plotted per capita against aggregate scores on 
Carnegie Classification criteria including research expenditures, research staff, 
and doctoral degrees awarded.

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

https://jstring.shinyapps.io/deployed/?_ga=2.30486975.1273675596.1650381322-1241448669.1650381322


18 | Provost's Update

School of Business Renaming

SCHEV Approval: September 22, 2023
Effective: November 1, 2023
Degrees and Certificates:

Donald G. Costello College of Business

• 1 PhD degree program
• 5 MS degree programs
• 1 MBA program
• 7 graduate and 1 undergraduate certificates
• 1 BS degree program (8 concentrations)
• 14 minor programs

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



19 | Provost's Update

Mason and University of Mary 
Washington Collaboration 

Unified Library
System

Expanding BAM to
UMW Students

Mason and UMW are creating a 
unified library system, enhancing 
resources and services for 
students, faculty, and staff across 
both institutions. 

Mason and UMW are working 
together to facilitate UMW 
student enrollment in Mason's 
Bachelor's/Accelerated 
Master's (BAM) programs.

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y





21 | Provost's Update

Appropriations per Graduate
Residing in VA—FY22

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



22 | Provost's UpdateSource: https://www.amacad.org/publication/employment-outcomes-humanities-majors-state-profiles

Annual Earnings of Virginia
College-Educated Workers

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

https://www.amacad.org/publication/employment-outcomes-humanities-majors-state-profiles


23 | Provost's UpdateSource: https://www.amacad.org/publication/employment-outcomes-humanities-majors-state-profiles

Annual Earnings of Virginia
College-Educated Workers

191,074 humanities majors reside in Virginia and work full-time.

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

https://www.amacad.org/publication/employment-outcomes-humanities-majors-state-profiles


24 | Provost's UpdateSource: https://www.amacad.org/publication/employment-outcomes-humanities-majors-state-profiles

Annual Earnings of Virginia
College-Educated Workers

191,074 humanities majors reside in Virginia and work full-time.

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y

https://www.amacad.org/publication/employment-outcomes-humanities-majors-state-profiles


25 | Provost's Update

Celebrating Service

James Lawrey
College of Science

Joe Scimecca
College of Humanities and 
Social Sciences

Wally Grotophorst
University Libraries

David Levy
College of Humanities and Social 
Sciences

Lay Lim
University Libraries

Jeanne Medford
Intercollegiate Athletics

Milestones

35-YEAR: 5

20-YEAR: 53

30-YEAR: 21

25-YEAR: 38

Milestones
Other

5-YEAR: 255

15-YEAR: 114

10-YEAR: 133

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



26 | Provost's Update

It's Mason's Time
G

E
O

R
G

E
 M

A
S

O
N

U
N

IV
E

R
S

IT
Y



David Burge
Vice President for Enrollment Management

Alan Byrd
Dean of Admissions

Admissions Process 
Review

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



Admission Process Review – Summary

28

Admissions 
Process –

Undergraduate 
Application 

Requirements

New Student 
Enrollment 
Processes 

Post-Admission

Fee Waivers 
and 

Pell Student 
Recruitment



The Application Phase

Step 1
Prospective students apply by 

submitting the following 
materials:

• Common Application or Mason 
Online Application

• Cumulative high school GPA
• Secondary school report 

• English proficiency test scores 
for non-native English speakers

• Optional elements, including:
• SAT or ACT scores

• A personal statement
• Activity sheet or resume

• Counselor recommendations
29

Step 2
Prospective students submit

materials by the following 
deadlines:

November 1, Early Action

Priority consideration for the 
Honors College, University 

Scholars program, and Mason 
merit-based scholarships

February 1, Regular Decision

Step 3
Admissions counselors review

materials and release decisions:

Early Action Applicants: 
Mid-December 

Regular Decision Applicants: 
March



The Pre-Enrollment Phase

30

Submit their Enrollment 
Deposit

Submitting this $250 deposit 
confirms their intent to enroll and 
allows them to complete further 

steps.

Submit their FAFSA or VASA
Completable during the 

application phase, prospective 
freshmen should submit their 

FAFSA by February 15 for the 24-
25 aid year. The usual freshman 

deadline is February 1.

Activate Patriot Pass and 
@GMU Email Account

Instructions for activating Patriot 
Pass send several days after 

students submit their deposits. 
Activating Patriot Pass allows 

students to access their @GMU 
email.

Submit a Housing Application 
or Exemption

All prospective freshmen must 
submit a housing application or 
exemption request. The priority 
application deadline is May 1.

Register for Orientation
Registration for students arriving in 

the fall opens in April.

Submit Immunization 
Records* 

All students must submit records 
of their immunizations to Student 

Health Services.

Submit Final Transcripts*
School counselors must submit a 
student’s final transcripts to the 

Office of Admissions.

*Students who do not complete 
these steps by their associated 

deadlines will have a hold placed 
on their account.

Before/When Decisions Release Before Arriving on CampusAfter Depositing



Fee Waiver Eligibility

31

• Eligible for ACT, NACAC, SAT, Free and Reduced Lunch Program (FRLP), or Fairfax College Partnership 
(FCPP) fee waivers. 

• ADVANCE students
• Applications received during the Virginia College Application Week
• High school scholars and who have earned Mason college credit through attendance at Mason’s The 

Washington Journalism and Media Conference (WJMC) or The Washington Youth Summit on the 
Environment (WYSE).

• Participation in the Governor’s School at Innovation Park.
• Members of Mason’s Early Identification Program (EIP).
• Participants of the Mason Dream Catchers program.
• Transfer applicants who are currently receiving a full PELL award at their current institution. 
• McNair Scholars.
• Mason faculty, non-student wage or classified staff (full or part-time).
• Eligible Virginia residents, 60 years or older with a taxable income of less than $23,850.



Freshmen Admit by GPA

32

New

HS GPA Bin Fall 2020 Fall 2021 Fall 2022 Fall 2023

3.8+ 99.2% 99.2% 99.3% 99.2%

3.6-3.79 98.9% 98.8% 98.8% 98.7%

3.4-3.59 97.6% 98.4% 98.4% 97.5%

3.2-3.39 91.1% 97.0% 93.7% 95.8%

3.0-3.19 75.7% 82.8% 69.5% 69.6%

<3.0 21.3% 21.7% 13.1% 13.3%



Mason relies on Pell students in Northern Virginia 
to make enrollment targets

33

NORTHERN VA
Total 

Enrollment  
% Pell

Total Pell 
Students

Mason Pell 
Students

Mason Pell % 
of Total Pell

% Mason Pell 
From Total 
Enrollment 

Alexandria City 32% 1,582 218 14% 46%
Arlington County 22% 1,147 270 24% 38%

Fairfax City 24% 423 108 26% 32%
Fairfax County 22% 9,770 3,198 33% 33%

Falls Church City 24% 299 10 3% 16%
Loudoun County 13% 3,096 845 27% 26%

Manassas City 27% 689 114 16% 41%
Manassas Park City 27% 177 68 38% 39%

Prince William County 27% 5,608 1,306 23% 35%
Stafford County 23% 1,472 130 9% 28%

TOTAL: 22% 24,263 6,267 26% 33%

Manassas City
Manassas Park City

Northern Virginia 
Pell Students 

don’t just go to 

Mason.

Mason enrollment 
relies on a high % 
of Pell students

*SCHEV, FA31: Pell Recipients by VA Locality and Institution, 2021-22



34

Pell Pipeline: Free and Reduced Lunch as predictor of Need

*Indicators of Higher Education Equity in the US, 2022, The Pell Institute



Free and Reduced Lunch – by state

35

*Indicators of Higher Education Equity in the US, 2022, The Pell Institute



Applications with/without fees

36

Applications % Admitted Yield Rate Fee Summary Net Tuition 
Revenue

Freshman

Fee Waiver 9,255 70.3% 20.2% ($657,790) $20,174,469

Paid Fee 15,838 85.8% 23.0% $1,107,400 $44,016,667

Total 25,093 80.1% 22.1% $1,107,400 $64,191,136

Transfer

Fee Waiver 349 71.1% 72.1% ($27,170) $1,564,108

ADVANCE 550 100.0% 93.7% ($38,290) $3,841,502

Paid Fee 5,525 71.9% 65.6% $348,390 $25,902,559

Total 6,424 71.8% 68.9% $348,390 $31,308,169

Grand Total 31,517 78.5% 30.2% $1,452,790 $95,499,305



37

Application Fee Waivers are Prevalent in the Market

College/University Application Fee Virginia College 
Application Week

ACT/SAT, NACAC, 
Free/Reduced 

Lunch
Christopher Newport  Fee Waiver

James Madison   Fee Waiver
Longwood  Fee Waiver

Norfolk State  Fee Waiver Fee Waiver
Old Dominion  Fee Waiver

Radford  No Fees
Mary Washington  No Fees

UVA  Fee Waiver Fee Waiver
UVA Wise  No Fees

VCU  Fee Waiver Fee Waiver
VA Military Institute  No Fees

VSU  No Fees
VT  Fee Waiver Fee Waiver

William & Mary  Fee Waiver Fee Waiver



Action
Items

38 | APDUC



39 | APDUC

New Degree Programs

Master of Education (MEd)
Literacy Education

As part of SCHEV's special initiative for Virginia public higher education institutions, the 
proposed fall 2024 degree programs aim to help alleviate shortages of licensed personnel in 
Virginia’s school districts.

Master of Education (MEd)
Inclusive Early Childhood Education

Bachelor of Science (BS)
Secondary Education

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



Action Item
MOTION
To approve the following Program Actions, en bloc, as they 
are outlined in the meeting materials:

New Degree Programs

• Master of Education (MEd) in Literacy Education
• Master of Education (MEd) in Inclusive Early Childhood Education
• Bachelor of Science in Education (BSEd) in Secondary Education

40 | APDUC



41 | APDUC

Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita 
Status

Elizabeth DeMulder
College of Education and 

Human Development

James Bennett
College of Humanities
and Social Sciences

Richard Klimoski
Costello College of 

Business

Harold Linton
College of Visual and 

Performing Arts

Peter Winant
College of Visual and 

Performing Arts

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



42 | APDUC

Elections of New Tenured 
Faculty

Ethan C. Ahn
College of Engineering and Computing

Ketul C. Popat
College of Engineering and Computing

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



Action Item
MOTION
To approve the following Faculty Actions, en bloc, as they 
are outlined in the meeting materials:

• Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita Status
• Elections of New Tenured Faculty

43 | APDUC



Undergraduate Student 
Success at Mason

Ryan Braun, Ph.D. Director of Undergraduate Academic Success

Sally Lorentson, Ed.D. Assistant Vice President, University Life



45 | Undergraduate Student Success at Mason

Mason Students Succeed
S i x - ye a r  G ra d u at i o n  R at e s

NCES 2014 Cohort



Mason Network Drives Student Success

46 | Undergraduate Student Success at Mason

Advisor

Faculty

Career

Coach

Global Education Office

Learning Support and Tutoring

Experiential Learning

Undergraduate Research

Student Engagement

Student Libraries

Student Support Services

Mason Student Services Center

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion



47 | Undergraduate Student Success at Mason

Technology Connects the Network
I nve st m e nt s  i n  Te c h n o l o g y  t o  O p t i m i ze  t h e  S u c c e s s  N e t w o r k



48 | Undergraduate Student Success at Mason

Leveraging the Success Network Today...

Data 
Informed 

Interventions

Learning 
Support

Career-
focused 

outcomes

2

1

3

1
2

3



49 | Undergraduate Student Success at Mason

...And Scaling 
Success for 
Mason’s Future



Thank You! Questions?



Ingrid Guerra-López, PhD
Dean, College of Education and Human Development

College of Education and 
Human Development

G
E

O
R

G
E

 M
A

S
O

N
U

N
IV

E
R

S
IT

Y



52 | CEHD

College of Education 
and Human 

Development

School of Education

School of Sports, 
Recreation & Tourism 

Management

School Kinesiology

Promoting Learning, Development, and 

Well-being Across the Lifespan

 Among the top graduate schools of education in the U.S. (#59 

U.S. News & World Report)

 Among the largest colleges of education in Virginia

 Nearly 4,000 students

 130+ full time instructional faculty

 17 nationally recognized programs

 Approximately 100% placement post-graduation

 More than 1/3 of all Northern Virginia Public School 

teachers and 50% of school leaders are CEHD graduates

 $10+ Million in research expenditures



CEHD Mission 

53 | CEHD

The College of Education and Human Development is an 

inclusive community of scholars, educators, and practitioners 

dedicated to the lifelong pursuit of learning, development, and 

well-being. Through transdisciplinary collaboration, we 

innovate and produce research that positively impacts the 

Commonwealth, the nation, and the world.



54 | CEHD



Convergence of Core Social Factors 

55 | CEHD

Learner Needs

Employer 
Needs

Technology

Institutional 
Mission

• Recruiting Diverse Talent
• Upskilling for Competitive Advantage
• Reskilling to reduce turnover
• Retention through learning & development
• Out-skilling to support employees in finding other 

opportunities

• Advances in Learning Technologies
(flexibility, access, quality, support)

• Blockchain (alternative credentials)
• Evolution of work and workplace

(the future of work; industry 4.0)

• Equity in Access
• Equity in Academic Success
• Equity in Economic and Social Mobility
• Lifelong learning for longer life expectancy

• Create a just, free, & 
prosperous world

• Promote Learning & 
Development Across
a Lifespan

• Innovate
• Diversity of individuals, 

perspectives, and ideas
• Entrepreneurial
• Accessible



Lifelong Learning, Development , 
Employability and Well-being

56 | CEHD

Integrated learn 
& earn models

Flexible

21 Century Skills

Scalable Inclusive

Cost-Effective

Education, government & 
industry partnerships



Digital 
Competencies

Disciplinary 
Competencies

Employability  
(Transferable & 

Interdisciplinary) 
Competencies

Addressing Complex Social Problems & Opportunities 

Requires Competence across multiple domains

57 | CEHD



1. Analytical thinking and innovation 9. Resilience, stress tolerance, and flexibility

2. Active learning & learning strategies 10. Reasoning, problem-solving and ideation

3. Complex problem-solving 11. Emotional intelligence

4. Critical thinking and analysis 12. Troubleshooting and user experience

5. Creativity, originality, and initiative 13. Service orientation

6. Leadership and social influence 14. Systems analysis and evaluation

7. Technology use, monitoring, and control 15. Persuasion and negotiation

8. Technology design and programming

Top 15 Skills for 2025

Source: Future of Jobs Survey 2020, World Economic Forum

Source: Future of Jobs Survey 2020, World Economic Forum
58 | CEHD



Accelerated College and Employability Skills (ACCESS) Academy



Accelerated College and Employability Skills: 

(ACCESS) Academy

▰ A lab school that provides an innovative educational experience to high school 

students, who have not historically had access to opportunities and pathways that 

meet their needs and lead to high-demand and well compensated career 

opportunities, as they simultaneously work toward two- and four-year college 

degrees.

▰ A partnership among three of the largest educational institutions in the region:

▻ George Mason University (Mason)

▻ Northern Virginia Community College (NOVA)

▻ Fairfax County Public Schools (FCPS)

60 | CEHD



Vision and Mission

Vision

To prepare adaptable lifelong learners that collaboratively and creatively solve 

complex problems in any setting, as technologies, the nature of work, workers, and 

the workplace evolve over time.

Mission

To provide new innovative pathways for traditionally underserved students toward 

high demand, well compensated careers, while simultaneously working toward two-

and four-year degrees to maximize their earning potential over their work life. 

61 | CEHD



Innovative Teaching and Learning Methods

PBL-IT Curriculum Design:
IT curriculum designed within a 
problem-based learning approach, 
with increasing levels of 
complexity each year

Employability Skills:
Systems Thinking, Critical 
Thinking, Collaboration, Flexibility, 
Communication, etc.

Competency-Based Education: 
Learning outcomes aligned to on-
the-job competencies; 
Performance-based assessments

Learn-and-Earn Model:
Paid internships with
industry partners

62 | CEHD



Learning Innovation Lab FUSE at Mason Square

▰ ACCESS Academy will be an immersive experience in a 
state-of-the-art infrastructure with Public-Private 
partners.

o On-the-job paid internships (Learn-and-Earn model)

o Research experiences

▰ The Academy will become a training ground of 
innovative teaching practices for current and future 
educators.

o Teacher candidates, in-service teachers, and IT 
faculty will develop skills in PBL pedagogy

o Active learning and development of learning 
strategies

o On-site observations and field experiences
63 | CEHD



Transdisciplinary Collaborations

Industry:
Authentic Problems & Case Studies

Internships

Mentors

SiteVisits

Guest Presenters

CEHD and IT:
PBL IT Curriculum

Research & Innovations in Teaching & 
Learning

Mason, NOVA, FCPS:
Learning Ecosystem

Dual Enrollment

Wrap Around Services

64 | CEHD



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  | 6 5 |G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  |

Program Elements OutcomesInputs

VA Dept of Education resources

GMU, NOVA, and schools faculty 
and staff time & expertise
• faculty and teachers
•school counselors
• instructional designers
•coaches

Stakeholder Input
• Industry Partners & Employers
•School Divisions
•Business Development 
Organizations
•Parents
•Students
•Educational Administrators

Multiple pathways into the 
workforce, undergraduate 

and advanced graduate 
work to fill critical 

demand in key industries

Teachers competent & 
applying innovative 

instructional methods

Reduction in 
administrative & financial 
barriers for traditionally 

underrepresented 
students in technology 
related career fields

Diversified IT Talent pool 
for our region

Increased earning 
potential and quality of life 
for program completers

Scalable model that can be 
replicated regionally and 

nationally

Freshman 
Year On 
Ramp

TA for integrating employability 
skills  across the curriculum

Teacher PD on PBL

Integration with EIP 
Programming

Alignment to other STEM 
programs in school division

Sophomore 
Year On 
Ramp

TA for integrating employability 
skills across the curriculum

Teacher PD on PBL

Integration with EIP 
Programming/peer mentoring

Alignment to other STEM 
programs in base school

School visits/presentations from 
Industry Partners

Junior Year    
On Ramp 

Teacher PD on PBL; TA for 
integration of employability skills

Dual Enrollment

Experiential PBL-IT Curriculum

Wrap Around Services (EIP, 
NOVA, MASON)

Peer Mentoring  
(EIP/GMU/NOVA students)

Immersive Fuse Research & 
Innovation Campus Experience

Unpaid internship

Senior Year  
On Ramp

Teacher PD on PBL; TA for 
integration of employability skills

Summer Bridge Program

Dual enrollment

Experiential PBL-IT Curriculum

Wrap Around Services (EIP, 
NOVA, MASON)

Intensive Employability Skills 
Development

Peer Mentoring 
(GMU students)

Immersive Fuse Research & 
Innovation Campus Experience

On-the-job paid senior internship

ACCELERATED COLLEGE AND EMPLOYABILITY SKILLS ACADEMY (ACCESS)



Sustainability

Engagement among
MASON, FCPS,

NOVA, and Industry

Continuous Program
Program Monitoring

Monitoring &
Evaluation

Diversified Funding
Strategy

Ongoing Professional
Development for

Educators

Fostering Community
among Alumni and

Families

Using Data and
Feedback to Inform
Strategic Decisions

Scalable and
Replicable

Model

66 | CEHD



Mason Research Practice Partnership



A Purposeful Collaboration

FROM:
Traditionally University Centric 

Partnerships

•Typically, university-led research, where schools are sites 
for research to be conducted, or the consumers of the 

research

•The primary purpose of research is to 
further knowledge to eventually inform practice

•Research problems are articulated at the 
university by researchers

A more equitable and productive partnership between 
university and school systems

Consequential research is driven by problems of 
practice - i.e., actionable and timely research 

that the school systems can use

School systems are co-creators and collaborators of 
action research with university researchers

TO:
Research-Practice Partnerships

68 | CEHD



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  | 6 9 |G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  |

RESEARCH PRACTICE PARTNERSHIP (RPP)

• CEHD is partnering with Virginia Region 
4 schools to create a collaborative 
approach to leveraging our unique 
strengths and addressing shared 
challenges.

• The RPP is intentionally organized to 
engage diverse forms of expertise, 
perspectives, disciplines, and methods.

• The RPP aligns well with the College's 
mission to generate research of 
consequence which positively impacts the 
Commonwealth, the nation, and the 
world.

Alexandria
Arlington County
Clarke County

Culpeper County
Fairfax County
Falls Church

Fauquier County
Frederick County
Loudoun County
Madison County

Manassas
Manassas Park
Orange County
Page County

Prince William County
Rappahannock County
Shenandoah County

Warren County
Winchester



• Work Stream 1: Leadership 
development

• Work Stream 2: Recruitment 
and retention

• Work Stream 3: Science of 
reading/science of math

RPP Strategic Framework – Developed in Partnership

• Work Stream 4: Educator and 
staff well-being

• Work Stream 5: Student well-
being

• Work Stream 6: Creating 
narrative impact by focusing 
on educators to reshape 
opinion and perception

Building Teacher and         
Leader Capacity

Education Community         
Well-Being

Creating a New Narrative

Ongoing measurement and equitable lens are integral to all strategic efforts and work streams

Strategic Initiatives



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  | 7 1 |G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  |

• Three Region 4 divisions collaborating 
with CEHD on Spencer Foundation grant 
application to study the implementation 
of the Virginia Literacy Act

• Teacher and student wellness activity in 
partnership with Frederick County Public 
Schools

• Narrative content project to reshape 
perceptions through storytelling about 
teaching and teachers

Virginia 2023 Teacher of the Year, and 
content storyteller, Fabiana Parker



Addressing Teacher Shortage and Retention in NOVA:
Multiple Pathways toward Teacher Licensure and Professional Development

SCHOOL OF EDUCATION

Multiple Pathways toward Teacher Licensure and Professional DevelopmentMultiple Pathways toward Teacher Licensure and Professional Development



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  | 7 3 |G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  |

MASON TEACHER PREPARATION PROGRAMS

• Professional Studies Courses
• ECE, ELED, SEED, PK-12 Licensure areas, SpecEd)
• Fully online, graduate/non-degree
• Meets six course professional studies requirement for provisionally licensed teachers

• Contract Courses/Cost-Sharing Cohorts
• Licensure-area specific contract courses and cohorts for TESOL, SpecEd, ECE, ELED
• Content area endorsement courses for teachers on pathways to provisional licensure

• Alternative Pathways/Structures
• IA Cohorts (contract courses)
• Grow Your Own
• Building residency/apprenticeship partnerships

Alternative Structures Supporting Licensure

• BSEd Degrees
• Early Childhood (Pre-K-3)
• Early Childhood Special Ed
• Elementary
• Health & Physical Ed
• Special Education

• Licensure Certificates (15-26)
• Secondary Education
• Early Childhood (Pre-K-3)
• Early Childhood Special Ed
• SpecEd (multiple options)

Licensure Certificate & Degree Options

Potential 
Audiences
• Instructional 

Assistants
• Provisionally 

Licensed
• GYO Pathways
• Training 

Teachers
• Traditional 

Students

Format 
Option
• Fully online
• Hybrid
• Part/full time
• Daytime courses
• Evening course



SCHOOL OF SPORTS, RECREATION, AND TOURISM MANAGEMENT (SRTM)

E-Sports



eSports at SRTM

75 | CEHD

• Leading a collaborative eSports initiative across Mason 
to advance the development of eSports program, related 
curriculum, and broad recognition.

• Engaging Sports Management students, the GMU eSports 
Departmental Student organization, leadership, 
instructors, coaches, and others to:
• Maximize opportunities for students to pursue eSports 

courses and degrees
• Engage with eSports teams and events to maximize 

student sense of belonging and career readiness.



SCHOOL OF KINESIOLOGY 

Virginia Concussion Initiative

76



G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  | 7 7 |G E O R G E  M A S O N  U N I V E R S I T Y  |

The child is at the center of the home, school, and community.  
A proactive and coordinated team approach is critical to ensuring 
optimal health and learning outcomes for children with concussions.



• Appointment of Faculty

• Appointment of Administrative and Professional Faculty

• Appointments/Reappointments of Deans/Directors and Department Chairs/School 

Directors

• Renewals and Reappointments

• Separations

• Other Announcements

• BOV Summary Sheet

Announcements
G

E
O

R
G

E
 M

A
S

O
N

U
N

IV
E

R
S

IT
Y

78 | APDUC



Adjournment
PROVOST.GMU.EDU



          
ITEM NUMBER:    
Master of Education (MEd) in Literacy Education Degree Program Proposal 
 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM:  
The MEd in Literacy Education degree program proposal is in development for submission to the 
State Council of Higher Education for Virginia (SCHEV) for initiation in Fall 2024. Prior to 
SCHEV submission, Board action is required. 
 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE:    
Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE: 
The proposed MEd in Literacy Education degree program will prepare practicing teachers to 
better support the literacy learning of K-12 students throughout Virginia. The proposed program 
provides advanced coursework that will allow K-12 educators to use research-based instructional 
and assessment practices in literacy, bolstering the literacy learning of Virginia’s K-12 students. 
The proposed degree program also provides opportunities for teachers to become eligible for the 
Reading Specialist endorsement in Virginia. Newly enacted legislation in Virginia will lead to an 
increase in the number of reading specialists required in public schools. Currently, school 
divisions in Virginia are required to employ one full-time reading specialist in each elementary 
school. When the Virginia Literacy Act (VLA) takes effect in the 2024-2025 school year, this 
will increase to one reading specialist for every 550 students in grades K-5 and one reading 
specialist for every 1,100 students in grades 6-8. The VLA also provides funding for reading 
intervention services, often provided by licensed reading specialists.  
 
The MEd in Literacy Education will provide students with a strong foundation of competencies 
and proficiencies (knowledge, skills, and dispositions) as established by the Commonwealth of 
Virginia and the International Literacy Association (ILA). Students completing the program will 
be prepared to seek the advanced K-12 Reading Specialist licensure endorsement in Virginia. 
The MEd in Literacy Education will also allow educators who do not wish to seek an advanced 
endorsement to deepen their understanding of research-based instructional and assessment 
practices in literacy, leading to more effective classroom practice.   
 
 
REVENUE IMPLICATIONS: 
The MEd in Literacy Education degree program will be revenue neutral. All courses required for 
the degree currently exist as part of George Mason University's MEd in Curriculum and 
Instruction, concentration in Literacy Leadership for Diverse Schools.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends Board approval. 



           
 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Description of Proposed Program ................................................................................................... 1 

Program Background .................................................................................................................. 1 
Delivery Format .......................................................................................................................... 2 
Accreditation ............................................................................................................................... 3 

State Licensing Agency .............................................................................................................. 3 
Admission Criteria ...................................................................................................................... 3 
Curriculum .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Program Requirements .................................................................................................................... 5 
Time to Complete ....................................................................................................................... 7 
Student Learning Assessment ..................................................................................................... 7 
Relation to Existing Degree Programs (Degree, Certificate, Sub-area) ..................................... 8 

Justification for the Proposed Program ........................................................................................... 9 
Response to Current Needs (Specific Demand) .......................................................................... 9 
Duplication ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Projected Resource Needs for the Proposed Program .................................................................. 12 
Resource Needs ......................................................................................................................... 12 

 
 

 
  



           
 

 1 

Description of Proposed Program 
 

Program Background 
 
George Mason University seeks approval for a Master of Education (MEd) degree program in 
Literacy Education. The proposed degree program will be administered by the College of 
Education and Human Development, School of Education. The anticipated initiation date is Fall 
2024. 
 
First opening in 1957 as the Northern Virginia branch of the University of Virginia, George 
Mason University was established as an independent four-year, degree-granting institution in 
1972. Since its inception the University has offered teacher preparation degree programs. 
Currently, the College of Education and Human Development’s School of Education has more 
than 2,500 students enrolled. Degree offerings in teacher preparation include undergraduate and 
graduate pathways to more than 30 different licensure and endorsement areas in Virginia.   
 
To identify the proposed MEd degree program as appropriate for submission, the College of 
Education and Human Development examined degree programs that would address critical 
shortages in teaching endorsement areas and problems of educational concern for the Virginia. 
The U.S. Department of Education (VDOE) has consistently identified "reading specialist" as a 
high-needs field, especially in schools that serve low-income students, both nationwide and at 
times in Virginia since 1998.1 The proposed MEd in Literacy Education degree program, 
designed to prepare reading specialists, addresses this need. 
 
In addition, the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic negatively impacted reading 
achievement across the nation as “sizable drops in reading achievement occurred between fall 
2020 and fall 2021.”2 This impact is apparent in Virginia, where reading achievement has 
declined in recent years. Results from Virginia’s 2022-2023 Standards of Learning assessments 
demonstrate “significant and persistent learning loss in reading and math for Virginia students in 
grades 3-8. More than half of 3rd-8th graders either failed or are at risk of failing their reading 
SOL exam, and nearly two-thirds of 3rd-8th graders either failed, or are at risk of failing, their 
math SOL exam.” In addition, persistent achievement gaps continue to exist for certain 
subgroups of students.3 These results mirror the trends seen in the National Assessment of 
Education Progress (NAEP). In 2022, only 31% of fourth- and eighth-grade students completing 
the NAEP in Virginia reached at least a proficient level of performance.4 “Since 2017, fourth 
graders in Virginia suffered the largest declines in reading and math in the nation….For the first 

 
1 Cross, F. (2016). Teacher shortage areas nationwide listing, 1990-1991 through 2016-2017. U.S. Department of 
Education, Office of Postsecondary Education. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ope/pol/tsa.pdf  
2 Kuhfeld, M., Lewis, K., & Peltier, T. (2022). Reading achievement declines during the COVID-19 pandemic: 
Evidence from 5 million U.S. students in grades 3-8. Reading and Writing, 36, 245-261. 
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-022-10345-8  
3 Virginia Department of Education. (2023). 2022-2023 test results show Virginia students continue to struggle with 
COVID-related learning loss in reading and math. 
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/Home/Components/News/News/314/227  
4 U.S. Department of Education. Institute of Education Science, National Center for Education Statistics, National 
Assessment of Education Progress (NAEP), 2022 Reading Assessment. 
https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=MAT&sj=&sfj=NP&st=MN&year=2022R3  

https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ope/pol/tsa.pdf
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-022-10345-8
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/Home/Components/News/News/314/227
https://www.nationsreportcard.gov/profiles/stateprofile?chort=1&sub=MAT&sj=&sfj=NP&st=MN&year=2022R3


           
 

 2 

time in 30 years, Virginia’s 4th grade students have fallen below the national average in 
reading…. The average scores of the Commonwealth’s eight graders also dropped, with 
statistically significant declines” in reading.5 The proposed degree program will prepare 
practicing teachers to better support the literacy learning of K-12 students throughout Virginia, 
helping to address these declines.  
 
In response to reading achievement declines, legislators in Virginia passed the Virginia Literacy 
Act (VLA)6 in 2022 and its expansion in 2023.7 The proposed degree program will help prepare 
the increased number of reading specialists required by the legislation. Currently, schools in 
Virginia are required to employ “one full-time in each elementary school at the discretion of the 
local school board.”8 When the VLA takes effect in the 2024-2025 school year, “each local 
school board shall employ one reading specialist for each 550 students in kindergarten through 
grade five and one reading specialist for each 1,100 students in grades six through eight.” In 
addition, “to provide reading intervention services required by § 22.1-253.13:1, school divisions 
may employ reading specialists to provide the required reading intervention services.”7 The 
decision to propose a new MEd in Literacy Education addresses this increased need for reading 
specialists. 
 

Delivery Format 
 
The proposed MEd degree program in Literacy Education will be offered in the traditional, face-
to-face format and fully online. Both physical space and software to facilitate asynchronous 
online sessions are required and will be available. George Mason University possesses the 
resources, support, and technology necessary for online degree programs. The online courses are 
supported by a personal support center through the university’s primary learning management 
system, Blackboard. Blackboard is centrally supported by the university’s Information 
Technology Services (ITS), which provides technical assistance, training, and system 
administration 24 hours a day every day. ITS also supports a portfolio of academic technology 
applications for use in online courses. The ITS Learning Support Center and the Stearns Center 
for Teaching and Learning provide training to faculty in both the use of the Blackboard software 
and in the design of courses.  
 
All students will have access to online resources through security-protected access credentials. 
Support services for students will include access to online systems such as electronic mail, online 
library resources, PatriotWeb (a self-service site for students to manage their administrative 
records and accounts), financial aid, academic services, career services, disability services, and 
the University Bookstore. Computer support is available 24 hours a day every day. Phone 
support is available every day at hours posted on the ITS Support Center website. For the face-

 
5 Virginia Department of Education. (2022). Dismal NAEP results confirm urgency of education reforms in 
Virginia: “Nation’s Report Card” shows Virginia fourth graders recorded the largest declines in reading and math 
in the nation. https://www.doe.virginia.gov/Home/Components/News/News/184/227?arch=1&npage=2 
6 Virginia Literacy Act, Code of Virginia §22.1-299.7:1, chapters 549 & 550. https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-
bin/legp604.exe?221+ful+CHAP0549  
7 Student Literacy Measures, Code of Virginia §22.1-299.7:1, chapters 645 & 646. https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-
bin/legp604.exe?231+ful+CHAP0646  
8 Instructional, administrative, and support personnel, Code of Virginia §22.1-253.13:2. 
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title22.1/chapter13.2/section22.1-253.13:2/ 

https://www.doe.virginia.gov/Home/Components/News/News/184/227?arch=1&npage=2
https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?221+ful+CHAP0549
https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?221+ful+CHAP0549
https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?231+ful+CHAP0646
https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?231+ful+CHAP0646
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title22.1/chapter13.2/section22.1-253.13:2/


           
 

 3 

to-face delivery of courses, George Mason University has adequate classroom space and 
associated equipment to successfully deliver the proposed degree program. 
 

Accreditation  
 
The proposed MEd degree program in Literacy Education will need to be accredited by the 
Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP). CAEP is a professional 
accreditor for educator preparation providers. The CAEP accreditation process ensures educator 
preparation providers whose programs lead to certification, licensure, or endorsement meet 
demanding standards for the preparation of educators and other professional school personnel. 
Through standards that focus on systematic assessment of candidate learning, CAEP encourages 
accredited institutions to engage in continuous improvement based on accurate and consistent 
data.  
 
George Mason University’s existing Master of Education in Curriculum and Instruction degree 
program with a concentration in Literacy Leadership for Diverse Schools is presently accredited 
by CAEP through Spring 2026. George Mason University will comply with the following re-
accreditation timeline: 
 
February 2025  Submit self-study document  
October 2025  Site Visit by Accreditation Team 
Spring 2026  Decision rendered about accreditation status 
 

State Licensing Agency 
Virginia Department of Education 

 
The proposed MEd in Literacy Education would be required to meet the biennial measures 
prescribed by the Virginia State Board of Education. The Virginia Department of Education 
provides detailed and specific information for meeting the standards and competencies expected 
of Virginia's educators in their respective disciplines. The requirements are extensive, and all 
educator preparation programs must meet all the licensure regulations, professional studies, and 
endorsement requirements for each discipline/teaching area to be approved to offer Educator 
Preparation Programs. 
 
The existing Master of Education in Curriculum and Instruction, concentration in Literacy 
Leadership for Diverse Schools is designed to meet the Virginia Department of Education 
standards and regulations. In 2021, George Mason University submitted its biennial report for 
2019-2021, which evaluates all educator preparation programs offered by the University. The 
Virginia Department of Education approved the Literacy Leadership for Diverse Schools 
concentration in this report. The next biennial report will cover 2021-2023 and will be submitted 
to the Virginia Department of Education in Fall 2023.  
 

Admission Criteria 
 
All students will be required to fulfill the graduate admission requirements of the University. 
Applicants must: 



           
 

 4 

• Complete an online Application for Graduate Study.  
• Pay a nonrefundable application fee or receive a fee waiver. 
• Have earned a baccalaureate degree from an institution of higher education accredited by 

a Mason-recognized U.S. institutional accrediting agency, or international equivalent, 
with verified official transcripts.  

• Have a minimum 3.00 GPA on a 4.00 scale in baccalaureate study. 
• Submit official transcripts from all institutions attended for each program applied to 

unless the programs are in the same college or school. 
• Submit a goals statement. 
• Submit two letters of recommendation as required by the program. 
• Submit an application for Virginia In-State Tuition Rates, if claiming entitlement to these 

rates. 
 

The College of Education and Human Development will require applicants to the proposed 
degree program to satisfy additional requirements. Applicants must: 

• have at least one year of teaching experience.  
 
Applicants who have not earned a baccalaureate or graduate degree in the U.S. must submit: 

• Official English translations of all diplomas, certificates, and transcripts that are not 
already in English. Also, documents from foreign institutions must meet the university’s 
guidelines for international transcript submission. 

• Proof of English proficiency: either the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), 
the International English Language Testing System (IELTS) academic exam, the 
Duolingo English test, or the Pearson Tests of English (PTE) meeting the minimum 
requirements:  

o TOEFL: 88 points total and a minimum of 20 points in each section 
o IELTS: 7.0 total band score and 6.5 score for each subsection 
o Duolingo English Test: minimum score of 120 
o PTE: 67 overall score. 

 
Curriculum 

 
The proposed MEd degree program in Literacy Education will require 30 credit hours. A 
practicum course is required.  
 
The curriculum for the proposed degree program has been designed to align with the standards 
for Reading/Literacy Specialists from the International Literacy Association’s 2017 Standards 
for the Preparation of Literacy Professional. “Developed by literacy experts across the United 
States, the standards focus on the knowledge, skills, and dispositions necessary for effective 
educational practice in a specific role and highlight contemporary research and evidence-based 
practices in curriculum, instruction, assessment, and leadership.”9  
 

 
9 International Literacy Association. (2018). Standards for the preparation of literacy professionals 2017. 
https://www.literacyworldwide.org/get-resources/standards/standards-2017 

https://www.literacyworldwide.org/get-resources/standards/standards-2017


           
 

 5 

Coursework will also address Virginia’s endorsement standards for Reading Specialists which 
include competencies in assessment and diagnostic teaching, communication, reading, writing, 
technology, and leadership, coaching, and specialization.10   
 
The curriculum provides all students with an understanding of the theories and historical trends 
that inform literacy research, development, and instruction. Students will learn to locate 
empirical research addressing literacy-related topics and analyze its quality and applicability in 
school settings. Coursework also emphasizes the impact of K-12 students’ cultural, linguistic, 
and exceptional diversity on literacy learning. The curriculum will prepare students to design and 
implement research-based literacy instruction to support the literacy learning of K-12 students. 
All students will be prepared to select and administer appropriate literacy assessments and to 
analyze and interpret student assessment data to inform instructional decisions. In addition, 
students seeking endorsement as a reading specialist will develop leadership and facilitation 
skills as they learn to design professional development activities and support the professional 
learning of other teachers. 
 
All students will complete a practicum course. The practicum allows students and supervisors the 
opportunity to evaluate the students’ knowledge and skills in a controlled, applied setting. 
 
 
Program Requirements 
 
Core Courses: 16 credits  
EDRD 640: Trajectory of Literacy Research (2 credits) 
EDRD 641: Trends and Issues in Literacy (2 credits) 
EDRD 642: Foundations of Literacy Instruction: Code-Based Skills (3 credits) 
EDRD 643: Foundations of Literacy Instruction: Meaning-Based Skills (3 credits) 
EDRD 644: Literacy Assessment and Intervention (3 credits) 
EDRD 645: Supervised Literacy Practicum (3 credits) 
  
Concentration Areas: 14 credits 
Literacy Leadership for Diverse Schools 
This concentration focuses on the knowledge and leadership skills needed to serve as a K-12 
Reading Specialist. Students who complete this concentration are eligible for the K-12 Reading 
Specialist endorsement. 
 
Required Courses: 5 credits 
EDRD 646: School-Based Leadership in Literacy (3 credits) 
EDRD 647: Introduction to Literacy Coaching (2 credits) 
 
Restricted Electives: 9 credits 
Students select from the list of courses. Other relevant courses may be selected with advisor 
approval. 
EDAT 510: Introduction to Assistive Technology (3 credits)  

 
10 Reading specialist, Virginia Administrative Code §8VAC20-534-600. 
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title8/agency20/chapter543/section600/  

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title8/agency20/chapter543/section600/


           
 

 6 

EDAT 524: Universal Design for Learning (3 credits)  
EDCI 516: Bilingualism and Language Acquisition Research (3 credits)  
EDCI 621: Introduction to Gifted and Talented Learners (3 credits)  
EDCI 622: Curriculum and Instructional Strategies for Gifted Learners (3 credits)  
EDCI 630: Supporting English Learners in PK-12 Schools (3 credits)  
EDRD 625: Integrating Literacy and Technology for K-12 Learners (3 credits)  
EDRD 626: Writing Development and Instruction for K-12 Learners (3 credits)  
EDRD 627: Comprehension and Vocabulary Development for K-12 Learners (3 credits)  
EDRD 628: Word Analysis: Phonics, Vocabulary, and Spelling for K-12 Learners (3 credits)  
EDRD 680: Foundations of Coaching and Fostering Professional Learning (3 credits) 
EDRD 681: Collaboration and Communication in Literacy Coaching (3 credits) 
EDRD 682: Creating Change through Data-Oriented Coaching (3 credits) 
EDRD 683: Trends & Issues in Literacy Instruction & Literacy Coaching (3 credits) 
EDSE 540: Characteristics of Students with Disabilities who Access the General Curriculum (3 
credits)  
EDUC 537: Introduction to Culturally Linguistically Diverse Learners (3 credits)   
SEED 502: Young Adult Literature in Multicultural Settings (3 credits)  
 
K-12 Literacy Instruction (non-licensure) 
This concentration develops additional knowledge of classroom literacy instruction along with 
an understanding of the learning needs of K-12 students.  
 
Restricted Electives: 14 credits 
Students select from the list of courses, including at least 9 credits of EDRD courses.  
 
EDAT 510: Introduction to Assistive Technology (3 credits)  
EDAT 524: Universal Design for Learning (3 credits)  
EDCI 516: Bilingualism and Language Acquisition Research (3 credits)  
EDCI 621: Introduction to Gifted and Talented Learners (3 credits)  
EDCI 622: Curriculum and Instructional Strategies for Gifted Learners (3) credits  
EDCI 630: Supporting English Learners in PK-12 Schools (3 credits)  
EDRD 625: Integrating Literacy and Technology for K-12 Learners (3 credits) 
EDRD 626: Writing Development and Instruction for K-12 Learners (3 credits) 
EDRD 627: Comprehension and Vocabulary Development for K-12 Learners (3 credits)  
EDRD 628: Word Analysis: Phonics, Vocabulary, and Spelling for K-12 Learners (3 credits)   
EDRD 647: Introduction to Literacy Coaching (2 credits)  
EDSE 540: Characteristics of Students with Disabilities who Access the General Curriculum (3 
credits)  
EDUC 537: Introduction to Culturally Linguistically Diverse Learners (3 credits)   
SEED 502: Young Adult Literature in Multicultural Settings (3 credits)  
 
Total credit hours: 30 credits. 
 
Practicum Requirement 
The supervised literacy practicum course requires students to complete a minimum of 20 clock 
hours of direct assessment and teaching experience with a K-12 student experiencing difficulties 



           
 

 7 

with literacy. Throughout the practicum, the students’ plans for assessment and intervention 
instruction along with their reflections on their practice will be assessed using standardized 
rubrics by the course instructor who serves as their practicum supervisor. Students will also be 
evaluated based on observations of instruction and completion of online modules. If students do 
not successfully complete all hours or assignments, they may be required to repeat the practicum. 
If a student fails the practicum course, they may be given an opportunity to retake the course at 
an alternative location or with an alternative K-12 student. 
 
See Appendix A for a Sample Plan of Study. 
See Appendix B for Course Descriptions. 
 

Time to Complete 
 
The proposed degree program will be offered on a part-time basis only due to the course 
sequence necessary to complete the degree. Summer enrollment is required in the first year and 
is optional in the second year. Students will participate in a cohort model. All students within a 
cohort will complete core and required classes at the same time. For students taking 5 to 6 credits 
per semester (with the exception of the final semester when only 2 to 3 credits are required), the 
proposed degree program will take two academic years to complete. 
No adjunct faculty will be utilized to initiate the proposed degree program.   
 

Student Learning Assessment 
 
Students who complete the proposed MEd degree program in Literacy education will possess the 
required expertise to effectively support the literacy learning of all K-12 students. Students 
seeking endorsement as a reading specialist will be able to support the professional learning of 
other teachers and provide leadership in literacy. Students will develop competencies aligned 
with the standards for Reading/Literacy Specialists from the International Literacy Association’s 
2017 Standards for the Preparation of Literacy Professional.11Virginia’s endorsement standards 
for Reading Specialists are also addressed.12   
 
Assessment of student learning in the proposed degree program will be conducted through 
analysis of systematic metrics specifically designed to measure student performance. Student 
learning will be assessed throughout the program through a variety of formative and summative 
measures. Assessment measures will include but not be limited to course assignments/activities, 
quizzes and exams, and an array of applied projects designed to facilitate the achievement of 
learning outcomes. 
 
During the practicum course, students are expected to demonstrate their ability to select and 
administer appropriate literacy assessments with a K-12 student experiencing difficulties in 
literacy. They will then analyze the data and use it to design and implement data-based literacy 
intervention instruction, drawing on their knowledge of research-based instructional practices in 

 
11 International Literacy Association. (2018). Standards for the preparation of literacy professionals 2017. 
https://www.literacyworldwide.org/get-resources/standards/standards-2017 
12 Reading specialist, Virginia Administrative Code §8VAC20-534-600. 
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title8/agency20/chapter543/section600/  

https://www.literacyworldwide.org/get-resources/standards/standards-2017
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/admincode/title8/agency20/chapter543/section600/


           
 

 8 

literacy. Students will also be expected to establish a literacy-rich learning environment and 
integrate culturally sustaining approaches to literacy instruction.  
 
Learning Outcomes  
Students will be able to: 

• Explain and analyze major theories, empirical research, and historical trends in literacy 
development and instruction.  

• Describe evidence-based components of reading, writing, and language development and 
their relationship with other aspects of literacy. 

• Describe the unique developmental, cognitive, cultural, and linguistic needs of all 
students and identify approaches to literacy instruction which acknowledge this diversity.  

• Design and implement research-based literacy instruction and intervention to meet the 
needs of all students.  

• Administer and analyze literacy assessment methods and data in order to identify 
students’ literacy-related strengths and needs and to develop effective instruction and 
intervention.  

• Foster an engaging, literacy-rich learning environment. 
 
Students completing required courses for the Reading Specialist endorsement will be able to:  

• Design and implement professional learning activities that reflect knowledge of adult 
learning theory and effective professional development. 

• Demonstrate leadership and facilitation skills when working with individuals and groups 
of educators. 

 
Relation to Existing Degree Programs (Degree, Certificate, Sub-area) 

 
George Mason University offers a Master of Education (MEd) degree program in Curriculum 
and Instruction with a concentration in Literacy Leadership for Diverse Schools. Currently, all 
students needing to earn a master’s degree while seeking endorsement as a K-12 Reading 
Specialist in Virginia complete this concentration. If the proposed MEd in Literacy Education 
degree program is approved, prospective students seeking endorsement as a Reading Specialist 
in Virginia while earning a master’s degree will be admitted directly into the MEd in Literacy 
Education rather than the MEd in Curriculum and Instruction degree program. The Literacy 
Leadership in Diverse Schools concentration of the MEd in Curriculum and Instruction will be 
discontinued. 
 
George Mason University also offers a Graduate Certificate in Literacy/Reading Instruction with 
a K-12 Reading Specialist concentration. This certificate is designed to meet the needs of 
educators who already hold a master’s degree but would like to become eligible for Virginia’s K-
12 Reading Specialist endorsement. If the proposed MEd in Literacy Education degree program 
is approved, this certificate will continue as it draws from a different pool of prospective 
students. 
 
Because the proposed degree program will draw from the same pool of prospective students as 
the current degree programs, there is no anticipated overall negative impact on student 
enrollment. Resources currently used to support the operation of the MEd in Curriculum and 



           
 

 9 

Instruction, concentration in Literacy Leadership for Diverse Schools will be reallocated to 
support the initiation and operation of the proposed MEd in Literacy Education. 
 
 
Justification for the Proposed Program 
 

Response to Current Needs (Specific Demand) 
 
From 2019 to 2022, K-12 students across the nation experienced learning loss in reading due in 
part to the impact of the Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic.13 “In every elementary 
grade, there are still more students at risk of not learning to read than there were…before the 
pandemic disruptions began.”14 These declines are evident in Virginia. An analysis of National 
Assessment of Education Progress (NAEP) results provided by the Education Recovery 
Scorecard, created in collaboration with researchers at Harvard University and Stanford 
University, indicates during this time period students in Virginia lost an average of more than 
five months of literacy learning, with students in some school divisions in the commonwealth 
averaging more than a year’s worth of learning loss in reading.15  
 
Virginia's youngest learners are at particular risk. From the fall of 2019 to the fall of 2020, in 
Virginia “there was a 10% increase in the proportion of [K-1] students considerably behind in 
early literacy skills….The increase in kindergarten and first grade students considerably behind 
in early literacy in Fall 2020 raises a warning about long-term challenges in literacy achievement 
in the coming years.”16 In an analysis of early literacy assessment data in the spring of 2023, the 
authors note “these data showcase recent improvement in Spring PALS below-benchmark rates 
for Virginia’s young learners. Still, lingering effects of the pandemic-related learning disruptions 
are apparent. Many students, particularly those in first and second grade from historically 
marginalized groups, continue to face challenges developing the literacy skills they need to help 
them be successful readers and learners across academic subjects. A critical step in supporting 
the literacy and reading development of Virginia’s K-2 students is supporting the teachers, 
specialists, coaches, and interventionists that work most closely with these learners.”17 The 
proposed degree program provides advanced coursework that will allow K-12 educators to 
deepen their understanding of research-based instructional and assessment practices in literacy, 
thus shoring up the literacy learning of Virginia’s K-12 students.  
 

 
13 Kuhfeld, M., Lewis, K., & Peltier, T. (2022). Reading achievement declines during the COVID-19 pandemic: 
Evidence from 5 million U.S. students in grades 3-8. Reading and Writing, 36, 245-261. 
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-022-10345-8  
14 Amplify. (2022). Amid academic recovery in classrooms nationwide, risks remain for youngest students with least 
instructional time during critical early years. https://amplify.com/pdf/uploads/2022/02/mCLASS_MOY-
Results_February-2022-Report.pdf  
15 Education Recovery Scorecard. (2023). 2019-2022 Change in average reading achievement in the U.S. 
https://edopportunity.org/recovery/#/map/none/districts/ela1922/frl/all/3.15/30.67/-78.85/  
16 McGinty, A., Gray, A., Partee, A., Herring, W., & Soland, J. (2021). Examining early literacy skills in the wave of 
COVID-19 spring 2020 school disruptions: Virginia fall 2020 statewide screening findings and implications. 
https://literacy.virginia.edu/sites/g/files/jsddwu1006/files/2022-03/PALS_Fall_2020_Data_Report_5_18_final.pdf . 
17 PALS. (2023). Trends in Virginia students identified as at-risk for reading difficulties: Spring literacy screening, 
2019-2023. https://literacy.virginia.edu/sites/g/files/jsddwu1006/files/2023-
09/PALS%20Virginia%20Report_Spring%202023.pdf  

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11145-022-10345-8
https://amplify.com/pdf/uploads/2022/02/mCLASS_MOY-Results_February-2022-Report.pdf
https://amplify.com/pdf/uploads/2022/02/mCLASS_MOY-Results_February-2022-Report.pdf
https://edopportunity.org/recovery/#/map/none/districts/ela1922/frl/all/3.15/30.67/-78.85/
https://literacy.virginia.edu/sites/g/files/jsddwu1006/files/2022-03/PALS_Fall_2020_Data_Report_5_18_final.pdf


           
 

 10 

The proposed degree program also provides opportunities for teachers to become eligible for the 
Reading Specialist endorsement in Virginia. Since 1998, the U.S. Department of Education has 
consistently identified reading specialist as a high-needs field, especially in schools that serve 
low-income students.18 In addition, newly enacted legislation in Virginia will lead to an increase 
in the number of reading specialists required in public schools. Currently, school divisions in 
Virginia are required to employ one full-time reading specialist in each elementary school.19 
When the Virginia Literacy Act (VLA) takes effect in the 2024-2025 school year, this will 
increase to one reading specialist for every 550 students in grades K-5 and one reading specialist 
for every 1,100 students in grades 6-8.20 The VLA also provides funding for reading intervention 
services, often provided by licensed reading specialists.  
 
As a result of instituting the proposed degree program, George Mason University anticipates 
producing a net increase of 30 practicing teachers with greater instructional expertise in literacy, 
including those prepared for endorsement as reading specialists annually by program maturity in 
academic year 2025-2026.  
 
The proposed degree program will enable the asserted increased production of teachers with 
literacy expertise by providing expanded access and clarity for marketing. Currently, students 
graduating from an initial teacher licensure program housed within the university’s MEd in 
Curriculum and Instruction degree program who wish to obtain a second master’s degree and 
potentially become eligible for endorsement as a reading specialist face difficulties as both 
degrees are noted as a MEd in Curriculum and Instruction. The proposed MEd in Literacy 
Education will have increased relevance for potential students as the degree will clearly identify 
the specialized knowledge and skills they will obtain through their studies. In addition, the 
concentration in K-12 Literacy Instruction (non-licensure) of the proposed degree program will 
provide coursework designed to support the literacy knowledge and instruction for K-12 teachers 
who intend to remain in their classrooms but are not interested in literacy leadership. Currently, 
there is not a degree program within the college that clearly provides this opportunity, therefore 
expanding access to a new pool of prospective students. The ability to market a new degree and 
one with greater clarity and relevance for potential students will increase access to and visibility 
of the program. 
 

Duplication 
 
Nine (9) public institutions in Virginia offer degree programs similar to the proposed degree 
program. James Madison University, Longwood University, Old Dominion University, Radford 
University, University of Mary Washington, University of Virginia, Virginia Commonwealth 
University, and The College of William and Mary in Virginia offer degree programs similar to 
the proposed degree program. 
 

 
18 Cross, F. (2016). Teacher shortage areas nationwide listing, 1990-1991 through 2016-2017. U.S. Department of 
Education, Office of Postsecondary Education. https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ope/pol/tsa.pdf  
19 Instructional, administrative, and support personnel, Code of Virginia §22.1-253.13:2. 
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title22.1/chapter13.2/section22.1-253.13:2/ 
20 Student Literacy Measures, Code of Virginia §22.1-299.7:1, chapters 645 & 646. https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-
bin/legp604.exe?231+ful+CHAP0646 

https://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ope/pol/tsa.pdf
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/title22.1/chapter13.2/section22.1-253.13:2/
https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?231+ful+CHAP0646
https://lis.virginia.gov/cgi-bin/legp604.exe?231+ful+CHAP0646


           
 

 11 

James Madison University (JMU) 
JMU offers a MEd degree program in Education, concentration in Literacy Education. The 
degree program is offered fully face-to-face and fully online. 
 
Longwood University (Longwood) 
Longwood offers a MEd degree program in Reading, Literacy, and Learning. The degree 
program is offered fully online. 
 
Old Dominion University (ODU) 
ODU offers a MSEd degree program in Reading. The degree program is offered fully face-to-
face and fully online. 
 
Radford University (Radford) 
Radford offers a MS degree program in Literacy Education. The degree program is offered fully 
face-to-face and fully online. 
 
University of Mary Washington (UMW) 
UMW offers a MEd degree program in Education, concentration in Professional Development or 
Added Endorsement - Reading Specialist. The degree program is offered fully face-to-face. 
 
University of Virginia (UVA) 
UVA offers a MEd degree program in Curriculum and Instruction, concentration in Reading 
Education. The degree program is offered in a fully online format. 
 
Virginia Commonwealth University (VCU)  
VCU offers a MEd degree program in Reading. The degree program is offered fully online.  
  
Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University (Virginia Tech) 
Virginia Tech offers a MEd degree program in Curriculum and Instruction, concentration in 
Reading Specialist/Literacy. The degree program is offered fully online. 
 
The College of William and Mary in Virginia (William & Mary) 
William & Mary offers a MAEd degree program in Curriculum and Instruction, concentration in 
Literacy Leadership. The degree program is offered fully online. 
  



           
 

 12 

Summary of Projected Student Enrollment 
 

State Council of Higher Education for Virginia 
Summary of Projected Enrollments in Proposed Program 

 
Assumptions:   
80% Retention   
100 % part-time students   
Part-time students: 6 credit hours per semester   
Full-time students graduate in 3 years   
  
Projected Resource Needs for the Proposed Program  
 

Resource Needs  
  
George Mason University and the College of Education and Human Development have the 
resources needed to initiate and sustain the proposed MEd degree program in Literacy Education. 
The College will have the faculty, staff, equipment, space, and library resources to initiate and 
sustain the proposed program.  The following categories detail the resources required to initiate 
and sustain the proposed program from its initiation in the fall 2024 semester through the target 
year 2028-2029. Assessments of need for full-time faculty and part-time faculty are based on a 
ratio of 1.0 FTE of instructional effort for every 10.0 FTE of enrollment. The proposed program 
will therefore require a total of approximately .90 FTE to initiate, increasing to approximately 
3.70 FTE by the target enrollment year 2028-2029.  
 
Full-time Faculty  
A faculty member currently teaching in the School of Education will serve as program 
coordinator for the proposed program. The program coordinator will be responsible for 
curriculum oversight, scheduling, marketing and recruitment strategy, and student satisfaction. 
The program coordinator will devote .50 FTE to teach core and required courses in the proposed 
program in its initiation year, rising to 1.00 FTE in the target enrollment year.  
 
The proposed program will require .50 FTE of full-time faculty effort to initiate, rising to 1.00 
FTE in the target enrollment year. 
 
 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
 

Year 4 
Target Year 

(2-year institutions) 

Year 5 
Target Year 

(4-year institutions) 
 
2024- 2025 

 
2025 - 2026 

 
2026 - 2027 

 
2027 - 2028 

 
2028 - 2029 

 
HDCT 
18 

 
FTES 
9 

 
HDCT 
36 

 
FTES 
18 

 
HDCT 
57 

 
FTES 
29 

 
HDCT 
68 

 
FTES 
34 

 
GRAD 
 

 
HDCT 
74 

 
FTES 
37 

 
GRAD 

20 



           
 

 13 

Part-time Faculty 
Two (2) existing faculty members in the School of Education will devote .20 FTE to teach core 
and required courses in the proposed degree program in the initiation year, rising to .85 FTE by 
the target enrollment year. 
  
The proposed program will require .40 FTE of part-time faculty effort to initiate, rising to 1.70 
FTE in the target enrollment year. 
 
Adjunct Faculty  
Four (4) existing adjunct faculty members teaching in the School of Education will devote .25 
FTE each to the proposed program beginning in the second year of operation through the target 
enrollment year. 
 
The proposed program will require 0.0 FTE of adjunct faculty effort to initiate, rising to 1.00 
FTE in the target enrollment year.  
 
Graduate Assistants  
No graduate assistants will be utilized to initiate or sustain the proposed program. 
  
Classified Positions  
No additional classified support will be utilized to initiate or sustain the proposed program.   
  
Equipment (including computers)  
No new equipment (including computers) is required to initiate or maintain the proposed degree 
program.  
  
Library   
George Mason University Libraries has an extensive collection of journals and publications to 
support the proposed degree program. As a member of the Virtual Library of Virginia (VIVA), 
online access to journals is available.  
  
Telecommunications 
No new telecommunications will be required to initiate or sustain the proposed program.  
  
Space 
No additional space will be required to initiate or sustain the proposed program.  
  
Targeted Financial Aid  
No targeted financial aid is required or designated to initiate and sustain the proposed degree 
program.  
  
Special Tuition or Fee Charges 
No special tuition or fee charges will be utilized or instituted to initiate and sustain the proposed 
degree program. 
 
 



           
 

 14 

Other Resources  
No additional School of Education resources will be utilized to initiate or sustain the proposed 
program.      



           
 

 15 

 

Funds to Initiate and Operate the Degree Program 
Figures provided in the table below will be compared to SCHEV funding estimates using the 
current base adequacy model. This comparison will serve as a reference for the estimated costs. 
If there are large discrepancies, SCHEV may request additional clarification to ensure the 
institution’s assumptions are correct, or require modifications as a condition of approval.  
 
Note: Institutions must use the recommended student-faculty ratio when estimating FTE 
enrollments and required faculty FTEs.  

Cost and Funding Sources to Initiate and Operate the Program 

Informational Category 
Program 

Initiation Year 
2024- 2025 

Program Full 
Enrollment Year1 

2026 - 2027 

1. Projected Enrollment (Headcount) 18 57 

2. Projected Enrollment (FTE) 9 29 

3. Projected Enrollment Headcount of In-
State Students 16 51 

4. Projected Enrollment Headcount of Out-
of-State Students 2 6 

5. 
Estimated Annual Tuition and E&G 
Fees for In-state Students in the 
Proposed Program 

$10,746 $10,746 

6. 
Estimated Annual Tuition and E&G 
Fees for Out-of-State Students in the 
Proposed Program 

$14,346 $14,346 

7. 
Projected Total Revenue from Tuition 
and E&G Fees Due to the Proposed 
Program 

$199,908 $633,042 

8. 
Other Funding Sources Dedicated to 
the Proposed Program (e.g., grant, 
business entity, private sources) 

$      $      

 
 

 
1 For the “Full Enrollment Year” use: for associate degrees, initiation year plus 1; for baccalaureate degrees, 
initiation plus 3; for masters degrees, initiation plus 2; for doctoral degrees, initiation plus 3. 



ITEM NUMBER:    
Master of Education (MEd) in Inclusive Early Childhood Education Degree Program Proposal 
 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM:  
The MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education degree program proposal is in development for 
submission to the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia (SCHEV) for initiation in Fall 
2024. Prior to SCHEV submission, Board action is required. 
 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE:    
Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE: 
The MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education degree program will enhance early childhood 
educators’ professional and pedagogical knowledge and skills in creating inclusive classroom 
communities that support all learners birth through age eight (8). Students will learn to engage 
ability-diverse and culturally diverse learners in developmentally appropriate and disciplinary 
specific ways. Students will learn to support children’s social-emotional, cognitive, linguistic, 
and physical development.  
 
Through the proposed MEd, students will acquire a understanding of critical concepts and 
principles of their discipline. Students will learn to provide inclusive and equitable learning 
experiences for children in varied early childhood education contexts. The proposed program 
will emphasize the students' ethical responsibility to collaborate with families, learners, and other 
professionals.   
 
The curriculum for the proposed degree program has been designed to meet Virginia Department 
of Education (VDOE) licensure standards for Early/Primary Education PreK-32 and Special 
Education Early Childhood (birth-age 5 years). The proposed program also fulfills accreditation 
standards for initial preparation programs outlined by the Council for the Accreditation of 
Educator Preparation (CAEP). Coursework meets the professional standards articulated by the 
Council for Exceptional Children, Division of Early Childhood (DEC/CEC) and National 
Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC).   
 
 
REVENUE IMPLICATIONS: 
The MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education degree program will be revenue neutral. All 
courses required for the degree currently exist as part of George Mason University's MEd in 
Curriculum and Instruction, concentration in Early Childhood Education for Diverse Learners, 
and the MEd in Special Education, concentration in Early Childhood Special Education.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends Board approval. 



           
 

 
 

Table of Contents 

 
Description of Proposed Program ................................................................................................... 1 

Program Background .................................................................................................................. 1 
Delivery Format .......................................................................................................................... 1 
Accreditation ............................................................................................................................... 2 

State Licensing Agency .............................................................................................................. 2 
Admission Criteria ...................................................................................................................... 3 
Curriculum .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Student Learning Assessment ..................................................................................................... 7 
Relation to Existing George Mason University Degree Programs ............................................. 9 

Justification for the Proposed Program ......................................................................................... 10 
Response to Current Needs (Specific Demand) ........................................................................ 10 
Duplication ................................................................................................................................ 11 

Projected Resource Needs for the Proposed Program .................................................................. 12 
Resource Needs ......................................................................................................................... 12 

 
 

 
  



           
 

   1 
 

Description of Proposed Program 
 

Program Background 
 
George Mason University seeks approval for a Master of Education degree program in Inclusive 
Early Childhood Education. The proposed degree program will be administered by the College 
of Education and Human Development, School of Education. The anticipated initiation date is 
Fall 2024. 
 
First opening in 1957 as the Northern Virginia branch of the University of Virginia, George 
Mason University was established as an independent four-year, degree-granting institution in 
1972. Since its inception the University has offered teacher preparation degree programs. 
Currently, the College of Education and Human Development’s School of Education has more 
than 2,500 students enrolled. Degree offerings in teacher preparation include undergraduate and 
graduate pathways to more than 30 different licensure and endorsement areas in Virginia.   
 
To identify the proposed MEd degree program as appropriate for submission, the College of 
Education and Human Development examined degree programs that would address critical 
shortages in teaching endorsement areas in Virginia as identified by the Virginia Department of 
Education (VDOE).1  Data from market studies, professional organizations, and considerations 
of legislative changes were also used to determine new degree programs. The proposed MEd 
degree program in Inclusive Early Childhood Education provides pathways for licensure in Early 
Primary/PreK-Third Grade and Early Childhood Special Education (Birth through Age 5). The 
proposed degree program will address the top two 2023-2024 critical shortage teaching 
endorsement areas identified by the Virginia Department of Education: Special Education, PK-
12 and Elementary Education, PK-6 areas.2 Critical shortages have consistently been identified 
for these teaching endorsement areas since the 2003-2004 school year.  
 
Currently, George Mason University offers two pathways to licensure for Early Childhood 
Education: 1) MEd in Curriculum and Instruction with a concentration in Early Childhood 
Education, and 2) an MEd in Special Education with a concentration in Early Childhood Special 
Education. The proposed program will pull the two existing concentrations into a discrete MEd 
degree program to address the demand for educators in inclusive settings. 
 

Delivery Format 
 
The proposed MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education will be offered in both the 
traditional, face-to-face and fully online delivery formats.  
 
George Mason University possesses the resources, support, and technology necessary for online 
degree programs. The online courses are supported by a personal support center through the 

 
1 Virginia Department of Education. (n.d.) Commonwealth of Virginia critical shortage teaching endorsement areas 
for 2023-2024 school year. https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-
virginia/education-workforce-data-reports. www.doe.virginia.gov.docx (live.com) 
2 Virginia Department of Education. (2023). Early Childhood Special Education (ECSE) approved program leads 
collaborative meeting. Virtual. www.doe.virginia.gov.docx (live.com) 

https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.doe.virginia.gov%2Fhome%2Fshowpublisheddocument%2F47185%2F638265068962330000&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.doe.virginia.gov%2Fhome%2Fshowpublisheddocument%2F47185%2F638265068962330000&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK


           
 

   2 
 

university’s primary learning management system, Blackboard. Blackboard is centrally 
supported by the university’s Information Technology Services (ITS), which provides technical 
assistance, training, and system administration 24 hours a day every day. ITS also supports a 
portfolio of academic technology applications for use in online courses. The ITS Learning 
Support Center and the Stearns Center for Teaching and Learning provide training to faculty in 
both the use of the Blackboard software and in the design of courses.  
 
All students will have access to online resources through security-protected access credentials. 
Support services for students will include access to online systems such as electronic mail, online 
library resources, PatriotWeb (a self-service site for students to manage their administrative 
records and accounts), financial aid, academic services, career services, disability services, and 
the University Bookstore. Computer support is available 24 hours a day every day. Phone 
support is available every day at hours posted on the ITS Support Center website. For the face-
to-face delivery of courses, George Mason University has adequate classroom space and 
associated equipment to successfully deliver the proposed degree program. 
 

Accreditation  
  
The proposed MEd degree program in Inclusive Early Childhood Education will be accredited 
by the Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP). CAEP is a professional 
accreditor for education preparation providers. The CAEP accreditation process ensures educator 
preparation providers whose programs lead to certification, licensure, or endorsement meet 
demanding standards for the preparation of educators and other professional school personnel. 
Through standards that focus on systematic assessment of candidate learning, CAEP encourages 
accredited institutions to engage in continuous improvement based on accurate and consistent 
data. 
 
George Mason University’s existing Master of Education (MEd) in Curriculum and Instruction 
degree program with a concentration in Early Childhood Education, and the existing Master of 
Education (MEd) in Special Education with a concentration in Early Childhood Special 
Education are presently accredited by CAEP through Spring 2026. George Mason University 
will comply with the following re-accreditation timeline: 
 
February 2025  Submit self-study document 
October 2025  Site visit by accreditation team 
April 2026  Decision rendered about accreditation status 
 

State Licensing Agency 
Virginia Department of Education 

 
The proposed MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education is required to meet the biennial 
measures prescribed by the Virginia State Board of Education. The Virginia Department of 
Education provides detailed and specific information for meeting the standards and competencies 
expected of Virginia's educators in their respective disciplines. The requirements are extensive, 
and all educator preparation programs must meet all the licensure regulations, professional 



           
 

   3 
 

studies, and endorsement requirements for each discipline/teaching area to be approved to offer 
Educator Preparation Programs. 
 
The existing Master of Education in Curriculum and Instruction, concentration in Early 
Childhood Education for Diverse Learners (Licensure) and Master of Education in Special 
Education, concentration in Early Childhood Special Education (Licensure) are designed to meet 
the Virginia Department of Education standards and regulations. In 2021, George Mason 
University submitted its biennial report for 2021-2023, which evaluates all educator preparation 
programs offered by the University. The Virginia Department of Education approved the existing 
concentrations in Early Childhood Education for Diverse Learners (Licensure) and Early 
Childhood Special Education (Licensure) in this report. The next biennial report will cover 2023-
2025 and will be submitted to the Virginia Department of Education in Fall 2025.  
 

Admission Criteria 
 

All students will be required to fulfill the graduate admission requirements of the University. 
Applicants must: 

• Complete an online Application for Graduate Study.  
• Pay a nonrefundable application fee or receive a fee waiver. 
• Have earned a baccalaureate from an institution of higher education accredited by a 

Mason-recognized U.S. institutional accrediting agency, or international equivalent, with 
verified official transcripts. 

• Have a minimum 3.00 GPA on a 4.00 scale in baccalaureate study. 
• Submit official transcripts from all institutions attended for each program applied to 

unless the programs are in the same college or school. 
• Submit a goals statement. 
• Submit two letters of recommendation as required by the program. 
• Submit an application for Virginia In-State Tuition Rates, if claiming entitlement to these 

rates. 
 
The College of Education and Human Development will require applicants to the proposed 
degree program to satisfy additional requirements. Applicants must:  

• Submit a resume. 
 
Applicants who have not earned a baccalaureate or graduate degree in the U.S. must submit: 

• Official English translations of all diplomas, certificates, and transcripts that are not 
already in English. Also, documents from foreign institutions must meet the university’s 
guidelines for international transcript submission. 

• Proof of English proficiency: either the Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL), 
the International English Language Testing System (IELTS) academic exam, the 
Duolingo English test, or the Pearson Tests of English (PTE) meeting the minimum 
requirements:  

o TOEFL: 88 points total and a minimum of 20 points in each section 
o IELTS: 7.0 total band score and 6.5 each subsection 
o Duolingo English Test: minimum score of 120 
o PTE: 67 overall score 



           
 

   4 
 

Curriculum 
 
The proposed MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education degree program will require 30 to 33 
credit hours. A capstone course is required. An internship can fulfill capstone requirements.  
 
The curriculum for the proposed degree program has been designed to meet Virginia Department 
of Education (VDOE) licensure standards. The core courses provide students with foundational 
knowledge and field experiences in inclusive early childhood education. Core courses emphasize 
language and literacy development, inclusive curriculum practices, engaging families, and 
assessment practices in early intervention and early childhood classrooms (birth through third 
grade).  
 
Concentrations provide students with the specialized knowledge for Early/Primary Education 
PreK-3 or Special Education Early Childhood (birth-age 5 years). The concentration in 
Early/Primary Education PreK-3 extends foundational core coursework, with focused methods-
related coursework in literacy, social studies, science, and math. The concentration in Special 
Education Early Childhood (birth-age 5 years) extends foundational coursework with specialized 
knowledge in special education law, early intervention and collaboration practices, medical 
aspects for children with disabilities, and early language and literacy development for children 
accessing early intervention services.  
 
The proposed program also fulfills accreditation standards for initial preparation programs 
outlined by the Council for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP). Coursework 
meets the professional standards articulated by the Council for Exceptional Children, Division of 
Early Childhood (DEC/CEC)  and National Association for the Education of Young Children 
(NAEYC). Students will select from the optional teacher licensure concentrations (i.e., Early 
Childhood Special Education, Early/Primary Education PreK-3) or a non-licensure sequence. 
 
The curriculum of the proposed degree program focuses on preparing and enhancing early 
childhood educators’ professional and pedagogical knowledge and skill in creating inclusive 
classroom communities. The coursework integrates evidence-based recommended practices to 
support all learners accessing educational services birth through age eight. Students will learn to 
engage diverse learners in developmentally appropriate and disciplinary specific ways to support 
children’s social-emotional, cognitive, linguistic, and physical development. Students will 
develop pedagogical and assessment knowledge and skills to provide inclusive and equitable 
learning experiences for children in early childhood education contexts. The curriculum 
emphasizes the students' responsibility to collaborate with families, learners, and other 
professionals to provide effective instructional experiences for ability-diverse and culturally 
diverse students. 
 
 
Program Requirements 
 
Core Courses: 15 credits 
ECED 502: Foundations of Language and Literacy for Diverse Young Learners (Birth-Age 5) (3 
credits) 



           
 

   5 
 

ECED 503: Inclusive Curriculum for Young Learners: Planning Instruction and Guidance (3  
credits)  
ECED 504: Engaging Families of Diverse Young Learners (3 credits) 
ECED 511: Assessment of Diverse Young Learners (3 credits) 
 
Capstone Requirement 
ECED 685: Applied and Teacher Research in Early Childhood Education (3 credits) 
   or ECED 788: Internship in Early Childhood Education Prekindergarten-Third Grade (3 
        credits)  
   or ECED 789: Internship in Early Childhood Special Education Birth–Five (3 credits) 
 
Concentration Areas: 15-18 credits 
 
Early Childhood Special Education (Birth to Age 5) (Licensure): 18 credits 
This concentration area fulfills Virginia licensure requirements for students seeking initial 
licensure in Special Education Early Childhood (birth through age 5). 
 
ECED 501: Developmental Pathways of Diverse Learners, Birth-Adolescence (3 credits) 
ECED 505: Introduction to Early Childhood Special Education (3 credits) 
ECED 506: Medical and Developmental Aspects of Disabilities of Diverse Young Learners (3 
credits) 
ECED 522: Developing Language, Literacy, and Communication of Diverse Infants and 
Toddlers (3 credits) 
ECED 523: Early Intervention for Infants & Toddlers with Disabilities: Collaborative & 
Consultative Approaches (3 credits) 
ECED 781: Seminar in Early Childhood Education (3 credits) 
 
Early/Primary Education PreK-3 (Licensure): 18 credits 
This concentration area fulfills Virginia licensure requirements for students seeking initial 
licensure in Early/Primary Education PreK-3. 
 
ECED 501: Developmental Pathways of Diverse Learners, Birth-Adolescence (3 credits) 
ECED 512: Language and Literacy Assessment and Instruction for Diverse Primary Grade 
Learners (3 credits) 
ECED 513: Integrating Social Studies Across the Content Areas for Diverse Young Learners (3 
credits) 
ECED 515: Mathematics for Diverse Young Learners (3 credits) 
ECED 516: Science for Diverse Young Learners (3 credits) 
ECED 781: Seminar in Early Childhood Education (3 credits) 
 
No Concentration: 15 credits 
This concentration area serves students who already possess a license in education (e.g., 
early/primary education, early childhood special education, elementary education, special 
education) and are seeking additional expertise working with young learners. This pathway is 
also appropriate for students who possess an undergraduate degree outside of the education fields 



           
 

   6 
 

and are seeking to gain expertise working with young learners and families in non-classroom 
contexts. 
 
Restricted Electives 
Students who do not select a concentration select 15 credits from a list of courses. With approval 
of an academic advisor, students may take up to 12 credits out of the ECED program.  
 
ECED 501: Developmental Pathways of Diverse Learners, Birth-Adolescence (3 credits) 
ECED 505: Introduction to Early Childhood Special Education (3 credits) 

ECED 506: Medical and Developmental Aspects of Disabilities of Diverse Young Learners (3 
credits) 
ECED 512: Language and Literacy Assessment and Instruction for Diverse Primary Grade 
Learners (3 credits) 
ECED 513: Integrating Social Studies Across the Content Areas for Diverse Young Learners (3 
credits) 
ECED 515: Mathematics for Diverse Young Learners (3 credits) 

ECED 516: Science for Diverse Young Learners (3 credits) 

ECED 522: Developing Language, Literacy, and Communication of Diverse Infants and 
Toddlers (3 credits) 
ECED 523: Early Intervention for Infants & Toddlers with Disabilities: Collaborative & 
Consultative Approaches (3 credits) 
ECED 601: Frameworks for Early Childhood Education (3 credits) 
ECED 621: Teacher Well-Being in Early Childhood Education (3 credits) 
ECED 623: Creating Disciplinary Project-Based Learning Environments (3 credits) 
ECED 624: Building Strengths-Based Reciprocal Partnerships with Families of Young Children 
(3 credits) 
ECED 691: Policy Perspectives in Early Childhood Education (3 credits) 
 
Total credit hours: 30 to 33 credits 
 
Capstone Requirement 
Students in the MED concentrations leading to licensure are required to take a supervised 
internship course in which they will complete a minimum of 10 weeks supervised experience. 
Based on concentration area students will complete an internship in an Early Childhood Special 
Education birth to five context (ECED 789) or Early/Primary PreK-3 context (ECED 788), per 
VDOE requirements. Students must document a minimum of 300 clock hours of direct teaching 
experience with students in endorsement area. Throughout the internship, the student will be 
evaluated based on observations of instruction and assignments using standardized rubrics. 
Students will be required to maintain a log to track their instructional hours. Students will be 
assessed on completion of online modules, maintaining a reflection journal, formal internship 
meetings, and observations by the University Supervisor. If students do not successfully 
complete all hours or assignments, they may be required to repeat the internship. If a student fails 
the internship course, students will be given an opportunity to retake the course at an alternative 
location. 
 



           
 

   7 
 

Students who do not select a concentration will complete a field-based research course (ECED 
685) in which they will be required to formulate and conduct an action research project related to 
the contextual field in which they work (e.g., early care and education centers, early intervention, 
primary grades). Student work will culminate in a research symposium at the conclusion of the 
semester.  
 
See Appendix A for a Sample Plans of Study. 
See Appendix B for Course Descriptions. 
 

Student Learning Assessment 
 
Students who complete the proposed MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education degree 
program will possess the required expertise to work in a variety of early childhood contexts 
serving diverse young learners and families. Assessment of student learning in the proposed 
degree program will be conducted through analysis of systematic metrics specifically designed to 
measure student performance. Student assessment outcomes are aligned with InTASC Teaching 
Standards and Learning Progressions for Teachers,3 NAEYC professional standards,4 and 
DEC/CEC5 professional standards.  
 
Student learning will be assessed throughout the program through a variety of evaluative 
assessment experiences. Assessment measures will include but not be limited to course 
assignments, activities, and an array of applied projects designed to facilitate the achievement of 
learning outcomes. The capstone course options are completed at or near the end of a student’s 
program of study. Capstone course opportunities are designed to meet students' individual 
professional goals through the completion of an internship experience, a classroom, school, or 
community-based action research project, the development of a policy brief, or the 
implementation of a professional development seminars for early childhood professionals or 
families.  
 
Internship capstones meet licensure requirements articulated by the VDOE. Internships are 
scaffolded clinical experiences in the setting aligned with the targeted licensure area (i.e., 
Early/Primary Education PreK-3 or Early Childhood Special Education (Birth to Age 5). In 
internship students learn the roles and responsibilities of an educator by demonstrating 
competence in all aspects of instruction and the provision of services. Students in internship 
work under the supervision of a qualified, school-based mentor teacher and a university-based 
internship supervisor. During the internship experience, students complete weekly reports 
accounting for direct teaching hours and maintain a performance portfolio demonstrating 
mastery of CAEP initial teacher preparation accreditation standards. University-based capstone 
courses, focused on educational policy, research, or one’s role as a professional leader in a 
school community, are completed at the end of the MEd program. Capstone courses require 

 
3 Council of Chief State School Officers.  2013. InTASC Model Core Teaching Standards and Learning 
Progressions for Teachers 1.0.  https:\\ccsso.org/sites/default/files/2017-
12/2013_INTASC_Learning_Progressions_for_Teachers.pdf 
4 National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). (2021). Professional standards and 
competencies for early childhood educators. https://www.naeyc.org/accreditation/higher-ed/standards 
5 Division for Early Childhood of the Council for Exceptional Children. (2020). The early interventionist/early 
childhood special educator standards. https://www.dec-sped.org/ei-ecse-standards 



           
 

   8 
 

students to integrate learning across all coursework and apply it to or within an educational 
setting. Students use critical thinking and problem-solving skills to approach classroom or 
community problems early educators are confronting. Capstone courses position students as life-
long learners and advocates for inclusive educational practices and encourage longevity and 
commitment to the field of early childhood education. successful careers in education.  
  
Each of the program assessment structures differs based on their need to address both college-
wide and program specific standards and accrediting agencies. The specific assessments germane 
to each program are detailed below. 
 
Learning Outcomes  
Grounded in InTASC standards graduates will demonstrate knowledge and skill in four general 
categories (1) The Learner and Learning, (2) Content, (3) Instructional Practice, and (4) 
Professional Responsibility. These outcomes align with licensure requirements articulated by the 
VDOE for Early/Primary Education PreK-3 and Special Education Early Childhood (Birth to 
Age 5). 
 
Students will be able to: 

• Demonstrate knowledge of developmentally appropriate pedagogies and recommended 
instructional practices to create inclusive learning environments and experiences that 
honor diverse cultures and individual learning differences to meet high standards and 
promote learners’ cognitive, linguistic, social, emotional, and physical development. 

• Demonstrate an ability to apply deep and flexible content area knowledge in real world 
inclusive early education contexts to assure learners achieve mastery of targeted 
developmentally appropriate content knowledge and skills.  

• Design, implement, and refine instructional practices (including assessment practices, and 
the integration of diverse instructional strategies) to maximize and individualize learning. 

• Model practices demonstrating professional responsibility to include engaging in cycles 
of continuous self-improvement, collaborative professional environments with 
colleagues, learners, families, school professionals, and community members, and ethical 
behavior to enact change in practice. 

 
Each concentration has additional learning outcomes or competencies that students who select 
the concentration area should acquire.  
 
Early Childhood Special Education (Birth to Age 5) (Licensure) 
Students in this concentration will be able to meet the following learning outcomes: 

• Demonstrate knowledge about young children with disabilities within the context of 
human growth and development and learning expectations in the preschool years 
including an understanding of historical factors and legislation affecting service delivery. 

• Develop strategies for guiding young children’s behavior in a community of learners 
inclusive of children from diverse backgrounds. 

• Demonstrate an understanding of medical and developmental aspects of children with 
disabilities, birth to age 5 including the etiology, symptomatology, and management of 
neuromotor and developmental disabilities and the adaptive strategies and assistive 
technology devices that support learners.   



           
 

   9 
 

• Design instructional strategies, resources, and technologies, including assistive 
technologies, to develop language, literacy, and communication of diverse infants and 
toddlers with language delays and disorders that leverage adult-child interactions and the 
role of the family in children’s language, literacy, and communication development. 

• Implement key aspects of consultation, interdisciplinary collaboration, service 
coordination, and family-centered services to support young learners.  

 
Early/Primary Education PreK-3 (Licensure) 
Students in this concentration will be able to meet the following learning outcomes: 

• Demonstrate an ability to assess reading, writing, and the language arts of diverse young 
learners in primary grade classrooms and develop instructional practices that promote 
young children’s language and literacy development. 

• Develop strategies for guiding young children’s behavior in a community of learners 
inclusive of children from diverse backgrounds.  

• Design and develop curriculum, assessment, and instructional practices related to social 
studies content for young children with diverse abilities and cultural, linguistic, and 
socio-economic backgrounds. 

• Design and develop curriculum, assessment, and instructional practices related to 
mathematics content for young children with diverse abilities and cultural, linguistic, and 
socio-economic backgrounds. 

• Design and develop curriculum, assessment, and instructional practices related to science 
for young children with diverse abilities and cultural, linguistic, and socio-economic 
backgrounds. 

 
Relation to Existing George Mason University Degree Programs 

 
George Mason University’s College of Education and Human Development offers a Master of 
Education (MEd) degree program in Curriculum and Instruction with a concentration in Early 
Childhood Education, and a Master of Education (MEd) in Special Education degree program 
with a concentration in Early Childhood Special Education. Currently, all students seeking 
licensure as an early childhood educator complete one of these concentrations. In addition, 
students can elect to complete non-licensure pathways. If the proposed MEd in Inclusive Early 
Childhood Education is approved, prospective students seeking licensure as an early childhood 
educator or seeking to develop expertise in the field will be admitted directly into the proposed 
MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood rather than the MEd in Curriculum and Instruction or the 
MEd in Special Education. The current concentrations related to early childhood education in 
these degrees will be discontinued.  
 
Because the proposed degree program will draw from the same pool of prospective students as 
the current degree programs, there is no anticipated overall negative impact on student 
enrollment. Resources currently used to support the operation of the MEd in Curriculum and 
Instruction, concentration in Early Childhood Education and the MEd in Special Education, 
concentration in Early Childhood Special Education will be reallocated to support the initiation 
and operation of the proposed MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood Education. 
 
 



           
 

   10 
 

Justification for the Proposed Program 
 

Response to Current Needs (Specific Demand) 
 
The Commonwealth of Virginia and the nation as a whole is experiencing a severe and growing 
shortage of qualified teachers. The shortage is at a crisis level especially in high-poverty and 
diverse school divisions. In Virginia, there were 3573 teacher vacancies for the 2022-2023 
school year.6 In response, Governor Glenn Youngkin signed Executive Directive 3, charging the 
field to: 1) Reduce barriers for qualified individuals to enter the profession, 2) Increase the 
number of candidates eligible to fill public school divisions’ hard-to-staff positions, and, 3) 
Strengthen strategies to recruit and retain a diverse, highly-qualified educator workforce.7  
 
The Virginia Department of Education has also identified 10 critical shortage areas (i.e., those 
disciplinary areas for which school divisions face the largest difficulty filling positions with 
qualified educators). Special Education and Elementary PreK-6 have been the top two areas on 
the list since 2010-2011.8  
 
At the same time that policy makers, educators, and researchers have focused on the teacher 
shortage, there have been national calls for action to transform the early childhood workforce.9 
The call has led to increased expectations that teachers in early childhood education will hold a 
minimum of a bachelor’s degree. This suggests that an increasing number of early childhood 
educators will need degrees leading to licensure in EPK3 and ECSE.  
 
As a result of instituting the proposed degree program, George Mason University anticipates 
producing a net increase of 20 teachers eligible for Early/Primary Education PreK-3 or Early 
Childhood Special Education (birth-age 5 years) Virginia licensure annually by program 
maturity in academic year 2025-2026. 
 
The proposed degree program will enable the asserted increased production of teachers with 
literacy expertise by providing expanded access and clarity for marketing. First, offering 
program pathways that can be completed fully online supports prospective teachers’ access to 
coursework that leads to licensure. Bringing together both early childhood licensure pathways 
into a single degree will streamline the endorsement process for teachers who hold existing 
professional teaching credentials by allowing teachers to complete licensure specific coursework 
required for the completion of credentials in high-need licensure areas in Early Childhood 

 
6 Virginia Department of Education. (n.d.). Turning the tide: A strategic plan to address the educator shortage. 
Retrieved from: https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/turning-the-tide 
7 Commonwealth of Virginia Executive Department (2022). Executive Directive Number Three. Retrieved from: 
https://www.governor.virginia.gov/media/governorvirginiagov/governor-of-virginia/pdf/ed/ED-3---Addressing-
Teacher-Shortages-in-Virginia-Schools.pdf 
8 Virginia Department of Education. (2022). Education workforce data & reports. Retrieved from: 
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports  
9 National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2015). Transforming the Workforce for Children 
Birth Through Age 8: A Unifying Foundation. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. 
https://doi.org/10.17226/19401. Power to the Profession. (2020). Decision cycles 7 + 8. Retrieved from:  from: 
https://www.naeyc.org/sites/default/files/globally-shared/downloads/PDFs/our-
work/initiatives/power_to_the_profession_7-8_final_for_web.pdf 



           
 

   11 
 

Special Education and Early/Primary Education PreK-3. The anticipated development of 
bachelor’s to accelerated master’s pathways for students studying early childhood at the 
baccalaureate level will help to bridge students from undergraduate to graduate work and allow 
for a wider pool of prospective students. The ability to market a new degree and one with greater 
clarity and relevance for potential students will increase access to and visibility of the program. 
 

Duplication  
 
Five public institutions in Virginia offer degree programs similar to the proposed degree 
program. James Madison University, Norfolk State University, Old Dominion University, 
Radford University, and Virginia Commonwealth University offer degree programs similar to 
the proposed degree program. 
 
James Madison University (JMU) 
JMU has offered a MAT in Education, concentration in Inclusive Early Childhood Education 
(Birth-Grade 3) and a MAT in Special Education, concentration in Early Childhood Special 
Education. The university catalog notes that the MAT degrees will no longer accept applications 
after May 2023. The degree programs have been offered online and fully face to face. 
 
Old Dominion University (ODU) 
ODU offers a MSEd degree in Early Childhood Education, concentration in Initial Licensure-
PreK-3 and a MSEd in Special Education, concentration in Early Childhood Special Education. 
The degree programs are offered online and fully face to face.  
 
Radford University (Radford) 
Radford offers a MS in Special Education, concentration in Early Childhood Special Education. 
This program is offered online. 
 
Virginia Commonwealth University (VCU) 
VCU offers a MEd in Special Education, concentration in Early Childhood. The degree program 
is offered face to face.  
  



           
 

   12 
 

 
 
Summary of Projected Student Enrollment 
  

State Council of Higher Education for Virginia  
Summary of Projected Enrollments in Proposed Program  

  
Year 1  Year 2  Year 3  

  
Year 4   Year 5  

Target Year  
(4-year 

institutions)  
 

2024 - 2025 
 

2025 - 2026 
 

2026 - 2027 
 

2027- 2028 
 

2028 - 2029 

 
HDCT 

50 

 
FTES 

36 

 
HDCT 

115 

 
FTES 

83 

 
GRAD 

36 

 
HDCT 

139 

 
FTES 
101 

 
GRAD 

58 

 
HDCT 

141 

 
FTES 
102 

 
GRAD 

58 

 
HDCT 

141 

 
FTES 
102 

 
GRAD 

60 

 
Assumptions:  
80 % Retention  
90 % Full-time students 10 % part-time students  
Full-time students: 9 credit hours per semester  
Part-time students: 6 credit hours per semester  
Full-time students graduate in 2 years  
Part-time students graduate in 3 years  
 
 
Projected Resource Needs for the Proposed Program  
 

Resource Needs  
  
George Mason University and the College of Education and Human Development have the 
resources needed to transition and sustain the proposed MEd in Inclusive Early Childhood 
Education. The following categories detail the resources required to launch and sustain the 
proposed program from its initiation in the Fall 2024 semester through the target year 2028-
2029. Assessments of need for full-time faculty and adjunct faculty are based on the following 
ratio of student enrollment to faculty effort: 10 FTE of enrollment requires one FTE faculty for 
instruction. The proposed program will therefore require a total of 3.60 FTE to launch increasing 
to 10.25 FTE by the target year of 2028-2029. 
  
Full-time Faculty  
A faculty member currently teaching in the School of Education will serve as program 
coordinator for the proposed program. The program coordinator will be responsible for 
curriculum oversight, scheduling, marketing and recruitment strategy, and student satisfaction. 
The program coordinator will devote .60 FTE to teach core and required courses in the proposed 
program from the initiation year through the target enrollment year.  



           
 

   13 
 

 
Four (4) faculty members currently teaching in the School of Education will devote .75 FTE each 
to teach required courses in the proposed program in the initiation year, rising to 1.0 FTE each 
by the target enrollment year. 
 
One (1) new faculty member will be hired as an Assistant Professor in the third year of the 
proposed program's operation. An additional new faculty member will be hired as an Assistant 
Professor in the fourth year of the proposed program's operation. Salary for the new hires is 
expected to be $80,000 with an additional $25,680 in fringe benefits for a total cost of $105,680 
each. Total expense for the two (2) new hires will be $160,000 in salaries with $51,360 in fringe 
benefits for a total cost of $211,360 by the target enrollment year. Each of the new faculty hires 
will devote 1.00 FTE each to the proposed program through the target enrollment year. 
 
The proposed program will require 3.60 FTE of full-time faculty effort to initiate, rising to 6.60 
FTE by the target enrollment year. 
 
Part-time Faculty 
Four (4) existing faculty members in the School of Education will devote .25 FTE each to teach 
required courses beginning in the second year of the program's operation through the target 
enrollment year. 
 
The proposed program will require 0.0 FTE of part-time faculty effort to initiate, rising to 1.00 
FTE by the target enrollment year. 
 
Adjunct Faculty  
Eight (8) adjunct faculty members teaching in the School of Education will devote .33 FTE each 
to teach required courses beginning in the second year of the program's operation through the 
target enrollment year. 
The proposed program will require 0.0 FTE of adjunct faculty effort to initiate, rising to 
approximately 2.65 FTE by the target enrollment year. 
 
Classified Positions  
No additional classified support will be utilized to initiate or sustain the proposed program.   
 
Equipment (including computers)  
It is anticipated that $2,500 in computer equipment will be required for each of the two (2) new 
hires for a total cost of $5,000 in computer equipment by the target enrollment year. 
  
Library  
George Mason University Libraries has an extensive collection of journals and publications to 
support the proposed degree program. As a member of the Virtual Library of Virginia (VIVA), 
online access to journals is available.  
  
Telecommunications 
No new telecommunications will be required to initiate or sustain the proposed program. 
Telecommunications are available and will be used for the new hires. 
  



           
 

   14 
 

Space 
No additional space will be required to initiate or sustain the proposed program. Existing space 
in Thompson Hall on the main campus in Fairfax, VA, is available and will be utilized by the 
two (2) new hires. 
  
Targeted Financial Aid  
No targeted financial aid is required or designated to initiate and sustain the proposed degree 
program.  
  
Special Tuition or Fee Charges 
No special tuition or fee charges will be utilized or instituted to initiate and sustain the proposed 
degree program. 
 
Other Resources  
No additional College of Education and Human Development resources will be utilized to 
initiate or sustain the proposed program.  
  



           
 

   15 
 

 

Funds to Initiate and Operate the Degree Program 
Figures provided in the table below will be compared to SCHEV funding estimates using the 
current base adequacy model. This comparison will serve as a reference for the estimated costs. 
If there are large discrepancies, SCHEV may request additional clarification to ensure the 
institution’s assumptions are correct, or require modifications as a condition of approval.  
 
Note: Institutions must use the recommended student-faculty ratio when estimating FTE 
enrollments and required faculty FTEs.  

Cost and Funding Sources to Initiate and Operate the Program 

Informational Category 
Program 

Initiation Year 
2024 - 2025 

Program Full 
Enrollment Year1 

2026 - 2027 

1. Projected Enrollment (Headcount) 50 139 

2. Projected Enrollment (FTE) 36 101 

3. Projected Enrollment Headcount of In-
State Students 45 125 

4. Projected Enrollment Headcount of Out-
of-State Students 5 14 

5. 
Estimated Annual Tuition and E&G 
Fees for In-state Students in the 
Proposed Program 

$10,746 $10,746 

6. 
Estimated Annual Tuition and E&G 
Fees for Out-of-State Students in the 
Proposed Program 

$14,346 $14,346 

7. 
Projected Total Revenue from Tuition 
and E&G Fees Due to the Proposed 
Program 

$555,300 $1,543,734 

8. 
Other Funding Sources Dedicated to 
the Proposed Program (e.g., grant, 
business entity, private sources) 

$      $      

 
 

 
1 For the “Full Enrollment Year” use: for associate degrees, initiation year plus 1; for baccalaureate degrees, 
initiation plus 3; for masters degrees, initiation plus 2; for doctoral degrees, initiation plus 3. 



           
 

 
 

Table of Contents 
 
Description of Proposed Program ................................................................................................... 1 

Program Background .................................................................................................................. 1 
Accreditation ............................................................................................................................... 1 
State Licensing Agency  Virginia Department of Education ...................................................... 2 

Curriculum .................................................................................................................................. 2 
Transfer Virginia Common Curriculum ..................................................................................... 7 
Student Learning Assessment ..................................................................................................... 7 

Relation to Existing Degree Programs (Degree, Certificate, Sub-area) ..................................... 9 
Justification for the Proposed Program ........................................................................................... 9 

Response to Current Needs (Specific Demand) .......................................................................... 9 
Duplication ................................................................................................................................ 10 

Projected Resource Needs for the Proposed Program .................................................................. 11 
Resource Needs ......................................................................................................................... 11 
 

 
 
  



           
 

 
 

1 

Description of Proposed Program 
 

Program Background 
 
George Mason University seeks approval for a Bachelor of Science in Education (BSEd) degree 
program in Secondary Education. The proposed degree program will be administered by the 
College of Education and Human Development, School of Education. The anticipated initiation 
date is Fall 2024. 
 
First opening in 1957 as the Northern Virginia branch of the University of Virginia, George 
Mason University was established as an independent four-year, degree-granting institution in 
1972. Since its inception the University has offered teacher preparation degree programs and 
currently has more than 3,000 students enrolled in the School of Education within the College of 
Education and Human Development. Current degree offerings in teacher preparation include 
undergraduate and graduate pathways to more than 30 different licensure and endorsement areas 
in Virginia.  
  
To identify proposed degree programs, the College of Education and Human Development 
examined degree programs that would address critical shortages in teaching endorsement areas in 
Virginia as identified by the Virginia Department of Education (VDOE).1 Data from market 
studies, professional organizations, and considerations of legislative changes were also used to 
determine new degree programs. The specific inclusion of the proposed BSEd in Secondary 
Education addresses teaching endorsement areas currently identified as high need by the Virginia 
Department of Education (VDOE) including computer science (secondary), English (secondary), 
and history and social science (secondary). It is expected that additional areas of concentration 
and high need in secondary science (biology, chemistry, mathematics, Earth science, physics) 
will be added to this degree program. 
 

Accreditation  
  
According to the Virginia Administrative Code 8VAC20-543-20, all Virginia educator 
preparation programs are required to obtain and maintain national accreditation from the Council 
for the Accreditation of Educator Preparation (CAEP). CAEP serves to “advance equity and 
excellence in educator preparation through evidence-based accreditation that assures quality and 
supports continuous improvement to strengthen P-12 student learning.” 
  
The timeline for the next CAEP re-accreditation of the educator preparation programs offered at 
George Mason University is as follows: 
February 2025  Programs submit self-study to CAEP 
October 2025  CAEP accreditation team conducts site visit 
April 2026  CAEP renders decision for re-accreditation status 

  

 
1 Virginia Department of Education. (n.d.) Commonwealth of Virginia critical shortage teaching endorsement areas 
for 2023-2024 school year. https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-
virginia/education-workforce-data-reports  

https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports


           
 

 
 

2 

The proposed degree program and all evidence of meeting standards will be included in the next 
CAEP re-accreditation. CAEP requires an Annual Report to confirm program compliance and 
updates. The proposed degree program will be included in this submission. 
 

State Licensing Agency  
Virginia Department of Education 

 
The proposed BSEd in Secondary Education will be required to meet the accountability 
measures prescribed by the Virginia State Board of Education. The Virginia Department of 
Education (VDOE) provides detailed and specific information for meeting the accountability 
measures expected of Virginia's educators in the respective disciplines. The requirements are 
extensive, and all educator preparation programs must meet all of the licensure regulations, 
professional studies, and endorsement requirements for each discipline/teaching area to be 
approved to offer Educator Preparation Programs. 
  
The proposed BSEd in Secondary Education with subject area concentrations in Computer 
Science, English, and History and Social Science is designed to meet all Virginia Department of 
Education regulations. George Mason University submitted its biennial reports for 2017-2019, 
2019-2021, and 2021-2023 which evaluated all educator preparation programs offered by the 
University. The Virginia Department of Education approved all George Mason University 
educator preparation programs. The university will submit a 2023-2025 biennial report to the 
VDOE which will include applicable completer information for the proposed degree program. 
  

Curriculum 
 
The proposed BS degree program in Secondary Education will require 120 credit hours. An 
internship course is required. 
 
The curriculum for the proposed programs is mapped to meet Virginia Department of 
Education (VDOE) content area endorsement requirements, Council for the Accreditation of 
Educator Preparation (CAEP) requirements, and the teacher education pedagogical courses 
and field experiences necessary for becoming a highly effective educator.  
 
The proposed degree program in Secondary Education (SEED) is a 120-credit program that 
will prepare teacher candidates for secondary teaching positions in grades 6 through 12, in 
the subject areas of English, history/social science, and computer science. Through clinical 
experiences, the program will provide undergraduate teacher candidates with the 
knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary for becoming exemplary new teachers in 
accordance with the Interstate Teacher Assessment and Support Consortium (INTASC) 
standards. Upon successful completion of the program, teacher candidates will be eligible 
for licensure in their respective subject area in Secondary Education in the Commonwealth 
of Virginia. The proposed program in Secondary Education will utilize these standards to 
design and integrate university-based and school-based practical experiences to prepare 
graduates to work with diverse learners in grade 6-12 classrooms. 
 
In addition, the proposed program in Secondary Education creates opportunities for 
expansion of the College of Education and Human Development's clinical, field-based 



           
 

 
 

3 

approach to teacher education in partnership with the 20 secondary schools in its partnership 
network. This clinical approach is built upon a mutually beneficial school and program 
partnership that impacts teacher preparation, grade 6-12 student learning, and teacher and 
university faculty professional development. Pending completion of prerequisite 
requirements, students choosing the degree program in secondary education may select one 
of the optional licensure concentrations in Computer Science, English, or History/Social 
Science. 
 
Internship Requirement 
Students are required to complete an intensive, supervised clinical experience (internship) in a 
Computer Science, English, or History and Social Science (grade 6-12) classroom corresponding 
to concentration endorsement area in an approved public school during the fall and/or spring 
semester of their senior year. The internship can be completed either in a full-time 16-week 
experience in one semester or a half-time 32-week experience in two consecutive semesters. The 
internship allows students (“interns”) to apply knowledge and skills obtained throughout their 
coursework. Interns complete a minimum of 150 hours of indirect teaching and a minimum of 
150 hours of direct teaching. 
  
During the internship experience, students are required to complete and submit eight formal 
lesson plans; participate in eight pre-observation conferences; be observed and evaluated in their 
internship classrooms eight times; participate in eight post-observation conferences; participate 
in start-of-the semester, mid-semester, and end-of-semester triad conferences with their mentor 
teacher and university supervisor/clinical coach; complete weekly reflections and have these 
reviewed/assessed by their mentor teacher, university supervisor/clinical coach, and internship 
seminar instructor; and complete mid-semester and end-of-semester self-evaluations and review 
mid-semester and end-of-semester evaluations completed by their mentor teacher and university 
supervisor/clinical coach.  
 
All of these assignments (lesson plans, conferences, observations, reflections, and evaluations) 
focus on at least one of the INTASC standards, with observations expected to address a 
minimum three standards, and mid-semester, self-, and end-of-semester evaluations assessing 
interns on all 10 standards. Interns are required to demonstrate proficiency with all 10 standards 
by the conclusion of the internship, with evidenced identified by interns, mentor teachers, and 
university supervisors/clinical coaches. University supervisors/clinical coaches complete the 
final evaluations of interns and serve as the instructor of record. If a student does not 
successfully complete all hours or assignments or is not assessed as successfully addressing all 
INTASC standards or as otherwise not ready to be licensed, the student will be required to repeat 
the internship. If a student fails the internship course, they will be required to retake the course at 
an alternative location, with a new mentor teacher and university supervisor/clinical coach. 
 
New courses are indicated with an asterisk (*). 
 
Program Requirements 
 
Mason Core (General Education) Requirements: 37 credits 
Written Communication: Lower and Upper Divisions (6 credits) 
Oral Communication (3 credits) 



           
 

 
 

4 

Literature (3 credits) 
Quantitative Reasoning (3 credits) 
Arts (3 credits) 
Western Civilization/World History (3 credits) 
Natural Science (7 credits) 
Global Understanding (3 credits)  
Information Technology and Computing (3 credits)  
Social and Behavioral Science (3 credits) 
Mason Core Writing-Intensive and Synthesis/Capstone (3 credits)** 
 
Core Courses: 24 credits 
EDRD 419: Literacy Across the Disciplines (3 credits) 
SEED 407: Assessing Learning and Teaching in the Secondary Classroom (3 credits)* 
SEED 408: Creating Advocacy with Adolescent Learners (3 credits)* 
SEED 409: Perspectives on Extraordinary Teaching (3 credits)* 
SEED 422: Foundations of Secondary Education (3 credits) 
SEED 440: Human Development, Learning, and Teaching (3 credits) 
SEED 477: Studying Teacher Impact on Student Learning (3 credits)* 
SEED 478: Implementing Teacher Impact on Student Learning (3 credits)* 
 
Concentration Areas: 51-66 credits 
Secondary Education - Computer Science (57 credits) 
This concentration offers coursework meeting the regulations of the Virginia Department of 
Education for licensure to teach at the secondary level with an endorsement in Computer 
Science.  
 
CS 112: Introduction to Computer Programming (4 credits) † 
CS 211: Object-Oriented Programming (3 credits) 
CS 262: Introduction to Low-Level Programming (3 credits) 
CS 310: Data Structures (3 credits) 
CS 321: Software Engineering (3 credits) 
CS 330: Formal Methods and Models (3 credits) 
CS 483: Analysis of Algorithms (3 credits) 
ENGH 101: Composition (3 credits)† 
MATH 113: Analytic Geometry and Calculus I (4 credits) † 
MATH 114: Analytic Geometry and Calculus II (4 credits) 
MATH 125: Discrete Mathematics I (3 credits) † 
MATH 203: Linear Algebra (3 credits) 
SEED 466: Teaching Computer Science in Secondary School (3 credits) 
SEED 476: Advanced Methods of Teaching Computer Science in the Secondary School (3 
credits) 
SEED 496: Internship: Secondary Education Computer Science (9 credits) 
STAT 250: Introductory Statistics I (3 credits) 
   or STAT 344: Probability and Statistics for Engineers and Scientists I (3 credits) 
 
  

https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=EDRD%20419
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20407
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20408
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20409
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20422
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20440
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20477
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20478
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20112
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20211
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20262
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20310
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20321
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20330
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=CS%20483
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20101
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=MATH%20113
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=MATH%20114
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=MATH%20125
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=MATH%20203
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20466
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20476
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20496
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=STAT%20250
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=STAT%20344


           
 

 
 

5 

Secondary Education - English (51 credits) 
This concentration offers coursework meeting the regulations of the Virginia Department of 
Education for licensure to teach at the secondary level with an endorsement in English.  
 
Required Courses: 36 credits 
COMM 100: Public Speaking (3 credits) † 
 or COMM 101: Fundamentals of Communication (3 credits) † 
 or INTS 202: Public Speaking and Critical Thinking Skills (3 credits) † 
ENGH 101: Composition (3 credits) † 
ENGH 302: Advanced Composition (3 credits) † 
ENGH 308: Theory and Inquiry (3 credits) 
LING 306: General Linguistics (3 credits) † 
LING 307: English Grammar (3 credits) 
SEED 370: Young Adult Literature in Multicultural Settings (3 credits) † 
SEED 469: Teaching English in Secondary School (3 credits) 
SEED 479: Advanced Methods of Teaching English in the Secondary School (3 credits) 
SEED 492: Internship: Secondary Education English (9 credits) 
 
Restricted Electives: 15 credits 
Students select one course from the three (3) areas below. Students select an additional 6 credits 
of ENGH-prefixed courses.  
 
Students select one course from the following: 
ENGH 320: Literature of the Middle Ages (3 credits) 
ENGH 321: English Poetry and Prose of the 16th Century (3 credits) 
ENGH 322: Introduction to Shakespeare (3 credits) 
ENGH 323: Studies in Shakespeare (3 credits)  
ENGH 324: English Renaissance Drama (3 credits) 
ENGH 325: English Poetry and Prose of the 17th Century (3 credits) 
ENGH 330: Augustan Age: 1660-1745 (3 credits) 
ENGH 331: Age of Sensibility: 1745-1800 (3 credits) 
ENGH 333: British Novel of the 18th Century (3 credits) 
ENGH 334: British Poetry of the Romantic Period (3 credits) 
ENGH 335: Prose and Poetry of the Victorian Period (3 credits) 
ENGH 336: British Novel of the 19th Century (3 credits) 
ENGH 337: British Poetry after 1900 (3 credits) 
ENGH 338: British Novel after 1900 (3 credits) 
 
Students select one course from the following: 
ENGH 340: Early American Literature (3 credits) 
ENGH 341: Literature of the American Renaissance (3 credits) 
ENGH 342: Post-Civil War American Literture, 1865-1920 
ENGH 343: Development of the American Novel to 1914 (3 credits) 
ENGH 344: Development of the American Novel since 1914 (3 credits) 
ENGH 345: American Drama of the 20th Century (3 credits) 
ENGH 346: American Poetry of the 20th Century (3 credits) 

https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=COMM%20100
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=COMM%20101
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=INTS%20202
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20101
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20302
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20308
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=LING%20306
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=LING%20307
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20370
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20469
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20479
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20492
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20320
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20321
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20322
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20323
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20324
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20325
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20330
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20331
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20333
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20334
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20335
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20336
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20337
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20338
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20340
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20341
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20343
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20344
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20345
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20346


           
 

 
 

6 

ENGH 348: Beginnings of African American Literature Through 1865 (3 credits) 
ENGH 349: African American Literature: Reconstruction to 1903 (3 credits) 
ENGH 350: African American Literature Through 1946 (3 credits) 
ENGH 351: Contemporary African American Literature (3 credits) 
ENGH 352: Topics in Ethnic American Literature (3 credits) 
ENGH 355: Recent American Fiction (3 credits) 
ENGH 356: Recent American Poetry (3 credits) 
 
Students select one course from the following list, or one special topics course selected with 
advisor approval. 
ENGH 360: Continental Fiction, 1770-1880 (3 credits) 
ENGH 361: Continental Fiction, 1880-1950 (3 credits) 
ENGH 362: Global Voices (3 credits) 
ENGH 366: The Idea of a World Literature (3 credits) 
ENGH 367: World Literatures in English (3 credits) 
  
Secondary Education - History and Social Science (66 credits) 
This concentration offers coursework meeting the regulations of the Virginia Department of 
Education for licensure to teach at the secondary level with an endorsement in History and Social 
Science.  
 
Required Courses: 39 credits 
ECON 103: Contemporary Microeconomic Principles (3 credits) † 
ECON 104: Contemporary Macroeconomic Principles (3 credits) † 
GGS 101: Major World Regions (3 credits) † 
GGS 102: Physical Geography (3 credits) 
GGS 103: Human Geography (3 credits) † 
GOVT 103: Introduction to American Government (3 credits) 
HIST 121: Formation of the American Republic (3 credits) 
    or HIST 122: Development of Modern America (3 credits) 
HIST 125: Introduction to Global History (3 credits) 
SEED 367: Teaching History and Social Science in the Secondary School (3 credits) 
SEED 467: Advanced Methods of Teaching History and Social Science in the Secondary School 
(3 credits) 
SEED 495: Internship: Secondary Education History and Social Science (9 credits) 
 
Restricted Electives: 27 credits 
Students select one course from the following list. Students select an additional 15 credits of 
GOVT-prefixed courses and 9 credits of HIST-prefixed courses.  
 
HIST 351: History of the Old South (3 credits) 
HIST 352: The South since 1865 (3 credits) 
HIST 373: The Civil War and Reconstruction (3 credits) 
HIST 391: History of Virginia to 1800 (3 credits) 
HIST 401: Colonial America (3 credits) 
 

https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20348
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20349
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20350
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20351
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20352
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20355
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20356
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20360
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20361
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20362
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20366
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ENGH%20367
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ECON%20103
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=ECON%20104
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=GGS%20101
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=GGS%20102
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=GGS%20103
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=GOVT%20103
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20121
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20122
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20125
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20367
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20467
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=SEED%20495
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20351
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20352
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20373
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20391
https://workingcatalog.gmu.edu/search/?P=HIST%20401


           
 

 
 

7 

General Electives: 0-11 credits 
Students select general elective coursework to bring the degree total to 120 credits. 
 
**Requirement is satisfied in the core coursework. 
† Course will satisfy a Mason Core requirement. 
 
Total Credits: 120 credit hours 
 

Transfer Virginia Common Curriculum 
 
Transfer credits will be allowed and, with advisor approval, may count toward core and 
concentration coursework requirements. Transfer students must complete at least 30 credits at 
George Mason University to be eligible for graduation. The proposed degree program articulates 
with and will be represented in the Transfer VA portal. The proposed degree program will be 
included in George Mason University's ADVANCE partnerships with the Virginia Community 
College System (VCCS). These partnerships provide students with an articulated streamlined 
pathway (2+2) toward getting a bachelor’s degree, saving time and money. In addition to the 
articulation, students have access to success coaches who provide targeted, personalized support 
from the VCCS to George Mason University, and students are allowed to participate in 
university program activities to enhance affinity while in the pathway.  
 
The VCCS degree specializations will be eliminated over the 2023-2024 academic year. Majors 
within the AS in Teaching have been developed and are pending approval. Among these, one 
will seamlessly articulate to the BSEd in Secondary Education, Secondary Education – History 
and Social Science concentration.  
 

Student Learning Assessment 
 
Students who complete the proposed BSEd in Secondary Education will possess the required 
expertise to practice as a professional educator. Assessment of student learning in the proposed 
degree program will be conducted through analysis of systematic metrics specifically designed 
to measure student performance. Student learning will be assessed throughout the program 
through a variety of formative and summative measures. During the university classroom-based 
portion of the program students are evaluated by a variety of means including written in-class 
examinations, research papers, in-class activities, reflective assignments, performance-based 
assessments, and presentations.  
 
In the field component of the program, students are frequently expected to complete reflective 
reports and demonstrate their competence at specific skills in practical application of university 
coursework. During their capstone internship, students are required to complete reflective 
activities, document teaching hours, engage in observations, co-teach, and successfully complete 
four weeks of independent teaching. During the teaching practicum experiences, students are 
expected to demonstrate the principles and practices of effectively teaching secondary level 
courses in their respective subject areas. Students will be mentored during the capstone 
internship experiences and will be expected to be able to develop whole course curricula, design 
learning assignments, construct methods for assessing, integrate instructional strategies for 



           
 

 
 

8 

teaching culturally diverse students, and demonstrate effective classroom management 
techniques.  
 
The learning outcomes for the proposed degree program are specific to secondary level 
knowledge, skills, and abilities (i.e., competencies) that students should acquire during their 
training in the BSEd in Secondary Education. Key tasks are purposefully aligned with 
accrediting processes at the program and college levels, with a focus on the standards of the 
Interstate New Teacher Assessment and Support Consortium (lnTASC): 
 

• Standard #1: Learner Development: The teacher understands how learners grow and 
develop, recognizing that patterns of learning and development vary individually within 
and across the cognitive, linguistic, social, emotional, and physical areas, and designs and 
implements developmentally appropriate and challenging learning experiences. 

• Standard #2: Learning Differences: The teacher uses understanding of individual 
differences and diverse cultures and communities to ensure inclusive learning 
environments that enable each learner to meet high standards. 

• Standard #3: Learning Environments: The teacher works with others to create 
environments that support individual and collaborative learning, and that encourage 
positive social interaction, active engagement in learning, and self-motivation. 

• Standard #4: Content Knowledge: The teacher understands the central concepts, tools of 
inquiry, and structures of the discipline(s) he or she teaches and creates learning 
experiences that make these aspects of the discipline accessible and meaningful for 
learners to assure mastery of the content. 

• Standard #5: Application of Content: The teacher understands how to connect concepts 
and use differing perspectives to engage learners in critical thinking, creativity, and 
collaborative problem solving related to authentic local and global issues. 

• Standard #6: Assessment: The teacher understands and uses multiple methods of 
assessment to engage learners in their own growth, to monitor learner progress, and to 
guide the teacher’s and learner’s decision making. 

• Standard #7: Planning for Instruction: The teacher plans instruction that supports every 
student in meeting rigorous learning goals by drawing upon knowledge of content areas, 
curriculum, cross-disciplinary skills, and pedagogy, as well as knowledge of learners and 
the community context. 

• Standard #8: Instructional Strategies: The teacher understands and uses a variety of 
instructional strategies to encourage learners to develop deep understanding of content 
areas and their connections, and to build skills to apply knowledge in meaningful ways. 

• Standard #9: Professional Learning and Ethical Practice: The teacher engages in ongoing 
professional learning and uses evidence to continually evaluate his/her practice, 
particularly the effects of his/her choices and actions on others (learners, families, other 
professionals, and the community), and adapts practice to meet the needs of each learner. 

• Standard #10: Leadership and Collaboration: The teacher seeks appropriate leadership 
roles and opportunities to take responsibility for student learning, to collaborate with 
learners, families, colleagues, other school professionals, and community members to 
ensure learner growth, and to advance the profession. 

 



           
 

 
 

9 

These broad-based learning outcomes are aligned with accreditation standards, yet the measures 
associated with each address specific assessments and objectives in core courses in the major. 
Items labeled as "Assessments" below are used for program-specific accreditation purposes. 
Items labeled as "Performance-based Assessments" are used programmatically to assess student 
learning. Items labeled as "Common Assessments" are used across the College of Education and 
Human Development for college accreditation. Grading rubrics are used for evaluation of each 
assessment. 
  

Relation to Existing Degree Programs (Degree, Certificate, Sub-area) 
 
George Mason University offers a Bachelor of Science (BS) degree program in Computer 
Science, a Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree program in English, and a Bachelor of Arts (BA) degree 
program in History. It is anticipated that these degree programs will experience an increase in 
enrollment, as students in the proposed BSEd in Secondary Education degree program will be 
required to take between 11 and 17 content area courses to meet Virginia Department of 
Education licensure requirements.  
 
George Mason University offers post-baccalaureate certificates in Secondary Education – 
Computer Science (6-12) and Secondary Education – English (6-12). These certificates include 
solely education pedagogy coursework, and are taken by students who have advanced in the BS 
or BA degree in discipline. The BSEd in Secondary Education will serve a different population, 
specifically those students interested in the teaching degree solely.  
 
George Mason University offers an MEd degree program in Curriculum and Instruction, 
including concentrations in Secondary Education – Computer Science, Secondary Education – 
English, and Secondary Education – History and Social Science. It is anticipated that the existing 
master’s degree program will not be negatively impacted by the proposed degree program. The 
proposed degree program will draw from a different pool of prospective students. No degree 
programs will close as a result of the initiation and operation of the proposed degree program. 
 
Justification for the Proposed Program 
 

Response to Current Needs (Specific Demand) 
 
Nationwide, the U.S. is facing a critical teacher shortage. The estimated shortage is anticipated to 
escalate to 316,000 teachers by 2025. The Commonwealth of Virginia is experiencing a severe 
and growing shortage of qualified teachers. The shortage is at a crisis level especially in high- 
poverty and diverse school divisions. The number of unfilled teacher positions has increased 
dramatically over the past 10 years, with over 3,500 positions left unfilled across the 
Commonwealth during the 2022-2023 school year.2 The top ten critical needs identified by the 
Virginia Department of Education for 2023-2024include three or more of the subject areas and 
grade levels of the proposed BSEd in Secondary Education program (i.e., Middle Education 

 
2 Virginia Department of Education. (n.d.) Turning the tide: A strategic plan to address the educator shortage. 
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports  

https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports


           
 

 
 
10 

(Grades 6-8; English (Secondary) and History and Social Science (Secondary).3 Additionally, the 
College of Science has indicated an interest in creating five concentrations addressing the 
Science (Secondary) areas of need (i.e., biology, mathematics, physics, chemistry, earth science) 
over the next two years.  
 
As a result of instituting the proposed degree program, George Mason anticipates enrolling 50 
students by the target enrollment year (2028-2029) and a net increase of nine (9) graduates in 
year four of the proposed program’s operation.  
 
With established strong relationships with the northern Virginia Community College System and 
the academic units across the university where students in the proposed degree program would 
be completing their content area requirements, George Mason University has a strong pipeline 
through which students will access the proposed teacher preparation option. The advising 
structures of the current secondary education program and the College of Education and Human 
Development engage regularly with advisors in the community college feeder institutions and 
with advisors in the academic units across the university, these other Mason departments, 
ensuring that students will have efficient advising structures and transfer options.  
 

Duplication 
 
Three (3) public institutions in Virginia offer degree programs similar to the proposed degree 
program. James Madison University, Virginia Commonwealth University, and Virginia 
Polytechnic Institute and State University offer degree programs similar to the proposed degree 
program. 
 
James Madison University (JMU) 
JMU offers a BS degree program in Secondary Education. The degree program is offered fully 
face to face.  
 
Virginia Commonwealth University (VCU)  
VCU offers a BSEd in Secondary Education and Teaching. The degree program is offered fully 
face to face.  
 
Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University (Virginia Tech) 
Virginia Tech offers a BAED/BSEd in Secondary Education. The degree program is offered 
fully face to face and fully online. 
  

 
3 Virginia Department of Education. (n.d.) Education workforce data & reports. 
https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports 
 

https://www.doe.virginia.gov/teaching-learning-assessment/teaching-in-virginia/education-workforce-data-reports


           
 

 
 
11 

Summary of Projected Enrollments in Proposed Program 
 

State Council of Higher Education for Virginia 
Summary of Projected Enrollments in Proposed Program 

 
Assumptions 
75% Retention 
80% Full-time students 20% part-time students 
Full-time students: 12 credits per semester  
Part-time students: 9 credits per semester  
Full-time students graduate in 4 years 
Part-time students graduate in 5 years 
 
Projected Resource Needs for the Proposed Program 
 

Resource Needs 
 
George Mason University and the College of Education and Human Development have the 
resources needed to initiate and operate the proposed degree programs. The following categories 
detail the resources required to launch and sustain the proposed program from its initiation in the 
Fall 2024 semester through the target year 2028-2029. Assessments of need for full-time faculty 
and adjunct faculty are based on the following ratio of student enrollment to faculty effort: 20 
FTE of enrollment requires one FTE faculty for instruction. The proposed program will therefore 
require a total of .50 FTE to launch increasing to 2.75 FTE by the target year of 2028-2029. 
 
Full-time Faculty 
A faculty member currently teaching in the School of Education will serve as program 
coordinator for the proposed program. The program coordinator will be responsible for 
curriculum oversight, scheduling, marketing and recruitment strategy, and student satisfaction. 
The program coordinator will devote .50 FTE to teach core and required courses in the proposed 
program from its initiation through the target enrollment year.  
 
Four (4) existing faculty members in the School of Education will devote .50 FTE each to the 
proposed program beginning in the second year of operation through the target enrollment year. 
The proposed program will require .50 FTE of full-time faculty effort to initiate, rising to 2.50 
FTE in the target enrollment year. 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 
 

Year 4 
Target Year 

(2-year institutions) 

Year 5 
Target Year 

(4-year institutions) 
 
2024- 2025 

 
2025 - 2026 

 
2026 - 2027 

 
2027 - 2028 

 
2028 - 2029 

 
HDCT 
15 

 
FTES 
11 

 
HDCT 
29 

 
FTES 
22 

 
HDCT 
45 

 
FTES 
34 

 
HDCT 
65 

 
FTES 
49 

 
GRAD 
 

 
HDCT 
73 

 
FTES 
55 

 
GRAD 

18 



           
 

 
 
12 

Part-Time Faculty  
No part-time faculty effort will be utilized to initiate or sustain the proposed degree program. 
 
Adjunct Faculty 
One adjunct faculty member teaching in the School of Education will devote .25 FTE to teach 
required courses in the proposed program beginning in the second year of operation and through 
the target enrollment year.  
  
The proposed program will require a total of 0.0 FTE adjunct faculty effort to initiate, rising to 
.25 FTE by the target enrollment year.  
  
Graduate Assistants  
No graduate assistants will be utilized to initiate or sustain the proposed degree programs. 
 
Classified Positions 
No additional classified support will be utilized to initiate the proposed program. By the target 
enrollment year, it is anticipated that additional support for advising and administration may be 
needed to sustain the proposed program.  
 
Equipment (including computers) 
No equipment (including computers) will be needed to initiate the proposed program. 
Library  
George Mason University Libraries has an extensive collection of journals and publications to 
support the proposed degree program. As a member of the Virtual Library of Virginia (VIVA), 
online access to journals is available.  
 
Telecommunications 
No new telecommunications will be required to initiate or sustain the proposed program.  
  
Space 
No additional space will be required to initiate or sustain the proposed program.  
  
Targeted Financial Aid  
No targeted financial aid is required or designated to initiate and sustain the proposed degree 
program.  
  
Special Tuition or Fee Charges 
No special tuition or fee charges will be utilized or instituted to initiate and sustain the proposed 
degree program. 
 
Other Resources  
To advertise the proposed program, the College of Education and Human Development will 
allocate funds from its marketing budget.  
  
  



           
 

 
 
13 

 

Funds to Initiate and Operate the Degree Program 
Figures provided in the table below will be compared to SCHEV funding estimates using the 
current base adequacy model. This comparison will serve as a reference for the estimated costs. 
If there are large discrepancies, SCHEV may request additional clarification to ensure the 
institution’s assumptions are correct, or require modifications as a condition of approval.  
 
Note: Institutions must use the recommended student-faculty ratio when estimating FTE 

enrollments and required faculty FTEs.  

Cost and Funding Sources to Initiate and Operate the Program 

Informational Category 
Program 

Initiation Year 
2024 - 2025 

Program Full 
Enrollment Year1 

2027 - 2028 

1. Projected Enrollment (Headcount) 15 65 

2. Projected Enrollment (FTE) 11 49 

3. Projected Enrollment Headcount of In-
State Students 14 59 

4. Projected Enrollment Headcount of Out-
of-State Students 2 7 

5. 

Estimated Annual Tuition and E&G 

Fees for In-state Students in the 

Proposed Program 

$10,692 $10,692 

6. 
Estimated Annual Tuition and E&G 

Fees for Out-of-State Students in the 

Proposed Program 
$34,860 $34,860 

7. 

Projected Total Revenue from Tuition 

and E&G Fees Due to the Proposed 

Program 

$196,632 $852,072 

8. 

Other Funding Sources Dedicated to 

the Proposed Program (e.g., grant, 

business entity, private sources) 

$      $      

 

 

 
1 For the “Full Enrollment Year” use: for associate degrees, initiation year plus 1; for baccalaureate degrees, 
initiation plus 3; for masters degrees, initiation plus 2; for doctoral degrees, initiation plus 3. 



             
ITEM NUMBER:    
Bachelor of Science in Education (BSEd) in Secondary Education Degree Program Proposal 
 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM:  
The BSEd in Secondary Education degree program proposal is in development for submission to 
the State Council of Higher Education for Virginia (SCHEV) for Fall 2024. Prior to SCHEV 
submission, Board action is required. 
 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE:    
Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE: 
To address the teacher shortage crisis in the areas of secondary education (grades 6-12), George 
Mason University is proposing a BSEd in Secondary Education pathway to teacher licensure at 
the undergraduate level. Teacher shortages are particularly acute in Virginia and the nation. The 
role of secondary education teachers is to educate students in core subjects in addition to 
mentoring and facilitating the intellectual, emotional, and professional development as they 
transition from adolescence into early adulthood. Upon successful completion of the program, 
students will be eligible for Virginia licensure in Secondary Education and specific content 
concentrations. 
 
Through clinical experiences, the program will provide undergraduate teacher candidates 
with the knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary for becoming new teachers in accordance 
with the Interstate Teacher Assessment and Support Consortium (INTASC) standards. 
Students are required to complete an intensive, supervised clinical experience (internship) in a 
classroom corresponding to concentration endorsement area in an approved public school. The 
internship allows students to apply knowledge and skills obtained throughout their coursework.  
 
Since its inception, George Mason University has offered teacher preparation degree programs 
through the College of Education and Human Development. A Secondary Education graduate 
concentration and a series of undergraduate certificates are currently offered. The proposed 
degree program would allow students to enter the profession with appropriate credentials and be 
licensed by the Commonwealth of Virginia.  
 
 
REVENUE IMPLICATIONS: 
The BSEd in Secondary Education degree program will be revenue neutral.  All courses required 
for the degree have been developed and are currently incorporated in undergraduate certificates 
or cross-listed with the graduate curriculum. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends Board approval. 



ACTION ITEMS

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

CONFERRAL OF EMERITUS/EMERITA STATUS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Bennett James T. 11/30/2023 

Title: Professor Emeritus
Local Academic Unit: Economics (CHSS)

DeMulder Elizabeth K. 2/2/2024 

Title: Professor Emerita of Education
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Klimoski Richard J. 2/2/2024 

Title: Professor Emeritus of Management
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Linton Harold 11/30/2023 

Title: Professor Emeritus
Local Academic Unit: Art (CVPA)

Winant Peter B. 11/30/2023 

Title: Associate Professor Emeritus
Local Academic Unit: Art (CVPA)



To: Kenneth  Walsh, Interim Provost    
Gregory Washington, President 

From: Ann Ardis, Dean
College of Humanities and Social Sciences

Subject: Emeritus Designation for James Bennett

Date: October 11, 2023

On the recommendation of the Department of Economics, I am pleased to recommend Dr. James Bennett for 
appointment as Professor Emeritus, effective upon approval of the BOV.  

Dr. Bennett received his Ph.D. from Case Western Reserve University in 1970, and joined Mason in 1975, when 
economics courses were taught in the business school. He was part of a small group of scholars who worked 
closely together in those early years to create a vision for a new and separate department. That vision was 
realized, and the Department of Economics was created.

Until his retirement in June, 2023, Dr. Bennett was an Eminent Scholar at GMU.  He held the William P. 
Snavely Chair of Political Economy and Public Policy in the Department of Economics, and was Director of the 
John M. Olin Institute for Employment Practice and Policy. He specialized in research related to public policy 
issues, the economics of government and bureaucracy, labor unions and health charities. He is founder and 
editor of the Journal of Labor Research and has published more than 60 articles in professional journals such 
as the American Economic Review, Review of Economics and Statistics, Policy Review, Public Choice and Cato 
Journal.

James Bennett’s contributions to the Department of Economics are innumerable.  Based on his distinguished 
service at GMU, the Economics Department chair and faculty were unanimous and enthusiastic in their 
support of recommending James Bennett for emeritus status.

Approve  _ _ _ _     Disapprove  _ _ _ _      _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
enneth  Walsh, 

Interim Provost    
        Date

Approve  _ _ _ _      Disapprove  _ _ _ _      _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _      _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
Gregory Washington, President       Date

This memo certifies that the criteria have been met by this Emeritus candidate according to the Faculty Handbook 
requirements:  full-time Associate or Full Professor with ten or more years of continuous academic service, home unit 
and/or Dean recommendation, Provost recommendation, and the President’s recommendation.

College of Humanities and 
Social Sciences
4400 University Drive, MS 3A3, Fairfax, Virginia 22030
Phone: 703-993-8720 

ashington, President 

Dean
College of Humanities and Social Sciences

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _    _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _    _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
enneth  Walsh

11/2/2023

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _    
Gregory Washington, President    

11/13/2023



To:  Kenneth D. Walsh, PhD, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President
  Gregory Washington, PhD, President

From:  Ingrid Guerra-López, PhD, Dean
College of Education and Human Development (CEHD) 

Subject: Emerita Designation for Dr. Elizabeth DeMulder 

Date:  October 18, 2023 
________________________________ 

I am writing to request that Dr. Elizabeth DeMulder be awarded the title Professor Emerita of Education, 
effective February 2, 2024. 

Dr. DeMulder has been a full-time faculty member in the College of Education and Human Development 
since 1994. Her contributions to George Mason University in teaching, research, and service have been 
extensive and multifaceted. Of particular note is her long-time leadership role in one of the College’s most 
innovative programs—a master’s degree program focused on “transformative teaching,” for which she 
served both as an architect and later as Academic Program Coordinator. Through her leadership in this
academic program, Dr. DeMulder has had an enduring (and yes, transformative) impact on many hundreds of 
teachers in the Northern Virginia region.  

During her career she has taught 25 different courses in multiple formats while also serving as a facilitative 
mentor for numerous doctoral students, including service on 21 dissertation committees. As a scholar, Dr. 
DeMulder was a pioneer in developing research and advocacy themes in child development, early childhood 
education, and teacher education and professional development focused on social justice, antiracism, and
inclusive education. These themes are now ubiquitous in these fields. At the core of her nearly 200 scholarly 
products are lessons learned from research and practice for transforming the way teacher education 
researchers and education leaders define and organize their guiding pedagogical principles. 

Dr. DeMulder has served in a wide variety of university and professional service roles throughout her faculty 
career, including numerous CEHD and Mason committees focused on antiracism and inclusive excellence, 
equity and social justice, and community engagement. She is also a long-time Commencement marshal, a 
facilitative mentor for junior and mid-career faculty, and an informed and engaged citizen at both the PK-12 
and higher education levels.

Dr. Elizabeth DeMulder is an exemplary candidate for emerita status at George Mason University. 

Approved __  Not Approved __          _________________________________________________________ 
                                                               Kenneth D. Walsh, PhD, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

Approved __  Not Approved __          _________________________________________________________ 
                                                               Gregory Washington, PhD, President

This memo certifies that the criteria have been met by this Emerita candidate according to the Faculty Handbook requirements: full-
time Associate or Full Professor with ten or more years of continuous academic service; nominated by the home unit with the Dean,
Provost, and President’s recommendations.

Office of the Dean
College of Education and Human Development
4400 University Drive, MS 2F1, Fairfax, Virginia 22030
Phone: 703-993-2004; Fax: 703-993-2001

College of Education and Human Development (CEHD) 

exemplary candidate for emerita status at George Mason Unive

________________________________________________________
Kenneth D. Walsh PhD Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

________________________________________________________
Gregory Washington, PhD, President



Date:            October 16, 2023 

Along with the tenured faculty members of the Management Area and the Faculty of the School of Business, I write 
to recommend that Professor Richard Klimoski be elected to the honorary rank of Professor Emeritus of 
Management effective February 2, 2024. Since joining Mason in 1995, Professor Klimoski has continuously made 
outstanding contributions to the development of students, faculty, research, and the university.

Dr. Klimoski joined George Mason University as Professor of Psychology and the Director of the Center for 
Behavioral and Cognitive Studies in 1995, a position that he held until 2001. He also served as the Director of the 
Applied/Experimental Psychology Graduate Programs, and the Associate Dean of the College of Arts and Sciences. 
Dr. Klimoski was Dean of the School of Business from 2001 to 2009. He was then a Professor of Management, 
served as Management Area Chair, Director of Faculty Research, and currently Associate Dean for Research.  

As outlined in the attached Management Faculty Area memorandum, Professor Klimoski’s accomplishments in 
research, administration, teaching, and service have been significant and far reaching. As a life-long contributor to 
scholarship, he particularly focused on effective organizational leadership and dynamics of successful work teams. 
He founded and/or led significant academic societies, published prolifically, is highly cited, and as a result has been 
recognized as a Fellow of the Academy of Management, the American Psychological Association, the Association
for Psychological Science, and the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology. He has taught many 
students over his career, including serving as a mentor for PhD students, and developed and taught graduate and 
executive courses. Dr. Klimoski has served as a leader at Mason in the School of Business as well as across 
campus. Dr. Klimoski has had a tremendous impact on George Mason through his many roles. He has consistently 
exhibited the highest levels of organizational citizenship and we are thankful and appreciative for his dedication to 
George Mason.

Accordingly, I concur with the Management Area and Promotion and Tenure committee and enthusiastically 
recommend that Dr. Klimoski be elected to the honorary rank of Professor Emeritus of Management effective 
February 2, 2024. 

___  Approved  ___ Not Approved _____________________________________________ 
Ken  Walsh, Ph.D., 
Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

___  Approved  ___ Not Approved ______________________________________________ 
Gregory Washington, President

This memo certifies that the criteria have been met by this Emeritus candidate according to the Faculty Handbook
requirements:  full-time Associate or Full Professor with ten or more years of continuous academic service;
nominated by the home unit with the Dean, Provost, and President’s recommendations.

To: 

From:  

Subject: 

Ken Walsh, Ph.D., Interim Provost and Executive Vice President
Gregory Washington, President

Ajay Vinzé, Dean, School of Business 

Emeritus Designation for Professor Richard Klimoski

School of Business
Enterprise Hall, 4400 University Drive, MS 1B1, Fairfax, Virginia 22030
Phone: 703-993-1880; Fax: 703-993-1867

Klimoski be elected to the honorary rank of Professor Emeritus of Managemen

___  Approved  ___ Not Approved _____________________________________________ 
Ken  Walsh, Ph.D., 

___  Approved  ___ Not Approved ______________________________________________ 
Gregory Washington, President



To: Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President
Gregory Washington, President 

From: Rick Davis, Dean
College of Visual and Performing Arts

Subject: Emeritus Designation for Harold Linton, School of Art
Date: October 20, 2023 

I am pleased to recommend Harold Linton, Professor of Art, for Emeritus status effective
, 2023.  Professor Linton’s retirement, after a distinguished eighteen-year career at

Mason,  effective June 1 .

An artist and scholar of international renown in several fields, Harold Linton served with 
distinction as Director of the School of Art for eight years, 2005-2013, during which he led the 
transition to the stunning new Art & Design Building, sought and received national accreditation
for the program (NASAD), and implemented major curricular innovations.

He has exhibited widely as a painter and sculptor, and has published numerous book-length 
works on subjects as diverse as Color in Architecture, Portfolio Design (four editions and a 
Korean translation), Sketching the Concept, and catalog retrospectives of his own artistic work. 
He is regarded as one of the nation’s leading authorities on the artist’s portfolio, with a long list
of panels, presentations, workshops, and consultations.  

As Director Starr’s memorandum details, Harold Linton’s contribution to the School of Art at
Mason is vast and transformational. His stature as a practicing American artist is no less
impressive. I strongly recommend Emeritus election for Harold Linton.  

Approval __  Disapproval  __  ___________________________________________ 
Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

Approval __ Disapproval  ___  ________________________________________ 
           Gregory Washington, President 

This memo certifies that the criteria have been met by this Emeritus candidate according to the
Faculty Handbook requirements:  full-time Associate or Full Professor with ten or more years of
continuous academic service; nominated by the home unit with the Dean, Provost, and 
President’s recommendations.

College of Visual and Performing Arts
4400 University Drive, MS 4C1, Fairfax, Virginia 22030
Phone: 703-993-8877; Fax? Who Faxes Anymore?

recommend Erecommend Erecommend meritus election for for f Harold Lint

sapproval  __  ___________________________________________ 
Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost and

Approval __ Disapproval  ___  ________________________________________ 
regory Washington, President 



To: Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President
Gregory Washington, President 

From: Rick Davis, Dean
College of Visual and Performing Arts

Subject: Emeritus Designation for Peter Winant, School of Art
Date: October 20, 2023 

I am pleased to recommend Peter Winant, Associate Professor of Art, for Emeritus status
effective , 2023.  Professor Winant’s retirement, after a distinguished twenty-three-
year career at Mason,  effective June 1.

A sculptor and critic of national import, Peter Winant served with distinction for eleven years as,
variously, Associate Director and Director of the School of Art. His tenure was marked by
dramatic increases in enrollment, continued evolutionary innovation in curriculum, and a strong 
and successful commitment to community engagement. This last is a characteristic of his own
artistic practice as well, as a founding member of Workingman Collective, a group of artists 
committed to collaboration, community impact, and innovation in the artistic process.

Peter’s work as a sculptor/3D artist is held in private collections throughout the US, and public 
commissions at Tyson’s Corner and for the US State Department exemplify his reach both
stylistically and geographically. Residents of the DMV know him as the genial but tough-minded 
art critic on WETA-TV’s “Around Town,” for which he has reviewed more than 300 exhibitions.

As Director Starr’s memorandum details, Peter Winant’s contribution to the School of Art at
Mason is vast and transformational. His stature as a practicing American artist is no less
impressive. I strongly recommend Emeritus election for Peter Winant.

Approval __  Disapproval  __  ___________________________________________ 
  Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President

Approval __ Disapproval  ___  ________________________________________ 
           Gregory Washington, President 

This memo certifies that the criteria have been met by this Emeritus candidate according to the
Faculty Handbook requirements:  full-time Associate or Full Professor with ten or more years of
continuous academic service; nominated by the home unit with the Dean, Provost, and 
President’s recommendations.

College of Visual and Performing Arts
4400 University Drive, MS 4C1, Fairfax, Virginia 22030
Phone: 703-993-8877; Fax? Who Faxes Anymore?

trongly recommend Emeritus election for Peter WPeter WPeter inant.

Approval __  Disapproval  __  ___________________________________________ 
  Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost and  Kenneth D. Walsh, Interim Provost 

Approval __ Disapproval  ___  ________________________________________ 
           Gregory Washington, President 



ACTION ITEMS 

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee 

November 30, 2023 

ELECTIONS OF NEW TENURED FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE 
Ahn Ethan C. 11/30/2023 

Title: Associate Professor 
Rank: Associate Professor without Term 
Classification: Tenured (without term) - Instructional 
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC) 

Popat Ketul C. 1/10/2024 

Title: Professor 
Rank: Professor without Term 
Classification: Tenured (without term) - Instructional 
Local Academic Unit: Bioengineering (CEC) 

Note(s): Additional Title: Department Chair for Bioengineering 



Office of the Provost 
4400 University Drive, MSN 3A2 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Phone: 703.993.8770; Fax: 703.993.8871 

Procedural Checklist for New Faculty 
Being appointed to Tenured (Without Term) Positions 

This form must be submitted in Interfolio as part of the Tenured upon Hire case at 
the Dean's recommendation step. 

Ethan Ahn, Associate Professor 

Faculty Member’s Name and Title 

Electrical and Computer Engineering (ECE) 

Local Academic Unit 

Verification of Hiring and Trainings: 
I verify that all hiring requirements, including reference checks, for the candidate has been completed and the 

candidate has been informed of all training that need to be completed within the first few weeks of the start 
of their appointment (including but not limited to DEI trainings: Title IX Overview and Sexual Harassment 
Prevention, Equal Opportunity: A Fair Shake and Ethics). 

One-half page justification for appointment, to include a description of the benefit of this hire 
for the department, school, etc., as well as the rationale for selecting this candidate over 
others. 

Dr. Ahn was hired into the ECE Department as a result of an open competitive search. Dr. Ahn received his 
PhD in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University in 2015. He joined the University of Texas at San 
Antonio as an Assistant Professor of Electrical and Computer Engineering in 2016 and was promoted to the 
rank of Associate Professor with tenure in 2022. His research focuses on emerging nanoscale materials and 
device technologies and is highly relevant to the nation’s technological needs considering the CHIPS & 
Science Act passed by the U.S. Congress.  Dr. Ahn has published 31 refereed journal papers and 49 refereed 
conference publications since 2016, with the majority of his publication in top-tier journals or conferences. 
He has graduated four doctoral students and has secured a total of about $4 million in external research 
funding.  Dr. Ahn is an accomplished teacher.  He has taught four different courses at both undergraduate 
and graduate levels, (including three that he developed) with excellent student ratings.  Dr. Ethan Ahn will 
be an outstanding addition to our ECE Department and will contribute greatly to the College’s strength in 
the areas of semiconductors and nanotechnology. 

10. 18.2023

Dean Date 



Ethan C. Ahn 
November 30, 2023 

Ethan C. Ahn, Ph.D. is a candidate for Tenure upon Hire to Associate Professor without Term in 
the Department of  Electrical Engineering within the College of Engineering and Computing 
(CEC). Professor Ahn received his Ph.D. in 2015 from Stanford University. He also received a 
M.S. in 2007 and a B.S. in 2005 at the Korea Advanced Institute of Science and
Technology (KAIST).

Professor Ahn has a distinguished record. Prior to his appointment at Mason, he held an 
academic appointment at the University of Texas at San Antonio. His appointment began in 
2016 as an assistant professor and earned tenure in September 2022 at the rank of Associate 
Professor.  Prior to joining the University of Texas, Professor Ahn also held an appointment as a 
Postdoctoral Researcher at Stanford University and a Visiting Scholar appointment at Michigan 
State. Professor Ahn also served as a Faculty Fellow at the Naval research Laboratory and the 
Air Force Research Laboratory.  

Professor Ahn’s tenure dossier demonstrates that he has established an exceptionally strong 
record of research/scholarship, teaching, and service. His case strongly is supported by the CEC 
Review Committees, the Chair, and the Dean of the College each of which has documented the 
strength of his academic record. 

The decision to hire Professor Ahn is well supported. He will be a valued member of our 
university community and is deserving of appointment to the rank of Associate Professor 
without Term. 

Consistent with the recommendation of the CEC review committees, the Chair, and the Dean of 
the College, I also recommend that Professor Ahn be granted appointment without term to the 
rank of Associate Professor without Term in the Department of Electrical Engineering within the 
College of Engineering and Computing, effective November 30, 2023. 



























































Office of the Provost 
4400 University Drive, MSN 3A2 
Fairfax, Virginia 22030 
Phone: 703.993.8770; Fax: 703.993.8871 

Procedural Checklist for New Faculty 
Being appointed to Tenured (Without Term) Positions 

This form must be submitted in Interfolio as part of the Tenured upon Hire case at 
the Dean's recommendation step. 

Ketul C. Popat, Professor and Chair 

Faculty Member’s Name and Title 

Bioengineering 

Local Academic Unit 

Verification of Hiring and Trainings: 
I verify that all hiring requirements, including reference checks, for the candidate has been completed and the 

candidate has been informed of all training that need to be completed within the first few weeks of the start 
of their appointment (including but not limited to DEI trainings: Title IX Overview and Sexual Harassment 
Prevention, Equal Opportunity: A Fair Shake and Ethics). 

One-half page justification for appointment, to include a description of the benefit of this hire 
for the department, school, etc., as well as the rationale for selecting this candidate over 
others. 

Dr. Popat has been hired as Chair of the Bioengineering Department in the College of Engineering and 
Computing following an open and competitive search. Dr. Popat received his Ph.D. in Bioengineering in 
2003 from the University of Illinois. He joined Colorado State University at Fort Collins as an Assistant 
Professor in the School of Bioengineering in 2007 and was promoted to the rank of Professor in 2020. 
Among other roles, he has served as Associate Department Head of the Department of Mechanical 
Engineering and as Director of the Undergraduate Program in the School of Biomedical Engineering. In 
these roles he has made substantial educational contributions to his School. Dr. Popat is a leading 
researcher in the area of tissue engineering. He has published over 175 papers in high-impact journals, has 
a Google Scholar h-index of 50, and over 100,000 citations. He has served as Principal Investigator or Co-
Principal Investigator on millions of dollars of funded research, and he has graduated 10 PhD students. Dr. 
Popat’s strong record of leadership in education and in research will significantly contribute to the strength 
of the Bioengineering Department.   

10. 18.2023

Dean Date 



Ketul C. Popat 
November 30, 2023 

 
 

Ketul C. Popat, Ph.D. is a candidate for Tenure upon Hire to Professor without Term in the 
Department of Bioengineering within the College of Engineering and Computing (CEC). He is 
also selected to serve as Department Chair in Bioengineering. Professor Popat received his 
Ph.D. in 2003 from the University of Illinois. He also received a M.Eng. in 2000 at the Illinois 
Institute of Technology and a B.Eng. in 1998 at the Maharaja Sayajirao University.  
 
Currently, Professor Popat holds an appointment as a Professor of Mechanical Engineering in 
the School of Biomedical Engineering at Colorado State University since 2020 and is currently 
the Director of the Undergraduate Program for the School since 2019. He was also the Associate 
Department Head of Undergraduate Studies for the Department of Mechanical Engineering from 
2018 – 2021. Prior to joining the faculty at Colorado State University, he served as an Associate 
Specialist in the Department of Physiology in the University of California, San Francisco and a 
Postdoctoral Research Associate at Boston University. In addition, Professor Popat also has 
held visiting appointments at a number of prestigious universities internationally. 
 
Professor Popat’s tenure dossier demonstrates that he has established an exceptionally strong 
record of research/scholarship, teaching, and service. His case strongly is supported by the CEC 
Review Committees and the Dean of the College each of which has documented the strength of 
his academic record. 

 
The decision to hire Professor Popat is well supported for tenure and to serve as Department 
Chair. He will be a valued member of our university community and is deserving of appointment 
to the rank of Professor without Term. 

 
Consistent with the recommendation of the CEC review committees and the Dean of the 
College, I also recommend that Professor Popat be granted appointment without term to the 
rank of Professor without Term in the Department of Bioengineering within the College of 
Engineering and Computing, effective January 10, 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 

































































































ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Acosta Rene Paul M. 10/10/2023  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor, Miocene Climate Modelling
Rank: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Atmospheric, Oceanic and Earth Sciences (COS)

Bell Glynita 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Rank: Instructional Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Social Work (CPH)

Ehsan Mohammad M. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Rank: Instructional Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Honors College

Evrendilek Cem 1/10/2024  3 years

Title: Professor
Rank: Instructional Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Computer Science (CEC)

Guevara Jacqueline J. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Rank: Instructional Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Social Work (CPH)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Luo Juan 1/10/2024  3 years

Title: Associate Professor
Rank: Instructional Associate Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Computer Science (CEC)

Page Amy P. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Rank: Instructional Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Social Work (CPH)

Parisi Anna 1/10/2024  3.5 years

Title: Assistant Professor
Rank: Assistant Professor
Classification: Tenure Track - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Social Work (CPH)

Ramadan David I. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Professor of Practice
Rank: Professor of Practice
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Zhu Zhuangdi 1/10/2024  3.5 years

Title: Assistant Professor
Rank: Assistant Professor
Classification: Tenure Track - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Cyber Security Engineering (CEC)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Barton Monica B. 9/10/2023   

Title: Behavioral Health Resident in Counseling
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Student Health Services (UL)

Beavers Douglas W. 9/25/2023   

Title: Assistant Coach, Men's and Women's Diving
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Bolton Andre 9/10/2023   

Title: Associate Head Coach Women's Basketball
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Butler-Allen Tarrance L. 10/4/2023   

Title: Financial Aid Counselor
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Office of Student Financial Aid

Connor Kevin B. 8/10/2023   

Title: Director, Graduate Enrollment
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
De Haan Eric 9/25/2023   

Title: Director of Development, Alumni Relations and Community Engagement
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Dulak-Sigler Corey 9/25/2023   

Title: Head Strength and Conditioning Coordinator
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Ewing Katherine R. 8/21/2023   

Title: Assistant Coach Lacrosse
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Fickers Crystal S. 9/25/2023   

Title: Associate Director of Student Programs and Community Initiatives, Center for Innovation
and Entrepreneurship
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Greenwaters Kendra M. 7/24/2023   

Title: Senior Director of Development
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Hairston Key'Shawn 9/10/2023   

Title: Information System Security Manager
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Office of Research, Innovation and Economic Impact

Highsmith Shanelle D. 10/10/2023   

Title: Program Manager for Outreach and Partnerships
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Office of the Provost

Hwang Christine 10/2/2023   

Title: Financial Aid Counselor
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Office of Student Financial Aid

Lacy Bobby J. 9/5/2023   

Title: Associate Director, Green Machine
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: College of Visual and Performing Arts

Mancini Terri A. 10/25/2023   

Title: Director of Research Administration
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: College of Public Health



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Michael Marie T. 8/8/2023   

Title: Assistant Coach, Women's Rowing
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Nelin Tyler R. 10/9/2023   

Title: Assistant Coach, Baseball
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Nelson Mackenzie E. 9/25/2023   

Title: Assistant Director, Family Programs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: New Student and Family Programs (UL)

Peluso Roger T. 11/10/2023   

Title: Assistant Coach, Men's Volleyball
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Pettis Alicia M. 10/31/2023   

Title: Associate Director of Development, Business
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Robinson Corey D. 11/25/2023   

Title: Assistant Dean, Undergraduate Programs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Roseman Caryn A. 10/2/2023   

Title: Assistant Director of Academic Student Success
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Simmons Jaylen M. 7/25/2023   

Title: Certified Athletic Trainer
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Swift Shane B. 5/30/2023   

Title: Video Coordinator
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Taheri Ahmad 11/10/2023   

Title: Director of Information Technology and Cybersecurity
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: College of Science



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT OF ADMINSTRATIVE AND PROFESSIONAL FACULTY 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE
Thees Windy 8/14/2023   

Title: Assistant Coach, Softball
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Walker Brittany N. 7/10/2023   

Title: Community Director
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Housing and Residence Life (UL)

Wallace Alexandra 9/18/2023   

Title: Associate Director, Global Faculty-Led Programs
Classification: At will - Admin/Professional
Local Academic Unit: Global Education Office



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENT OF DEANS/DIRECTORS
AND DEPARTMENT CHAIRS/SCHOOL DIRECTORS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Charlton Everlena Z. 8/25/2023  < 1 year

Title: Interim Director
Local Academic Unit: Art (CVPA)

Chitnis Parag 8/25/2023  < 1 year

Title: Interim Chair
Local Academic Unit: Bioengineering (CEC)

Davis Richard S. 5/25/2024  5 years

Title: Dean
Local Academic Unit: College of Visual and Performing Arts

de Jonge Elisabeth H. 8/25/2023  < 1 year

Title: Interim Department Chair
Local Academic Unit: Nutrition and Food Studies (CPH)

Fuchs Cynthia J. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Interim Director
Local Academic Unit: Film & Video Studies (CVPA)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENT OF DEANS/DIRECTORS
AND DEPARTMENT CHAIRS/SCHOOL DIRECTORS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Healy Megan K. 9/10/2023  1 year

Title: Interim Chief of Staff
Local Academic Unit: Office of the President

Maddox Peggy J. 8/25/2023  < 1 year

Title: Acting Co-Director of the School of Nursing
Local Academic Unit: Health Administration and Policy (CPH)

Mark Brian L. 8/25/2023  < 1 year

Title: Interim Department Chair
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Pfoser Dieter 8/25/2023  4 years

Title: Department Chair
Local Academic Unit: Geography and Geoinformation Science (COS)

Rodan Margaret F. 8/25/2023  < 1 year

Title: Acting Co-Director of the School of Nursing
Local Academic Unit: Nursing (CPH)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

APPOINTMENT/REAPPOINTMENT OF DEANS/DIRECTORS
AND DEPARTMENT CHAIRS/SCHOOL DIRECTORS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Sun Jiayang 7/25/2023  2 years

Title: Department Chair
Local Academic Unit: Statistics (CEC)

Vaisman Iosif I. 8/25/2023  4 years

Title: Director
Local Academic Unit: Systems Biology (COS)

Walsh Kenneth D. 9/10/2023  1 year

Title: Interim Provost and Executive Vice President
Local Academic Unit: Office of the President



Note(s): Previous title: Term Associate Professor

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Alishetty Suman 9/10/2023  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Rank: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Bioengineering (CEC)

Bashatah Ahmed A. 9/4/2023  1 year

Title: Research Associate (Instructor)
Rank: Research Associate (Instructor)
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Bioengineering (CEC)

de Jonge Elisabeth H. 6/10/2023  5 Years

Title: Instructional Professor
Rank: Instructional Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: Nutrition and Food Studies (CPH)

Driscoll David R. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Huddleston Kathi C. 9/1/2023  1 year

Title: Research Associate Professor
Rank: Research Associate Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Nursing (CPH)



Note(s): Previous title: Instructor

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Johnson Tyrel 7/18/2023  1 year

Title: Research Associate Professor
Rank: Research Associate Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Kim Esther H. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Kozumplik Thomas 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Lewis Amy L. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Instructional Associate Professor Humanities
Rank: Instructional Associate Professor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Lilley Timothy P. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Lin Li 5/25/2023  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor, Agro-Geoinformation Sciences
Rank: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Center for Spatial Information Science and Systems (COS)

Miller Laura L. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Paez Bonny B. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Richardson Mary C. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Rottenberg Lori A. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)



ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

RENEWALS AND REAPPOINTMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME EFFECTIVE DATE APPT LENGTH
Smith Michael P. 8/25/2023  1 year

Title: Senior Instructor
Rank: Senior Instructor
Classification: Term - Instructional
Local Academic Unit: INTO Mason (Provost)

Swenson Erik T. 1/25/2023  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Rank: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Center for Ocean-Land-Atmosphere Studies (COS)

Swenson Erik T. 1/25/2024  1 year

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Rank: Research Assistant Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Center for Ocean-Land-Atmosphere Studies (COS)

Zhou Weidong 9/25/2023  1 year

Title: Research Associate Professor
Rank: Research Associate Professor
Classification: Term - Research
Local Academic Unit: Center for Applied Proteomics and Molecular Medicine (COS)



Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Addison Patricia A. Resignation 08/31/2023 

Title: Assistant Program Director
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Barzegar Abbas Contract expiration 09/05/2023 

Title: Director of Research for the Black American Muslim Internationalism Project
Research

Local Academic Unit: Global Islamic Studies Program (CHSS)

Benson (Grunstad) Constance P. Retirement 12/24/2023 

Title: Director of Recreation
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Bland-French Joyce M. Retirement 01/09/2024 

Title: Director of Risk Management
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Safety, Emergency, and Enterprise Risk Management

Boyd Derek W. Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Philosophy (CHSS)



Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Note(s): This record supersedes the previous entry reported for September 2023 BOV.

Classification:Tenured (without term) -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Ceesay Ebrima N. Contract expiration 05/24/2023 

Title: Instructional Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (CEC)

Dove Frances A. Resignation 01/09/2024 

Title: Associate Director of Graduate Admissions
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: College of Public Health

Everson Michelle D Resignation 11/09/2023 

Title: Associate Director
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter School for Peace and Conflict Resolution

Ford Meggan C. Resignation 11/24/2023 

Title:  Associate Dean, Undergraduate Programs
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Frank Toya Resignation 5/24/2023 

Title: Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development



Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Ginsberg Mark R. Retirement 11/24/2023 

Title: Provost and Executive Vice President
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Office of the Provost

Harley Jessica L. Resignation 12/12/2023 

Title: Health Promotion Nurse
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Student Health Services (UL)

Jackson Timya L. Resignation 08/18/2023 

Title: Assistant Director for College Success
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Early Identification Program (UL)

Kim Eunice C. Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Instructor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: George Mason University Korea

Kitsantas Panagiota Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Dr. Kitsantas has accepted a position with Florida Atlantic University.



Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:Term -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Klimoski Richard J. Retirement 01/09/2024 

Title: Professor of Management
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Lahm Sally A. Resignation 08/31/2023 

Title: Research Associate Professor
Research

Local Academic Unit: Global and Community Health (CPH)

Lauer Anne E. Resignation 01/09/2024 

Title: Instructor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Lewis-Semien Alexis Resignation 09/24/2023 

Title: - Assistant Director, Student Transition and Empowerment Program
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Diversity, Inclusion and Multicultural Education (UL)

Maribojoc Roderick Resignation 09/15/2023 

Title: Executive Director, Center for Real Estate Entrepreneurship
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business



Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

Note(s): This record supersedes the previous entry reported in the September 2023 BOV.

Classification:Term -

Classification:Term -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Mazzini Bruschi Simone Contract expiration 09/26/2023 

Title: Assistant Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Mathematical Science (COS)

Miller William G. Retirement 09/23/2023 

Title: Assistant Director Code Compliance
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Office of the Senior Vice President

Mitchell Mark A. Retirement 10/24/2023 

Title: Research Associate Professor
Research

Local Academic Unit: Communication (CHSS)

Morell Michael J. Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Distinguished Visiting Professor
Research

Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Muz Aaron F. Resignation 10/23/2023 

Title: Assistant Director for College Readiness
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Early Identification Program (UL)



Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Term -

Note(s):

Classification:At will -

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Orlick Daylen Resignation 11/09/2023 

Title: Associate Director of Family Programs
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: New Student and Family Programs (UL)

Paulsen Sabrina A. Resignation 09/13/2023 

Title: Assistant Coach, Rowing
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Intercollegiate Athletics

Popescu Saskia Resignation 08/24/2023 

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Professor Popescu has accepted a position with University of Maryland.

Richardson Matthew Resignation 07/27/2023 

Title: Director, External Relations and Strategic Initiatives
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Law and Economics Center (ASLS)

Robinson Emily A. Resignation 01/09/2024 

Title: Associate Director of Advancement Communications
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: College of Visual and Performing Arts



Classification:At will -

Note(s):

Classification:Tenure track -

Classification:At will -

Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:At will -

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Rouge Juliette R. Resignation 10/24/2023 

Title: Associate Dean
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter School for Peace and Conflict Resolution

Ms. Rouge has accepted a position with American Public University.

Serigos Jacqueline Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Assistant Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Modern and Classical Languages (CHSS)

Spence Diane A. Resignation 10/09/2023 

Title: Executive Director & Chief Business Officer - Level 3
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Steinberg Matthew P. Resignation 09/01/2023 

Title: Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Toothman Charles A. Resignation 07/24/2023 

Title: Executive Director of Budget Planning and Strategic Analysis
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Office of Budgeting and Planning

Mr. Toothman has accepted a position with Virginia Department of Health.



Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:Tenured (without term) -

Classification:Term -

Note(s):

Classification:At will -

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

SEPARATIONS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME TYPE EFFECTIVE DATE
Vadakkepatt Gautham G. Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

von Fricken Michael E. Resignation 05/24/2023 

Title: Associate Professor
Instructional

Local Academic Unit: Global and Community Health (CPH)

Wang Yue Resignation 08/13/2023 

Title: Research Assistant Professor
Research

Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Dr. Wang has accepted a position with Georgia State University.

Williams Sara L. Resignation 08/04/2023 

Title: Initiatives Manager
Admin/Professional

Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Aidoo Hewton Abena A.   Title Change

Title: Talent Equity Advisor
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Associate Professor of Tourism and Events Management

Aier Jagadison K.   Title Change

Title: Dean's Faculty Fellow
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Akhtari Humaira   Title Change

Title: Assistant Chair for Undergraduate, Graduate and Online Studies
Local Academic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (CEC)

Retained Title-Instructor

Albanese Massimilano   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair for Research, Information Sciences and Technology Department
Local Academic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Altug Mehmet S.   Title Change

Title: Director, Retail Center
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Altug Mehmet S.   Title Change

Title: Academic Director, MS in Bus Analytics
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Baily Supriya   Title Change

Title: Director of Faculty Development
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Baker Pamela H.   Title Change

Title: Director of the Division of Special Education and DisAbility Research
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Baker Robert E.   Title Change

Title: Director in the School of Sport, Recreation, and Tourism
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Bellos Ioannis   Title Change

Title: Director, Master of Business Administration (MBA)
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Benison Brian J.   Title Change

Title: Director of Graduate Admissions and International Initiatives
Local Academic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Previous Title:Director of Graduate Admissions

Berg Colleen F.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, Department of Mechanical Engineering
Local Academic Unit: Mechanical Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Instructor

Berkeley Sheri L.   Title Change

Title: Director of the PhD in Education Program
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Billingham Lisa A.   Title Change

Title: Director of Choral Activities in the School of Music
Local Academic Unit: Music (CVPA)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Brouse Peggy S.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair for Undergraduate Studies, CYSE
Local Academic Unit: Systems Engineering and Operations Research (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Buehl Michelle M.   Title Change

Title: Division of Educational Psychology and Research Methods
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor

Bulancea Gabriela   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, Mathematical Sciences
Local Academic Unit: Mathematical Science (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Burtch Nathan R.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, GGS
Local Academic Unit: Geography and Geoinformation Science (COS)

Retained Title-Assistant Professor

Butler Henry N.   Title Change

Title: Chairperson of the Board, Law & Economics Center
Local Academic Unit: Antonin Scalia Law School

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Cai Xiaomei   Title Change

Title: CHSS Director of Faculty Diversity, Inclusion, and Belonging
Local Academic Unit: Communication (CHSS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Caswell Amanda M.   Title Change

Title: Head of School of Kinesiology
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor of Athletic Training

Chitnis Parag   Title Change

Title: Faculty Fellow for Graduate Education
Local Academic Unit: Bioengineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Costa Paulo C.   Title Change

Title: Director, C41 and Cyber Center
Local Academic Unit: Cyber Security Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Cressman John R.   Title Change

Title: Area Chair
Local Academic Unit: Physics and Astronomy (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Dabbagh Nada   Title Change

Title: Director of the Division of Learning Technologies
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor of Education without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
D'Amboise Christopher R.   Title Change

Title: Director of the LIVE Center
Local Academic Unit: Dance (CVPA)

Retained Title-Associate Professor Without Term

Das Sidhartha R.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Area Chair, ISOM (OSCM)
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Dawn Karalee   Title Change

Title: Director of the Arts Management Program
Local Academic Unit: Arts Management (CVPA)

Retained Title-Assistant Professor

Deans Penny C.   Title Change

Title: Academic Director of Master of Technology Management (MSTM)
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Professor

Debuque Rachel M.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, School of Art
Local Academic Unit: Art (CVPA)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Deola Noelle   Title Change

Title: Assistant Director for Faculty and Employees
Local Academic Unit: International Programs and Services (UL)

Previous Title:International Advisor for Employment-Based Visas

Di Liping   Title Change

Title: CSISS Director
Local Academic Unit: Center for Spatial Information Science and Systems (COS)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Dinan Desmond J.   Leave without Pay

Title: Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Professor Dinan will be on Leave without Pay for the Fall Semester 2023 to serve as a
Visiting Fellow in the European Parliament in Brussels.

Dumas Theodore C.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, IPN
Local Academic Unit: Neuroscience Program (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Duritz Nicole S.   Title Change

Title: Director of Programs, Support and Outreach
Local Academic Unit: Communication (CHSS)

Previous Title:Director of Outreach and Advocacy



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Eiseman Phil D.   Title Change

Title: Staff Clinician
Local Academic Unit: Counseling and Psychological Services (UL)

Previous Title:Clinician, Diversity and Inclusion Focus

Erb Megan S.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, Chemistry and Biochemistry
Local Academic Unit: Chemistry and Biochemistry (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Fuchs Cynthia J.   Title Change

Title: ARIE Committee
Local Academic Unit: Film & Video Studies (CVPA)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Gaj Krzysztof M.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair for Graduate Programs, ECE
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Garcia Toni C.   Title Change

Title: Concentration Director, Business Analytics
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Senior Instructor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Garrison Daniel J.   Leave with Pay

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (CEC)

Professor Garrison has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Fall Semester 2023.

George Mwangi Chrystal   Title Change

Title: CHSS Faculty Diversity Network Lead
Local Academic Unit: Higher Education Program (CHSS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Gillevet Patrick M.   Title Change

Title: Associate Dean for Research Operations
Local Academic Unit: College of Science

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Glaberman Scott R.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair of Research
Local Academic Unit: Environmental Science and Policy (COS)

Retained Title-Assistant Professor

Grady Victoria M.   Title Change

Title: Program Director, Master of Science in Management (MSM)
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Guo Liying   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, CSISS
Local Academic Unit: Center for Spatial Information Science and Systems (COS)

Retained Title-Research Professor

Harley Jessica L.   Title Change

Title: Health Promotion Nurse
Local Academic Unit: Student Health Services (UL)

Previous Title:Health Equity Nurse Practitioner

Harris Cameron J.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Area Chair of Business Foundations
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Hayes Monson H.   Title Change

Title: Departmental Transition Coordinator, ECE
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor

Heilbrun David W.   Title Change

Title: Interim Head, Metadata Services
Local Academic Unit: University Libraries

Retained Title-Metadata Librarian



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Hersch Rebekah K.   Title Change

Title: Interim Director, CINA
Local Academic Unit: Office of Research, Innovation and Economic Impact

Retained Title-Associate Vice President Research Development

Highsmith Shanelle D.   Title Change

Title: CASBBI Community Outreach Liason
Local Academic Unit: Office of the Provost

Retained Title-Program Manager for Outreach and Partnerships

Horstmeyer Derek M.   Title Change

Title: Director, Student Managed Investment Fund
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Professor

Hunter Brett D.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair for Education, Department of Statistics
Local Academic Unit: Statistics (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Johnson Bret A.   Title Change

Title: Academic Director, MS in Accounting
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):
Professor Jones has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Academic Year 2023-2024.

Note(s):

Note(s):
Professor Jones converted from Administrative/Professional Faculty to Instructional Faculty.

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Joiner Christopher   Title Change

Title: Assistant Area Chair of Marketing
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Jones James   Leave with Partial Pay

Title: Associate Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Jones Rochelle R.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, Department of Systems Engineering and Operations Research
Local Academic Unit: Systems Engineering and Operations Research (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Jones James   Conversion

Title: Associate Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Jordan Yevette   Leave with Pay

Title: Associate Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: History and Art History (CHSS)

Professor Jordan has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Spring Semester 2024.



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):
Professor Kelly has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Spring 2024 as a recipient of the
Fulbright Scholar Award.

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Jorgenson Linn   Title Change

Title: Director LIFE
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Associate Professor of Education

Jusu Nikyatu   Leave with Partial Pay

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Film & Video Studies (CVPA)

Professor Jusu will be on Leave with Partial Pay for the Fall Semester 2023 to engage
in multiple professional film projects as Writer and Director.

Kelly Theodore M.   Leave with Pay

Title: Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: History and Art History (CHSS)

Kennedy William G.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair of Research, CDS
Local Academic Unit: Computational and Data Sciences (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Khasawneh Khaled   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, C-TASC
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Assistant Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Kim Younsung   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, ESP
Local Academic Unit: Environmental Science and Policy (COS)

Retained Title-Professor

Kosoglu Laura   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair and Graduate Program Director, Sid and Reva Dewberry, CEIE
Local Academic Unit: Civil, Environmental and Infrastructure Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Kurtay Pelin A.   Title Change

Title: Senior Associate Chair, Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor

Lacayo Candace P.   Title Change

Title: Faculty Fellow for Graduate Education
Local Academic Unit: Office of the Provost

Retained Title-Associate Professor of Athletic Training

Lacayo Candace P.   Title Change

Title: Director of the Office of Diversity and Inclusion
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Associate Professor of Athletic Training



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):
Professor Lee will be on Educational Leave without Pay for Academic Year 2023-2024.

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Lair Meredith   Leave with Pay

Title: Associate Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: History and Art History (CHSS)

Professor Lair has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Spring Semester 2024.

Langfred Claus W.   Title Change

Title: Area Chair, Management
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Lavengood Megan   Title Change

Title: Director of Music Theory
Local Academic Unit: Music (CVPA)

Retained Title-Assistant Professor

Lee Yi-Ching   Leave without Pay

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Psychology (CHSS)

Leonato Kristin P.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, Programs and Outreach
Local Academic Unit: University Career Services (UL)

Previous Title:Associate Director Strategic Initiatives



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Light Andrew   Leave without Pay

Title: Distinguished University Professor
Local Academic Unit: Philosophy (CHSS)

Professor Light will be on Leave without Pay for the Spring Semester 2024 to serve as
Assistant Secretary of Energy for International Affairs at the Department of Energy.

Madden Charles R.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair
Local Academic Unit: Biology (COS)

Retained Title-Professor

Maex Steven A.   Tenure Track Contract
Extension

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Maggioni Viviana   Title Change

Title: Director of Undergraduate Affairs
Local Academic Unit: Civil, Environmental and Infrastructure Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Marshall Sophia L.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Previous Title:Instructor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
McLaughlin John F.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Chair for Undergraduate, Graduate and Online Studies - IST
Local Academic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (CEC)

Retained Title-Instructor

Miller Toyah L.   Title Change

Title: Director, Research (CIE)
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Nelson Jill K.   Title Change

Title: VSE Associate Dean for Undergraduate Programs and Student Services
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Nowzari Cameron   Title Change

Title: Director, CREATE Lab
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Odagawa Satoko   Title Change

Title: Career Advisor
Local Academic Unit: University Career Services (UL)

Previous Title:Industry Advisor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Oetjen Cheryl A.   Leave with Pay

Title: Instructional Professor
Local Academic Unit: Nursing (CPH)

Professor Oetjen has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Fall Semester 2023.

Osgood Robert   Title Change

Title: Interim Director, MS Program in Telecommunications
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Paige Mikell   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair of Research, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry (Sci Tech
Campus)
Local Academic Unit: Chemistry and Biochemistry (COS)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Pamas Roberto A.   Title Change

Title: Director of TEACHERtrack
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor of Education

Park Hayon   Leave without Pay

Title: Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Art (CVPA)

Professor Park will be on Leave without Pay for the Fall Semester 2023 to teach at
George Mason University Korea.



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Parker Audra K.   Title Change

Title: Director of the School of Education
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Pettit Robert   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair for Graduate Studies and Director of New Graduate Programs,
Department of Computer Science
Local Academic Unit: Computer Science (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor of Practice

Philpov Alexander Z.   Title Change

Title: Area Chair, Finance
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Plotnick Jeremy E.   Title Change

Title: Director, Minor Programs
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Instructional Assistant Professor

Ramirez Melanie   Title Change

Title: Staff Clinician
Local Academic Unit: Counseling and Psychological Services (UL)

Previous Title:Clinician, Diversity and Inclusion Focus



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Rancourt Emily D.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, Forensic Science Program
Local Academic Unit: Forensic Science Program (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Requeijo Tiago C.   Title Change

Title: Academic Director, MS FNAN
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor, Finance

Robinson Emily A.   Title Change

Title: Interim Director of Development, Hylton Performing Arts Center
Local Academic Unit: College of Visual and Performing Arts

Retained Title-Associate Director of Advancement Communications

Robinson Gregory J.   Title Change

Title: Director of Graduate Studies in the School of Music
Local Academic Unit: Music (CVPA)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Rytikova Ioulia   Title Change

Title: MS AIT Wiley Online Program Director
Local Academic Unit: Information Sciences and Technology (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Sachs Robert L.   Title Change

Title: Coordinator of High School Math Courses
Local Academic Unit: Mathematical Science (COS)

Retained Title-Professor

Schmidt Bernard   Title Change

Title: Interim Program Director, MS Data Analytics Engineering Program
Local Academic Unit: MS Data Analytics Engineering Program (CEC)

Retained Title-Instructor

Schrag Zachary   Leave with Pay

Title: Professor without Term
Local Academic Unit: History and Art History (CHSS)

Professor Schrag has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Spring Semester 2024.

Shahrokhi Farnoosh   Title Change

Title: Director of the Division of Education Leadership
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Outreach & Admin Coor, ELP

Shehu Amarda   Title Change

Title: Associate Vice President of Research for IDIA & Associate Dean for Artificial
Intelligence Innovation for CEC
Local Academic Unit: Office of Research, Innovation and Economic Impact

Previous Title:Associate Vice President of Research for IDIA
Retained Title-Professor without Term



Note(s):
Professor Shelley has been awarded a Faculty Study Leave for Academic Year 2023-2024.

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Shelley Louise   Leave with Partial Pay

Title: Distinguished University Professor
Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Sherry Lance C.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair Research, SEOR
Local Academic Unit: Systems Engineering and Operations Research (CEC)

Retained Title- Professor

Shields Susan M.   Title Change

Title: Recruiting Coordinator, School of Dance
Local Academic Unit: Dance (CVPA)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Shin Joan K.   Title Change

Title: Director of the Division of Advanced Professional Teacher Development and
International Education
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Sikdar Siddhartha   Title Change

Title: DIrector, CASBBI
Local Academic Unit: Bioengineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Sincere Shakiyla   Title Change

Title: Community Director for Beacon Hall
Local Academic Unit: Housing and Residence Life (UL)

Previous Title:Assistant Director for Housing and Strategic Diversity

Snyder Mark H.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair for Undergraduate Studies, Department of Computer Science
Local Academic Unit: Computer Science (CEC)

Retained Title-Instructor

Soyata Tolga   Title Change

Title: BS/MS Computer Engineering Coordinator
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Stan Cristiana   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair of AOES
Local Academic Unit: Atmospheric, Oceanic and Earth Sciences (COS)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Steen Sammy L.   Title Change

Title: Director of the Division of Child, Family and Community Engagement
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Stockdale Rachel M.   Title Change

Title: Career Advisor
Local Academic Unit: University Career Services (UL)

Previous Title:Industry Advisor

Taylor Eugene A.   Title Change

Title: WAC-Faculty Affairs and Development Fellow for Faculty Writing Support
Local Academic Unit: English (CHSS)

Retained Title-Instructional Associate Professor

Thatchenkery Tojo J.   Title Change

Title: Co-Director, Schar School Inclusive Excellence Program
Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Retained Title-Professor

Thatchenkery Tojo J.   Title Change

Title: Director, Organization Development and Knowledge Management Program
Local Academic Unit: Schar School of Policy and Government

Retained Title-Professor

Thompson James C.   Title Change

Title: MRI Scientific Director
Local Academic Unit: Psychology (CHSS)

Retained Title-Professor without Term



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Tompkins Catherine J.   Title Change

Title: Associate Dean Faculty and Staff Affairs
Local Academic Unit: College of Public Health

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Tsirigotis Eugenia P.   Title Change

Title: Assistant Area Chair of Accounting
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Instructor

Urgessa Girum S.   Title Change

Title: Director of Student Leadership and Success
Local Academic Unit: College of Engineering and Computing (CEC)

Retained Title-Associate Professor

Van Hoek Monique   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, SSB
Local Academic Unit: Systems Biology (COS)

Retained Title-Professor without Term

Vlastara Niki Maria   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, Retail Center
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Assistant Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):
Professor West will be on Leave with pay for Academic Year 2023-2024 to serve an ACLS
Fellowship.

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Vough Heather C.   Title Change

Title: Program Director, PhD
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Weeks Andrea   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair of Research, Department of Biology
Local Academic Unit: Biology (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Wessels Konrad J.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair of Research, GGS
Local Academic Unit: Geography and Geoinformation Science (COS)

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

West Matthew E.   Leave with Pay

Title: Instructional Assistant Professor
Local Academic Unit: Global Affairs Program (CHSS)

White Elizabeth L.   Title Change

Title: Associate Chair, Department of Computer Science
Local Academic Unit: Office of the Provost

Retained Title-Associate Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Wilkerson Philip L.   Title Change

Title: Employer Engagement Consultant
Local Academic Unit: University Career Services (UL)

Previous Title:Industry Advisor

Winkler Laura G.   Title Change

Title: Graduate Internship Supervisor
Local Academic Unit: University Career Services (UL)

Previous Title:Graduate Internship Program Manager

Ye Shun   Title Change

Title: Assistant Area Chair of Information Systems and Operations Management (MIS)
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Associate Professor without Term

Yu Eugene G.   Title Change

Title: Associate Director, CSISS
Local Academic Unit: Center for Spatial Information Science and Systems (COS)

Retained Title-Research Professor

Yuckenberg Ashley K.   Title Change

Title: Writing Intensive Coordinator
Local Academic Unit: Costello College of Business

Retained Title-Assistant Professor



Note(s):

Note(s):

ANNOUNCEMENT

Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee

November 30, 2023 

OTHER ANNOUNCEMENTS 

LAST NAME FIRST NAME   TYPE
Zeng Kai   Title Change

Title: Director, Wireless Cyber Center
Local Academic Unit: Electrical and Computer Engineering (CEC)

Retained Title-Professor

Zenkov Kristien G.   Title Change

Title: Director of the Division of Elementary, Literacy, Multicultural, and Secondary Education
Local Academic Unit: College of Education and Human Development

Retained Title-Professor



Instructor
Assistant Professor
Associate Professor
Professor
Administrative/Professional

Instructor
Assistant Professor
Associate Professor
Professor
Administrative/Professional

and Partial pay

3

1

6

0

1

1

0

9

10

0

0

1

0 0 0 0 0

2 2 0 1 1

0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0

28 0 0 0 0
30 2 0 1 1

1 0 0

4 0 0
3 0 0

1 0 0
0 0 0

9 0 0

10

4
4

1
0

19

30 6 3 0 39

10 4 121 1 1 137

November 30, 2023



 

 
 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

 
Finance and Land Use Committee Meeting 

November 30, 2023 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

I. Call to Order 
 
II. Approval of Minutes for September 28, 2023 (ACTION) 

 
III. Financial Matters 

A. Financial Update 
B. FY 2023 Unaudited Financial Statements   
C. FY 2024 Q1 Financial Report & Forecast   
D. State Six-Year Operating Plan (ACTION)  

 
IV. Operational Matters 

A. Succession Planning Update  
B. Retirement Plan Investment Policy Update 

 
V. Capital Matters 

A. Schematic Design for Activities Building (ACTION) 
 

VI. Adjournment 
 
APPENDIX I   – Capital Projects Review (Stoplight) 
APPENDIX II  – Office of University Building Official Annual Report 
APPENDIX III – Supplemental Information 
 



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
BOARD OF VISITORS 

Finance and Land Use Committee Meeting 
September 28, 2023 

Meeting Minutes 

Present:   
Rector Blackman, Vice Rector Peterson, Chair Pence, Vice Chair Witeck, Visitors Burke, 
Brown, Chimaladinne, Prowitt, Hazel, Gray, Stimson, Alacbay, Marquez; Visitor Rosen 
participated remotely; President Washington; Executive Vice President Dickenson; Vice 
President Strike; Staff Senate Chair Gautney; Student Representatives Wyche and 
Velegapudi; Faculty Senate President Broeckelman-Post; Faculty Representatives 
Daniels and Venigalla; Secretary pro tem Waters.  

Absent:   
Visitors Meese and Oberoi 

I. Call to Order
 Chair Pence convened the meeting at 11:51 a.m. 

II. Closed Session
Chair Pence moved that the committee go into Closed Session under the provisions of Code 
of VA: §2.2-3711.A.1 to discuss the performance of a school.  

Vice Chair Witeck SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY 
ROLL CALL VOTE. 

 Following the closed session, Chair Pence moved that the Finance and Land Use Committee 
go back into public session and that by roll call it was affirmed only public business matters 
exempted from the open meeting, requirements under the Freedom of Information Act were 
heard, discussed, or considered in the closed meeting.  

Vice Chair Witeck SECONDED and ALL COMMITTEE MEMBERS RESPONDED 
IN THE AFFIRMATIVE BY ROLL CALL.  

III. Approval of Minutes for May 4, 2023 (ACTION)
Chair Pence MOVED that the committee approve the minutes for the May 4, 2023, meeting
of the Finance and Land Use Committee. The MINUTES WERE UNANIMOUSLY
APPROVED AS WRITTEN BY ROLL CALL VOTE.

The meeting was turned over to Deb Dickenson, Executive Vice President for Finance &
Administration. Due to the limited amount of time remaining after Closed Session, Ms.
Dickenson provided an abbreviated presentation of the materials.

IV. Financial Matters

A. Preliminary FY 2023 Year-End Close



B.  Amended FY 2024 Budget (ACTION) 
Ms. Dickenson presented the Amended FY 2024 Budget, which reflects changes to the 
Baseline Operating Budget and Capital Budget approved by the Board in May, amended to 
incorporate new allocations in the final Commonwealth budget, as well as other budget 
adjustments since May. Per the Committee’s direction, the Antonin Scalia Law School will 
be exempted from budget reductions in the FY 2024 budget with the offset coming from 
Mason’s reserves, as discussed in the earlier Closed Session. Ms. Dickenson noted the 
budget gap is starting to close as the University mitigates budget challenges through 
expense reductions. The committee will be provided thorough updates on the mitigation 
progress at future meetings.  
 
Visitor Brown noted that the Closed Session discussion of the department performance issue 
identified processes for collaboratively addressing both short-term and longer-term strategy 
and that he agreed with how that had been outlined in the budget.  Chair Pence opened the 
floor for any further discussion, as needed; there was no further discussion.  

 
Ms. Dickenson recommended approval of the Amended FY 2024 Budget, including the Law 
School budget reduction exemption.  

 
C.  State Six-Year Operating Plan Update 
Ms. Dickenson updated the committee on Mason’s submission and presentation of its Six-
Year Operating Plan presented to the Commonwealth, which was noted to be the best they 
had received. The plan highlights Mason’s funding disparity and includes a request for 
realigned appropriations, as well as expense reductions. The Commonwealth has asked for 
an incentive model, which was interpreted as an acknowledgment of Mason’s strong 
performance. The full Six-Year Plan is currently pending final Commonwealth review.  
 

V.  Operational Matters  
 
A.  Incentive Retirement Plan (ACTION) 
Ms. Dickenson presented a new Incentive Retirement Plan (IRP) that the University would 
implement as part of its mitigation efforts. The plan would include a one-time exception to 
use up to 7% of the General Fund appropriation for faculty salaries and benefits for the IRP 
offering, up from the 1% amount currently permitted. If approved by the Board, the plan and 
exception will require subsequent approval by the Attorney General and Governor. Ms. 
Dickenson noted that Secretaries Guidera and Cummings were supportive of this exception 
when discussed at the Six-Year Plan presentation. 
 
The voluntary IRP incorporates enhanced benefits from previous offerings to attract 
increased participation plan as part of Mason’s budget mitigation efforts, as some of the 
impacted positions would be replaced at a lower level or salary. Applicants require 
approvals by a Dean and the Provost. 
 
The proposed IRP would create an ongoing plan, however the 7% General Fund exception 
would only be for the current offering, after which funding would revert to the exiting 1% 
threshold. Upon receipt of Board approval, staff will develop plan documents for 
Commonwealth submission, based on the criteria presented. Final IRP documents will be 
shared with the committee.  
 



Chair Pence and Ms. Dickenson further clarified that the standing policy would only include 
the 1% General Fund threshold, with the 7% exception only applying to the June 2024 
through June 2025 period, with any subsequent exception request requiring approvals from 
the Board, Attorney General and Governor.  
 
Regarding the Capital Project Stoplight Chart, Chair Pence asked about possible overruns 
on the Telecom Infrastructure Phase 1 and Aquatic & Fitness Center Capital Renewal 
projects. Alex Iszard, Assistant VP of Planning, Design and Construction, explained that the 
red “stoplight” indicators are based upon the initial budgets and schedules that were set forth 
at the onset of the project. Both budgets were planned pre-pandemic, and since that time the 
University has seen unprecedented escalation, supply chain issues, and other issues 
that have caused budget overruns and schedule delays.  
 
B.  Joint Legislative Audit and Review Commission (JLARC) Span of Control 
Ms. Dickenson provided the annual Span of Control report, as required, for which the 
University is meeting the average Span of Control target. 
 

VI. Capital Matters  
 
A.  Land Use Certification (ACTION) 
Ms. Dickenson presented the annual Land Use Certification. The significant changes over 
the past year are the acquisition of property across Fairfax Drive from the Mason Square 
campus and the addition of the Masonvale improvements as Commonwealth assets. Ms. 
Dickenson requested approval of the spreadsheet included in the Board Book for submission 
to the Commonwealth. 

 
Visitor Pence MOVED that the Board of Visitors approve the three (3) action items, as 
outlined in the meeting materials, inclusive of the Law School’s expense reduction 
exemption in the Amended Budget: 

1.  Amended FY 2024 Budget 
2.  Incentive Retirement Plan 
3.  Land Use Certification  
 

Visitor Witeck SECONDED, and the MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY 
ROLL CALL VOTE.   
 

VII.  Adjournment  
There being no further business, Chair Pence adjourned the meeting at 12:48pm. 
 
 

Prepared by secretary pro tem, 
Rachelle Waters  
Rachelle Waters 



 
 

        
ITEM NUMBER III.D.: STATE SIX-YEAR OPERATIONAL PLAN* 

(ACTION) 
 
 
PURPOSE OF ITEM: The Higher Education Opportunity Act of 2011 

requires biennial Board of Visitor approval of a Six-
Year Plan, which is submitted to the State Council 
for Higher Education in Virginia (SCHEV). 

 
 
APPROPRIATE COMMITTEE: FINANCE AND LAND USE 
 
 
BRIEF NARRATIVE: The 2024 Six-Year Plan process was restructured 

this year to enable a more cohesive, consistent 
planning process.  The Six Year plan includes a 
narrative and six-year financial plan that supports 
strategic plan priorities with a focus on the first two 
years (the biennium) of the plan.   

 
SCHEV provided institutions with a common set of 
questions focused on mission and priorities; 
enrollment, program alignment and performance and 
financial effectiveness and sustainability, along with 
an institution-specific “Fact Pack”, compiled by the 
Boston Consulting Group and SCHEV, with ten 
years of institutional data to inform the narrative 
responses and the financial plan. 

   
 Mason’s 2024 biennium plan for FY25 and FY26, 

requests $140M over the biennium, for equitable 
funding for Mason commensurate with our value and 
funding aligned with our peer institutions; support 
for revenue diversification and partnership 
opportunities; and support for unfunded mandates. 
The plan was submitted in July 2023, with an Op Six 
presentation (to representatives of the Governor’s 
Office; Secretary of Finance, Secretary of Education, 
Director of Planning and Budget, Executive Director 
of the State Council of Higher Education in Virginia, 
Staff Director of the House Committee on 
Appropriations, and Staff Director of the Senate 
Committee on Finance) on August 31, 2023. 

  
  



 
 

  
Our Six-Year Plan request will allow us to continue 
our success in delivering quality education for 
diverse populations, enable social mobility, and 
significantly contribute to the prosperity of the 
Commonwealth, while enhancing cost-effectiveness, 
innovation and responsiveness to our constituents. 
 

 * The Six-Year Plan is for planning purposes 
only; dependent upon General Fund support and 
pending BOV approval of future Tuition and 
Fees and spending.   

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends Board approval of the 2024 Six 

Year Plan. 



ITEM NUMBER V.A.: Activities Building Schematic Design Approval 
 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: This item seeks Board of Visitors (BOV) approval of  
Schematic Design for the project. 
 

BRIEF NARRATIVE: Under delegated capital authority procedures adopted by the 
BOV, staff shall present all capital projects to the Board at 
conclusion of the Schematic Design phase. At this stage, the 
Board will assure themselves that each project remains on track 
to deliver the project. 
 
The current scope of the project is a 24,852 SF, single story 
building that serves the university as a multipurpose student 
engagement facility and activity center. The design consists of 
a variety of sized spaces allowing for flexibility when hosting 
student engagement and campus activities. The two largest 
spaces are sized such that the Mason pep band/ensemble can 
have full scale practices while also being able to host other 
activities of equal scale at the same time. There are also small, 
medium, and large activity rooms for student engagement, 
recreation, and well-being activities. Lastly, there are other 
spaces such as group rooms, conference rooms, storage, 
general restrooms, small offices, and spaces for building 
services. 
 
The building’s design consists of three rectilinear forms: two 
gable framed tent structures containing the majority of the 
student engagement spaces with a connecting center 
anchor/entrance area that holds the core building elements 
(restrooms, offices, mechanical spaces). The overall building 
aesthetically is meant to resemble a modern take on barn-like 
structures harkening to the historical aesthetic of the area while 
also taking clues from the current adjacent facilities to its east, 
the Recreation and Athletic Complex (RAC), and the George 
Mason Field House across Route 123 to its west. 
 
The facility is situated along Campus Drive, bound on all four 
sides with existing Student Athletic, Health, and Wellness 
buildings such as the RAC, George Mason Fieldhouse, and the 
West PE Module of Student Athletes as well as several playing 
fields. 
 
The exterior of the building will include a pre-engineered 
fabric membrane system that is tensioned horizontally and 
vertically to provide a tight, weatherproof finish which will 
cover the gymnasiums. The center section of the facility will 
be constructed of tilt-up concrete panels. The building is 
targeting the Sustainability goal of LEED silver. 



The EIR for the Project was submitted to DEQ. Mason received 
review comments from DEQ in August, 2023, which indicates 
no objection to the proposed project provided regulatory 
requirements and recommendations included with the DEQ 
review comments are followed. 
 
The Activities Building was presented at the November 2023 
AARB Meeting and received Schematic Design approval with 
comments. 
 
The schedule for this project includes start of construction on 
site work starting in March 2024. The building is currently 
targeting an occupancy in January 2025.   
 
 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: After reviewing the respective Schematic Design, staff 
recommends Board approval of the above listed project to 
proceed through design and into construction. 
 

 



APPENDIX: Capital Projects Review 

This section provides the regular report on the status of capital construction projects on all three university 
campuses.  The project “stoplight” chart provides a summary review.  For purposes of black and white 
printing, all stoplights are “Green” unless otherwise noted. Scoring definitions: 

• “Red”: Likely to exceed approved budget, schedule, or scope
• “Yellow”: At risk to exceed approved budget, schedule, or scope, but can still recover
• “Green”: Within approved budget, schedule, or scope

Scoring is reset at the time of preliminary design completion and construction contract execution. 

Changes/updates since the September 2023 report include: 

• Fuse at Mason Square (IDIA HQ) – Design is completed and the construction continues on site.
Work on the elevated concrete slabs is progressing with topping out of concrete structural frame
due to be complete in November 2023.  Work on building skin continues with precast panel and
glass curtain wall installation. It is anticipated that the building skin will be complete in early
Spring 2024.  The schedule to finish the core and shell of the building remains
August 15, 2024.  Mason will install furniture fixtures and equipment in the Spring of 2025 with
full occupancy planned for summer of 2025.  Work started early in November on the renovation
of Mason Square Plaza.  It is anticipated these improvements will be complete in Spring of 2024
in time for Spring Programming to start up in March of 2024.

• Life Sciences Engineering Building (Bull Run Hall IIIB) – Design is completed and the
construction continues on site. The building is coming along nicely and is nearly waterproof. The
building façade is being installed and building envelope testing is under way.  The interior fit out
has started and initial inspections by DEB have occurred. The project is still tracking for a
January 2025 completion.

• Telecom Infrastructure Phase 1 – Design is completed and the construction continues on site.
Work on Packages 1 (work inside buildings) and Package 3 (new West Campus Core Switch
Building) is in progress and approximately 90% complete. Final punchlist for Package 1 is
scheduled for December 4, 2023. The completion date for the Package 3 will be January 2024.
Package 2 for outside plant (new IT ductbanks) was rescoped and rebid. The new bids are due
November 29, 2023. The completion date for package is now anticipated to be January 2025.
Budget was changed to green as we do not anticipate exceeding the currently authorized budget.

• Johnson Center HVAC Repairs – Design is completed and the construction continues on site.
Contractor completed work at the high ceiling areas at the atriums this past summer.   The new air
handling units and exhaust fans are currently anticipated to be shipped in March of 2024.  The
installation of the units will be phased to allow operations in the building to continue.  Project is
anticipated to be completed May of 2025.

• Central Heating and Cooling Plant Capacity Expansion – Design is complete and the project is in
the procurement step. Bids are due January 9, 2024. The project is equipment intensive with the



equipment lead-time anticipated to be around 52 weeks.  Anticipated project completion is 
January 2026. 

• Aquatic & Fitness Center Capital Renewal – Design is completed and the construction continues
on site.  A platform has been constructed under the roof deck of the competition pool to allow
work to the structure while the pool beneath is in operation. The Skylight demolition over both
pools has been completed and the new skylight installation will start in December. The roof
replacement will start after skylights are completed.  Mechanical replacement will be completed
over the Winter Break. The tile repairs, new competition pool lighting, bulkhead replacements,
Kalwall replacement, and rooftop HVAC equipment replacement are scheduled for Summer of
2024 during the closure of the pool. Budget and scheduled were changed to green as we do not
anticipate exceeding the currently authorized budget or the schedule included in the contract to the
general contractor.

• Telecom Infrastructure Phase 2 – Design is underway with the schematic design anticipated to be
submitted on January 17, 2024. An onsite survey has been completed and the design team is
working to determine exact location for the new telecom rooms.

• Telecom Infrastructure Phase 3 – A/E team has been selected and negotiations are taking place on
scope and fee. 

• Activities Building – A Design/Build contract was awarded to Hoar Construction. Design has 
begun and AARB approved the proposed building. The schematic plans have been submitted for 
OUBO review.  Construction is anticipated to start in March and the project is anticipated to be 
completed by December of 2024.

• Construct Basketball Training, Wrestling, and Athlete Academic Support (RAC Addition) –
Commonwealth has approved project for $15.5M of fundraising. We believe that this project will 
have a budget of $30M. Capital Strategies and Planning is working on the detailed planning 
program for the addition.  Mason would like to use Design-Build as the delivery method for this 
building, which will require permission from DEB.

• Real Estate Acquisitions Phase 1 (Arlington) – Mason has purchased lot 6 and 11 and is working 
towards the purchase of lot 8. Closing for Lot 8 is scheduled for December 1, 2023.

• Real Estate Acquisitions Phase 2 (Vernon Smith Hall) – The Commonwealth has approved the 
purchase of Vernon Smith Hall. Closing was completed on November 15, 2023.

• Academic VIII – Project approved for planning only and contingent upon Mason providing seed 
funding. Project awaiting internal authorization to proceed.

• Point of View Cottages – Commonwealth has approved $4M of funding for this project to match 
a target of $4M of fundraising. Project is awaiting funding and internal authorization to proceed.

• Renovations Concert Hall – Higher Education Capital Outlay (HECO) authority approved to 
proceed on a $25M renovation to the Concert Hall on the Fairfax Campus. The funding is based



upon donations. Project is awaiting funding and internal authorization to proceed. 
 

• Business School Building – HECO authority approved to proceed on a $165M and 200K GSF 
building for the School of Business on the Fairfax Campus. The funding is based upon donations. 
Project is awaiting funding and internal authorization to proceed. 
 

 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  For Board Information Only



 

Project # Project Name Scope(sf) New Scope(sf) Reno Total Budget Budget 
Status

Schedule Scope Construction Start 
Date

Occupancy Date Construction % 
Complete

Construction
1 18482-000 FUSE (formerly IDIA HQ) 461,066 0 253,781,941$             1/3/2022 7/1/2025 48.0%
2 18000-000 Life Sciences & Engineering Building - Bull Run Add* 133,300 0 107,123,650$             8/31/2022 1/13/2025 35.0%
3 18339-000 Telecom Infrastructure Phase 1* 576 0 10,525,000$               9/1/2022 1/17/2025 43.0%
4 A8247-027 Johnson Center HVAC Repairs 0 348,447 7,963,005$                 3/15/2023 5/15/2025 7.0%
6 18529-000 Aquatic & Fitness Center Capital Renewal 0 90,736 16,500,000$               6/1/2023 9/1/2024 17.0%

Design
5 18509-000 Central Heating & Cooling Plant Boiler & Chiller Addition* 0 0 8,197,000$                 1/23/2024 1/26/2026 N/A
7 18487-000 Telecom Infrastructure Phase 2 0 0 23,250,000$               6/1/2025 4/16/2026 N/A
8 18593-000 Telecom Infrastructure Phase 3 0 0 24,000,000$               TBD TBD N/A
9 221382 Activities Building 24,852 0 11,000,000$               3/1/2024 12/31/2024 N/A

Design Procurement/ Pre-Planning 
10 18253-000 Construct Basketball Training, Wrestling, and Athlete Academic Support (RAC Addition) TBD TBD 15,500,000$               TBD TBD N/A

Acquisition
11 221512 Real Estate Acquisitions Phase 1 (Arlington) 0 0 40,000,000$               N/A N/A N/A
12 231646 Real Estate Acquisitions Phase 2 (Vernon Smith Hall) 0 0 107,000,000$             N/A N/A N/A

Pending Authorization to Proceed
13 18498-000 Academic VIII* 200,000 0 185,675,000$             TBD TBD N/A
14 18497-000 Point of View Cottages TBD 0 8,000,000$                 TBD TBD N/A
15 TBD Renovations Concert Hall 0 120,750 25,000,000$               TBD TBD N/A
16 TBD Business School Building 200,000 0 165,000,000$             TBD TBD N/A

* Pool Funded Project; will require DPB/DEB approval for release of funds after Preliminary Design Data as of November 2023

Facilities Projects Listing 



ALL TOGETHER
DIFFERENT 

OFFICE OF UNIVERSITY 
BUILDING OFFICIAL
2022 - 2023 ANNUAL REPORT



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
02

MISSION

The Office of the University Building Official 

strives for excellence through solution

based professional services advancing the 

quality, value, accessibility, health, and

safety of our University community.

VISION

To be a creative partner collaboratively

seeking the best solutions for the University.

The Restructured Higher Education Financial and Administrative 

Act of 2005 and the Management Agreement with the

Commonwealth of Virginia granted the university the authority 

to designate its own building official. The office was created as a 

result of Mason attaining Tier III Management Authority by the

Commonwealth of Virginia and approved through resolution in

November 2020 by the Board of Visitors. Formal delegation of

building official authority was transferred from the Division of

Engineering and Buildings to the University Building Official in

March 2022.

The Office of University Building Official first day of operations 

was March 14, 2022. The Office of University Building Official

is charged with administering the Virginia Uniform Statewide 

Building Code (USBC) for all construction on all Mason owned 

facilities across the Commonwealth, including campuses in

Manassas, Fairfax and the greater Washington, D.C. metro areas.

With the establishment of our office this provided Mason the

opportunity to impact positive change and foster community- 

wide dialogue around code compliance, safety, and accessibility.

OUR HISTORY,
MISSION & VISION



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
03

BOARD OF
VISITORS AND

RECTOR

DAVID M. KIDD
Building Official

KENNETH WALSH
Vice President,
Strategic Initiatives
& Chief of Staff

JUSTIN BILLER
Plan Examiner
Fire Protection

ETHAN SCHOLL
Plan Examiner
Mechanical/Plumbing

TIM HAGEDORN
Plan Examiner
Civil/Structural

KEVIN KLINE
Plan Examiner
Electrical

BILL G. MILLER
Deputy Building
Official

DONNA MARTINEZ- 
VALLEJOS
Permit Administrator

The University Building Official, David M. Kidd holds a reporting 

and policy relationship to the Board of Visitors and the University 

Senior Leadership. The role of the Office of University Building 

Official is a critical component of the project execution cycle

that includes master planning, capital and non-capital planning, 

procurement, project management, design and construction.

With the creation of our office it has expedited the design

review, permitting and inspection process, but more importantly 

it provides on-site solution based collaboration with Mason

Departments and stakeholders. Our main focus aligns with

the University mission to create a welcoming, inclusive, safe

environment and sustainable buildings for everyone to enjoy.

OUR TEAM

“Campus wide accessibility is a 
major goal, requiring more than 
meeting codes or standards
but exceeding them to become 
inclusive for everyone to enjoy 
this beautiful campus”

– DAVID M. KIDD
Building Official

ETHAN SCHOLLKEVIN KLINEJUSTIN BILLER
Plan Examiner



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
04

521 HOURS 
OF ANNUAL
PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT
COMPLETED

2 MASTER CODE 
PROFESSIONALS
(Highest level of Building Code
Certification)

OVER 122
CERTIFICATIONS

REPRESENTED 
MASON AT 15
PROFESSIONAL 
CONFERENCES

18
PROFESSIONAL 
MEMBERSHIPS

Our highly qualified team of seven dedicated engineer plan

reviewers, inspectors and permit administrator have 174 years 

of combined experience in design, building, inspections and

construction. The team are cross-trained to serve as primary

liaison with outside regulatory agencies on code issues that affect 

the design, construction, and approval to occupy new university 

facilities or maintain existing ones.

We have continued to create, redesign, update, and sometimes 

replace steps within each of our processes, forms, and website 

to improve the services that we provide. Every aspect of our

departmental processes are being evaluated through the lens

of how we can realize our full value and service potential to all

stakeholders.

OUBO TEAM



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
05

325
PLANS REVIEWED

207
PERMITS ISSUED

499
INSPECTIONS

The 2023 Annual Report provides information utilizing metrics 

to identify service functions including construction plan review, 

permits and inspections from the start of operations. Having

the Office of University Building Official on campus provides 

increased service response resulting in improved project 

schedules and constructibility.

To help facilitate on-time and within-budget project delivery,

the Office of University Building Official collaborates with project 

stakeholders from the university community throughout the

duration of the project to identify potential code issues early and

provide solutions based dialogue.

OUBO SERVICES



20
22

 -
 2

02
3 

 A
N

N
U

A
L 

R
EP

O
R

T 
06 

Having technical expertise and deep knowledge of Mason 

facilities means we identify problems and provide fast quality 

solutions. As Licensed professionals we hold the highest 

standard of integrity to ensure conformance with federal and 

state codes plus University standards.

When plans are reviewed by discipline specific professionals 

we identify potential issues in projects that often don’t reveal 

themselves until the end of the construction process, we then 

work with the design team and project management to ensure 

project success while meeting codes.

On average our team of reviewers perform plan reviews daily 

and have completed 100% of reviews prior to project deadlines.

PLAN REVIEWS SCHEMATIC DESIGNS

3
3.90 AVG. 
REVIEW DAYS

PRELIMINARY DESIGNS

16
8.24 AVG. 
REVIEW DAYS

WORKING DRAWINGS

145
8.21 AVG. 
REVIEW DAYS

ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWS 

7
1.53 AVG. 
REVIEW DAYS

CONCEPT/RE-EVALUATION 
DESIGN

11
5.36 AVG. 
REVIEW DAYS



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
07

While most building permits we issue are for renovation work

or new construction, we also issue demolition permits, early-

site, foundation or structural work, temporary structures, and

small projects. To expedite the start of construction on projects

our office strives to provide excellent customer service and

responsiveness.

PERMITS

TYPE OF REVIEW AVG. REVIEW DAYS

License Verification 0.3

Permit Application Approval 1.5

2
DEMOLITION PERMITS

10
PLUMBING PERMITS

10
FIRE ALARM PERMITS

11
FIRE SUPPRESSION PERMITS

20
MECHANICAL PERMITS

63
ELECTRICAL PERMITS

74
BUILDING PERMITS

OUBO PERMIT TYPES



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
08

The inspection program provides customer-focused services

through collaboration and clear communication with project

managers, construction field representatives and contractors.

Our on-site inspection team provides immediate response

to inspection requests to ensure compliance with life safety, 

accessibility, structural, mechanical, electrical, and plumbing 

codes. In addition, they are able to share their expertise with

contractors and provide solutions for issues that may arise

during the project inspections and avoid delays/cost to projects.

INSPECTIONS

0.58 AVG. DAYS
TO SCHEDULE
INSPECTION

0.24 AVG.
DAYS TO ASSIGN
INSPECTOR

1.89 AVG. DAYS
FOR INSPECTION

MECHANICAL

70

BUILDING

146

ELECTRICAL

178

FIRE
SUPPRESSION

12

FIRE ALARM

7 DEMOLITION

3
CERTIFICATE OF

OCCUPANCY

1PLUMBING

42



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
09

The Office of University Building Official plays a critical role in

assisting project managers, architects, engineers and contractors 

performing construction in new and existing facilities. Our highly 

qualified team exemplifies lifelong learning and strives to stay

current on building codes and industry standards to better serve the

University as code professionals. The Office of University Building 

Official provides training opportunities to all stake holders.

TRAINING VALUE 
TO MASON

! 9 Trainings sessions on construction standards, fire protection, 

HECO standards for plan design, plan submission, plan reviews, 

permit applications, inspections, and e-Builder construction 

management system.

! 308 Attendees (project managers, architects, engineers, 

contractors, construction inspectors, emergency management 

personnel, information technology personnel, and facilities 

maintenance trades staff).

! Scheduled individual meetings with term Contractors.

! Provided individual meetings/training to Architects & Engineers.

THE OUBO TRAINING:

“When working with clients and
stakeholders we believe it is
important to educate and train 
our customers and colleagues 
while seeking feedback for
improvement of services”

– DAVID M. KIDD
Building Official



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
10

COLLECTIVE
CONNECTIONS

The Building Official and Plan Review Engineers worked over

a year to support Facilities Administration on the 2023 edition

of the Higher Education Capital Outlay (HECO Manual) updates 

and revisions, which were completed February 6, 2023.

Currently, our OUBO Team is working with Facilities 

Administration on the updates and revision to Mason’s Design 

Standard Manual. In addition, we have established ongoing 

meetings with stakeholders, University Departments and

Partners to continue working toward improvement of services 

through partnerships, training and collaboration.

PARTNERSHIPS

! UNIVERSITY SENIOR LEADERSHIP

! FACILITIES LEADERSHIP TEAM

! PROJECT MANAGERS / CFR

! ARCHITECTS, ENGINEERS & 
GENERAL CONTRACTORS

! FACILITIES MAINTENANCE 
DEPARTMENTS

! UNIVERSITY DEPARTMENTS

! VARIOUS JURISDICTION BUILDING 
DEPARTMENTS

! VIRGINIA TECH & UNIVERSITY OF 
VIRGINIA BUILDING OFFICE

! EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

! FIRE MARSHAL

! VIRGINIA DIVISION OF 
ENGINEERING & BUILDINGS



20
22

 -
 2

02
3

A
N

N
U

A
L

R
EP

O
R

T 
11

BENEFITS 
& GOALS

! Partner with state & local officials including building officials from

Virginia Tech and University of Virginia to foster new or improved 

relationships which will help the University community thrive 

through collective connections.

! Continue to proactively reach out to our customers and

colleagues with the purpose to provide education and training 

while gaining insight and feedback for improvements to our

methods to better serve our customers.

! University Building Code Analysis database integration within 

Archibus with support from Capital Strategy & Planning.

! Certifications offer OUBO flexibility in succession planning as

well as cross-training which provides improved services during 

limited disruptions or increased work loads. All staff members are

encouraged to seek ICC certification as Master Code Professional 

(MCP), of which David Kidd and Justin Biller currently hold. Only

one other Virginia Office of University Building official has a MCP.

! Accurate, responsive, and effective services to all

stakeholders

! Plan review delivery to bid phase

! Improved quality & accuracy of construction 

documents

! Reduced liability and fewer change orders

! Greater Energy Efficiency and less utility costs

! Improved construction quality

! Fewer warrant and service calls after completion

! Improved University built environment

The OUBO continues to strive for excellence through solution- 

based professional services advancing the quality, value, 

accessibility, health, and safety of our University.



!""#$%&'"&()%&*+%$,(#-%&.#$%&/0%1#2%3(&4&5'-%67%0&89:&;9;8&

!"#$%&"'&()*)+"$*
!"#$#%&'(')$#*'+,&'-.//"00&&



Agenda

2 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Financial Matters
A. Financial Update
B. FY 2023 Unaudited Financial Statements  
C. FY 2024 Q1 Financial Report & Forecast  
D. State Six-Year Operating Plan (ACTION)

Operational Matters
A. Succession Planning Update
B. Retirement Plan Investment Policy Update

Capital Matters
A. Schematic Design for Activities Building (ACTION)

Appendix - Supplemental Information



!"#$#%"$1'+2*$0&
!"#$#%"$1'3$00&4,

#"!"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



SCHEV FY 2025 E&G Recommendations
FY 2024 Non-Personal 

Services Funding Disparities VMSDEP Waiver Total % Increase

CNU $46,097,000 $462,000 $1,131,000 $1,593,000 3%
GMU $208,433,000 $2,868,000 $18,536,000 $4,163,000 $25,567,000 12%
JMU $136,028,000 $1,770,000 $793,000 $2,040,000 $4,603,000 3%
LU $41,843,000 $282,000 $751,000 $1,033,000 2%
NSU $82,467,000 $472,000 $1,048,000 $1,520,000 2%
ODU $177,494,000 $1,648,000 $5,130,000 $6,778,000 4%
RU $70,290,000 $556,000 $1,018,000 $1,574,000 2%
UMW $41,976,000 $377,000 $772,000 $1,149,000 3%
UVA $169,628,000 $2,531,000 $2,191,000 $4,722,000 3%
UVAW $30,520,000 $196,000 $87,000 $283,000 1%
VCU $250,913,000 $2,691,000 $6,482,000 $9,173,000 4%
VMI $21,641,000 $162,000 $523,000 $685,000 3%
VSU $63,158,000 $499,000 $676,000 $1,175,000 2%
VT $220,559,000 $3,028,000 $11,179,000 $3,493,000 $17,700,000 8%
WM $66,364,000 $840,000 $1,713,000 $2,553,000 4%
RBC $13,035,000 $143,000 $100,000 $243,000 2%
VCCS $511,910,000 $5,779,000 $2,022,000 $7,801,000 2%
Total $2,152,356,000 $24,304,000 $30,508,000 $33,340,000 $88,152,000 4%

“In public higher education, the Commonwealth’s policy has been to fund each institution’s average 
faculty salary at the 60th percentile of its national peers… One institution, George Mason University, 
is below the 30th percentile1.”

1State Council of Higher Education for Virginia, Resources and Planning Committee Agenda Book 
October 24, 2023 4 | Office of the Executive Vice President



State Appropriations per In-State Undergraduate (FTE)
E&G General Fund (excluding aid) 

5 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Slower appropriations growth 
has put Mason further behind 
over last decade
Mason per student vs peer 
median:
• FY13:    $859 below 
• FY23: $3,710 below
• FY24: $3,910 below

If Mason received funding 
equitable to our nearest peer, 
it would offset our operating 
shortfall by $19M

1 - FY24 Appropriation is preliminary. FY24 in-state undergraduate student FTE is based on FY23 (Fall 2022) enrollment.

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

$16,000

'13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23

State Support (excl. aid) / VA UG Student FTE (1)

Fiscal Year 
UVAW&M VCU ODU VT GMU

FY24 State          $68M              $170M                $252M              $178M               $234M             $214M
FY24 Student1 4,309               11,641                17,858               14,411               21,080              20,975
Per Student    $15,723            $14,615              $14,097             $12,380             $11,078           $10,187

= FY24 Appropriation / FTE (preliminary)= $435
= $347

= $582

= $519

= $437

$382 =



!"#"$%&''()'(*#"*)+,%'$(%-+.!"#"$%/+0$(1(#02#"$%34567
!"#$#%&%'()$*+&,$-%./)+,0&1$(0,2$

!""#$%&

!"'#$(%

!""#$%& !"$#"&%!")#*&$

!"+#%)* !"'#,"+

G"!"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



!"#$%"&'()*+,%-+)%
!"##"$%&'()*+,'-)$&-.*/,+*'.+&$'0(&1+
'234/./)/"$+",,"-)4$/)/&.5

! 6'."$7'(&
" !"#$%&'()*+%(,-.(/0/1(
" 8&$&-')&.+9:;<6 '$$4'((=

! >").+?+@+AA
" !"#$%&'(2345"(6.(/0/1(
" B")&$)/'(+1&7&(",#&$)+",,"-)4$/)=

! C&-$"$+D#/)*+E'((+FCDEG
" !"#$%&'(7#8%9:%4(,-.(/0/1
" 8&$&-')/$H+'$$4'(+2'.*I("%+'$1+

&J,&$.&+.'7/$H.
" >")+K+

" !("./$H+/$+L&2&#0&-+MNM:
" B")&$)/'(+1&7&(",#&$)+",,"-)4$/)=

!"#$%$
'()*+

,-.%$&'/0-#"

! ""
#

#
I !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



!9':;:?'+#$@*"0&*'!"#$#%"$1'50$0&/&#0,
!"#$#%"$1'3$00&4,

H"!"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



J"!"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

!9:;:?'+#$@*"0&*'
!"#$#%"$1'50$0&/&#0,
#!"#$%&'&()#(*+&%)#"(#,(!+-.%/(*//#+0)1(
20&(3#1)'&(#0.%0'

!""#$%&&'($)*+,-./,01/&-0203*+*))4/2"(2-&305(06
7'(2*2)(*+7$"*"0.02"$&
#*!*(2+&%)('0)"20/'(4'')%05(/#0&+/)'&(
)#&26

#*+&%)'&(1)2)'4'0)1('73'/)'&(826(
9:9;

#<%50%,%/20)(="2012/)%#01>
! !"#$%&"'(
! )*+,-./-*0$123$%-4+,56*7#8
! 5%#232923$%"'-*30-1:(#(%2"23$%-;<"%=(

!"#$"%&'()&*+,-)-+.&/.01(2,(

https://fiscal.gmu.edu/generalaccounting/review-financial-statements/
https://fiscal.gmu.edu/generalaccounting/review-financial-statements/


E& !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

! !"#$%&#'#()%*(+,%(-.'-/'(.)%(%,%(-.$0'$(#'
! 1:3$:->(":-"0?9#2(0-@$:-;$A1":"B3'32>

! !"#"$%"&'($)*"+&",'-./0
! !"#$%&'"()*+,*-&%&*.(*/(0"'".1"(

)*.-&-%".%(2&%3(4566
! 7.)0"$-"(&.()$,&%$#($,,0*,0&$%&*.-(

*//-"%-(8")0"$-"8(9:;7<(0"#&"/(/1.8-
! 123"$&"&'($)*"+&",'//.-0

! 9*+,".-$%&*.(1,(=>?@(ABCDE
! F1G&#&$0H(I.%"0,0&-"-(0"/#")%(0"%10.(%*(

*.J)$+,1-(*,"0$%&*.-($.8(
0"&.-%$%"+".%(*/(*'"03"$8()3$0K"

! =BL@(*/(.*.J*,"0$%&.K(0"#$%"8(%*(
@$-*.'$#"($)M1&-&%&*.

! 122-,.%)'3&2&(4$+0&'5*(%&6-//)7
! CDEF-GH$I-JFKE!HLKMN-$@-CDEE-B3''3%=#
! *#-$@-/HFLHEFO-./KPN-;$''(;23$%-$@-CDEF-

B3''3%=#

!"#$%&'"&(&#)*!"#$%"&'()#*&+*,-"$),./
01&2322&(*4&01&23225&6"-"*7")&8&9:;"*)")&<&=>>$7(?&@(),)
!"#$%#&$''$(%)*

01&2322 01&2325 A&
=74,."4&B=4CD +*(74,."4 E*>FBG">$D

!"#$%&'()*+#,#(-#.
***/&-0#(&*1-'&'2(*3*4##.5*(#& 67789:********* 6;<86:********* 78=>
***?$%(&.*3*@2(&$%A&. BC<89*********** BDC8E*********** D89>
***F-G'H'%$I*J(&#$"$'.#.*%(0*!&K#$ EB<89*********** EBD86*********** 78B>
*****12&%H*!"#$%&'()*+#,#(-#. 96;8B:********* 9998C:********* =89>
L2(2"#$%&'()*+#,#(-#.
***/&%&#*%""$2"$'%&'2(. E=;8;:********* E;D8;:********* =8<>
***@%"'&%H*%""$2"$'%&'2(.*%(0*?'M&. 7=8B************* D68;************* B<98=>
***!&K#$*L2(2"#$%&'()*+#,#(-# BEB8C*********** CD86************* NE;89>O
12&%H*+#,#(-#. B5B=D8;:***** B5E6<86:****** ;8B>

!"#$%&'()*JG"#(.#.
***J0-A%&'2(*%(0*?#(#$%H C7=8=:********* CD98C:********* ;8E>
***F-G'H'%$I*J(&#$"$'.#. B<B86*********** B7B8D*********** 7<8B>
***P#"$#A'%&'2(*3*FQ2$&'R%&'2( 978D************* D<87************* E<89>
*****12&%H*!"#$%&'()*JG"#(.#. B5<EB89:***** B5B6<8B:****** B<8;>
L2(2"#$%&'()*JG"#(.#.
***S(&#$#.&*JG"#(.# E<8E:*********** E<86:*********** <8;>
***!&K#$*L2(2"#$%&'()*JG"#(.#. =86*************** BC86************* E778;>
12&%H*JG"#(.#. B5<798E:***** B5B;C89:****** BB8;>

E*>$"()"&,*&H".&I#),.,#* JJ2KLM&&&&&&&& NJKNM&&&&&&&&&&& N7=8E>O

!"#$%&'()#*+,&*(-.--(/0*(#0/#*+,&*(-.-1(2+0/0%+/3(!,/,&4&0,5



EE !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

!9':;:A'BC'!"#$#%"$1'>&2.40'('!.4&%$,0
!"#$#%"$1'3$00&4,



FY 2024 Q1 Financial Forecast-Operating

12 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Note: Operating includes the following 
funds: Education and General (E&G), 
Auxiliary Enterprises, Sponsored Research, 
Indirects, Financial Aid. Other Restricted & 
Other Unrestricted. EXCLUDES Capital

Cash basis, in $M's
FY 2023  
Actual

FY 2024 
Amended 

Budget

FY 2024 1Q 
Forecast

var to FY 2024 
Amended 

Budget

Revenues

Net Tuition and Fees                   496                   514                   520                       6 

State Appropriations                   267                   327                   327                      -   
Grants & Contracts                   244                   256                   267                     11 
Auxiliary Enterprises                   249                   266                   270                       4 
Other Operating Revenue                     29                     27                     36                       9 

Non-Operating Revenue:
Relief Funding                     50                      -                        -                        -   
Total Revenues                1,335                1,391                1,421                     30 
Expenses
Salaries and Wages                   595                   640                   640                      (0)
Fringe Benefits                   163                   187                   183                       4 
Contractual Services                   210                   208                   220                    (12)
Travel                     20                     21                     24                      (3)
Supplies                     27                     28                     28                      (1)
Equipment                     22                     21                     25                      (4)
Capital Expenditures                       4                       3                       2                       1 
Scholarships & Fellowships                   164                   187                   194                      (7)
Occupancy                     41                     45                     44                       1 
Transfers-Capital Projects/Debt                   135                     58                     58                      (0)
AE Infrastructure                       0                       2                      -                         2 
 Total Expenses                1,381                1,399                1,419                    (19)

 Shortfall                   (46)                     (9)                       2                     11 
 Balancing Mitigation Strategies                     46                       9                     (2)                   (11)
 Adjusted Shortfall                     -                         0                       0                     -   



FY 2024 Q1 Financial Forecast-E&G Operating

13 | Office of the Executive Vice President

* AE Infrastructure reflects AE to E&G 
overhead transfer

Cash basis, in $M's
FY 2023  
Actual

FY 2024 
Amended 

Budget

FY 2024        
1Q Forecast

var to FY 2024 
Amended 

Budget
Revenues
Net Tuition and Fees                  494                  514                  520                      6 

State Appropriations                  220                  246                  246                     -   

Grants & Contracts                  220                     -   
Auxiliary Enterprises                      1                      1                      1                     -   
Other Operating Revenue                    19                    14                    19                      5 
Total Revenues                  734                  775                  786                    11 
Expenses
Salaries and Wages                  457                  494                  491                      2 
Fringe Benefits                  140                  146                  145                      1 
Contractual Services                    80                    80                    82                     (2)
Travel                      6                      7                      8                     (1)
Supplies                    18                    17                    17                     -   
Equipment                    11                    11                    14                     (3)
Capital Expenditures                      2                      1                     -                        1 
Scholarships & Fellowships                    46                    45                    50                     (5)
Occupancy                    22                    24                    24                      0 
Transfers-Capital Project Funding                    31                      3                      1                      1 
AE Infrastructure*                   (18)                   (18)                   (22)                      4 
Total Expenses                  796                  810                  811                    (1)

 E&G Shortfall                  (62)                  (35)                  (25)                    10 

 Balancing Mitigation Strategies                    62                    35                    25                  (10)

 Adjusted E&G Shortfall                      0                      0                    -                      -   



!9':;:A'BC'!"#$#%"$1'!.4&%$,0D-$2"0$1

E' !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



FY 2024 Shortfall Mitigation

15 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Major Expense Drivers

Savings from benefitted position vacancies 
Increased use of wage, part time faculty, and student workers for staff augmentation
Contract escalations, market increases, and consultant staffing

Mitigating actions

Continue critical vacancy review, with additional review of using wage/other compensation to offset 
pause in permanent hiring
Leverage all available funding sources:
   > Direct charging appropriate funds
   > Allocation of infrastructure across all benefitting funds
Reduce/minimize discretionary spending
Contract reviews/negotiations 
Organizational reviews/realignments and improvement in operational efficiencies
Incentive retirement plans



EG !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

5"ID9&$4'E2&4$0"#F'J1$#
!"#$#%"$1'3$00&4,



• Support equitable funding – realignment of appropriations
Acknowledging the value Mason provides the Commonwealth, we 
seek funding commensurate with our value and aligned with 
funding provided other institutions

• Support revenue diversification & partnership opportunities
Allow Mason to manage own cash
Support future partnerships to move Mason forward

• Policy Changes & Unfunded Mandates
Cover full cost of compensation increase for state employees
Virginia Military Survivors & Dependent Education Program
DHRM policy flexibility

• Retirement incentive
• Reorganizations
• Performance Management Exception for Classified Staff

“What Support Can Op Six Provide?”

17 | Office of the Executive Vice President



General Fund Request
Priority 
Ranking

Strategies 
(Match Academic-Financial Worksheet Short Title)

Biennium 2024-2026 (7/1/24-6/30/26)
2024-2025 2025-2026

Total Amount GF Support Total Amount GF Support

1 Deliver a distinctive & inclusive student experience that fosters lifelong engagement

1a) Financial Aid $18,267,204 $8,000,000 $18,909,435 $8,000,000
1b) Expand Access $2,365,000 $1,182,500 $2,365,000 $1,182,500
1c) Student Success Initiatives $20,000,000 $13,000,000 $16,800,000 $13,400,000
1d) Unfunded Mandate-Virginia Military Survivors & Dependent Education Program $13,013,000 $13,013,000 $16,916,900 $16,916,900

4 Expand the impact of Mason's research, scholarship, & creative enterprise
4a) Support/ Infrastructure $9,850,000 $9,850,000 $3,850,000 $3,850,000
4b) Scholarship $2,750,000 $2,750,000 $2,750,000 $2,750,000

3 Expand partnerships for economic & social impact. $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000 $5,400,000

2 Invest in faculty and staff success

2a) Equitable Compensation $6,115,894 $6,115,894 $6,273,585 $6,273,585

2b) Efficient systems, infrastructure, reduce manual processes $5,500,000 $5,500,000 $3,700,000 $3,700,000

2c) HEETF-Increased institutional support $5,000,000 $5,000,000 $8,000,000 $8,000,000

Total General Fund Request $88,261,098 $69,811,394 $84,964,920 $69,472,985

18 | Office of the Executive Vice President



FY24 Commonwealth Capital Submission
(millions)

GF 
Authorization

NGF 
Authorization

Total 
Authorization

Life Sciences and Engineering Building - Equipment $9.0(2) $0 $9.0
Real Estate Acquisitions Phase 2
(Vernon Smith Hall) $0 $107.0 $107.0

Student Innovation Factory Building $37.0 $0 $37.0
Interdisciplinary Sci. & Eng. Building - 1 (ISEB-1) $165.0 $0 $165.0
Business School Building (1) $82.5 $82.5 $165.0
Critical Deferred Maintenance $36.0 $0 $36.0
Total $329.5 $189.5 $519.0

(1)Project was previously approved by BOV in May 2019 with $165M NGF budget.  Project was submitted as part of the 
University’s 2024 Commonwealth Capital Plan submission. If approved, funding will be split between NGF and GF.
(2)Funding is already part of existing pool.

19 | Office of the Executive Vice President



The Finance & Land Use Committee 
recommends approval by the Board of Visitors 
of the State Six-Year Operating Plan as 
detailed in the Board Book.

Staff Recommendation to Board

20 | Office of the Executive Vice President



!E !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

5@%%&,,".#'J1$##"#F'+2*$0&
E2&4$0".#$1'3$00&4,



!! !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

!"#$%&'(#)&*+"%&,$-&.$%)/%($(#&.0"%12#&/%&$(-&3$-4,$-.2&567
8 9-".4/%1&#*2./,/.&3$-4,$-.2&'2)-/.#:&/%.+(;/%1&<2)2%)/$%=&&&&&

9(-%$>2-&<")2#&?&<2)/-2'2%)&@+/1/5/+/)6
8 A;2%)/,6/%1&2##2%)/"+&2'*+$622#&?&0">/%1&#(..2##/$%&#)-")216

B*;")2&$%&-/#4&,".)$-#:&3$-4,$-.2&'2)-/.#:&"%;&%2C)&#)2*#&)$&
'/)/1")2&/;2%)/,/2;&-/#4#&"%;&;2>2+$*&-$5(#)&#(..2##/$%&*+"%#&&

!"#$%&/#&-2D(/-2;&)$&*-$>/;2&#(..2##/$%&*+"%&"%%("++6&)$&
EF<!&?&G$"-;&$,&H/#/)$-#

EM&4M"&P



23 | Office of the Executive Vice President

§ Identifying “Workforce Planning Critical Positions” 
§ Identify key positions to develop and retain who impact Mason’s mission, operations, quality, strategy 

and engagement.  
§ If unfilled, these positions may have a significant negative impact on executing our mission. 

§ A workforce heading towards retirement
§ As our aging workforce retires and leaves gaps in institutional knowledge, we must prepare the next 

generation to be their successors.  
§ What are key metrics to identify critical employees headed to retirement and their successors? 

§ Mason’s greatest talent risks
§ Our geographic location presents unique challenges in attracting and retaining talent.
§ The pandemic and new work environment created a need for re-skilling and upskilling of our 

workforce.
§ Ability to provide professional growth, pathways and opportunity for internal promotions.

Risk Factors



Executive Leadership

24 | Office of the Executive Vice President

43 executive leaders include vice 
presidents, deans, and other senior 
leadership positions. 

§ Six of these executive leaders 
are currently interim

§ 26% currently eligible to retire
§ 21% could retire within the next 

5 years 
§ 32% are not eligible for 

retirement 

Eligible Now 
(65+)
26%

Eligible in 1-3 
years (62-64)

16%

Eligible in 4-5 
years (60-61)

5%

Eligible in 6-10 
years (55-59)

21%

Not Eligible 
soon
32%

Mason Executives
Retirement Eligibility



=",8)'>+)+?$%+2'@-#&8A++,

!F !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

!"#$#%"&'()*'
+,-./
01

!"#$#%"&'#2'345'
6&789'+,:4,;/

-1
!"#$#%"&'#2';4-'
6&789'+,<4,3/

;1

!"#$#%"&'#2',43<'
6&789'+--4-=/

3:1

()>'!"#$#%"&
?31

;35-$*C#$#'&%#"*=:D2-(##5
A#%&.#:#$%*=2&)&B&2&%(

Q4a9AX Q4a9;F?<XQ4a9AX

A$"':+$;)B()C$(:+)
D%+%#$"':+$;)C$E%,F):G)H:#EG:#I%



!G !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

+,-./,-*
" E?.@#(*0-$"?0%#"*
&"#$%&'(&$)*?$&%*?%&2&F3%&-$*
-'*5?00#55&-$*D23$$&$)

" !:D2#:#$%3%&-$*3$"*
%#5%&$)*-'*%9#*5?00#55&-$*
D23$$&$)*:-"?2#

" E?00#55&-$*D23$$&$)*
%--25*3$"*2#3.$&$)*
D.-).3:5*3.#*&$*
"#@#2-D:#$%

01.2%3%"24*
" G#@#2-D*3*HI(#3.*D23$J*
"#'&$&$)*:#%.&05*3$"*
&"#$%&'(&$)*-DD-.%?$&%&#5*
%-*:&%&)3%#*%32#$%*)3D5

" K3?$09*3*03:D3&)$*
2&$/&$)*2#3.$&$)J*
D#.'-.:3$0#J*3$"*
5?00#55&-$*D23$$&$)

" L5#*MA*:#%.&05*%-*&"#$%&'(*
.#%#$%&-$*3$"*5?00#55&-$*
D23$$&$)*.&5/*'30%-.5

5.,-3%"24*
" !:D2#:#$%*%9#*HI(#3.*D23$J*
B35#"*-$*%9#*#5%3B2&59#"*
:#%.&05

" 43503"#*5?00#55&-$*
'.3:#8-./*%-*#$5?.#*322*
5?D#.@&5-.5*93@#*D23$5

" L%&2&F#*%#09$-2-)(*%-*
355&5%*?$&%5*8&%9*2-$)I
%#.:*5?00#55&-$*D23$$&$)*
)-325

R&I0'50&2,



!I !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

>&0"4&/&#0'J1$#'S#M&,0/&#0'J.1"%T'+2*$0&
E2&4$0".#$1'3$00&4,



28 | Office of the Executive Vice President

The Investment Policy Committee (IPC) advises and assists the Executive Vice 
President in monitoring  investment options for the following defined contribution 
retirement plans maintained by the University for the benefit of its employees:

1. University’s Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (ORP) for Faculty 
2. George Mason University Cash Match Plan
3. Supplemental Defined Contribution Plan for Employees
4. George Mason University Tax Deferred Savings Plan
5. George Mason University Employer 403(b) Plan

Investment Policy Statement Highlights: 

Mason Investment Policy Statement

§ Outlines investment program structure, IPC duties, responsibilities, and the 
policies and procedures under which the IPC operates. 

§ Establishes guidelines and procedures used for selection of investment 
options.

§ Defines criteria and procedures used to report investment option performance 
and evaluation of the respective investment options.



()*+,%-+)%'D*+/*$+9

!J !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

O56+9'>&&"6&N'P/.QR
MB<<&!=(#'3A@&N%(#0%6%3(&/@A3&IQ;>J OPQ;F&&

MB<<&RA1)&FA($)& OSTF&

MB<<&P98U7V O8W9F
X#2%@#(C&!=(#'3A@&N%(#0%6%3(&/@A3&IQ;>J OSYZF

X#2%@#(C&RA1)&FA($) OSSF

X#2%@#(C&P98U7V OSZ8F

M3."59&DNK-3$*!$'-.:3%&-$

70%&@#*K-3$5 OPQ

M3."59&D5 OR

70%&@#*K-3$*C323$0# SOTQU;

70%&@#*M3."59&D*C323$0# SVP/
!"#"$%&''()$"*$+,$--./0.1/12$,+3$45)('5#6$"7)$--./8.1/12$,+3$9:;;<$
*&=>(?#$#+$?@"7A($#@(3(",#(3



30 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Investment Policy Committee (IPC)
Key accomplishments during past year:
§ Fund menu consolidation, simplification and alignment for all Mason 

sponsored Retirement Plans across Fidelity and TIAA
§ On campus support during and through the transition
§ Addition of self-directed brokerage window
§ Closing and mapping of deselected Funds
§ Tiering of the menu for easy and more understandable fund 

selection
§ Great and overwhelmingly positive feedback

§ Continued Fee re-negotiations with TIAA and Fidelity



#E !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

G+H%';%+#,

9":)";)$7&*+"&30##"$*&<""&.*#03*0#"&
-$6&-33%0$*.&*%&()7#-*"&*%&-&(%#"&
*#-$.4-#"$*&-$6&"/0)*-=5"&(%6"5



#! !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

5%G&/$0"%'U&,"F#'H.4'V%0"M"0"&,'W@"1*"#F
-$2"0$1'3$00&4,



## !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

" W-%32*C?")#%X*SOO;
" G#5&)$*C?&2"*C?")#%X*SYTR;

" 4-$5%.?0%&-$*E%3.%X*;3.09*RZRV

" E?B5%3$%&32*4-:D2#%&-$X*[3$?3.(*RZRH

5"0&'J1$#

E!W=
E!W=*\4K]E=*L1^



34 | Office of the Executive Vice President

§ One-story, 24,852 GSF new building 
§ 2 pre-engineered tension fabric building over 

two full-sized basketball court 
§ 1 tilt-up concrete panel over the multipurpose 

rooms in between the pre-engineered tension 
fabric building

§ Primary usage of building:
§ Full-scale band and pep rally practices as well 

as other equally sized recreation activities in 
the two basketball courts

§ Additional offices, conference rooms, and 
activities room which for hosting student 
engagement and campus activities

§ Construction scheduled to start March 2024
§ Occupancy scheduled for January 2025

Project Program



35 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Aerial View

Renderings

Perspective View



36 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Building Materials

Tension Fabric

Concrete Formliner

Concrete Formliner

Prefinished Glazing

Metal Canopy

Concrete Formliner



The Finance & Land Use Committee 
recommends approval by the Board of Visitors 
of the schematic design for the Activities 
Building as detailed in the Board Book. 

Staff Recommendation to Board

37 | Office of the Executive Vice President



Board Action Items

38 | Office of the Executive Vice President

Motion: I move to approve the following 
items, en bloc, as they are outlined in the 
meeting materials:

● State Six-Year Operating Plan
● Schematic Design for Activities Building



I##+)2$HJ
;1##&+-+)%"&'()?8/-"%$8)

#J !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



Student Innovation Factory Building

40 | Office of the Executive Vice President

CURRENT FUTURE

§ Lack of space for learn-by-
doing pedagogies to support 
capstone projects & design 
competition 

§ Students currently use off-
campus lease space, 
repurposed computer lab, 
Facilities complex, & 
common spaces.



Interdisciplinary Science & Engineering Building

41 | Office of the Executive Vice President

§ Overcrowded, antiquated 
lab spaces barely meet the 
needs and demands of 
high-growth R1 programs

§ Must be replaced or  
renovated

CURRENT FUTURE



42 | Office of the Executive Vice President

§ Support Mason’s high-demand 
science & engineering programs

§ Provide access to excellence 
for Virginians & workforce ready 
graduates to Commonwealth

§ Modernized facilities within 
existing footprint for cohesive 
learning experience

Modern Facilities for High-Demand Programs

CURRENT FUTURE



Commonwealth

Virginia Business Higher 
Education Council

CommonwealthLumina Foundation

Enrollment Growth Demand

2008 2011 20192009 2017

Stronger Nation Report
60% of Americans should 
have a degree

Grow By Degrees goal of 70,000 
more degrees in 10 years

Tech Talent Investment Program
15,948 more Computer Science 
graduates in 20 years

State Council of Higher 
Education for Virginia
Virginia Plan for Higher Ed Most 
Educated State by 2030; 70% of VA 
will have postsecondary credentials

Top Jobs for the 21st Century Act
100,000 more degrees in high 
demand areas by 2025

43 | Office of the Executive Vice President



Mason Keeps 
Tuition Low

When state and tuition funding 
are combined, Mason is nearly 
$6,000 per in-state student FTE 
below the mean of five doctoral 
peer institutions, despite 
operating in the most 
expensive region in the 
Commonwealth

(1)  I-S Student FTE is based on FY22 enrollment.  The update for FY23 will be available in the Fall.

12,181 11,540 10,535 9,474 8,077
10,153

17,570
15,339

12,956
12,289

9,795 7,257

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

$0

$5,000

$10,000

$15,000

$20,000

$25,000

$30,000

W&M UVA VCU VT GMU ODU

FY23 I-S Tuition Rate + E&G Fees 

Mean of Five Peers = $23,859

FY23 State Support (x aid) / I-S Student FTE1

Student FTE1 5,408             14,392            22,909           23,677             25,461             16,837

$29,751
$26,879

$23,491
$21,763

$17,872 $17,410

44 | Office of the Executive Vice President



State Financial Aid Appropriation per In-State Student (FTE)

45 | Office of the Executive Vice President

State support per student for 
Mason financial aid has nearly 
tripled in the last five years

Mason per student financial 
aid vs peer median:
• FY13:       $87 below 
• FY23:     $543 above
• FY24:  $1,561 above

Financial Aid appropriation 
passes directly through to 
students

1 - FY24 Appropriation is preliminary. FY24 Student FTE is based on FY22 (Fall 2021) enrollment and will be updated in late September 2023.

$0

$500

$1,000

$1,500

$2,000

$2,500

$3,000

$3,500

$4,000

'13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23

State Support for Financial Aid / VA Student FTE (1)

Fiscal Year 
UVA W&MVCUODU VTGMU

FY24 State          $63M                 $78M                  $59M                $36M                 $18M                  $6M
FY24 Student1 16,837               25,461                22,909               23,677               14,392                5,408
Per Student      $3,733               $3,073                $2,567               $1,512               $1,232              $1,156
(FY22 I/S FTE)

= FY24 Aid Appropriation / FTE (preliminary)

= $1,650

= $1,407

= $717

$197 =$285 =
$389 =

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

'13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23

State Support (excl. aid) / VA Student FTE (1)

Fiscal Year 
UVAW&M VCU ODU VT GMU

FY24 State          $68M              $170M                $252M              $178M               $234M             $214M
FY24 Student1 5,408               14,392                22,909               16,837               23,677              25,461
Per Student    $12,527            $11,821              $10,989             $10,597               $9,863              $8,392
(FY22 I/S FTE)

= FY24 Appropriation / FTE (preliminary)
= $346

= $281
= $454

= $444
= $389

$315 =

$0

$2,000

$4,000

$6,000

$8,000

$10,000

$12,000

$14,000

'13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23 '13 '18 '23

State Support (excl. aid) / VA Student FTE (1)

Fiscal Year 
UVAW&M VCU ODU VT GMU

FY24 State          $68M              $170M                $252M              $178M               $234M             $214M
FY24 Student1 5,408               14,392                22,909               16,837               23,677              25,461
Per Student    $12,527            $11,821              $10,989             $10,597               $9,863              $8,392
(FY22 I/S FTE)

= FY24 Appropriation / FTE (preliminary)
= $346

= $281
= $454

= $444
= $389

$315 =



U&F4&&,'=4$#0&*

'G !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

L&.,/)&+)*&+I4$1/$H+1/.,'-/)=O+
6'."$+2"$I&--&1+)*&+.&2"$1+
*/H*&.)+$4#0&-+"I+1&H-&&.+
'#"$H+,&&-.+/$+PQM:+'$1+
#".)+)")'(+1&H-&&.+PQA:R
PQM:

6"-&+"I+6'."$S.+H-'14')&.+
.)'=+/$+C/-H/$/'+)*'$+,&&-.S+
'7&-'H&5
! T$R.)')&5+U:V+7.+?WV
! X4)R"IR.)')&5+MYV+7.+AYV

T#'H/$&+%*')+6'."$+2"4(1+
'2*/&7&+%/)*+I4$1/$H+&34/)=

@+6*B1C"@DE:F
V)*,(3$7%+)X7"#"$%#)3%'("X'-X7"#"$Y #,,%3$/1$$7%$W*$H"%:77'*+#"$7%

!

"#!!!

$#!!!

%#!!!

&#!!!

'!#!!!

'"#!!!

(') ('& (") (') ('& (") (') ('& (") (') ('& (") (') ('& (") (') ('& (")
!

(')!"#$%&'()%*' (') ('& (")
+,- ./0

(') ('& (")
,1+

(') ('& (")
23+

('& (")(')
,4 50+

!"#$!%
&#&'$

(#(%'
(#")%

*#+%*

'#+*)

!"#$%&'()************+,()-*.('/%)),'0"&*************1")-%()***********2'#-'("-%

*+,-./0123114////////56#!!& 5&#&%5///////////////////7%#"%&///////////////////75#5))/////////////////6%#6!! "&#)"'
!"#$%!"&$

!"#$%&#'())*#'"*)'+,*-,%,"'./'0$12$*"3',%#2,242,$%#



U&1"M&4"#F'7%.#./"%'3.Y"1"0T

5$4*1)6'7",*'74%0,%-'"%0'28)'7424*)'$9':,-8)*';041"2,$%',%'+,*-,%,"<'="*2%)*#'
9$*'>$33)-)'?99$*0"@,3,2A'"%0';041"2,$%'.)9$*B'C$D<'5)(2)B@)*'E<'FGFFH

!

"#!!!

$#!!!

%#!!!

&#!!!

'!#!!!

'"#!!!

! "!! $!! %!! &!! '#!!! '#"!!

2;
0;
-"
K
::

.)
:.
40
;4)

*"
:-
."2

;6
7-
*;
">
*.
)1
1-
7"
W$
%!

&X

>5)*)L45"=)Y414;T"B*7-O"U0*Z4*8

=0/)*

$%&

'()*(+, $-&

.(/01((2

&34

&$5

$6

473

83&

%'&

9:2*()2

;<&

$%&$%&

'()*(+,'()*(+, $-&$-&

&34

9:2*()2
.(/01((2.(/01((2

&34

&$5

9:2*()2
.(/01((2

&$5

$6

473473473473

83&83&

;<&;<&;<&
.(/01((2

&34

&$5

9:2*()2

a#I)&
/%0"'06A3$%

['E
/%0"'06A3$%B+&5$'3*5#(,"&'6A"'&")5$,'

A(;A"&6'")5$5=()'=58(9(6G'+=5$;'
+99'I(*;($(+'($&6(6%6(5$&

K5@"#"*D'B+&5$'A+&'6A"'8"&6'
3"*:5*=+$)"'@A"$')5=3+*($;'
")5$5=()'=58(9(6G'+$,':%$,($;'
3"*'&6%,"$6'

B+&5$'(&'6A"'8"&6'!SM':5*'6A"'
C5==5$@"+96A

F*2#25)*$52')()19$)8$'08-/$2#$;2(&5-$2:$G-(($81&/-#18$
0#/$1+-$8&**-88$01$,.0/&01)#,$1+28-$81&/-#18

'I !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)



Note: Graduates include students from all degree programs and levels from graduating classes of 2007-08-2017-18
1. Border States Include North Carolina, Tennessee, Kentucky, West Virginia, Maryland and Washington, D.C. 
Source: SCHEV Graduate Mobility Website

N=17.4K N=118.2K

In-State Graduates (all levels)
N=67.4K N=376.2K

Out-of-State Graduates (all levels)

(%) Location in 2018 (1-10 yrs post-grad)

3$,.#'=4$*@$0&,'50$T'S#'8"4F"#"$

Unknown Rest of US Border States1 In Virginia

H4IFJ$K0*1$G0*L

'H !"#$$%&'"($")*'"+,'&-)%.'"/%&'"01'2%3'4)

100% 100%



Non-instructional Instructional

Chart (C): How has personnel increased on a per-student basis?

Personnel #s and costs

By # of employees per student FTE

Annual growth Annual growth

By salary outlay $$ per student FTE

1. Determined as growth in HEPI/CPI over period
Note: full-time personnel only; includes personnel from all sources of funding; William & Mary includes VIMS and VT/VSU include extension campuses  
Source: IPEDS

0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04 0.04

0.09 0.10 0.10 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09 0.09

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.14 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.13 0.13

-0.5%

+0.2%

$4.4K

$6.1K

$4.5K

$6.1K

$4.4K

$5.9K

$4.5K

$6.1K

$4.5K

$6.0K

$4.7K

$6.2K

$4.7K

$6.5K

$5.0K

$6.9K

$4.3K

$5.9K

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

$4.5K

$6.2K

$10.8K $10.4K $10.6K $10.3K$10.1K $10.5K $10.9K $11.3K
$11.9K

$10.6K

+1.8%
+4.3%

33% 32% 32% 32% 33% 33% 33% 33% 32% 33% 42% 42% 42% 42% 43% 43% 43% 43% 42% 42%
Instructional % of total Instructional % of total

Breakdown of personnel by # and $ on a per-student basis [2013-2022] Annual Total
Inflation (HEPI)1 2.8% 28%

Inflation (CPI)1 2.6% 26%

Personnel: Numbers & Costs
SCHEV Fact Pack

49 | Office of the Executive Vice President



George Mason University 
Board of Visitors 

Development Committee Meeting 
November 30, 2023

Merten Hall, Room #1201, Fairfax Campus 

A G E N D A

I. Call to Order

II. Approval of Development Committee Meeting Minutes from September 28, 2023
(ACTION ITEM)

III. New Business
A. GMUF Chair Update – Michael E. Stievater
B. University Advancement & Alumni Relations Update – Trishana Bowden
C. Athletics Update - Marvin Lewis
D. Corporate and Foundation Relations & University Priorities Update – Lauren Bird

IV. Old Business

V. Adjournment



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

      BOARD OF VISITORS 

Research Committee Meeting 

 

MINUTES 

September 28, 2023 

 

 

 
Present: Visitors: Nancy Prowitt, Chair; Armand Alacbay, Lindsey Burke, Anjan Chimaladinne, Bob 

Witeck; Faculty Senate Representative: Melissa Broeckelman-Post; Staff Senate Representatives: 

William Gautney; Faculty Representatives: Tara Chaplin, Alison Landsberg; Student Representatives: 

Paul Wyche, Vikas Velegapudi 

Absent:  Visitor: Wendy Marquez 

Also Present: President Gregory Washington; Rector Horace Blackman, Visitors: Cully Stimson, Jon 

Peterson, Mike Meese, Dorothy Gray 

I. Meeting was called to order by Chair Nancy Prowitt at 1:25 p.m. 

 

II. Approval of Minutes (ACTION ITEM) 

It was MOVED by Visitor Prowitt to approve the minutes from the February 23, 2023 and 

May 4, 2023 for the Research Committee Meeting. Approval of the meeting minutes was 

approved. 

 

III. New Business 

 

A. Office of Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact Update  

Dr. Andre Marshall – Vice President for Research, Innovation & Economic Impact 

Vice President for Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact, Andre Marshall, reported 

continued strong advancement in Mason’s research enterprise with 55% year over year 

growth in research awards followed by early indicators of increased research activity 

reflected in the 34% year over year increase in July thru August research expenditures.  A 

dashboard was also provided aligned with the framework for describing research in terms 

of scholarship, partnership, and translational research activities; and infrastructure, 

services, and research culture support. 

 

B. Wearable Ultrasound Systems for Assessment of Musculoskeletal Injury and       

Recovery 

Parag Chitnis, Associate Professor, BioEngineerin, College of Engineering and 

Computing 

Erika King, Mason Doctoral Student   

Dr. Parag Chitnis, Associate Professor in the College of Engineering and Computing and 

PhD Student Erica King provided an overview of their work on Wearable Ultrasound 

Systems for Assessment of Musculoskeletal Injury and Recovery. A multidisciplinary 



team of Mason researchers led by Dr. Parag Chitnis, is developing novel wearable-

ultrasound technologies for achieving these objectives. This presentation provided and 

overview of these efforts and perspectives of Bioengineering Doctoral student, Ms. Erica 

King, who is spearheading validation of these ultrasound-based methods against 

conventional clinical and biomechanical approaches. 

 

IV. Adjournment 

Chair Prowitt asked if there was any additional business to be discussed. With no further 

comments or items of discussion the meeting was adjourned at 2:07 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 

Corinne Hurst 

Research Committee Secretary Pro Tem 

 

 



GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 

      BOARD OF VISITORS 

Research Committee Meeting 

 

MINUTES 

September 28, 2023 

 

 

 
Present: Visitors: Nancy Prowitt, Chair; Armand Alacbay, Lindsey Burke, Anjan Chimaladinne, Bob 

Witeck; Faculty Senate Representative: Melissa Broeckelman-Post; Staff Senate Representatives: 

William Gautney; Faculty Representatives: Tara Chaplin, Alison Landsberg; Student Representatives: 

Paul Wyche, Vikas Velegapudi 

Absent:  Visitor: Wendy Marquez, Bob Witeck 

Also Present: President Gregory Washington; Rector Horace Blackman, Visitors: Cully Stimson, Jon 

Peterson, Mike Meese, Dorothy Gray 

I. Meeting was called to order by Chair Nancy Prowitt at 1:25 p.m. 

 

II. Approval of Minutes (ACTION ITEM) 

It was MOVED by Visitor Prowitt to approve the minutes from the February 23, 2023 and 

May 4, 2023 for the Research Committee Meeting. Approval of the meeting minutes was 

approved. 

 

III. New Business 

 

A. Office of Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact Update  

Dr. Andre Marshall – Vice President for Research, Innovation & Economic Impact 

Vice President for Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact, Andre Marshall, reported 

continued strong advancement in Mason’s research enterprise with 55% year over year 

growth in research awards followed by early indicators of increased research activity 

reflected in the 34% year over year increase in July thru August research expenditures.  A 

dashboard was also provided aligned with the framework for describing research in terms 

of scholarship, partnership, and translational research activities; and infrastructure, 

services, and research culture support. 

 

B. Wearable Ultrasound Systems for Assessment of Musculoskeletal Injury and       

Recovery 

Parag Chitnis, Associate Professor, BioEngineering, College of Engineering and 

Computing 

Erika King, Mason Doctoral Student   

Dr. Parag Chitnis, Associate Professor in the College of Engineering and Computing and 

PhD Student Erica King provided an overview of their work on Wearable Ultrasound 

Systems for Assessment of Musculoskeletal Injury and Recovery. A multidisciplinary 



team of Mason researchers led by Dr. Parag Chitnis, is developing novel wearable-

ultrasound technologies for achieving these objectives. This presentation provided an 

overview of these efforts and perspectives of Bioengineering Doctoral student, Ms. Erica 

King, who is spearheading validation of these ultrasound-based methods against 

conventional clinical and biomechanical approaches. 

 

IV. Adjournment 

Chair Prowitt asked if there was any additional business to be discussed. With no further 

comments or items of discussion the meeting was adjourned at 2:07 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 

Corinne Hurst 

Research Committee Secretary Pro Tem 

 

 



Board of Visitors
Research Committee

November 30, 2023



1 | ORIEI Information: Description - Structure

Agenda
I. Call to Order

II. Approval of Minutes  (Action Item)

III. Office of Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact Update

IV. Mason Research:  Forty Plus Years of Mercatus at GMU (T. Cowen and 
A. Tabarrok)

V. Adjournment



Approval of 
Minutes

(Action Item)

September 28, 2023



ORIEI Updates
Andre Marshall, Vice President for Research, Innovation and Economic Impact

BOV Research Committee
November 30, 2023



4 | Research Funding

FY22 FY23 Difference

Award $171M $255M 49.4%

Expenditure $178M $185.7M 4.3%

F&A $23.8M $28.6M 20.1%

FY23 –
October

FY24 –
October Difference

Award $120M $96.9M -18.9%

Expenditure $57.8M $82.0M 42.1%

F&A $9.1M $13.9M 52.6%

Mason is a maturing top-tier research university that broadly 
values access and delivers on impact.

Mason's research enterprise drives discovery and the creation 
of new knowledge to meet the toughest current and future 
challenges and creates opportunities yet to be imagined. 

Last Year This Year
To Date



5 | Dashboard

Scholarship Partnerships Translation

Research Core Activities
Mason Research

METRIC

US News
Ranked
Public

50
30 of 45 Graduate Programs

Ranked among Top

US News Publics

51 100+
Partners

Mason Research

METRIC

13
Fortune 500

118 R1
28 R2
21 International
3 MSI
4 Community Colleges

Industry

University

Mason Research

DIFFERENTIATOR

$1M Center for Excellence in 
Government Cybersecurity Risk 
Management and Resilience
11/08 Launch - Profs. Shehu (l)  
and Auffret (r) partner on federal 
government cybersecurity and IT 
modernization efforts to translate 
research and disseminate best 
practices (Rep. Connolly Project)



6 | Dashboard

Research Support
Mason Research

METRIC

Infrastructure Services Culture

Mason Research

HIGHLIGHT

The new University Policy 4021: 
Outside Professional Activities and 
Conflict of Commitment took effect 
in September 2023 after more than 
two years of development and with 
collaboration from all ten colleges 
and schools and supported by RAMP. 

Research
Transparency | Integrity

Research Integrity and Assurance &
Institutional Compliance and Ethics

Mason Research

DIFFERENTIATOR

$1.9M NSF Award

Profs. Motti (l) and Wittman (r) 
will develop wearable tech 
designed to help neurodiverse 
individuals succeed in the 
workforce.
https://www.gmu.edu/news/2023-10/two-
mason-professors-receive-nsf-grant-study-
wearables-and-inclusive-workplaces

Buildings

# New
Mason
Square  3 Fuse 

FFX 107 

SciTech 12 LSEB
Mason
Korea 1



Mason Research: Forty Plus Years of
Mercatus at GMU

Speakers: Tyler Cowen, PhD
Alex Tabarrok, PhD





ATTRACTING TALENT TO MASON SINCE 1980 

James Buchanan Vernon Smith

Mercatus  started with 3 students And grew to attract 2 future Nobel laureates



SERVING THE MASON 
ACADEMIC COMMUNITY



We support 30+ faculty at Mason 

In economics, law, philosophy, geography, public 
policy, sociology, and more

Raised funds to create 12 faculty positions

Mercatus scholars have published 93 
books in the last 5 years, 
and their research is published 
in top journals

The American Economic Review, The
Economic Journal, and Econometrica

Mercatus scholars are recognized with 
awards and leadership positions

Peter J. Boettke (PhD ’89) was the 2016–17 
president of the Southern Economic Association

Christopher J. Coyne (PhD ’05) and Virgil Storr 
(PhD ’03) have each received the CHSS 
Distinguished Alumni award for Economics

Tyler Cowen (BA ’83) received the Beck Family 
Presidential Medal for Excellence in Research and 
Scholarship in 2019

Paul Dragos Aligica was elected to The Academy 
of Europe in 2023

Se
rv

in
g 

th
e 

 M
as

on
 A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
om

m
un

ity

Faculty



436

Current number of Mason 
undergraduate and graduate 
students supported by 
Mercatus

Hired at top schools

Including the University 
of Pennsylvania, 
Georgetown University, 
and New York University

Se
rv

in
g 

th
e 

 M
as

on
 A

ca
de

m
ic

 C
om

m
un

ity

Mason alumni of Mercatus 
PhD, MA, and undergrad 
programs 

79

Students



REAL-WORLD IMPACT



IMPACT

SSRN ranks Mason Economics 
18th and Mercatus 

19th in Economics Departments 
& Research Centers Worldwide

New image tkNew image tk



IMPACT

Mason Economics ranks 
in the top 50 public economics 

programs 
in the US by Times Higher 

Education and the Shanghai 
Rankings



IM
PA

C
T

IMPACT

Mercatus scholars have 
served at high levels in 

government

IM
PA

C
T

Keith Hall  - CBO director Bill Beach - BLS commissioner

IM
PA

C
T

IM
PA

C
T

Hester Peirce - SEC commissioner



IMPACT

Scholars regularly testify at the 
state and federal level and 

appeared in the media 30,000 
times in 2022

New image tkNew image tk



IM
PA

C
T

IMPACT

Mercatus podcasts make 
cutting-edge research 
accessible to the world 



AIIndiaMonetary 
Policy

Thousands tune in weekly to 
hear David Beckworth 
interview the best minds in 
macroeconomic theory and 
practice. Listenership spans 
academia, the financial press, 
and both staff and leadership 
at the Federal Reserve

R
ea

l-w
or

ld
 im

pa
ct

Shruti Rajagopalan (PhD ‘13) 
is building a new intellectual 
community with India’s top 
policy makers and opinion 
shapers through her research 
program, Ideas of India
podcast, and yearly events in 
India

Mercatus just published a 
‘generative book,’ which has 
stoked interest from Anthropic 
and HarperCollins

Marginal Revolution University is 
incorporating an AI tutor into its 
online education platform



Awarded 790 grants totaling $16.2 million

Some highlights:

Recidiviz partners with state criminal justice 
agencies to use data to safely reduce incarceration

Curative’s pivot to COVID-19 testing was supported 
by EV and was eventually responsible for 11% of all 
US COVID tests

Upsolve helps low‐income individuals respond 
when they are sued for allegedly unpaid debts 

R
ea

l-w
or

ld
 im

pa
ct

Ventures
image tk



During the first few months of the pandemic, 
the Fast Grants team reviewed over 5,500 
applications, awarded more than 250 grants, 
and raised over $50 million to accelerate 
COVID-19 research 

Some highlights:

Recipients at Yale created saliva-based rapid 
COVID-19 tests

Supported a clinical trial for research on the ability of 
vaccines to improve the symptoms of long COVID

R
ea

l-w
or

ld
 im

pa
ct

Grants
image tkimage tk





 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
AUDIT, RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF VISITORS 

 
 

November 30, 2023 
AGENDA 

 
 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

 

II. Approval of Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee Minutes  
 A. Approval of Committee Minutes for September 28, 2023 Meeting (ACTION)  

 
III. New Business  

 A. Auditor of Public Accounts Examination Discussion 
 

 

 B. Information Technology Update  (includes CLOSED SESSION regarding security 
of information technology systems (Code of Virginia: §2-2.3711.A.19)) 
 

 

IV. Reports  
 A. Report of Approved Waivers of Contractual Conflicts of Interest 

 
 
 

 B. Report of Compliance with Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act Safeguards Rule 
 

 

 C. Office of University Audit Summary Report 
 

 

 D. Office of Institutional Compliance Summary Report 
 

 
 

 E. Information Technology Risk and Control Infrastructure Program Update 
 

 
 

V. Adjournment  
   

 



DRAFT – Subject to Revision 
 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
AUDIT, RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 

OF THE BOARD OF VISITORS 
 
 

September 28, 2023 
MINUTES 

 
 
 
 

PRESENT: Chair Oberoi; Visitors Alacbay, Brown, and Stimson. 
 

ABSENT: Vice Chair Meese. 
 

ALSO 
PRESENT: 

Rector Blackman; Visitors Burke and Peterson; President Washington; Vice 
President and Chief Branding Officer Allvin; Vice President and Chief Diversity 
Officer Artis; Faculty Senate President Broeckelman-Post; Executive Vice 
President of Finance and Administration Dickenson; Faculty Liaison Douthett;  
Senior Vice President for Operations and Business Services Ferree; Staff Senate 
Chair Gautney; University Counsel Gentry; Provost and Executive Vice 
President Ginsberg; Special Advisor Healy; Vice President of Finance Heinle; 
Assistant Vice President for Planning, Design, and Construction Iszard; Vice 
President for Research, Innovation, and Economic Development Marshall; 
Associate University Counsel Schlam; Interim Vice President and Chief 
Information Officer Spann; Vice President for Facilities Strike; Graduate 
Student Representative Velagapudi; Executive Vice President of Strategic 
Initiatives and Chief of Staff Walsh; Undergraduate Student Representative 
Wyche; Chief Audit and Compliance Officer Dittmeier; Associate Vice 
President for Institutional Compliance Lacovara; and Associate University 
Auditor Watkins.   
 

I. Chair Oberoi called the meeting to order at 9:41 a.m. 
 

II. Approval of Minutes 
 

 Chair Oberoi called for any corrections to the minutes of the May 4, 2023 Audit, 
Risk, and Compliance Committee meeting.  Hearing none, the MINUTES 
STOOD APPROVED AS WRITTEN. 
 

III New Business 
 

 A.  Facilities Condition Assessment Program Update 
 

 Senior Vice President Ferree and Vice President Strike briefed the Committee 
on Mason’s program to assess the condition of facilities and determine action 
priorities and plans. 



AUDIT, RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 
September 28, 2023 
Page 2 
 

 

 
Mr. Strike stated that the Facilities Condition Assessment program maintains 
a comprehensive inventory of Mason’s facilities.  The condition of facility 
components, such as exterior closure, roofing, plumbing, HVAC, fire 
protection, and many more, are inspected at least once every three years.  
Inspections also consider input of users, facility zone managers, campus 
energy managers, and, where necessary, contracted subject matter specialists.  
Based on these inspections, and assessments, component conditions are 
prioritized for future maintenance or improvement activity.  Condition 
thresholds are in place to inform ‘repair or replace’ actions.  Annual action 
plans, in conjunction with three, five, and ten-year roadmaps, are developed 
and prioritized in consideration of health and safety; support for mission; 
student experience, including student input; sustainability and resiliency; and 
continuity of operations.  He also discussed the application of the program for 
several recent projects, including Student Apartments, stormwater 
management, energy enhancements, Horizon Hall, Harris Theatre, and the 
Aquatic and Fitness Center. 
 
The Committee discussed with management the level of reserves associated 
with future maintenance activities, supplemented with capital-funded projects.  
Undergraduate Student Representative Wyche recognized the facilities team 
for their responsiveness to student feedback related to maintenance concerns.   
 

 B.  Approval of Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee Charter 
 

 The Committee reviewed minor revisions to the Audit, Risk, and Compliance 
Committee Charter and noted that the charter is aligned with the university’s 
by-laws.  Visitor Stimson MOVED and Visitor Alacbay SECONDED that 
the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee Charter be approved.  
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE. 

 
 C.  Approval of Office of Audit, Risk, and Compliance Charter 

 
 The Committee reviewed the Office of Audit and Compliance Committee 

Charter.  Mr. Dittmeier confirmed the organizational independence of 
Mason’s internal audit function.  After discussion, the Committee concurred 
with Mr. Dittmeier’s organizational independence confirmation.  Visitor 
Brown MOVED and Visitor Stimson SECONDED that the Office of Audit 
and Compliance Charter be approved.  
 
MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE. 
 
 
 
 



AUDIT, RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE 
September 28, 2023 
Page 3 
 

 

 
Edward R. Dittmeier 
Secretary pro tem 
 

IV. Reports 
 

 Ms. Watkins reported on the status of audit operations described in the Office 
of University Audit Summary Report.  Among other things, she updated the 
Committee on the ongoing use of co-sourced professionals to provide 
assurance services while recruitment activities to fill a vacant senior auditor 
position continue.  The Committee discussed with Ms. Watkins and Mr. 
Dittmeier the nature and scope of the competitive environment for recruiting 
audit talent to Mason.  Ms. Watkins also reported that one internal audit report 
had been issued since the prior meeting. 
 
Ms. Watkins then described University Audit’s audit planning process which 
determines internal audit priorities.  Consistent with University Audit’s re-
freshed views, areas of audit focus are expected to include processes related to 
enrollment; the growing research enterprise; financial and operational 
processes; information technology and protection of data; and campus safety, 
security, health, and well-being.  The Committee discussed with Mr. Dittmeier 
the sufficiency of the audit personnel and financial resources available to 
design and conduct audit work appropriate to the scope and scale of Mason’s 
responsibilities. 
 
Mr. Lacovara reported on the status of institutional compliance activities since 
the prior meeting.  He described the status of compliance program self-
assessments which are in progress and noted the university’s establishment of 
a new conflict of commitment policy and actions to strengthen related 
disclosure processes.  The Committee discussed with Mr. Lacovara the size of 
the Institutional Compliance team charged with providing oversight in relation 
to comparable universities. 
 
Mr. Spann reviewed highlights of the Information Technology Risk and 
Control Infrastructure Program Update provided to the Committee.  He 
discussed with the Committee and with Rector Blackman security awareness 
training completion rates and consequences for non-completion as well as the 
need for future cyber risk vulnerability assessment activities. 
 

VI. Adjournment 
 

 Chair Oberoi adjourned the meeting at 10:23 a.m. 
 



ITEM NUMBER:  III.A. 
 

Auditor of Public Accounts Discussion 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: 
 

Brief the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee regarding 
the upcoming financial statement audit for the year ended 
June 30, 2023. 
 

NARRATIVE: 
 

The Commonwealth’s Auditor of Public Accounts is 
responsible for auditing the accounts of every state 
department, officer, board, commission, institution, or other 
agency handling any state funds.  Among other things, the 
Auditor of Public Accounts determines that state agencies are 
providing and reporting appropriate information on financial 
and performance measures. 
 
David Rasnic is representing the Auditor of Public Accounts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION: 
 

Receive briefing and discuss. 

 



Auditor of Public Accounts - Fiscal Year 2023 Audit

George Mason University Audit EngagementGeorge Mason University Audit Engagement
Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee

David Rasnic, CPA, CISA – Project Manager
Justin Rhodes, CPA – Auditor In-Charge



E ngagement O verview

• Audit Team: David Rasnic - Project Manager
Justin Rhodes– In-Charge

• Audit Period: July 1, 2022 – June 30, 2023

• Audit Timing: January 2024 – April 2024

• Objectives: University-specific
Statewide Single Audit

Page 2W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Au dit O b j ectives

• B asic Financial Statements
• Primary objective of audit is to 

provide an opinion on fair 
presentation in accordance with 
GAAP

• We assess risk of material 
misstatement at the line item level 
and design an audit approach 
responsive to those risks

• Procedures include a combination of 
tests of detailed transactions and 
balances, as well as internal control 
processes

Page 3W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Au dit O b j ectives

• R eq u ired Su pplementary Information 
( R SI)

• We review for consistency with the 
basic financial statements

• We perform limited procedures, 
including management inquiries and 
review of support

• We do not provide an opinion 
concerning RSI

Page 4W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Significant R isk s

M anagement O verride

• Risk is present at all organizations

• Access controls

• Segregation of duties

• Culture/tone at the top

R evenu e R ecognition

• Risk is generally present at all organizations

Page 5W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Approach to M ateriality 

• We consider what is likely to influence the judgment 
of a financial statement user in order to:
– Assess risk and design audit procedures
– Evaluate misstatements in amounts and deficiencies in processes

• Calculate quantitative thresholds by ‘opinion unit’
– GMU Business Type Activity and Component Units

• Apply qualitative considerations in additional to 
quantitative

Page 6W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Approach to Frau d

• Team interviews personnel and assesses the risk of fraud

• Team looks for red flags and considers the potential for 
fraud as it relates to exceptions identified during fieldwork

• George Mason is required to notify APA when suspected 
fraud is identified

Page 7W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Approach to C ompliance

• We consider the risk that potential non-compliance could have a 
material direct or indirect effect on the financial statements

• We assess management’s processes

• We test compliance which we deem significant in the context of the 
audit objectives

Page 8W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Au dit O b j ectives

• R eport on Internal C ontrols and 
C ompliance

• We do not provide an opinion on 
internal controls

• We are required to report any 
findings that we deem to be 
significant deficiencies or 
material weaknesses

• Though not required, we plan to 
issue this report the same week 
we release the audit opinion

Page 9W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  Page 



Au dit O b j ectives

• V irginia Single Au dit

• The Statewide Single Audit (SSA) report 
serves as the internal control report for 
the Commonwealth’s Annual 
Comprehensive Financial Report

• This report will include the results of 
tests designed to evaluate the Research 
and Development federal programs

• GMU Internal Audit is performing APA-
directed work over the Research and 
Development federal programs

Page 1 0W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



M anagement C ommu nication

• Entrance/Exit with Management

• Biweekly status updates

• When potential concerns are noted:

– Confirm condition

– Obtain response

– Evaluate significance

Page 1 1W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



B O V  C ommu nication

• If you are aware of risks our audit should address, please share 
those with us

• Unless there are findings requiring your immediate attention, we 
will present our results to you at the conclusion of the audit

• If earlier communication is warranted, we will coordinate with 
management to ensure the Committee is informed in a timely 
manner

• Terms of the engagement and representation letters

Page 1 2W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



Intended U se Statement

T h is presentation is intend ed  sol el y for th e information and  
use of th ose ch arged  w ith  governance and  management,  
and  is not intend ed  to be,  and  sh oul d  not be,  used  by anyone 
oth er th an th ese specified  parties. 

Page 1 3W W W . APA. V IR G IN IA. G O V  



ITEM NUMBER:  III.B. 
 

Information Technology Update 

PURPOSE OF ITEM: 
 

Brief the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee on the 
status of the university’s information technology and 
associated processes for managing such technology. 
 

NARRATIVE: 
 

Charles Spann, Interim Vice President and Chief Information 
Officer, will brief the Committee. 
 
Among other things, Mr. Borek will provide an overview of 
information technology at Mason.  This overview will include 
a discussion of the current state of information technology at 
Mason and the status of key programs of focus in making 
progress towards the desired future state. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ACTION: 
 

Receive briefing and discuss. 

 



Information 
Technology Update

November 30, 2023
1



Agenda

2

Mason Information Technology Overview
Information Technology Risk and Control Infrastructure 
Program
Security Threat Landscape
Questions and Answers



Information Technology 
at George Mason University

3

Mason operates in a distributed IT environment with 
shared governance
 ITS manages ERP/CRM/HR/PR/LMS/Student
 University Research is conducted within Schools, 

sometimes with shared IT functions (compute, 
administration)
 Schools and Colleges, and some units have 

IT departments
 Demarcations in governance, roles/responsibility 

not always clearly defined



Information Technology Services

4

 ITS salaries and contractors account for roughly 
75% of ITS spend

 ITS employs 269 FTE , 71 student wage, 34 
contractors and 28 wage employees

 ITS Units; Academic Strategies, Enterprise 
Applications, Enterprise Infrastructure 
Services, Enterprise Service Delivery, Learning 
Support Services, Information Technology Security 
Office



Elevating Internal Audit Activities from IT 
Security to IT/Business Risk Management

5

 Audit Workplans Aligned with Management Goals and Workplan
 Audit actively engaged as objective collaborator: IT strategy, goals, 

business objectives, project deliverables, prioritization
 Emphasis on proactive management and risk mitigation in rapidly 

changing technology environment
 Structural vs. symptomatic assessments
 There are and will be a need for routine audits in certain areas
 (e.g. third-party service providers, distributed environments 

management)



Information Technology Risk and Control Infrastructure Program
Representative Strategic Programs of Focus

6

 Portfolio and Project Management
 IT Security Compliance Program
 Configuration and Change Management
 Identity Management and Access Control
 Risk Assessment and Remediation Program

Most outstanding IT Security audit findings have common 
structural roots in underlying business processes and 
systems

Progress in these areas is reported regularly to the committee
Representative – but not all-inclusive programs



PROGRAMS OF FOCUS



Portfolio and Project Management

8

FY2023 Activities/Accomplishments
 Established Governance Council Program

 Functioning IT Domain Council; Pilot Finance and Administration 
Council

 Updated PMO dashboard to reflect revised governance structure

FY2024 Planned Initiatives
 Pilot Domain Council for projects initiated within Provost's Domain

 Implement supporting tools for project tracking in TeamDynamix (ITSM 
Tool)

 Track established project metrics for continuous improvement



IT Security Compliance Program

9

FY2023 Activities/Accomplishments
 NIST 800-53 based security baseline control framework, tailored to university environment; 

approved by CIO and concurred by EVP

 Began socialization of new control framework within ITS and distributed IT

 Created Draft IT Security Standard based on new control framework

 Co-facilitated self-assessment of Banner core environment with OUA, based on the Mason 
tailored and scoped NIST 800-53 security high -risk baseline

FY2024 Planned Activities
 Publish and socialize results of NIST 800-53 IT Security Standard self-assessment of Banner 

core environment, perform subsequent next steps (e.g., update SSP and POA&M)

 Move Disaster Recover and Continuity of Operations plans into Mason GRC tool



Configuration and Change Management

10

FY2023 Activities/Accomplishments
 Change Management process was reviewed during the APA audit and no findings 

were flagged.

 ITS has an operational pilot of the TeamDynamix change management system

FY2024 Planned Initiatives
 Move all ITS change management activity to TeamDynamix, train staff

 Review ITS change management procedures for compliance with NIST 800-53

 Evaluate Development Operations practice to enhance Software Development 
Lifecycle to align with industry best practices.

 Establish University Change Control Board to review changes in process or systems 
that impact the student, employee or other university lifecycles.



Identity and Access Management

11

FY2023 Activities/Accomplishments
 Partnered with Human Resources on PageUp implementation, 

updating position descriptions and workflow

 Continued work on an IAM technology roadmap

 Gathered requirement for a modern IAM system

FY2024 Planned Initiatives
 Complete IAM technology roadmap
 Implement bridge IAM improvements and plan for future 

implementation of a modern IAM system; potentially in FY25



Risk Assessment and Remediation Program

12

FY2023 Activities/Accomplishments
 Created FAR 52-204.21 compliance security plan template for the 

Hopper Cluster to position Mason to be able to support research grant 
requests that require compliance to the FAR 52-204.21 controls.

 Operationalized the pilot ITS Risk Register forum

 Partnered with Research community to improve endpoint security for 
research

FY2024 Planned Activities
Penetration test of Banner core services

Continue to configure and operationalize the risk assessment, issues, 
action plans, and exceptions management functionality in GRC tool.



Motion:  

I move that the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee go into Closed 
Session under the provisions of Section 2-2.3711.A.19 of the Code of 
Virginia to discuss the security of university information technology 
systems.

Closed Session Motion

| George Mason University



Motion:  

I move that the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee go back into 
Public Session and further move that by ROLL CALL VOTE we affirm 
that only public business matters lawfully exempted from the open 
meeting requirements under the Freedom of Information Act were heard, 
discussed or considered in the Closed Meeting, and that only such 
business matters that were identified in the motion to go into a Closed 
Meeting were heard, discussed, or considered in the Closed Meeting.  
Any member of the Committee who believes that there was a departure 
from the requirements as stated above, shall so state prior to taking the 
roll call, indicating the substance of the departure that, in their judgment, 
has taken place.

Closed Session Motion

| George Mason University



CLOSING REMARKS
Q&A



MEMORANDUM

TO:   Members of the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee of  
George Mason University’s Board of Visitors 

FROM: George Mason University Office of Institutional Compliance 
Elizabeth Woodley, University Ethics Officer and Outside Interests Manager

SUB ECT: Approved Contractual Conflict of Interest Waivers

DATE: November 1, 2023 

Pursuant to the Board of Visitors Resolution adopted on August 1, 2014 (Appendix A) 
delegating to the President the authority to approve waivers of conflicts of interest arising from 
contracts pursuant to §2.2-3106 and §2.2-3110.A.5 of the Code of Virginia, the following is a 
report of existing approved contractual conflict of interest (COI) waivers at George Mason 
University (Mason) as of November 1, 2023.  

There are three categories of COI waivers at Mason:
• Research COI waivers: these are waivers of employee conflicts of interest in contracts

relating to research and development or commercialization of intellectual property (§2.2-
3106.C).

• Non-Research COI waivers: these are waivers of conflicts of interest in other contracts, not
relating to research (§2.2-3110).

• Immediate Family Waivers; these are waivers of employment of immediate family members
at Mason (§2.2-3106.C.2).

Research COI waivers are reviewed and recommended for approval by the Conflict of Interest 
Committee1, prior to being approved by the President and the Vice President for Research, 
Innovation, and Economic Impact. As a condition of each waiver, the employee will not 
participate, or has no authority to participate, in contract negotiations or oversight on behalf of 
Mason or the outside entity. The employee will also follow the requirements of the applicable 
Outside Employment policy. All Research COI waivers are monitored at least annually by the 
Office of Institutional Compliance to confirm the terms of the waivers are followed.  Appendix B 
of this report lists the 22 research COI waivers existing as of November 1, 2023; there were 26
research COI waivers existing as of October 31, 2022 (the prior report to the Committee).  

1 The Conflict of Interest Committee consists of 14 members: representatives of each College as well as Human 
Resources, Fiscal Services, Research, and Institutional Compliance.

Office of Institutional Compliance
4400 University Drive, MS 1A2, Fairfax, Virginia 22030

1



Non-Research COI waivers are reviewed and recommended for approval by the Conflict of 
Interest Committee, prior to being approved by the President and the Executive Vice President 
for Finance and Administration. As a condition of each waiver, the employee will not participate, 
or has no authority to participate, in contract negotiations or oversight on behalf of Mason or the 
outside entity. The employee will also follow the requirements of the applicable Outside 
Employment policy. All Non-Research COI waivers are monitored at least annually by the 
Office of Institutional Compliance to confirm the terms of the waivers are followed.  Appendix C 
of this report lists the 28 non-research COI waivers existing as of November 1, 2023; there were 
30 non-research COI waivers existing as of October 31, 2022. 
 
Immediate Family Waivers are granted by the University Ethics Officer and Outside Interests 
Manager when, upon evaluation with the responsible supervisor and with Human Resources, it is 
determined that the dual employment of the immediate family members is in the best interest of 
the University. The terms of all immediate family waivers require that neither employee 
exercises sole control over the employment or employment activities of the other, including 
decisions regarding initial appointment, retention, promotion, tenure, salary, leave of absence, 
and evaluation; and that the employment of the immediate family members will further the 
University’s educational and research mission. All immediate family waivers are monitored at 
least every two years by the Office of Institutional Compliance to confirm the terms of the 
waivers are followed.  Appendix D of this report lists the 134 immediate family waivers existing 
as of November 1, 2023; there were 141 immediate family waivers existing as of October 31, 
2022.  Of the 134 immediate family waivers existing on November 1, 2023: 
• 49 waivers involve at least one tenured faculty member.  In these cases, the other family 

member was a tenured faculty member (17), non-tenured instructional or research faculty 
member (20), or not a member of the instructional or research faculty (i.e., administrative or 
staff, 12). 

• 39 waivers involved no tenured faculty and at least one family member being a non-tenured 
instructional or research faculty member.  In these cases, the other family member was a non-
tenured instructional or research faculty member (20), or not a member of the instructional or 
research faculty (i.e., administration or staff, 19). 

• 46 waivers involved both family members being members of the administration or staff. 
 
Highlighted Waivers:  As of November 1, 2023, there were six Research or Non-Research COI 
waivers where: 
• Two or more Mason employees have a COI in the same company (not including spouses 

whose only financial interest is through their spouse); OR 
• The contract giving rise to the COI has the following characteristics:  

• the parties are Mason and a for-profit company,  
• the contract is potentially related to the conflicted employee’s work at Mason, 
• the contract is negotiated (rather than routine or boilerplate),  
• the conflicted employee is Faculty or Classified Staff (i.e., not adjunct, or wage 

employee), and  
• Mason is paying over $5,000 to that company.  

 
1. Suman Alishetty, Research Assistant Professor, Bioengineering Department; 

Manuel Carrasco, Graduate Research Assistant, CEC School Grad Assistants; 

2



Caroline Hoemann Professor, Bioengineering; 
Mikell Paige, Associate Professor, Chemistry Instruction 
AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC; 
waiver period: 9/8/2021–8/30/2024 ($0 paid by Mason, $160,000 paid to Mason in FY 
2023) 

Personal Interest: Alishetty and Carrasco have over 3% but less than 20% ownership. 
Hoemann has over 20% but less than 50% ownership. Paige has over $5,000 annual 
income from his divestiture of stock in AexeRNA. AexeRNA is in the process of 
licensing rights to a lipid nanoparticle platform for mRNA delivery. AexeRNA will 
establish contracts with Mason for sponsored research, which will each be governed by 
an approved Management Plan. The George Mason University Research Foundation is 
also a shareholder, owning over 3% but less than 20% of AexeRNA. 

 
2. Stephen Curtis, Head Coach Women's Tennis; 

James Davis, Head Coach Men’s Tennis;  
A Plus Sports, Burke Racquet & Swim Club; 
waiver period: 3/16/2022–3/1/2024 ($0 paid by Mason, $15,780 paid to Mason in FY 
2023) 

Personal interest: Curtis and Davis have between 20% and 50% Ownership and receive 
over $5,000 from A Plus Sports (BRSC). Mason will utilize BRSC facilities for men's 
and women's tennis practice as needed depending on schedules and the weather, as 
Mason does not have indoor tennis courts. A Plus Sports (BRSC) will utilize University 
facilities pursuant to the standard Mason Recreation facilities use contract and operate a 
summer sports camp. The waiver specifies oversight and requirements in order to 
continue Mason’s contractual relationship with BRSC. 

 
3. Paul Allvin, Vice President and Chief Brand Officer, Office of University Branding; 

Brynmor Holdings, LLC; 
waiver period: 2/1/2023–1/31/2024 ($8,400 paid by Mason in FY 2023) 

Personal interest: Allvin has 100% ownership in Brynmor Holdings, LLC through his 
spouse. Brynmor has been contracted to consult with Mason on the provision of 
childcare services and to potentially support Mason in the application for a federal grant. 
Allvin will have no authority over this contract and will recuse himself from any 
decisions or discussions which directly involve or affect Brynmor.  

 
4. Catrina King, Attending Veterinarian, ORIA;  

Caerus;  
waiver period: 5/11/2022–3/31/2024 ($6034.16 paid by Mason in FY 2023) 

Personal interest: King receives over $5,000 annual income from Caerus. Caerus has 
contracted with Mason for utilization of vivarium space at the Center for Infectious 
Disease Research (CIDR). King will recuse herself from any IACUC and IBC decisions 
for any projects that involve Caerus. In addition, another George Mason University 
veterinarian will provide compliance oversight and also serve as the primary point of 
contact for veterinary consultations with Caerus concerning its animal subject research 
activities at Mason. King will not serve as an advisor to Caerus concerning actual or 
potential future contracts with George Mason University. 

3



 
 

5. Andrew Gerard, Director, Men’s and Women’s Track and Field/Cross Country;  
Andrew Gerard Coaching & Training, LLC;  
waiver period: 3/21/2023–4/28/2024 ($8,500 paid by Mason in FY 2023) 

Personal interest: Gerard has 100% ownership of Andrew Gerard Coaching & Training. 
The LLC will provide timing and results reporting for Cross Country and Track & Field 
Events. Purchasing and Athletics were directly involved in the arrangement of this 
contract to confirm Mason’s Purchasing guidelines were followed. Gerard will not 
participate in negotiations or oversee the contract on behalf of Mason. The waiver 
specifies oversight and requirements in order to continue Mason’s contractual 
relationship with the LLC beyond the current contract.   

 
6. Catherine Winkert, Associate Director Finance and Administration, College of Visual and 

Performing Arts; 
Monumental Sports & Entertainment;  
waiver period: 1/25/2019–1/25/2024 ($818,278.81 paid by Mason in FY 2023) 

Personal interest: Winkert receives over $5,000 annual income from her spouse’s 
employment at Monumental Sports & Entertainment at the Capital One Arena. 
Monumental Sports & Entertainment manages the Eagle Bank Arena and provides 
parking attendants during events hosted at the Eagle Bank Arena and for Center for the 
Arts (CfA). Winkert does not have the authority to participate and will not participate in 
contract negotiations with Monumental on behalf of Mason. In addition, Winkert does 
not sign off on invoices from Monumental Sports & Entertainment. The Front of House 
Manager at CfA contacts Monumental to make arrangements, and the Finance and 
Budget Analyst at CfA reviews/approves invoices. 

 
 
Please feel free to contact me (at ewoodley@gmu.edu) should you like to discuss this report. 
 

4

mailto:ewoodley@gmu.edu


Appendix A: BOV Resolution of August 1, 2014 

5



Appendix B: Research COI Waivers 
 

I. Waivers of personal interests due to ownership and/or income from companies  
 

# Employee Other Interest Nature of COI Waiver 
Period 

1 Suman Alishetty, 
Research Assistant 
Professor, 
Bioengineering 
Department, 
College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

AexeRNA 
Therapeutics, LLC 

• Alishetty has over 3% but less than 20% ownership of AexeRNA Therapeutics, 
LLC.   

• AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC is in the process of licensing rights to a lipid 
nanoparticle platform for mRNA delivery. AexeRNA will establish contracts with 
Mason for sponsored research, which will each be governed by an approved 
Management Plan. 

• The George Mason University Research Foundation Inc. (an independent 501(c)(3) 
established for the benefit of George Mason University) also owns over 3% but less 
than 20% of AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to AexeRNA. AexeRNA has paid $160,000 to Mason. 

9/8/2021 – 
8/1/2024 

2 Manuel Carrasco, 
Graduate Research 
Assistant, College 
of Engineering 
and Computing 
 

AexeRNA 
Therapeutics, LLC 

• Carrasco has over 3% but less than 20% ownership of AexeRNA Therapeutics, 
LLC. 

• AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC is in the process of licensing rights to a lipid 
nanoparticle platform for mRNA delivery. AexeRNA will establish contracts with 
Mason for sponsored research, which will each be governed by an approved 
Management Plan. 

• The George Mason University Research Foundation also owns over 3% but less 
than 20% of AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to AexeRNA. AexeRNA has paid $160,000 to Mason. 

8/1/2023 – 
8/1/2024 

3 Boris Gafurov, 
Assistant 
Professor, Special 
Ed and disability 
Research, College 
of Education and 
Human 
Development 

ATWare Solutions • Gafurov has 100% ownership of ATWare Solutions. 
• ATWare Solutions was formed to submit free apps developed at Mason’s Training 

and Technical Assistance Center (TTAC) for people with disabilities to iTunes and 
Google Play. 

• TTAC is a Mason Center that provides resources and technical assistance to 
educators. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $500 to ATWare Solutions. 

9/8/2021- 
7/1/2024 

4 Kenneth Griffin, National Health 
Promotion 

• Griffin received over $5,000 annual income from NHPA for outside consulting.  4/30/2020 – 
7/1/2023* 

6



Professor, Global 
and Community 
Health, College of 
Public Health 

Associates, Inc. 
(NHPA) 

• Mason has subcontracted with NHPA on a sponsored research project. Griffin is 
Principal Investigator on this research project and has a Research Management 
Plan approved by the COI Committee. 

• Griffin’s consulting work is unrelated to the subcontract and involves providing 
general advice and consultation to NHPA staff regarding evaluation design, survey 
development, and qualitative and quantitative data analysis. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to NHPA. NHPA has paid $4,924 to Mason. 

 

5 Caroline Hoemann 
Professor, 
Bioengineering, 
College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

AexeRNA 
Therapeutics, LLC 

• Hoemann has over 20% but less than 50% ownership of AexeRNA Theraputics, 
LLC.  

• AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC is in the process of licensing rights to a lipid 
nanoparticle platform for mRNA delivery. AexeRNA will establish contracts with 
Mason for sponsored research, which will each be governed by an approved 
Management Plan. 

• The George Mason University Research Foundation also owns over 3% but less 
than 20% of AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to AexeRNA. AexeRNA has paid $160,000 to Mason. 

9/8/2021–
8/30/2024 

6 Saleet Jafri, 
Professor, School 
of Systems 
Biology, College 
of Science 

Pathodynamics, 
LLC 

• Jafri and his spouse own 100% of Pathodynamics, LLC.  
• Pathodynamics applied for NSF National I-Corps (Innovation-Corps) funding 

through Mason. Mason administers those funds. The company is intended to 
commercialize intellectual property developed at Mason. 

• This contract is overseen by, and invoices signed by, Iosif Vaisman, Director of the 
School of Systems Biology, on behalf of Mason. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Pathodynamics. 

9/8/2021–
8/30/2024  
 
 

7 James Jones, 
Director, Criminal 
Investigations and 
Network Analysis 
Center, College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

American Council 
on Education 
(ACE) 

• Jones receives over $5,000 annual income from ACE due to his spouse’s 
employment.  

• Mason is a member of the American Council on Education. 
• Jones’s role at Mason does not interact with ACE. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $24,463 to ACE. 

2/19/2019–
2/19/2024 

8 Mikell Paige, 
Associate 
Professor, 
Chemistry and 
Biochemistry, 
College of Science 

AexeRNA 
Therapeutics, LLC 

• Paige has received over $5,000 from divestiture of stock from AexeRNA 
Theraputics, LLC. 

• AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC is in the process of licensing rights to a lipid 
nanoparticle platform for mRNA delivery. AexeRNA will establish contracts with 

9/8/2021–
8/1/2024 

7



Mason for sponsored research, which will each be governed by an approved 
Management Plan. 

• The George Mason University Research Foundation also owns over 3% but less 
than 20% of AexeRNA Therapeutics, LLC. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to AexeRNA. AexeRNA has paid $160,000 to Mason. 
9 Jayshree Sarma, 

Director of 
Research 
Computing, Office 
of Research 

Leidos Holdings, 
Inc. 

• Sarma receives over $5,000 annual income from her spouse’s employment at 
Leidos.  

• Mason has contracts with Leidos related to sponsored research.  
• Neither Sarma nor Sarma’s spouse oversee or interact with Mason’s contract with 

Leidos. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Leidos. Leidos has paid $7,425 to Mason. 

1/19/2021–
12/31/2023 
 
 

10 Sita Slavov, 
Professor of 
Public Policy, 
Schar School of 
Policy and 
Government 

International 
Monetary Fund 
(IMF) 

• Slavov receives over $5,000 annual income from her spouse’s employment at the 
IMF.  

• Mason has contracts with the IMF related to sponsored research.  
• Slavov’s research is reviewed to determine whether her interest in IMF requires a 

Research Management Plan. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to the IMF. IMF has paid $0 to Mason. 

2/21/2019–
2/21/2024 

11 Ali Weinstein, 
Professor, Global 
& Community 
Health, College of 
Public Health 

Inova Health 
System 

• Weinstein received over $5,000 annual income from her outside consulting (less 
than one day per week) at Inova.  

• Mason has contracts with Inova related to sponsored research. Weinstein’s research 
is reviewed to determine whether her interest in Inova requires a Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $12,163 to Inova. Inova has paid $178,581 to Mason. 

10/29/2020–
11/1/2023* 

 
II. Waivers of personal interests due to income from Universities: 

 
# Employee Other Interest Nature of COI Waiver 

Period 
12 Giorgio Ascoli, 

University 
Professor, 
Bioengineering, 
College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

University of 
Michigan 

• Ascoli receives over $5,000 annual income from outside consulting (less than one 
day per week) at the University of Michigan for a grant on biologically realistic 
modeling of the hippocampal formation.  

• Mason has subcontracts with University of Michigan related to sponsored research.  
• Ascoli’s consulting is not related to Mason’s contracts, and his research is 

reviewed to determine whether his interest requires a Management Plan. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $48,104 to University of Michigan. The University of 

Michigan has paid $45,661 to Mason. 

1/19/2021–
11/1/2023* 
 

8



13 Giorgio Ascoli, 
University 
Professor, 
Bioengineering, 
College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

University of 
Washington 
 

 

• Ascoli receives over $5,000 annual income from outside consulting (less than one 
day per week) at the University of Washington for a project on developing ‘citizen 
science’ infrastructures to facilitate digital reconstructions of neuronal 
morphology.  

• Mason has subcontracts with University of Washington related to sponsored 
research.  

• Ascoli’s consulting is not related to Mason’s contracts, and his research is 
reviewed to determine whether his interest requires a Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $481,289 to University of Washington. The University of 
Washington has paid $205,602 to Mason. 

4/9/2021– 
5/31/2024  

14 Lawrence 
Cheskin, 
Professor, 
Nutrition and 
Food Studies, 
College of Public 
Health 

Johns Hopkins 
University 

• Cheskin receives over $5,000 annual income from Outside Employment (less than 
one day per week) at Johns Hopkins.  

• Mason has subcontracts with Johns Hopkins University related to sponsored 
research.  

• Dr. Cheskin is a part-time staff physician at a clinical and research center at Johns 
Hopkins University. His research is reviewed to determine whether his interest 
requires a Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $28,217 to Johns Hopkins. Johns Hopkins has paid 
$244,749 to Mason. 

10/7/2021–
3/12/2024 

15 Rebecca Goldin, 
Professor, 
Mathematics 
Instruction, 
College of Science 

University of 
Michigan 

• Goldin receives over $5,000 annual income from her spouse’s employment. Goldin 
is Giorgio Ascoli’s spouse. 

• Goldin’s research is reviewed to determine whether her interest requires a 
Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $48,104 to University of Michigan. The University of 
Michigan has paid $45,661 to Mason. 

1/28/2021–
11/1/2023* 

16 Rebecca Goldin, 
Professor, 
Mathematics 
Instruction, 
College of Science 

University of 
Washington 

• Goldin receives over $5,000 annual income from her spouse’s employment. Goldin 
is Giorgio Ascoli’s spouse. 

• Goldin’s research is reviewed to determine whether her interest requires a 
Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $481,289 to University of Washington. The University of 
Washington has paid $205,602 to Mason. 

1/28/2021–
11/1/2023* 

17 Annie Green, Data 
Governance 
Specialist, ITS 

George 
Washington 
University 

• Green receives over $5,000 annual income from approved Outside Employment as 
an adjunct faculty member at George Washington University.  

• Mason has subcontracts with George Washington University related to sponsored 
research.  

1/6/2022–
1/31/2024 

9



•  Green’s role at Mason and at GW is not involved with sponsored research. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $376,612 to George Washington University. GW has 

paid $83,545 to Mason. 
18 William Hahn, 

Program Director, 
GeorgeSquared 
Advanced 
Biomedical 
Sciences 
Programs, College 
of Science 

Georgetown 
University 

• Hahn receives over $5,000 annual income from approved Outside Employment as 
an adjunct faculty member at Georgetown.  

• Mason has subcontracts with Georgetown related to sponsored research.  
• Hahn’s research is reviewed to determine whether his interest requires a 

Management Plan. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $449,362 to Georgetown University. Georgetown has 

paid $152,005 to Mason. 

10/14/2022– 
8/31/2024 

19 Catherine 
Creighton Martin, 
Training and 
Technical 
Assistance Center 
(TTAC) 
Coordinator, 
College of 
Education and 
Human 
Development 

Marymount 
University 

• Martin receives over $5,000 annual income from approved Outside Employment as 
an adjunct faculty member at Marymount. 

• Mason has contracts with Marymount University related to sponsored research.  
• Martin’s research is reviewed to determine whether her interest requires a 

Management Plan. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $45,318 to Marymount University. Marymount has paid 

$0 to Mason. 

9/8/2021– 
7/30/2024 

20 Marybeth (MB) 
Mitcham,  
Dir MPH Online 
Program 
Global and 
Community 
Health, College of 
Public Health 

Cornell University • Mitcham receives over $5,000 annual income from approved outside consulting as 
an independent contractor facilitating non-credit-bearing certificate programs at 
Cornell.  

• Mason has agreements with Cornell related to sponsored research.  
• Mitcham’s research is reviewed to determine whether her interest requires a 

Management Plan. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $5,000 to Cornell University. Cornell has paid $301,335 

to Mason. 

2/6/2023–
11/30/2023 

21 Kun Sun, 
Associate 
Professor, 
Information 
Sciences and 
Technology, 

Virginia Tech • Sun received over $5,000 annual income from outside consulting (less than one 
day per week) at Virginia Tech on the investigation of using the Virtual Machine 
Introspection (VMI) technique to build a forensic tool, which can enhance existing 
defense techniques in the cloud. 

• Mason has subcontracts with Virginia Tech related to sponsored research.  

6/29/2022– 
5/31/2024 

10



College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

• Sun’s research is reviewed to determine whether his interest requires a 
Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $523,999 to Virginia Tech. Virginia Tech has paid 
$328,459 to Mason. 

22 Ozlem Uzuner, 
Chair and 
Associate 
Professor, 
Information 
Sciences and 
Technology, 
College of 
Engineering and 
Computing 

Harvard Medical 
School 

• Uzuner receives over $5,000 annual income from outside consulting (less than one 
day per week) at Harvard Medical School on the management of a data 
dissemination portal.  

• Mason has subcontracts with Harvard Medical School related to sponsored 
research.  

• Uzuner’s research is reviewed to determine whether his interest requires a 
Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $9,900 to Harvard Medical School. Harvard Medical 
School has paid $0 to Mason. 

9/12/2022– 
7/31/2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11



Appendix C: Non-Research COI Waivers 
 

I. Waivers due to ownership of a contracting entity or income interest in a contracting entity related to Mason employment 
 

# Employee Other Interest Nature of COI Waiver 
Period 

1 Paul Allvin, Vice 
President and 
Chief Brand 
Officer, Office of 
University 
Branding 

Brynmor 
Holdings, LLC 

• Allvin has 100% ownership in Brynmor Holdings, LLC through his spouse.  
• Brynmor has been contracted to consult with Mason on the provision of childcare 

services and to potentially support Mason in the application for a federal grant.  
• Allvin will have no authority over this contract and will recuse himself from any 

decisions or discussions which directly involve or affect Brynmor.  
• In FY23, Mason has paid $8,400 to Brynmor. 

2/1/2023–
1/31/2024 

2 Charles Davidson, 
Postdoctoral 
Research Fellow, 
Carter School 

Forgotten Song, 
Inc. 

• Davidson receives over $5,000 from Outside Employment with ForgottenSong.  
• ForgottenSong is a subcontracting organization facilitating a peacemaking project 

with the Carter School.  
• Davidson will not negotiate with Mason on behalf of ForgottenSong and will have 

no oversight over business interactions between Mason and ForgottenSong. 
Davidson will follow the terms of the Management Plan determined for any future 
Research projects which study the results of the ForgottenSong project.  

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Forgotten Song. 

12/13/2021–
11/30/2023 

3 Andrew Gerard, 
Director, Men’s 
and Women’s 
Track and 
Field/Cross 
Country 

Andrew Gerard 
Coaching & 
Training, LLC 

• Gerard has 100% ownership of Andrew Gerard Coaching & Training.  
• The LLC will provide timing and results reporting for Cross Country and Track & 

Field Events. Purchasing and Athletics were directly involved in the arrangement 
of this contract to confirm Mason’s Purchasing guidelines were followed.  

• Gerard will not participate in negotiations or oversee the contract on behalf of 
Mason. The waiver specifies oversight and requirements in order to continue 
Mason’s contractual relationship with the LLC beyond the current contract.   

• In FY23, Mason has paid $8,500 to Gerard Coaching & Training. 

3/21/2023–
4/28/2024 

4 Catrina King, 
Attending 
Veterinarian, 
ORIA 

Caerus • King receives over $5,000 annual income from outside consulting at Caerus.  
• Caerus has contracted with Mason for utilization of vivarium space at the Center 

for Infectious Disease Research (CIDR).  
• King will recuse herself from any IACUC and IBC decisions for any projects that 

involve Caerus. In addition, another George Mason University veterinarian will 
provide compliance oversight and also serve as the primary point of contact for 
veterinary consultations with Caerus concerning its animal subject research 

5/11/2022–
3/31/2024 

12



activities at Mason. King will not serve as an advisor to Caerus concerning actual 
or potential future contracts with George Mason University. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $6,034 to Caerus. Caerus has paid $2,810 to Mason. 
5 Melanie Knapp, 

Assoc Dean 
Library 
Technology, 
Scalia Law 
Library 

Bloomberg Law • Knapp receives over $5,000 annual income due to her spouse’s employment at 
Bloomberg Law.  

• George Mason University and BloombergLaw have contracts and business 
interactions related to the Antonin Scalia Law School Law Library's subscription 
to the BloombergLaw online legal research service.  

• The decision to continue to select BloombergLaw as a library resource is made by 
the Collection Development Committee, of which Knapp is a member. Knapp 
must recuse herself from participating in the decision to select Bloomberg Law and 
from contract negotiations.  

• In FY23, Mason has paid $72,720 to Bloomberg LP, parent company of 
Bloomberg Law. 

12/13/2021–
12/1/2023 

6 Catherine 
Rodman, Senior 
Facilitator, The 
Edge, Mason 
Recreation 

Concord 
Associates LLC 
dba Community 
Building Institute 
(CBI) 

• Rodman receives over $5,000 annual income from approved Outside Employment 
as a subcontractor with CBI.  

• Mason periodically contracts with CBI to facilitate employee retreats and similar 
events. 

• Rodman does not have the authority to participate and will not participate in 
selection of or contract negotiations with CBI on behalf of Mason or on behalf of 
CBI. Rodman does not engage in CBI work for events where she would be 
involved as an employee, i.e., School of Business or UL/REC/EDGE, nor has CBI 
done work in those areas that would include her position. 

•  In FY23, Mason has paid $67,972 to CBI. 

8/19/2022–
8/1/2024 

7 Catherine 
Winkert, 
Associate Director 
Finance and 
Administration, 
College of Visual 
and Performing 
Arts 

Monumental 
Sports & 
Entertainment 

• Winkert receives over $5,000 annual income from her spouse’s employment at 
Monumental Sports & Entertainment at the Capital One Arena.  

• Monumental Sports & Entertainment manages the Eagle Bank Arena and provides 
parking attendants during events hosted at the Eagle Bank Arena and for Center for 
the Arts (CfA).  

• Winkert does not have the authority to participate and will not participate in 
contract negotiations with Monumental on behalf of Mason. In addition, Winkert 
does not sign off on invoices from Monumental Sports & Entertainment. The Front 
of House Manager at CfA contacts Monumental to make arrangements, and the 
Finance and Budget Analyst at CfA reviews/approves invoices.  

1/25/2019–
1/25/2024 

13



• In FY23, Mason has paid $818,278 to Centre Group LP/EagleBank Arena operated 
by Monumental Sports & Entertainment. 

8 Yuntao Wu, 
Professor, Center 
for Infectious 
Disease Research, 
College of Science 

Virongy 
Biosciences, Inc. 

• Wu has over 50% but less than 100% ownership of Virongy.  
• Virongy is a company based in Manassas which produces research products, such 

as HIV indicator cells, peptides, etc. used by Dr. Wu’s lab and other research labs 
at the University. Virongy will also sponsor research at Mason. 

• Wu has committed to following the procedures below to manage the conflict of 
interest: 
(1) I will report any changes in my SFI to George Mason University through the 
COI disclosure process within 30 days. 
(2) I will not be involved in any purchase decision that involves a Virongy product. 
(3) If my lab needs to purchase a unique product that is solely produced by 
Virongy, a sole source documentation of the product shall be submitted to the 
university's procurement office. Documentation of the fair market price of the 
product will be presented. Any requests for purchasing a unique product for my lab 
for any dollar amount will be first approved by Dr. Ali Andalibi.  
(4) If a Virongy, LLC product is not a sole-source product, at least three (3) 
quotations from three (3) different vendors will need to be independently acquired 
and compared, and a purchase decision will be made independently. Dr. Yuntao 
Wu will not be involved in the processes. Currently, Dr. Ali Andalibi is the 
purchase decision maker. Dr. Andalibi will monitor this process to ensure that he 
agrees with the scientific reasons this purchase is in Mason's best interest. 
Documentation should be attached to orders submitted to Purchasing, showing this 
procedure was followed. 
(5) Any research results and their publications, presentations, and patent 
application disclosures from Dr. Yuntao Wu's lab will be promptly disclosed to 
Mason. 
(6) Any employees or faculty in Dr. Wu's lab will not be involved in any research 
and commercialization activity in Virongy.  

• In addition to the above, any research project at Mason sponsored by Virongy will 
be reviewed and subject to a Management Plan. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Virongy. Virongy has paid $7,229 to Mason. 

8/19/2022–
07/30/2023* 
 
 

 
 
 
 

14



II. Waivers due to Athletics facility contracts (e.g. athletic camps and clinics)  
 

# Employee Other Interest Nature of COI Waiver 
Period 

9 Frank Beasley, 
Head Coach, 
Wrestling 

Beasley Training 
Systems 

• Beasley has 100% ownership of Beasley Training Systems.  
• Beasley Training Systems will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard 

facilities use contract and operate a summer wrestling camp. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Beasley Training Systems. Beasley Training 

Systems has paid $940 to Mason. 

9/27/2021–
6/30/2024 
 

10 Vanessa Blair-
Lewis, Head 
Coach Womens 
Basketball 

Remedy 
Consulting, LLC 

• Blair-Lewis has 100% ownership of Remedy Consulting.  
• Remedy Consulting will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard 

Department of Intercollegiate Athletics sports camp facilities use contract and 
operate sports camps. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Remedy Consulting. Remedy Consulting has paid 
$0 to Mason. 

6/13/2022– 
7/30/2024 

11 Shawn Camp, 
Head Coach 
Baseball 

Shawn Camp 
Baseball 
Academy, LLC 

• Camp has 100% Ownership of Shawn Camp Baseball Academy. 
• Shawn Camp Baseball Academy will utilize University facilities pursuant to the 

standard Department of Intercollegiate Athletics sports camp facilities use contract 
and operate clinics and a summer baseball camp. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Shawn Camp Baseball Academy. Shawn Camp 
Baseball Academy has paid $9,225 to Mason. 

9/27/2022– 
8/31/2024 

12 Stephen Curtis, 
Head Coach 
Womens Tennis 

A Plus Sports, 
Burke Racquet & 
Swim Club 

• Curtis has over 20% but less than 50% ownership of and receives over $5,000 
annual income from A Plus Sports (BRSC).  

• Mason will utilize A Plus Sports (BRSC) facilities for men's and women's tennis 
practice as needed depending on schedules and the weather, as Mason does not 
have indoor tennis courts. 

• A Plus Sports (BRSC) will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard 
Mason Recreation facilities use contract and operate a summer sports camp.  

• The waiver specifies additional oversight and requirements in order to continue 
Mason’s contractual relationship with BRSC. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to A Plus Sports (BRSC). A Plus Sports (BRSC) has 
paid $15,780 to Mason. 

3/16/2022–
3/1/2024 

13 James Davis, 
Head Coach Mens 
Tennis 

A Plus Sports, 
Burke Racquet & 
Swim Club 

• Davis has over 20% but less than 50% ownership of and receives over $5,000 
annual income from A Plus Sports (BRSC).  

5/11/2022–
5/18/2024 

15



• Mason will utilize A Plus Sports (BRSC) facilities for men's and women's tennis 
practice as needed depending on schedules and the weather, as Mason does not 
have indoor tennis courts. 

• A Plus Sports (BRSC) will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard 
Mason Recreation facilities use contract and operate a summer sports camp.  

• The waiver specifies additional oversight and requirements in order to continue 
Mason’s contractual relationship with BRSC. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to A Plus Sports (BRSC). A Plus Sports (BRSC) has 
paid $15,780 to Mason. 

14 Jennifer Everett, 
Sr Associate AD 
for Finance and 
Administration, 
CFO, Athletics 

HUSEL, Inc. • Everett has 98% ownership of HUSEL.  
• HUSEL rents George Mason University turf fields and indoor space to coach youth 

female field hockey athletes in the community. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to HUSEL. HUSEL has paid $14,060 to Mason. 

3/16/2022–
1/31/2024 

15 Benjamin 
Herboth, Assistant 
Coach Men’s and 
Women’s Diving 

Dive Mason • Herboth has100% ownership of Dive Mason.  
• Dive Mason will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard Mason 

facilities use contract to operate a diving club. 
• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Dive Mason. Dive Mason has paid $7,335 to 

Mason. 

11/22/2022–
11/30/2023 

16 Nicholas Mata, 
Assistant Coach 
Womens 
Volleyball 

Gold Star 
Volleyball, LLC 

• Mata has over $5,000 annual income from Gold Star Volleyball.  
• Gold Star Volleyball will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard 

Department of Intercollegiate Athletics sports camp facilities use contract and 
operate clinics and a summer volleyball camp. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Gold Star Volleyball. Gold Star Volleyball has paid 
$18,334 to Mason. 

6/13/2022–
5/18/2024 

17 Kara Mupo, Head 
Coach Womens 
Lacrosse 

Surge Elite 
Lacrosse 
Academy 

• Mupo has 100% ownership of Surge Elite Lacrosse Academy.  
• Surge Elite Lacrosse Academy will utilize University facilities pursuant to the 

standard Department of Intercollegiate Athletics sports camp facilities use contract 
and operate a summer sports camp as well as clinics. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Surge Elite Lacrosse Academy. Surge Elite 
Lacrosse Academy has paid $1,800 to Mason. 

8/20/2021–
5/18/2024 

18 Manya Puppione, 
Head Coach 
Womens Soccer 

Puppione Soccer, 
Inc. 

• Puppione has 100% ownership and over $5,000 annual income from Puppione 
Soccer.  

2/9/2022–
4/28/2024 

16



• Puppione Soccer will utilize University facilities pursuant to the standard 
Department of Intercollegiate Athletics sports camp facilities use contract and 
operate soccer camps/clinics. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Puppione Soccer. Puppione Soccer has paid $948 
to Mason. 

19 Justin Ross-
Walker, Head 
Coach Softball 

Justin Walker 
Softball Camp 

• Walker has 100% ownership and over $5,000 annual income from Justin Walker 
Softball Camp.  

• Justin Walker Softball Camp will utilize University facilities pursuant to the 
standard Department of Intercollegiate Athletics sports camp facilities use contract 
and operate a summer sports camp. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $0 to Justin Walker Softball Camp. Justin Walker 
Softball Camp has paid $4,344 to Mason. 

8/20/2021– 
5/18/2024 

 
 

III. Waivers due to income from contracting entities unrelated to Mason employment 
 

 
# Employee Other Interest Nature of COI Waiver 

Period 
20 Susan Allen, 

Professor, Carter 
School 

Apple, Inc. • Allen has over $5,000 annual income from stock ownership in Apple.  
• Apple, Inc. is a vendor of goods to Mason, but Allen has no involvement in 

Mason’s contractual relationship with Apple. (Note: If Allen were to request to 
purchase an Apple product at a uniform price available to the general public 
through Mason’s ordinary purchasing process, this would be permissible under 
the terms of a COI waiver.) 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $489,656 to Apple. 

6/3/2021–
5/18/2024 

21 Brian Benison, 
Director of 
Graduate 
Admissions and 
International 
Initiatives, Scalia 
Law School 

Ernst & Young • Benison has over $5,000 annual income from spouse’s employment at Ernst & 
Young.  

• Ernst & Young has a contract with Mason for academic consulting services, but 
Benison has no involvement in Mason’s contractual relationship with Ernst & 
Young. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $322,075 to Ernst & Young. 

8/20/2021– 
7/30/2024 

22 Brian Davern, 
Financial 

SP Plus 
Corporation (SP+) 

• Davern over $5,000 annual income from approved Outside Employment at SP+ as 
a parking enforcement technician.  

3/16/2022–
4/30/2024 

17



Specialist, Student 
Accounts 

• SP+ contracts with Mason to oversee parking and transportation enforcement on 
campus, but Davern has no involvement in Mason’s contractual relationship with 
SP+. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $2,466,227 to SP+. 
23 Nancy Dunham, 

Grants Project 
Coordinator, 
University 
Accreditation 

University of 
Pennsylvania The 
Wharton School 

• Dunham has over $5,000 annual income from approved Outside Employment at 
the University of Pennsylvania as an auxiliary application reader for the Wharton 
MBA Admissions office. 

• Mason and the University of Pennsylvania have contracts and business 
interactions related to library database access. Dunham has no involvement in 
Mason’s contractual relationship with the University of Pennsylvania. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $246,763 to the University of Pennsylvania. 

10/11/2021–
9/18/2024 

24 Jolie Gaspard, 
Transformation 
Manager, Office 
of the Provost 

Gartner, Inc. • Gaspard has over $5,000 annual income from spouse’s employment at Gartner.  
• Mason has a contract with Gartner for access to their Higher Education Reference 

Library (Core Research), but Gaspard has no involvement in Mason’s contractual 
relationship with Gartner. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $380,379 to Gartner. 

11/30/2022—
11/30/2023 

25 Adrianne Jones, 
Performance 
Management and 
Engagement 
Specialist, HR 

Amazon Web 
Services 

• Jones has over $5,000 annual income from spouse’s employment at Amazon Web 
Services.  

• George Mason University has business interactions with Amazon Web Services 
related to computing, but Jones has no involvement in Mason’s contractual 
relationship with AWS. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $2,856 to AWS. 

12/13/2021–
1/31/2024 

26 Matthew Karush, 
Professor of 
History, College 
of Humanities and 
Social Sciences 

University of 
Oxford, Oxford 
University Press 

• Karush has over $5,000 annual income from Outside Employment as an Editor for 
OUP for under 1 day per week.  

• George Mason University and OUP have contracts and business interactions 
related to the purchase of books and textbooks, but Karush has no involvement in 
Mason’s contractual relationship with OUP. (Note: the Virginia COI Act in §2.2-
3106(C)(5) exempts personal interests in contracts for textbooks or other 
educational materials for students, so if Karush were to assign OUP texts to his 
students that would not require waiver.) 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $56,441 to Oxford University. 

1/6/2022–
10/31/2024 

27 Joe McCaffrey, 
Adjunct Faculty, 
School of 
Business 

Baker Tilly US, 
LLP 

• McCaffrey has over $5,000 annual income from Outside Employment at Baker 
Tilly, where he is a Partner.  

11/28/2022–
11/1/2023* 

18



• George Mason University has contracts with Baker Tilly for auditing and 
consulting services, but McCaffrey has no involvement in Mason’s contractual 
relationship with Baker Tilly. 

• In FY23, Mason has paid $255,442 to Baker Tilly. 
28 Lisa Sechrest-

Ehrhardt, Adjunct 
Faculty, Honors 
College 

Sechrest Diversity • Sechrest-Erhardt has 100% ownership of Sechrest Diversity.  
• Sechrest Diversity consults with Virginia SBDC to provide Diversity, Equity, and 

Inclusion (DEI) training to branches across Virginia.  
• This consultation is not related to Sechrest-Ehrhardt's responsibilities as an 

adjunct faculty member at Mason.  
• In FY23, Mason has paid $6,325 to Sechrest Diversity. 

10/21/2021–
9/30/2024 

 
* These waivers are in active review, have been approved by the COI Committee, and/or are awaiting signature. 
 
** Mason’s Outside Employment Policy applies to Administrative/Professional Faculty and Classified Staff. Those employees require approval 
before engaging in Outside Employment (as defined by that Policy). Mason’s Faculty Handbook and Conflict of Commitment Policy apply to 
Instructional/Research Faculty and require approval of certain Outside Professional Activities, including when they exceed one day per work 
week. Wage employees and Adjunct Faculty do not require approval for Outside Employment or Outside Professional Activities. 
 
 

19



Appendix D: Immediate Family Waivers 
 
 

1. Jessica (Jessi) Adams, Assistant Director, Knowledge Management, Fiscal Services; and 
Robert (Wayne) Adams, Director Academic Admin, PH Dean's Office Admin, PH 

2. Pouyan Ahmadi, Assistant Professor, CEC Information Tech Program, CEC; and Azadeh 
Eskandari, Adjunct Faculty, School of Business 

3. Friba H Alizai, Strat Bdg and Plng Ops Mgr Co, Budget and Planning; and Omar Alizai, 
Classroom Support Tech, FFX Classroom Support, ITS 

4. Eric G. Anderson, Associate Professor of English, CHSS; and E. Shelley Reid, Executive 
Dir of Engaged Teaching, Stearns Center  

5. Ann Ardis, Dean, CHSS; and Phillip Mink, Term Assistant Professor, Director of Pre-
Law Advising/Instructor, Business, Schar School 

6. Deliah Arrington, PSC Site Coordinator, SciTech Campus Executive Office; and Amy 
Fowler, Associate Professor, Environ Sci & Policy Instruction, COS 

7. Giorgio Ascoli, Professor, Bioengineering, CEC; and Rebecca Goldin, Professor, 
Mathematical Sciences, COS 

8. Benjamin Ashworth, Sculpture Supervisor, School of Art & Design, CVPA; and Jennifer 
Ashworth, Gmu Worker, Fairfax Galleries, CVPA 

9. Eric Auld, Instructor, English Instruction, CHSS; and Anastasia (Stasia) Kemp, 
Administrative Assistant, CEC Undergrad Student Services, CEC 

10. Ivan Avramovic, Assistant Professor, Computer Science, CEC; and Sanja Avramovic, 
Associate Professor, Health Administration and Policy, PH 

11. Pamela Baker, Director, Special Education and disAbility Research/Associate Professor, 
CEHD; and Robert Baker, Professor, Sport Recreation and Tourism Mgmt, CEHD  

12. Sophia Balakian, Assistant Professor, School of Integrative Studies Instr, CHSS; and 
Michael Don, Assistant Professor, English Instruction, CHSS 

13. Foteini Baldimtsi, Associate Professor, Computer Science, CEC; and Socrates 
Dimitriadis, Term Assistant Professor, Computer Science, CEC 

14. Kenneth Ball, Dean, College of Engineering and Computing; and Sandra Ball, GMU 
Worker, Safety Emerg Ent Risk Mgmt Admin 

15. Laura Balmaceda, Research Assistant Professor, Physics and Astronomy, COS; and 
Fernando Mut, GMU Worker, Bioengineering, CEC 

16. Stephanie Barnett, Academic Advisor, Undergraduate Advising; and Thomas (Ryan) 
Barnett, Assoc Dir Military Services, Office of Military Services 

17. Stephanie Benassi, Assistant Professor, School of Art & Design, CVPA; and Jeffrey M. 
Kenney, Gallery Assistant, Arlington Galleries, CVPA 

18. Lee Black, Assistant Professor, Health Administration & Policy, PH; and Heather Vough, 
Associate Professor, Management Instruction, School of Business 

19. RaShall Brackney, Dstg Visit Prof of Practice, African and African AM Studies Ins, 
CHSS; and Stefan Wheelock, Associate Professor, English Instruction, CHSS 

20. Kurt Brandhorst, Assistant Professor, Philosophy, CHSS; and Rachel Jones, Associate 
Professor, Philosophy, CHSS  

21. Joan Bristol, Associate Professor, History and Art History, CHSS ; and Randolph Scully, 
Associate Professor, History/M.A. History Program Director, History and Art History, 
CHSS 

20



22. Amanda Bryan, Assistant Professor, English Instruction, CHSS; and Timothee W Bryan, 
Assistant Professor, Mathematics Instruction, COS 

23. Zofia Burr, Dean, Honors College; and Alok Yadav, Associate Professor of English, 
CHSS 

24. Chris Burrell, Production Manager, Hylton Performing Arts Center, CVPA; and Diane 
Burrell, Operations Manager, Hylton Performing Arts Center, CVPA 

25. Xiaomei Cai, Associate Professor, Department of Communication, CHSS; and  Xiaoquan 
Zhao, Professor, Department of Communication, CHSS 

26. Amanda Caswell, Professor, School of Kinesiology, CEHD; and Shane Caswell, 
Professor, School of Kinesiology, CEHD 

27. Tracy L Cator-Lee, Assessment and Data Coordinator, Office of Accreditation and 
External Reporting, CEHD; and Alexander Lee, GMU Worker, Freedom Ctr Member 
Svcs 

28. Ebrima N Ceesay, Adjunct Faculty, CEC; and Yolanda (Elizabeth) Delgado Garcia, Strat 
Modeling Data Analyst, CEC Dean's Office Admin 

29. Ylenia Chiari, Assistant Professor, Biology, COS; and Scott Ryan Glaberman, Assistant 
Professor, Environmental Science and Policy, COS 

30. Elena Chiru, Director Career Advising, Career Services; and John McShea, IT Project 
Manager, Project Management Office, ITS 

31. Myunghwa Cho, Adjunct Faculty, CHSS; and Byunghwan (Ben) Son, Associate 
Professor, Global Affairs Program, CHSS 

32. John Cicchetti, Associate Director, Support and Community Outreach, University Life ; 
and Kaitlin Cicchetti, Director of Advancement, University Life 

33. Sara Clifton, Project Implementation Specialist, Student Success Coaching, University 
Life; and Samantha Greenberg, GMU Worker, Potomac Env Research and Edu Ctr 

34. Caroline (Carrie) Cox, Technical Director, Arts Support Umbrella, CVPA ; and Sean 
Cox, Assistant Director of Event Services, Student Centers 

35. Arie Croitoru, Professor, Computational and Data Sciences, COS; and Natalie Lapidot-
Croitoru, Finance and HR Analyst, Environ Sci & Policy Dept, COS 

36. Mary Curby, GMU Worker, Center for Psychological Services, Psychology, CHSS; and 
Timothy Curby, Professor, Psychology, CHSS 

37. Christopher D'Amboise, Heritage Professor in Dance, School of Dance, CVPA; and 
Kelly D'Amboise, Adjunct Faculty, Dance Instruction, CVPA 

38. Rick Davis, Dean, CVPA; and Julie Thompson, Executive Director, Center for the Arts 
39. Rachel M Debuque, Associate Professor, School of Art & Design, CVPA; and James 

Justin Plakas, Assistant Professor, Film & Video Studies, CVPA 
40. Mark DelVecchio, Sr Research Portfolio Mngr, Rapid Prototyping Research Ctr (RPRC), 

CEC; and Mollie DelVecchio, Registered Nurse, Student Health Center, University Life 
41. Desiree Desierto, Assistant Professor, Economics, CHSS; and Mark Koyama, Associate 

Professor, Economics, CHSS 
42. Nikki Dinh, Senior Database Analyst, Database Middleware and ERP Support, ITS ; and 

Robert Peraino, Advisory Systems Engineer, Enterprise Infrastructure Ops, ITS 
43. Carlotta Domeniconi, Professor, Computer Science, CEC; and Sean Luke, Professor, 

Computer Science, CEC 
44. Kevin Dunayer, Associate Professor, School of Theater, CVPA; and Laurel Dunayer, 

Costume Shop Supervisor, CFA 

21



45. Elisabeth Epstein, Assistant Professor, Biology, COS; and Neil Epstein, Associate 
Professor, Mathematical Sciences, COS 

46. Cory Faber, Telecom Technician, Telecom Admin, ITS; Elizabeth (Lee) Faber,  IT 
Logistics Spc Mgmt Coord, ITS Finance; Jody Faber, Gmu Worker, FFX Desktop 
Support, ITS; and Robert  (Rob) B Faber, Fiscal Svcs Program Director, Finance 

47. Anne Firth, Academic Scheduling Manager, Office of the Registrar; and Taryn Firth, 
GMU Worker, Office of the Registrar 

48. Joyce Bland-French, Director, Office of Risk Management; and Roderick French, 
Adjunct Professor, School of Business 

49. Alexandria Frisch Kinory, Assistant Professor, Religious Studies Instruction, CHSS; and 
Ethan Kinory, Assistant Professor, Accounting Instruction, School of Business 

50. Boris Gafurov, Assistant Professor, Special Ed & disAbility Research, CEHD; and Anya 
Evmenova, Professor, Special Ed & disAbility Research, CEHD 

51. Lei Gao, Associate Professor, Finance Instruction, School of Business; and Lily Wang, 
Professor, Statistics, CEC 

52. "Christian Garcia, Program Support Specialist, Safety Emerg Ent Risk Mgmt Admin; and 
Lei An Ilan-Garcia, Industrial Hygiene Specialist, Environmnt Health and Safety Admin 

53. Daniel Garrison, Assistant Professor, IST Department, CEC ;and Victoria Garrison, 
Associate Professor, Student Health Center 

54. Colby Grant, Assoc Dir of Operations, SciTech Campus Executive Office; and Megan 
Grant, Fiscal and Administrative Specialist, Biomedical Research Lab, COS 

55. Matthew Green, Assistant Director, Undergrad Student Svc, Schar School of Policy and 
Government; and Alice Magelssen-Green, Assoc Dir Watershed Lit, English Instruction, 
CHSS 

56. Jesse Guessford, Director Curriculum Initiatives, Office of the Provost; and Jill Nelson, 
Associate Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering, CEC 

57. John Hanks, Advisory Network Engineer, Enterprise Infrastructure Ops, ITS; and 
Tammy Hanks, Admin and Office Spec 3, Facilities Mgmt Admin 

58. Nabiha Hasan, Senior IT Sec Ops Engineer, ITS Security; and Ubaidul Khan, Computer 
Systems Engineer, Cloud Compute & Storage Operations, ITS 

59. Donald (Paul) Haspel, Associate Professor of English, CHSS; and Linda H. Mason, 
Professor and Director Helen A. Kellar Inst for Human disAbilities, CEHD 

60. Greta Ann Herin, Associate Professor, Interdisciplinary Prog in NeuroScience, COS; and 
Diek Wheeler, Research Associate Professor, Bioengineering Department, CEC 

61. Brittany Hupp, Assistant Professor, Atmosph Oceanic and Earth Sci Dept, COS; and 
Daniel Segessenman, Postdoctoral Research Fellow, Atmosph Oceanic and Earth Sci 
Dept, COS 

62. Douglas Irvin-Erickson, Assistant Professor, Carter School ; and Yasemin Irvin-Erickson, 
Assistant Professor, Criminology, Law & Society Department, CHSS 

63. Farhana Islam, Acad Unit Admin Spec/Adm Asst, Sociology and Anthropology 
Instruction, CHSS; and Khondkar Islam, Professor, Information Sciences and 
Technology, CEC 

64. Kristen V Jennette, Computer Systems Engineer, ITS-AE Support, ITS; and Shawn 
Jennette, Computer Systems Engineer; Cloud Compute & Storage Engineering, ITS 

65. Weiwen Jiang, Assistant Professor, ECE Department, CEC; and Lei Yang, Assistant 
Professor, IST Department, CEC 

22



66. Laurie A Juliana, Faculty RPT Ops Mgr, CEHD; and Hugh McIntosh, Adjunct Faculty, 
CEHD 

67. Cing-Dao (Steve) Kan, Professor, Center for Collision Safety and Analysis, COS; and 
Chi Yang, Professor, Department of Physics and Astronomy, COS 

68. Pilgyu Kang, Assistant Professor, Mechanical Engineering Dept, CEC; and Mirae Kim, 
Associate Professor, Schar School  

69. Erdogan Kaya, Assistant Professor, Elem Lit and Sec Ed, CEHD; and Eter Mjavanadze, 
Graduate Research Assistant, CEHD 

70. John Keady, Adjunct Faculty, Physics & Astronomy Instruction; and Kathleen (Kelly) 
Keady, Assist Dir Transfer Admissions, Admissions Operations 

71. Sarah G Keith, Professor, English Instruction, CHSS; and Juana Medina Rosas, Assistant 
Professor, School of Art & Design, CVPA 

72. Setarra Kennedy, Assistant Director, Arts Management, CVPA; and Charles Nicholson, 
Social Media Director, Office of University Branding 

73. David Kepplinger, Assistant Professor, Statistics, CEC; and Alexandra Patzak, Assistant 
Professor, Educational Psychology, CEHD 

74. Maryam (Mary) Kheirollah, GMU Worker, Academic Administration; and Amir Tofighi, 
Sr Systems Analyst Devel Lead, Enterprise App Support & Develop, ITS 

75. Dae Yong Kim, Term Instructor, Modern and Classical Lang Instr, CHSS; and Woomee 
Kim, Postdoctoral Research Fellow, CEE Teacher Enrichment Program, CEHD 

76. Karen King, Assistant Professor, Business Foundations, School of Business; and Michael 
(Mike) Allen King, Assistant Professor, ISOM, School of Business 

77. Brenda Kling, Admin Assoc, Marketing Instruction, School of Business; and Jeffrey L 
Kling, Assist Dir CaLT Class Support, Classroom Technologies, ITS 

78. Christopher Koper, Professor, Criminology, Law and Society, CHSS; and Cynthia Lum, 
Professor a, Criminology, Law and Society, CHSS 

79. Evgenios Kornaropoulos, Assistant Professor, Computer Science Department, CEC; and 
Mary Righi, Clinical Operations Coord, School of Nursing 

80. Davis Kuykendall, Assistant Professor, Philosophy, CHSS; and Lauren Kuykendall, 
Associate Professor, Psychology, CHSS 

81. Alison Landsberg, Professor, History and Art History/Cultural Studies, CHSS; and 
Matthew Karush, Professor and Department Chair, History and Art History, CHSS 

82. Clare Laskofski, Executive Director of Accounting Operations and Student Accounts, 
Finance; and Mike Laskofski, Associate Vice President of Research Services, Office of 
Sponsored Programs 

83. Yi-Ching Lee, Associate Professor, Department of Psychology, CHSS; and Benoit Van 
Aken, Associate Professor, Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, COS 

84. Stephanie Lessard-Pilon, Associate Professor, Smithsonian-Mason School of 
Conservation ; and James (Jim) McNeil, Associate Professor, Smithsonian-Mason 
School of Conservation 

85. Fei Li, Associate Professor, Computer Science, CEC; and Qi Wei, Associate Professor, 
Bioengineering, CEC 

86. Huwy-min Liu, Assistant Professor, Sociology and Anthropology, CHSS; and Matthew E 
West, Assistant Professor, Global Affairs Program, CHSS 

87. Mingrui Liu, Assistant Professor, Computer Science Dept, CEC; and Jingya Yan, 
Instructor, Mathematical Sciences Department, COS 

23



88. April Zoraida Lopez, Admin Asst to Dir, Special Ed & disAbility Research, CEHD; and 
Eduardo Lopez Atencio, Assistant Professor, Comp & Data Sciences Instr, COS 

89. Anton Lukyanenko, Assistant Professor, Mathematical Sciences, COS; and Cynthia 
Lukyanenko, Assistant Professor, English Instruction, CHSS 

90. Lannan (Lisa) Luo, Associate Professor, Computer Science Department, CEC; and Qiang 
Zeng, Associate Professor, Computer Science Department, CEC 

91. Terrence Lyons, Professor, Carter School; and Agnieszka Paczynska,  Professor, Carter 
School  

92. Tamara Maddox, Term Associate Professor, Computer Science, CEC; and John Otten, 
Senior Instructor, Computer Science, CEC 

93. Gordon Maginness, HVAC Tech I, Zone 3 Maintenance, Facilities; and Karen 
Maginness, Lead Housekeeper, Facilities Custodial Services 

94. Michael Malouf, Professor, English, CHSS; and Kristina Olson, Associate Professor of 
Italian, Modern and Classical Languages, CHSS 

95. Brian Mark, Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering, CEC; and Karen Sauer, 
Professor, Physics and Astronomy, COS 

96. Wassim Masri, Professor, Computer Science Dept, CEC; and Rima Nakkash, Professor, 
Global & Community Health, PH 

97. Robert Matz, Dean, Mason Korea; and Teresa Michals, Professor, English, CHSS 
98. Joshua Maze, Grants and Programs Coord, English Instruction, CHSS; and Kimberly 

Maze, Reporting and Systems Admin, Sponsored Programs Admin 
99. Daniel Meehan, Adjunct Faculty, CEHD; and Kelly Reid Meehan, Assoc Dir Comm 

Mktg Prgm Dev, Student Centers Admin 
100. Janette Muir, Vice Provost Academic Affairs; and Star Muir, Associate Professor, 

Communication Department, CHSS 
101. Kelly Nam, Assistant Professor, School of Music, CVPA; and Sang Nam, Associate 

Professor, Computer Game Design, CVPA 
102. Vivek Narayanan, Assistant Professor, English Instruction, CHSS; and Rashmi Sadana, 

Associate Professor, Sociology and Anthropology Instruction, CHSS 
103. Subodh Nayar, GMU Worker, SBDC; and  Tracy Nayar, Assist Dir VA SBDC 

Operations, SBDC 
104. Donielle Nolan, Sustainability Program Manager, University Sustainability; and 

Matthew Nolan, Assistant Professor of Game Sound, CVPA 
105. Olivia O'Neill, Associate Professor, Management, School of Business; and Tiago 

Requeijo, Assistant Professor, Finance, School of Business 
106. Cindy Parker, Associate Professor, Management Instruction, School of Business; and 

Jack Parker, Student Support Specialist, Mason Autism Supp Initiative 
107. Audra Parker, Professor, Division of Elem, Lit, & Sec Ed, CEHD; and Kristien Zenkov, 

Professor, Division of Elem, Lit, & Sec Ed, CEHD 
108. Allison Ward Parsons, Associate Professor, Elem, Lit, & Sec Ed, School of Education, 

CEHD; and Seth Parsons, Professor, Elem, Lit, & Sec Ed, School of Education, CEHD 
109. Erion Plaku, Associate Professor, Computer Science, CEC; and Amarda Shehu, 

Associate VP of Research for IDIA and Assoc Dean for AI Innovation for CEC 
110. Alison Price, Senior Associate Dean, Antonin Scalia Law School; and Timothy Price, 

Adjunct Faculty, Antonin Scalia Law School 

24



111. Anthony Pulis, GMU Worker, Facilities Management Warehouse; and Steven Andrew 
Pulis, Facilities Purchasing Manager, Facilities Mgmt Admin 

112. Hemant Purohit, Associate Professor, IST Department, CEC; and Apoorva Vyas, 
Administrative Coordinator, Main UL Central, University Life 

113. Ken Randall, Dean, Antonin Scalia Law School; and Susan Randall, Event Planner, 
Arlington Operations 

114. David K Rehr, Research Professor, Public Policy and Public Admin, Schar School; and 
Emily Rehr, Student Wage Employee, Orientation, University Life 

115. Ronald Resmini, Adjunct Faculty, Geography Geoinformation Sci Dept, COS; and 
Marilyn Ryan-Resmini, HR and Fiscal Specialist, Geography Geoinformation Sci Dept, 
COS 

116. Claudia Rich, Administrative Assistant, Environmental Science and Policy, COS; and 
Colleen Rich, Editorial Dir, Marketing, University Branding 

117. Ellen Rodgers, Associate Dean, Student and Academic Affairs, CEHD; and R.V. Pierre 
Rodgers, Associate Professor GSE, Sport Recreation and Tourism Mgmt, CEHD 

118. James Russell, Director of Purchasing, Purchasing Office; and Rhett Russell, 
Application Analyst, Finance Technology Services 

119. Amanda Sanchez, Assistant Professor, Psychology, CHSS; and Michael Ward, Assistant 
Director, Student Success Coaching, University Life 

120. Evelyn Sander, Professor, Mathematical Sciences, COS; and Thomas Wanner, 
Professor, Mathematical Sciences, COS 

121. Amber Saxton, Sustainability Program Manager, Campus Efficiency, University 
Sustainability; and Regis Saxton, Manager Pre-Award Administration, Office of 
Sponsored Programs 

122. Laura Scott, Professor, English Department, CHSS; and Dean F. Taciuch, Professor, 
English Department, CHSS 

123. John Sherman, Manager Sci Tech Library, Learning Research and Engagement; and 
Sarah Tomsyck, Events & Comm Coord, Ofc Community College Partnerships 

124. Blake R Silver, Associate Professor, Honors College; and Nader Silver, Adjunct 
Faculty, Honors College 

125. Daniel (Dann) Sklarew, Professor, Environmental Science and Policy, COS; and 
Jennifer Sklarew, Assistant Professor, Environmental Science and Policy, COS 

126. Allegra Solitario, Administrative Assistant (Student Wage), SBDC; and Tom Solitario, 
Senior Business Counselor (GMU Worker), SBDC 

127. Kelly Hayward Stone, Facilities Billing Coordinator, Facilities; and Rebecca Hayward 
Stone, Project Coordinator, Learning Space Design, ITS 

128. Heather Streckfus-Green, Assistant Professor, School of Art & Design, CVPA; and 
Peter Streckfus-Green, Associate Professor, English, CHSS 

129. Erienne Sutherell, Adjunct Faculty, Scalia Law School; and Shaun Sutherell, Assoc 
Dean Strategic Initiativ, Law Strategic Initiatives, Scalia Law School 

130. Alex Tabarrok, Professor, Economics, CHSS; and Monique van Hoek, Professor, School 
of Systems Biology, COS 

131. Christopher Troiano, Historical Ensembles Prog Mgr, Pep Band, CVPA; and 
JennaMarie Warfield, Adjunct Faculty, Pep Band, CVPA 

25



132. Petrus J. van Oevelen, Professor of Practice, Atmosph Oceanic and Earth Sci Dept, 
COS; and Fernande P Vervoort, Research Manager, Atmosph Oceanic and Earth Sci 
Dept, COS 

133. Ken Walsh, Interim Provost and Executive Vice President; and Tobi Walsh, Assistant 
Vice President, Capital Strategy and Planning, Office of the Senior Vice President 

134. Fei Wang, Assistant Professor, Chemistry and Biochemistry Dept, COS; and Peiyu 
Yang, Assistant Professor, Modern and Classical Lang Instr, CHSS 

26



George Mason University
Information Security Program and Compliance Status Report

Annual Update for the Board of Visitors
Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee

November 2023 

Prepared by 
Curtis McNay, Director –  IT Security Office
Charlie Spann, Interim Vice President and Chief Information 
Officer
Noor Aarohi, Director - IT Risk and Compliance

  



2 | P a g e

Table of Contents

.................................................................................................................................................................. 1

Executive Summary....................................................................................................................................... 3

Information Security Program Overview ...................................................................................................... 3

Context.......................................................................................................................................................... 3

Enforcement Process When Non-compliance with GLBA has been Identified ............................................ 3

High-level Requirements............................................................................................................................... 4

§  314.3 Standards for safeguarding customer information...................................................................... 4

§  314.4 Elements and Compliance Status..................................................................................................... 4



3 | P a g e  

Executive Summary 
The following report has been authored for the Board of Visitors – Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee, 
to provide the annual briefing on the overall status of the Information Security Program at the George 
Mason University. This report fulfills the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act requirement for the university to report 
to its governing body the overall status of its information security program and any material matters 
related to the program. (16 CFR 314.4(i)). 

Information Security Program Overview 
George Mason University (GMU) has incorporated and accepted security control baselines in alignment 
with the requirements defined within the Level 3 Autonomy Legislation. These control baselines are 
derived from NIST 800-53 moderate baseline, scoped and tailored to the context of institutions of higher 
education. The control baselines are tiered to High-Risk, Moderate-Risk, and Low-Risk classification, to 
which applicable controls are applied towards minimizing the risks. The Information Security team is led 
by Director, IT Security Office Curtis McNay, who reports to Charlie Spann, the Interim Vice President and 
Chief Information Officer. 

Context 
The U.S Department of Education Electronic Announcement dated Feb 9, 2023, prescribed requirements 
for institutions of higher education to comply with Federal Trade Commission (FTC) issued final 
regulations (Final Rule) to amend the Standards for Safeguarding Customer Information (Safeguards 
Rule), an important component of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act’s (GLBA) requirements for protecting the 
privacy and personal information of consumers. The effective date for most of the changes to the 
Safeguards Rule was June 9, 2023. Among the requirements in Final Rule are: 

That the institution designates a qualified individual responsible for overseeing and implementing the 
institution’s or servicer’s information security program and enforcing the information security program 
(16 C.F.R. 314.4(a)). 

• For an institution or servicer maintaining student information on 5,000 or more consumers, 
addresses the requirement for its Qualified Individual to report regularly and at least annually 
to those with control over the institution on the institution’s information security program 
(16 C.F.R. 314.4(i)).  

• The purpose of this report is to apprise the Board of Visitors of Mason’s information security 
program and in doing so also comply with the annual reporting requirement under GLBA.  

The full text of the announcement can be accessed at: Updates to the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act 
Cybersecurity Requirements | Knowledge Center 

Enforcement Process When Non-compliance with GLBA has been 
Identified 
The changes to the Safeguards Rule are effective June 9, 2023. Any GLBA findings identified through a 
compliance audit, or any other means, after the effective date will be resolved by the Department during 
the evaluation of the institution’s or servicer’s information security safeguards required under GLBA as 
part of the Department’s final determination of an institution’s administrative capability. GLBA related 
findings will have the same effect on an institution’s participation in the Title IV programs as any other 
determination of non-compliance. 

https://fsapartners.ed.gov/knowledge-center/library/federal-registers/2023-02-09/federal-trade-commission-standards-safeguarding-customer-information
https://fsapartners.ed.gov/knowledge-center/library/federal-registers/2023-02-09/federal-trade-commission-standards-safeguarding-customer-information
https://fsapartners.ed.gov/knowledge-center/library/electronic-announcements/2023-02-09/updates-gramm-leach-bliley-act-cybersecurity-requirements
https://fsapartners.ed.gov/knowledge-center/library/electronic-announcements/2023-02-09/updates-gramm-leach-bliley-act-cybersecurity-requirements


4 | P a g e  

In cases where no data breaches have occurred and the institution’s or servicer’s security systems have 
not been compromised, if the Department determines that an institution or servicer is not in compliance 
with all of the Safeguards Rule requirements, the institution or servicer will need to develop and/or revise 
its information security program and provide the Department with a Corrective Action Plan (CAP) with 
timeframes for coming into compliance with the Safeguards Rule. Repeated non-compliance by an 
institution or a servicer may result in an administrative action taken by the Department, which could 
impact the institution’s or servicer’s participation in the Title IV programs. 

The following sections describe the security program and associated compliance activities towards 
fulfillment of the requirement under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA) as applicable to institutions of 
higher education. The report has been prepared by Mason’s IT Services team with inputs from Office of 
the University Audit, and is presented by the designated Qualified Individual Curtis McNay, Director – IT 
Security Office. Certain matters were communicated to members of the Board’s Audit, Risk, and 
Compliance Committee in a separate document under Section 2.2.3705.2 of the Code of Virginia due to 
its description of certain security mechanisms. 

High-level Requirements 
§ 314.3 Standards for safeguarding customer information. 

(a) Information security program. You shall develop, implement, and maintain a comprehensive 
information security program that is written in one or more readily accessible parts and contains 
administrative, technical, and physical safeguards that are appropriate to your size and complexity, the 
nature and scope of your activities, and the sensitivity of any customer information at issue. The 
information security program shall include the elements set forth in § 314.4 and shall be reasonably 
designed to achieve the objectives of this part, as set forth in paragraph (b) of this section.  

(b) Objectives. The objectives of section 501(b) of the Act, and of this part, are to:  

(1) Insure the security and confidentiality of customer information;  
(2) Protect against any anticipated threats or hazards to the security or integrity of such information; 
and  
(3) Protect against unauthorized access to or use of such information that could result in substantial 
harm or inconvenience to any customer.  

[67 FR 36493, May 23, 2002, as amended at 86 FR 70307, Dec. 9, 2021]  

 

§ 314.4 Elements and Compliance Status 
 

In order to develop, implement, and maintain your information security program, you shall: 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-16/section-314.4
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-16/section-314.3#p-314.3(b)
https://www.federalregister.gov/citation/67-FR-36493
https://www.federalregister.gov/citation/86-FR-70307


5 | P a g e  

 Requirement GMU Response 
(a) (a) Designate a qualified individual responsible for 

overseeing and implementing your information 
security program and enforcing your information 
security program (for purposes of this part, “Qualified 
Individual”). The Qualified Individual may be employed 
by you, an affiliate, or a service provider. To the extent 
the requirement in this paragraph (a) is met using a 
service provider or an affiliate, you shall:  

Curtis McNay (Director – IT Security 
Office), is a Mason employee and is the 
designated “Qualified Individual”. Curtis 
reports to Charlie Spann (Interim Vice 
President and Chief Information Officer, 
Information Technology Services). 

(a) (1) Retain responsibility for compliance with this part; 
(a) (2) Designate a senior member of your personnel 

responsible for direction and oversight of the Qualified 
Individual; and 

(a) (3) Require the service provider or affiliate to maintain an 
information security program that protects you in 
accordance with the requirements of this part. 

(b) Base your information security program on a risk 
assessment that identifies reasonably foreseeable 
internal and external risks to the security, 
confidentiality, and integrity of customer information 
that could result in the unauthorized disclosure, 
misuse, alteration, destruction, or other compromise 
of such information, and assesses the sufficiency of 
any safeguards in place to control these risks. 

The Risk Assessment Process (I ITS.ITSO-
PRS004) references NIST SP 800-37, Risk 
Management Framework for 
Information  
Systems and Organizations: A System 
Life Cycle Approach for  
Security and Privacy. Mason has 
adopted security control baselines 
derived from NIST SP 800-53 which is an 
industry standard followed by the 
federal agencies and is considered to be 
one of the most comprehensive controls 
requirements in the United States.  

(b) (1) The risk assessment shall be written and shall include:  
(b) (1) (i) Criteria for the evaluation and categorization of 

identified security risks or threats you face; 
The evaluation and categorization of the 
risk and threats are based on a 
documented Risk Assessment Process (I 
ITS.ITSO-PRS004). 

(b) (1) (ii) Criteria for the assessment of the confidentiality, 
integrity, and availability of your information systems 
and customer information, including the adequacy of 
the existing controls in the context of the identified 
risks or threats you face; and 

Criteria for assessment and 
categorization of systems is based on 
FIPS PUB 199, Standards for Security 
Categorization of Federal  
Information and Information Systems. 
Categorization is based on “high water 
mark”. If any of the three levels of 
potential impact (e.g., confidentiality, 
integrity, or availability) is rated high, 
then the information system is 
categorized as “High”. Data sensitivity 
level is determined in accordance with 
University Policy 1114, Data 
Stewardship. 

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-16/section-314.4#p-314.4(a)
https://csrc.nist.gov/pubs/fips/199/final


6 | P a g e  

(b) (1) (iii) Requirements describing how identified risks will be 
mitigated or accepted based on the risk assessment 
and how the information security program will 
address the risks. 

Once identified, risks are tracked in the 
system Plan of Action and Milestones 
(POA&M) for appropriate risk treatment 
decision. If the risk treatment decision is 
to remediate, then the appropriate 
remediation steps, activities, and 
project dates are documented.  

(b) (2) 

 

You shall periodically perform additional risk 
assessments that re-examine the reasonably 
foreseeable internal and external risks to the security, 
confidentiality, and integrity of customer information 
that could result in the unauthorized disclosure, 
misuse, alteration, destruction, or other compromise 
of such information, and reassess the sufficiency of 
any safeguards in place to control these risks 

High-risk systems are those systems 
that have Protected categories (Highly 
Sensitive Data and Restricted Data) of 
data. Such data includes Personally 
Identifiable Information (PII), Personal 
Health Information (PHI), data subject 
to FERPA, and data subject to contracts 
such as in research. High category 
systems are evaluated annually, or 
when there are major changes such as 
in architecture or usage.  

(c) Design and implement safeguards to control the risks 
you identity through risk assessment, including by: 

 

(c) (1) Implementing and periodically reviewing access 
controls, including technical and, as appropriate, 
physical controls to: 

Access grant, revocation, reviews and 
user authentication are governed by 
documented policies and procedures 
(i.e., Procedures for Requesting, 
Changing, or Removing Access to 
Banner Products, Banner and Related 
Administrative Systems Security Policy, 
Responsible Use of Computing Policy, 
Banner Database Account Management 
Standard), and Remote User Access 
Standard, and Remote Access Device 
Standard.  Controls are designed on 
physical, network and application levels 
to follow the principle of least-privilege.   

(c) (1) (i) Authenticate and permit access only to authorized 
users to protect against the unauthorized acquisition 
of customer information; and 

(c) (1) (ii) Limit authorized users' access only to customer 
information that they need to perform their duties 
and functions, or, in the case of customers, to access 
their own information 

(c) (2) Identify and manage the data, personnel, devices, 
systems, and facilities that enable you to achieve 
business purposes in accordance with their relative 
importance to business objectives and your risk 
strategy; 

ITS has identified systems that are 
subject to GLBA requirements and are 
prioritized for control assessment 
activities in support of the risk strategy. 
Access at the application level and then 
within the applications is based on 
personnel’s roles and upon approval. 
Physical access to critical physical 
infrastructure is controlled by card 
access.  

(c) (3) Protect by encryption all customer information held or 
transmitted by you both in transit over external 
networks and at rest. To the extent you determine 
that encryption of customer information, either in 
transit over external networks or at rest, is infeasible, 
you may instead secure such customer information 
using effective alternative compensating controls 
reviewed and approved by your Qualified Individual; 

University Policy Number 1114 Data 
Stewardship requires that Data 
Custodians must employ encryption as a 
means of protecting highly sensitive 
data. The centrally managed encryption 
program is required for storing any 
highly sensitive data on any type of 
device or media.  



7 | P a g e  

(c) (4) Adopt secure development practices for in-house 
developed applications utilized by you for 
transmitting, accessing, or storing customer 
information and procedures for evaluating, assessing, 
or testing the security of externally developed 
applications you utilize to transmit, access, or store 
customer information; 

All changes to the centrally managed 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
Banner Core are documented within 
Team Dynamix (TDX), the IT Service 
Management (ITSM) tool.  

(c) (5) Implement multi-factor authentication (MFA) for any 
individual accessing any information system, unless 
your Qualified Individual has approved in writing the 
use of reasonably equivalent or more secure access 
controls; 

Enterprise infrastructure including 
Mason’s ERP system and Virtual Private 
Network for example, require Mason 
Single Sign-On system with MFA.  

(c) (6) (i) Develop, implement, and maintain procedures for the 
secure disposal of customer information in any format 
no later than two years after the last date the 
information is used in connection with the provision of 
a product or service to the customer to which it 
relates, unless such information is necessary for 
business operations or for other legitimate business 
purposes, is otherwise required to be retained by law 
or regulation, or where targeted disposal is not 
reasonably feasible due to the manner in which the 
information is maintained; and 

George Mason University is required to 
adhere to all schedules published by the 
Library of Virginia including but not 
limited to the General Schedule GS-111 
for Virginia Colleges and Universities. 
University Policy 1102 Records 
Management provides governance in 
this area and Mason systems and data 
retention are managed to requirements 
therein.  The Records Management 
Policy defines roles and responsibilities, 
record destruction processes, 
permanent and vital record handling, as 
well as definitions of different types of 
records. 

(c) (6) (ii) Periodically review your data retention policy to 
minimize the unnecessary retention of data; 

The University Policy 1102 Records 
Management, and any related 
procedures, are required to be reviewed 
every three years or more frequently as 
needed. 

(c) (7) Adopt procedures for change management; and ITS Change and Configuration 
Management Policy and supporting 
procedure define the change 
management process. 

(c) (8) Implement policies, procedures, and controls designed 
to monitor and log the activity of authorized users and 
detect unauthorized access or use of, or tampering 
with, customer information by such users. 

The IT Security Standard defines the 
requirements for logging and 
monitoring. Monitoring responsibilities 
are shared between the IT Security 
Office (ITSO) and applicable system 
administrators. Database audit records 
for Banner are logged in Oracle Audit 
Vault and reviewed by the DBA team. 
These logs are also sent to Splunk for 
review and analysis. Server and network 
layer logs are also sent to Splunk for 
review and analysis and are monitored 
by the ITSO. 

https://www.lva.virginia.gov/agencies/records/sched_state/GS-111.pdf
https://www.lva.virginia.gov/agencies/records/sched_state/GS-111.pdf


8 | P a g e  

(d) (1) Regularly test or otherwise monitor the effectiveness 
of the safeguards' key controls, systems, and 
procedures, including those to detect actual and 
attempted attacks on, or intrusions into, information 
systems. 

Audits are done by Office of University 
Audit, as well as external audits and 
assessments are conducted by APA on 
an annual basis. Annual Incident 
Response exercises are conducted to 
test the effectiveness of the procedures 
and controls.  

(d) (2) For information systems, the monitoring and testing 
shall include continuous monitoring or periodic 
penetration testing and vulnerability assessments. 
Absent effective continuous monitoring or other 
systems to detect, on an ongoing basis, changes in 
information systems that may create vulnerabilities, 
you shall conduct: 

File integrity monitoring, secure 
configuration baselines, and weekly 
vulnerability scans are conducted to 
maintain continuous monitoring. 
Vulnerability scans are being performed 
on a weekly basis. Anomalous activity is 
monitored by ITSO via Security Incident 
and Event Monitoring (SIEM) system.  

(d) (2) (i) Annual penetration testing of your information 
systems determined each given year based on 
relevant identified risks in accordance with the risk 
assessment; and 

(d) (2) (ii) Vulnerability assessments, including any systemic 
scans or reviews of information systems reasonably 
designed to identify publicly known security 
vulnerabilities in your information systems based on 
the risk assessment, at least every six months; and 
whenever there are material changes to your 
operations or business arrangements; and whenever 
there are circumstances you know or have reason to 
know may have a material impact on your information 
security program. 

(e) Implement policies and procedures to ensure that 
personnel are able to enact your information security 
program by: 

 

(e) (1) Providing your personnel with security awareness 
training that is updated as necessary to reflect risks 
identified by the risk assessment; 

Per the IT Security Awareness training 
process, all University employees 
undergo General IT Security Awareness 
training. Additionally, Role-Based 
technical training, as well as Role-Based 
Highly Sensitive Data (HSD) Custodian 
training is required for certain users on 
an annual basis (accessed via 
MasonLEAPS). The General IT Security 
Awareness training is assigned to all 
employees, including contractors, 
affiliates, and student wage workers. 
The Role-Based Technical training is 
assigned to staff such as system 
administrators, database 
administrators, AD administrators, 
Human Resource Information Systems 
(HRIS), Finance, Business Intelligence 
etc. Lastly, the Role-Based HSD 
Custodian training is assigned to all 
users who may have access to HSD in 
Banner Core applications. 



9 | P a g e  

(e) (2) Utilizing qualified information security personnel 
employed by you or an affiliate or service provider 
sufficient to manage your information security risks 
and to perform or oversee the information security 
program; 

The information security, risk, and 
compliance functions are staffed with 
personnel with industry standard 
certifications such as CISSP, GSEC, CISA, 
CISM, CRISC. 

(e) (3) Providing information security personnel with security 
updates and training sufficient to address relevant 
security risks; and 

Mason uses SANS, Gartner, security 
vendor-specific product training and 
LinkedIn Learning, for information 
security and risk domain training. 
Additionally, security updates and 
information sharing are available 
through industry sources and threat-
feeds, as well as Ren-ISAC and VASCAN.  

(e) (4) Verifying that key information security personnel take 
steps to maintain current knowledge of changing 
information security threats and countermeasures. 

Mason information security personnel 
stay informed of current intel, threats, 
technologies and issues through various 
industry sources including but not 
limited to Ren-ISAC and the Virginia 
Alliance for Secure Computing and 
Networking (VASCAN), Educause 
Security Forum, participate in federal 
sharing communities such as FBI, CISA 
etc.   

(f) Oversee service providers, by:  
(f) (1) Taking reasonable steps to select and retain service 

providers that are capable of maintaining appropriate 
safeguards for the customer information at issue; 

External information systems and 
services to be acquired must effectively 
integrate with Mason’s information 
security architecture. This is determined 
during the initial Architectural 
Standards Review Board (ASRB) review, 
and must be revalidated with security 
reviews when the system is modified or 
updated.  

(f) (2) Requiring your service providers by contract to 
implement and maintain such safeguards; and 

Contracts for external information 
systems and services that are 
categorized as high-risk must include a 
Data Security Addendum detailing 
information security requirements and 
responsibilities. 

(f) (3) Periodically assessing your service providers based on 
the risk they present and the continued adequacy of 
their safeguards. 

Suppliers of external information 
systems and services that are 
categorized as high-risk are required to 
provide security assessment reports 
annually, in accordance with the Third-
Party Risk Management Process. The IT 
Risk and Compliance office tracks and 
reviews the assessment reports, and 
escalates exceptions and issues to the 
ITSO for determination of next steps.   

https://www.ren-isac.net/
https://www.educause.edu/


10 | P a g e  

(g) Evaluate and adjust your information security program 
in light of the results of the testing and monitoring 
required by paragraph (d) of this section; any material 
changes to your operations or business arrangements; 
the results of risk assessments performed under 
paragraph (b)(2) of this section; or any other 
circumstances that you know or have reason to know 
may have a material impact on your information 
security program. 

Annual Incident Response and Disaster 
Recovery exercises are conducted to 
evaluate and adjust processes 
supporting the information security 
program. Additionally, control 
assessments and audits help discovery 
of control weaknesses and gaps that are 
then addressed through risk treatment.  

(h) Establish a written incident response plan designed to 
promptly respond to, and recover from, any security 
event materially affecting the confidentiality, integrity, 
or availability of customer information in your control. 
Such incident response plan shall address the 
following areas: 

The University has an overarching 
Emergency Operations Plan/Continuity 
of Operations Plan (EOP/COOP) which 
covers multiple units organization-wide 
including Information Technology 
Services. Additionally, the University 
maintains an ITS Disaster Recovery Plan 
(DRP), AD Disaster Recovery Procedure, 
Production Database Backup Standard, 
Security Incident Response Procedures, 
and Incident Response Plan (IRP) for PCI 
DSS which establish standard disaster 
recovery/back-up, and incident 
response procedures, respectively. 

(h) (1) The goals of the incident response plan; 
(h) (2) The internal processes for responding to a security 

event; 
(h) (3) The definition of clear roles, responsibilities, and levels 

of decision-making authority; 
(h) (4) External and internal communications and information 

sharing; 
(h) (5) Identification of requirements for the remediation of 

any identified weaknesses in information systems and 
associated controls; 

(h) (6) Documentation and reporting regarding security 
events and related incident response activities; and 

(h) (7) The evaluation and revision as necessary of the 
incident response plan following a security event. 

(i) Require your Qualified Individual to report in writing, 
regularly and at least annually, to your board of 
directors or equivalent governing body. If no such 
board of directors or equivalent governing body exists, 
such report shall be timely presented to a senior 
officer responsible for your information security 
program. The report shall include the following 
information: 

In addition to the quarterly program 
areas of focus reporting, beginning 2023 
and to meet the GLBA requirements, 
the designated Qualified Individual will 
present this report to the Audit, Risk, 
and Compliance Committee on an 
annual basis.  

(i) (1) The overall status of the information security program 
and your compliance with this part; and 

Provided in the section titled:  
Information Security Program Overview 

(i) (2) Material matters related to the information security 
program, addressing issues such as risk assessment, 
risk management and control decisions, service 
provider arrangements, results of testing, security 
events or violations and management's responses 
thereto, and recommendations for changes in the 
information security program. 

Updates are provided on a quarterly 
basis to the Board of Visitors. The 
update for the current quarter is being 
provided under separate cover titled: 
George Mason University Information 
Technology Risk and Control 
Infrastructure Program Update for the 
Board of Visitors Audit, Risk, and 
Compliance Committee (November 
2023) 

Questions regarding this report can be addressed to Curtis McNay (cmcnay@gmu.edu).  

https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-16/section-314.4#p-314.4(d)
https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-16/section-314.4#p-314.4(b)(2)
mailto:cmcnay@gmu.edu


Office of University Audit

Report to the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
of the Board of Visitors

November 30, 2023 



 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

 
 
• Audit Staffing: 

• We continue to search for viable applicants to fill the open Senior Auditor position.   
There were 35 applicants since June 1, 2023 (33 applicants did not meet qualifications; 
one candidate was interviewed and determined not to meet requirements, and another 
candidate is being scheduled for interview).    

• We continue to utilize a hybrid organizational model to provide assurance services for 
Mason.  The model blends full time professional staff with co-sourced professionals from 
national and local accounting firms that bring specialized expertise to execute specific 
audit engagements.  As of November 15, 2023, the full-time staff consists of four 
professionals.  Seeking the right balance of audit professionals who are Mason employees 
and those who are co-sourced professionals is being managed continuously by University 
Audit leadership. 

 
• Co-sourced resources being utilized to complete the following audit engagements:  

• Information technology process infrastructure monitoring. 
• Financial administration of sponsored research programs. 
• Intercollegiate Athletics: Compliance. 
• Additional projects are being planned for later in 2023 and in 2024. 

 
• One audit report was issued since the last meeting. 

• The audit report concluded that the controls, processes and systems over individual 
student billings are operating effectively to generate accurate and timely billings. 

  
• Remediation of 10 audit issues is in progress as of November 15, 2023. 

 
• Audit Plan status: 

• Planned audit work remains consistent with the 3+6 Audit Plan reviewed at the prior 
meeting.  However, the timing of planned audit work continues to be reevaluated in 
consideration of the use of co-sourced audit resources.  

 
• Status of fraud, waste, and abuse investigations: 

• There are no investigations in progress. 
 

 
 
  



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 
 

 Topic 
 
 

 

1 SUMMARY OF AUDIT REPORTS 
 
 

2 SUMMARY STATUS OF AUDIT ISSUES  
 
 

3 STATUS OF AUDIT PLAN 
 
 

4 STATUS OF INVESTIGATIONS 
 
 

5 STAFFING 
 
 

6 APPENDIX: 
• Audit Issue Details 

 
 

 
 
  



 
 

 
SUMMARY OF AUDIT REPORTS 

 
 
• Student Accounts. 
 
 
 
 
  



Office of University Audit INTERNAL AUDIT REPORT
Report 
Title:

Student Accounts Report 
Date:

October 12, 2023
Responsible 
Manager:

Clare Laskofski, Executive Director, 
Accounting Operations and Student Accounts 

E ECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Background:

The Student Accounts Office (SAO) is responsible for the accurate and timely billing to student 
accounts of tuition, fees, and other services provided by Mason, including, among others, housing 
and dining.  

The SAO processes are intertwined with other offices across the University, including the Office of 
Student Financial Aid, Admissions, Office of the University Registrar, Housing and Residence Life, 
and Mason Dining. As such, effective internal controls regarding the flow of data to and from 
student accounts is critical to SAO’s ability to achieve its mission. The Banner Student module is 
the system of record, and is integrated with other university systems, such as StarRez for housing 
charges and Atrium Connect for dining charges.  

Charges (C) and payments (P) processed by the SAO to student accounts during the Spring 2023 
semester included: 

Student Charges Amount Student Payments Amount
Tuition $221,616,987 Financial Aid $161,799,297
Mandatory Student Fees $ 50,875,141 Outside Scholarships $ 22,348,927
Refunds $ 43,205,609
Housing $ 25,362,711
Course Fees $ 12,680,381
Dining $ 11,593,363

The Director of Student Accounts leads 17 employees and reports to the Executive Director, 
Accounting Operations and Student Accounts, through the Fiscal Services organization to the 
Executive Vice President for Finance and Administration. 



 
 

Audit Conclusion: 
 
In our view, student accounts processes and controls over individual student billings are operating 
effectively to ensure accurate and timely billings.  Controls regarding the accuracy, completeness, 
and integrity of data from department-specific systems (e.g., Atrium Connect, StarRez) to Banner 
Student through Banner Finance are designed and operating effectively.  Approved tuition, housing 
and dining rates, and fees are posted accurately and timely to student accounts, and the related 
financial transactions are accurate and proper records are maintained.  The tuition and fee rate table 
is complete and accurate, and table changes are documented, approved, and monitored.  Controls 
surrounding outside scholarships and manual refunds are documented and functioning effectively.  
Policies and procedures for key functions and activities are documented and staff are cross trained 
to help ensure continuity and operating effectiveness of critical processes.  Banner access controls 
were effectively implemented, and adequate separation of duties were present.  Housing and 
Residence Life should perform timely reconciliations to confirm completeness and accuracy of 
housing charges to student accounts; this was satisfactorily addressed during the audit.  

 
 
 



 

 
 

 
SUMMARY STATUS OF AUDIT ISSUES AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2023 

 
Three audit issues were closed since the last meeting.  There were 10 open audit issues as of November 15, 2023.  Target dates for 
several issues were extended.  
    

Audit Issue Inventory Movement Audit Issues by Type Audit Issues by Current Target 

   
   

 
 

Audit Report Report 
Date 

Open at 
May 2023 

New  Closed   Open at 
Sept 2023 

New  Closed   Open at 
Nov 2023 

Student Accounts  10/12/23 - - - - 1 1 0 

IT Third Party Service Providers  9/13/23 - 3 - 3 - - 3 

Background Investigations 4/20/23 3 - 1 2 - - 2 

Office of University Registrar 12/20/22 1 - - 1 - - 1 

Academic Integrity 8/29/22 1 - - 1 - - 1 

Student Financial Aid 11/10/21 2 - - 2 - - 2 

Employee Disclosures and Evaluation of Personal Interests 12/13/19 4  - 1 3  - 2 1  

Faculty Study Leave Programs 4/18/19 3  - 3 0  - - 0  

  14  3  5 12  1  3 10  

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

Open at
May
2023

Closed New Open at
Sept
2023

Closed New Open at
Nov 2023# 

of
 Is

su
es

10

Technology Process
Policy/Contract

0

2

4

6

2023-Q4 2024-Q1 2024-Q2

# 
of

 Is
su

es

Current Target

10  3 14   3   1  5 12 



 

 
 

STATUS OF AUDIT PLAN AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2023 
 
The 3+6 Audit Plan as of November 15, 2023 (bottom bars) is compared with the status as of the prior report to the Committee (top 
bars).  (Note:  The status of work is shown as follows:  completed = orange bars, in progress = green bars, and planned = yellow bars)  
 

Topic Description  
30        12 

 
31        3 

 
31        6  

 
30 

Aligned with University-Level Risk Areas      
IT Risk and Control Infrastructure 
Program 

• Monitor ITS program workstreams to strengthen the risk and control infrastructure and improve 
technology service delivery.  

    

Information Security Program • Monitor projects to further strengthen security of Mason’s entire technology environment. 
 

    

Financial Administration of Sponsored 
Research Programs 

• Assess administrative management of sponsored program awards, including financial risk 
management, and evaluate redesigned processes incorporating automation. 

    

Research Computing Security • Monitor cybersecurity assessments of research computing environments and preparations to implement 
NSPM-33 expectations. 

    

Construction Payments and Change 
Orders 

• Monitor and assess payments related to planned campus construction projects.      

Additional Areas      
Student Financial Accounts 
 

• Assess business and compliance processes relevant to student billing activities.     

Intercollegiate Athletics • Assess processes for ensuring compliance with NCAA requirements related to recruitment, eligibility 
and financial aid. 

    

Non-Employee Identities • Assess processes for approving, supervising, controlling, and overseeing non-employees who have an 
identity relationship (“G number”) with Mason. 

    

Issue Validation Procedures 
 

• Validate management has remediated audit issues in a comprehensive and sustainable manner.     

Hotline Investigations Referred by 
OSIG 

• Investigate allegations of fraud, waste, or abuse received from the Commonwealth’s Office of the State 
Inspector General. 

    

  

9 



 

 
 

 
STATUS OF INVESTIGATIONS AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2023 

 
 

Nature of Allegation Type Status Remarks 
None.    

 
 
 
Summary of Types: 
• Fraud = Intentional deception which could result in a benefit to the perpetrator, others, or the Commonwealth or could cause detriment to others or the 

Commonwealth.  Fraud includes a false representation of a matter of fact, whether by words or by conduct, by false or misleading statements, or by 
concealment of that which should have been disclosed, which deceives or is intended to deceive.  E.g., falsifying financial records to cover up theft. 

• Waste = Careless expenditure, mismanagement, use, or squandering of Commonwealth resources to the actual or potential detriment of the Commonwealth.  
Includes unnecessary costs due to inefficient or ineffective practices, systems, or controls.  E.g., unnecessary spending of state funds for no business purpose. 

• Abuse = Excessive or improper use of something contrary to natural or legal rules for its use.  Intentional destruction, diversion, manipulation, misapplication, 
mistreatment, or misuse of Commonwealth resources.  Excessive use as to abuse one’s position or authority.  E.g., use of state assets for non-state business. 

 
  



STAFFING

University Audit utilizes a hybrid organizational model to provide assurance services for Mason.  The model is designed to blend full 
time professional staff with co-sourced professionals from national and local accounting firms that bring specialized expertise to 
execute specific audit engagements under the Associate University Auditor’s direction and supervision.  As of November 15, 2023, 
the full-time staff consists of four professionals.   

Staffing

Actual

Core Audit Team Plan
a/o July 

2023
Avg to

Nov 2023
Audit Leadership 2.0 2.0 2.0
Auditors by Expertise:

Operational Audit 2.5 0.5 0.5
IT Audit 1.0 1.0 1.0
Fraud Audit 0.5 0.5 0.5

Total Audit Professional Employees 6.0 4.0 4.0
Co-sourced FTE* Supported by Permanent Budget 0.7 0.7
Total Audit Professionals Supported by Permanent 
Budget 6.7 4.0 4.7

Note:  * = Co-sourced FTE are estimated based on actual hours provided by co-
sourced resources and a 1,500 hour/FTE rate.

33



 

 
 

APPENDIX:  AUDIT ISSUE DETAILS AS OF NOVEMBER 15, 2023 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

1 Report Name: 
Employee Disclosures 
and Evaluation of 
Personal Interests 
 
Report Date: 12/13/19  
 
Management:  Vincent 
Lacovara, Associate 
Vice President for 
Institutional Compliance 

Implement a Monitoring Program for Employee 
Disclosures: 
Monitoring and oversight programs provide assurance 
that policy expectations are being met and procedures 
are functioning as intended. Once policy, governance, 
and reporting adjustments have been considered and 
implemented, management should develop monitoring 
programs to evaluate the completeness and accuracy of 
employee submissions. Where possible, separately (e.g., 
employee evaluation data or Virginia Statements of 
Economic Interests) and/or publicly available (e.g., IRS 
data) documents should be compared to self-reported 
employee disclosures to further support the 
completeness and accuracy of data provided.  

Institutional Compliance, with assistance from 
individual units, will continue to monitor 
employee disclosure completion (i.e., that they 
are submitted) and review the substance of 
submissions when circumstances warrant. An 
updated policy and other changes (necessitated 
by the new COI module) was implemented in 
May 2023 for annual disclosures for research 
faculty, administrative and professional faculty, 
and classified staff; an updated policy for annual 
disclosures for instructional faculty was 
implemented in August 2023.  A more robust 
monitoring program to evaluate the completeness 
and accuracy of employee submissions, including 
both reviews of internal and publicly available 
information, will be developed and implemented 
by December 2023.  

11/30/21 12/15/23 

2 Report Name: Student 
Financial Aid  
 
Report Date:  11/10/21 
 
Management: David 
Burge, Vice President 
for Enrollment 
Management, Office of 
the Provost 

Document All Financial Aid Policies, Processes and 
Procedures: 
The Office of Student Financial Aid (OSFA) should 
document all key processes and procedures. The 
documents should define the roles and responsibilities of 
each employee and detail the procedures and processes 
performed. The OSFA should prioritize creating the 
following policies and procedures: 
•Return to Title IV calculations  
•Applicant information verification 
•Exception reporting  
The documents should be reviewed periodically to keep 
the documentation current  

OSFA has made updates to the Policy and 
Procedures Manual, but a failed search for a 
Business Analyst has delayed completion of this 
effort.  A new search was initiated and the work 
to complete documenting processes and 
procedures is expected by the end of 2023. 

6/30/22 12/31/23 

3 Report Name: Student 
Financial Aid  
 
Report Date:  11/10/21 
 
Management: David 
Burge, Vice President 

Evaluate Staffing Needs and Opportunities to 
Increase Efficiencies in Award Processing and 
Monitoring:   
The Office of Student Financial Aid (OSFA) and 
Enrollment Management Leadership should determine 
the critical financial aid activities that could benefit from 
additional staff. Additionally, evaluate opportunities to 

The Office has automated several processes over 
the years, however, there will always be a need 
for human effort to review and perform oversight.  
We have staffed eight of the nine counselor 
positions and are actively seeking to hire one 
additional counselor. 
 

6/30/22 12/31/23 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

for Enrollment 
Management, Office of 
the Provost 

automate manual processes to provide current staff the 
capacity to take on other critical tasks. 

The Office has fully implemented Campus Logic 
Student Forms to help automate and streamline 
the verification process; and has also made 
progress with implementing TD Client which will 
automate the movement of files to and from the 
Department of Education.  Full implementation is 
expected by 12/31/23. 

4 
 

Report Name: Office 
of University Registrar 
(OUR)  
 
Report Date:  12/8/22 
 
8anagement: Janette 
Muir, Vice President for 
Academic Affairs, 
Office of the Provost 

Share Enhanced Data to Improve Course Scheduling 
and Registration: 
Coordinating with the academic departments to review 
and analyze course data, should enable academic 
departments to more strategically adjust course offerings 
and classrooms to meet student needs; reducing the 
number of manual overrides by faculty and risk of 
students being unable to take required courses if required 
course is at capacity. Additionally, the University’s 
Academic Course Catalog is not consistently updated to 
remove inactive course offerings. 

Requirements-based reporting is a critical 
university need that the OUR hopes to meet using 
data captured in the new degree audit system. 
The office is committed to partnering with the 
academic units in order to give them actionable 
information related to the schedule of classes 
offered.  
 
Mason faculty own the course curriculum. The 
OUR is responsible for the administration of the 
curriculum process and will continue to 
communicate each year with the Associate 
Provosts of Undergraduate and Graduate 
Education and the academic units regarding 
courses that have not been offered in the previous 
five years; as well as newly approved courses not 
offered in the previous three years.  The 
Associate Provosts will engage their respective 
Councils and the academic units to implement a 
process to inactivate courses that exceed the 
three-year and five-year criteria for newly 
approved and older courses respectively if 
adequate justification to keep the course in the 
catalog is not provided by the academic unit 
and/or faculty. 

12/31/23 12/31/23 

5 Report Name: 
Academic Integrity  
 
Report Date:  8/29/22 
 
Management: Rose 
Pascarell, Vice 

Ensure Consistency in University Academic Integrity 
Guidance and Recommended Sanctions: 
The Vice President, University Life (including the 
Office of Academic Integrity) and the Vice Provost, 
Academic Affairs should convene a working group 
comprised of key leaders, faculty, students, and 
administration to evaluate the potential value of 
consistency across the colleges and schools surrounding 

The Vice Provost, Academic Affairs and the Vice 
President, University Life assembled a taskforce 
of key stakeholders which developed a holistic 
approach to academic integrity university-wide 
with specific recommendations to address the 
inclusion and enforcement of an academic 
integrity statement in all course syllabi; adopting 
a university-wide sanctioning matrix; and 

8/15/23 1/30/24 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

President, University 
Life  

the university’s academic integrity program guidance 
and recommended sanctions.    
 

defining and communicating faculty and student 
roles and responsibilities, among other things. 
The feasibility of the taskforce recommendations 
will be assessed, and next steps and 
implementation plans will be developed.   
 
The Office of Academic Integrity (OAI) will 
support the implementation of the working group 
recommendations and implement enhancements 
to ensure consistency in student and faculty 
guidance.    

6 Report Name: Third- 
Party Service Providers  
 
Report Date:  9/14/23 
 
Management: Charles 
Spann, Interim Vice 
President and Chief 
Information Officer 

Document Architecture Standards Review Board 
(ASRB) Requirements: 
The Director IT Risk and Compliance should document 
and review ASRB process procedures, including criteria 
for ASRB reviews by each functional group that makes 
up the ASRB.  
 
 

The Director IT Risk and Compliance will 
document current process and procedures and 
establish a review frequency for these documents.  
 

2/15//24 2/15/24 

7 Report Name:  
Background 
Investigations 
 
Report Date: 4/19/23  
 
Management:  Whitney 
Owen, Interim Vice 
President of Human 
Resources 

Improve Background Investigation Procedures: 
Comprehensive procedures and defined roles and 
responsibilities will help ensure compliance with the 
university’s background investigation processes and 
procedures. 

University Policy 2221 (Background 
Investigations) and associated procedures and 
frequently asked questions have been analyzed 
and updated. Standard operating procedures for 
the Background Specialist’s day-to-day job 
functions have been documented and will be 
utilized for cross training and/or new hire 
training.  Pending review by University Counsel 
and Senior Leaders, this policy will be 
communicated campus-wide by February 28, 
2024. 

9/30/23 2/28/24 

8 Report Name:  
Background 
Investigations 
 
Report Date: 4/19/23  
 
Management:  Whitney 
Owen, Interim Vice 

Ensure All Employees Have Completed Required 
Background Investigations: 
Central HR should ensure all current and prospective 
employees have completed background investigations 
prior to beginning work; establish communication 
mechanisms to inform hiring departments of the status of 
a prospective employee’s background investigation;  
develop automated procedures for ensuring regular 
integration of Truescreen background investigation data 

All current employees hired on or after July 1, 
2016 have a background investigation on file. 
Since Mason’s policy prior to this date did not 
require all employees to have a background 
investigation, the Executive Vice President of 
Finance and Administration decided to focus 
efforts on ensuring background investigations are 
on file for all employees hired on or after the all-
encompassing policy was implemented on July 1, 

9/30/23 2/28/24 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

President of Human 
Resources 

into Banner; implement a continuous monitoring 
program; and create a central repository of all completed 
background investigations. 

2016. Central HR is evaluating the feasibility of 
completing background investigations for 
employees hired before July 1, 2016. 
 
IT enhancements now halt the employee 
onboarding process if there is no background 
investigation on file.  A dashboard to assist the 
Background Specialist with monitoring 
background investigations status/data.  An 
additional initiative is underway to fully integrate 
Banner and Truescreen (background investigation 
vendor) to ensure near real time updates of 
background investigation status. 
  
Finally, processes and procedures are being 
finalized to ensure timely background 
investigations for adjunct faculty, as this 
population may or may not maintain consistent 
employment.   

9 Report Name: Third- 
Party Service Providers  
 
Report Date:  9/14/23 
 
Management: Charles 
Spann, Interim Vice 
President and Chief 
Information Officer 

Enforce Architecture Standards Review Board 
(ASRB) Requirements: 
While controls surrounding purchases of software and 
information services that will use Mason data or 
integrate with Mason’s administrative systems over 
$5,000 are effective, purchases equal to or less than 
$5,000 can occur by a purchase card, potentially 
bypassing established review and approval processes. 
 
 

The Director IT Risk and Compliance will work 
with the Purchasing Office and the ASRB to 
establish a means to monitor IT third-party 
service providers that meet the criteria for ASRB 
review within University Policy 1307, are 
reviewed and approved in accordance with ASRB 
requirements.   

3/15//24 3/15/24 

10 
 

Report Name: Third- 
Party Service Providers  
 
Report Date:  9/14/23 
 
Management: Charles 
Spann, Interim Vice 
President and Chief 
Information Officer 

Enhance IT Third-Party Service Provider Risk 
Review Process: 
Annual security assessment reports for all high-risk IT 
third-party service providers and their subcontractors 
that have the potential to handle or exchange protected 
data or information should be obtained, and findings 
assessed for potential impact to the university and 
remediated accordingly.  

Information Technology Services (ITS) will 
review and update the third-party risk 
management document to align to current 
procedures and recommendations to require 
reviews of IT third-party service providers that 
utilize Mason protected data. ITS will require 
future vendors that involve, or have the potential 
to involve, the exchange of protected data, to 
have annual security reports; continue to monitor 
the annual security assessment report status of 
current vendors; and work with our current 

4/15/24 4/15/24 



 

 
 

# Audit Report Audit Issue Status of Management Action Original 
Target 

Current 
Target 

contracting partners to ensure any weaknesses or 
vulnerabilities are communicated and pursued for 
appropriate risk treatment. ITS will also work 
with Procurement to implement a process for 
subcontractors for all high-risk service providers. 

 
 



Report to the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee
of the Board of Visitors

November 30, 2023 

Office of Institutional Compliance



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report summarizes Institutional Compliance activities since the prior Committee meeting: 
 
• Compliance assessment activity: 

• Inventory:  429 laws and regulations applicable to Mason tracked. 
• Risk ownership has been identified for 412 laws and regulations (96%); risk 

ownership was confirmed for 409 of the laws and regulations for which ownership 
was identified (99%). 

• Guided, granular regulatory risk assessments for priority risk areas continue: 
• In Progress:  FAR/DFARS, institutional privacy. 
• Planning: Emergency planning, student safety, occupational safety  

• Guided, program maturity self-assessments of distributed compliance programs continue: 
• In Progress:  Laboratory Safety, Registrar (pending report), Student Health Services 

privacy (reported), institutional privacy, MAPS Clinic privacy, records management. 
• External reviews:  Two new external reviews were announced since the prior meeting 

and are in progress. Two reviews in progress as of the last report remain in progress.   
 
• Status of reported compliance matters: 

• Four potential compliance matters were reported to Institutional Compliance since the 
prior meeting.  Since the last report, Institutional Compliance has closed three matters 
and two matters remain under review.  None of the matters appear significant to Mason.  

• Coordination of investigations and investigative protocols continues to occur with units 
such as Research Integrity and Assurance; Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion; Human 
Resources; and Information Technology Services.  

• The potential for additional reporting capabilities is being evaluated. 
 
• Additional institutional compliance activities: 

• Institutional Compliance continues to support substantial university-wide efforts to 
strengthen conflict of interest and related disclosure and management processes.  
Ongoing work includes:  improving workflows, establishing new review committees and 
processes, additional communications and training, and ongoing development of an 
organizational conflict of interest policy and process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
 

 Topic 
 

1 SUMMARY OF ASSESSMENT AND MONITORING ACTIVITY 
• Inventory of Laws and Regulations 
• Assessment Prioritization and Status 
• Summary Status of In-Progress Assessments 
• Summary Status of External Reviews 
 

2 SUMMARY OF REPORTING MECHANISMS AND MATTERS 
 

3 SUMMARY OF ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE ACTIVITY 
• Policies and Standards 
• Training and Communications 
• Processes to Exclude Bad Actors from Positions of Trust 
 

4 INSTITUTIONAL COMPLIANCE STAFFING 
 

5 APPENDICES: 
• Schedule of Assessments Completed Since 2021 
• Student Health Privacy Maturity Report 
 

  
 
 
  



COMPLIANCE ASSESSMENTS AND MONITORING 
 
The Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee of the Board has a Charter responsibility to oversee 
the effectiveness of institutional compliance processes for monitoring compliance with laws and 
regulations, including policies and processes related to ethics and conflicts of interest. 
Institutional Compliance supports the Committee’s accomplishment of this responsibility 
through planning, facilitating, and overseeing regular university-wide assessments of compliance 
risks guided by the elements of effective compliance programs in the US Federal Sentencing 
Guidelines for Organizations and related guidance from the Department of Justice; ensuring 
management ownership for monitoring and managing compliance risks; evaluating the 
effectiveness of risk-owner programs to monitor and manage compliance risks; and ensuring 
communication to leadership and the Committee.   
 
INVENTORY STATUS: 

 
As of November 10, 2023, an inventory of 429 laws and regulations applicable to Mason has 
been compiled, and was reviewed with the Office of University Counsel for completeness and 
applicability.  Personnel likely to be responsible for managing and monitoring compliance with 
these laws and regulations (“risk-owners”), as well as risk mitigation activities in place, are 
identified on an ongoing basis.  Risk owner identification and confirmation continues for the 
remaining laws and regulations.  Ownership confirmations are summarized below: 
 

Regulatory Category Number of Laws and 
Regulations 

Number of Requirements 
for which Ownership 

Confirmed 
              

  9/28/23      11/10/23 Change 9/28/23      11/10/23 Change 
1 Compliance and Ethics Program 2 3 1 2 3 1 
2 Copyright and Intellectual Property 9 9 - ̶ 9 9 
3 Employment 92 92 - 91 91 - 

4 Environmental Health and Safety and 
Occupational Health & Safety 52 52 - 50 50 - 

5 Facilities, Construction, and 
Renovation 4 4 - 1 1 - 

6 Finance and Tax 41 41 - 40 41 1 

7 Information Management and 
Security, and Privacy 48 47 (1) 41 41 - 

10 Procurement and Contracting 21 21 - 20 20 - 
11 Research 62 65 3 61 65 4 
12 Students and Academic Policy 92 93 1 65 91 26 
13  Miscellaneous 3 2 (1) ̶ ̶ ̶ 
 Totals  426 429 +3 371 412 +41 

 
 
 



 
ASSESSMENT PRIORITIZATION AND STATUS: 

 
Institutional Compliance, in coordination with University Counsel, University Audit, and 
Enterprise Risk Management, periodically refreshes the prioritization of regulatory risks facing 
large, public research universities that are similar to Mason.  The prioritization revision was 
completed using the inventory of laws and regulations by category and subcategory.  
 
The prioritization does not represent an assessment of specific risks or risk levels at Mason; it is 
solely intended to provide a basis for identifying and prioritizing future Mason-specific 
compliance assessment and other compliance activities.  The refreshed prioritization is reviewed 
with senior leaders periodically, and their input used to prioritize further assessment work. 
 

 



IN-PROGRESS ASSESSMENTS: 
 
Assessments of distributed, risk-specific programs are planned and facilitated based upon the 
prioritization of risk areas, as well as upon request by distributed program owners.  The 
assessment of the level of regulatory risk in a given category indicates the expected robustness of 
the associated mitigation activities, including the formality and maturity of the related distributed 
risk-area compliance program.  Assessment activities completed, in progress, and planned are 
summarized in the following chart: 
 

Summary of Assessment Activity As of 
9/12/23 

As of 
11/10/23 

   
Regulatory Risk Assessments:   
Office of the Registrar  DONE DONE 
Institutional Privacy  IP DONE 
Emergency Planning NS Planning 
Student Health and Safety  Planning Planning 
Occupational Health and Safety  Planning Planning 
Federal Contracting (FAR/DFARS)  Planning IP 
   
Program Maturity Guided Self-Assessments:   
Office of the Registrar  Draft Draft 
Student Health Services Privacy Draft DONE 
MAPS Clinic Privacy  IP IP 
Records Management  IP IP 
Institutional Privacy Program  IP IP 
Student Health and Safety  Planning Planning 
Occupational Health and Safety  Planning Planning 
Federal Contracting (FAR/DFARS)  Planning Planning 

(Legend:  DONE=completed; Draft = report draft; IP=in progress; NS=not started.) 
 
 
 
EXTERNAL REVIEWS: 

 
The Committee has a Charter responsibility to “review and discuss with management the results 
of significant reviews by regulatory agencies or other external entities, or summaries thereof, and 
management’s responses.”  University policy requires that all notices of any external review be 
reported to the Institutional Compliance Leader for tracking, reporting, and follow-up.   
 
Two new external reviews, announced since the last report, are in progress. Two reviews in 
progress as of the last report remain in progress.   Below is the status of the external reviews as 
of November 10, 2023: 
 



Reviewing Entity As of 
9/12/23 

As of 
11/10/23 

Remarks 

Defense Counter-
intelligence and Security 
Agency (DCSA) 

Not 
Announced 

In Progress Regular review of Mason's security clearances 
program for classified research 

Virginia Joint Legislative 
Audit & Review 
Commission (JLARC) 

Not 
Announced 

In Progress Statutory review of Mason’s Tier 3 management 
authority 

Office of the State 
Inspector General 
(OSIG) 

In Progress In Progress Performance review related to higher education 
institution security programs for responding to cyber-
attacks. Includes all Commonwealth universities and 
VCCS 

Virginia Small Business 
Development 
Commission (SBDC) 

In Progress In Progress Virginia SBDC on-site financial examination FY 
2023 of the SBDC’s PY 2021 grant award. 

 
  



REPORTING MECHANISMS AND MATTERS 
 
Institutional Compliance conducts, oversees, coordinates, and/or monitors investigations of 
allegations of non-compliance or ethical misconduct.  The office utilizes up-to-date, detailed 
guidelines for conducting compliance investigations, which are incorporated into the Institutional 
Compliance and Ethics Program operating manual.  A process also was implemented for tracking 
the disposition of certain reported matters; additional processes are being developed to monitor 
the disposition of certain reported matters referred to other units.   
 
To encourage reporting, a new landing website was created that links to reporting mechanisms 
for various constituencies and issue types across campus.  Further communications plans are 
being developed, which may include additional, anonymous reporting channels. 
 
Institutional Compliance received four new allegations of non-compliance or ethical misconduct 
since the last Committee report, two of which are under review by Institutional Compliance and 
two of which were closed. Since the last report, one additional matter was closed. None of the 
matters appear to have significant compliance implications for Mason.  
 
The table below shows the status of matters reported to Institutional Compliance, and whether 
referred to other units for handling or handled directly by Institutional Compliance.   
 
Status 4/18/23 to 

9/12/23 
9/12/23 to 
11/10/23 

Total 

    
Matters Reported to Institutional Compliance in Period 1 4 5 
Matters Referred to Other Units for Handling in Period 1 - 1 
Matters Reported in Period Investigated by Institutional 
Compliance or University Audit 1 4 5 

In Progress of Investigation 1 2 3 
Closed - Non-Compliance Not Substantiated - 3 3 
Closed where Non-Compliance Substantiated 1 - 1 

Closed where Non-Compliance was Significant - - - 
 
The table below lists the number of reported matters by topic area. 
 

Topic Area # 
Conflict of Interest or Commitment 4 
Privacy 1 

Total 5 
  



ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE ACTIVITIES 
 
Policies and Standards Activities 
 
The revised university policy process, recently combined with the Policy Management Group 
(PMG) administered by the Office of the Provost, continues to meet and to review university-
wide policies as well as academic policies. Further policy program improvements are in the 
planning stage. 
 
Institutional Compliance is supporting the Office of Research Integrity and Assurance (ORIA) 
with development of an Organizational Conflict of Interest Policy and review process to meet 
federal regulatory requirements.  
 
Institutional Compliance supported Human Resources in drafting a new, stand-alone, 
institutional Reporting Suspected Misconduct and Non-Retaliation Policy so as to promote 
consistent policy language across multiple policies; the draft is undergoing additional review by 
Counsel, and will be re-reviewed by the PMG prior to submission to leadership to approve. 
 
Training and Communication Activities 
 
Additional Mason-specific compliance awareness training content is in development, which also 
will be used for new employee and new faculty orientations.  With implementation of the RAMP 
COI module and the related guides, training, and resources made available through that platform, 
Institutional Compliance is evaluating whether and where additional conflict of interest training 
might be needed. 
 
In order to improve tracking and enforcement of all training required for all employees (e.g., 
ethics, information security, student privacy, Title IX, and others), Institutional Compliance 
worked with Human Resources to obtain access to completion data, and has begun the process of 
developing metrics for providing training data to leadership. A process for sending automated 
reminders for ethics training, consistent with reminders sent for other required trainings has been 
developed, and it is anticipated that automated reminders will be sent early in 2024 in advance of 
the performance review cycle.   
 
The draft compliance communications calendar, setting forth key compliance deadlines and 
information about common compliance risks, continues to be refined and expanded.  Once 
implemented, the calendar and cadence will assist Mason in meeting compliance communication 
expectations, as well as socialize Institutional Compliance and Program resources with the 
campus community.  
 
Activities Related to Efforts to Exclude Bad Actors from Positions of Trust 
 
Institutional Compliance continues to supporting Human Resources as they formalize and 
strengthen the existing, central process for reviewing prior employees’ employment records for 
ethical misconduct prior to re-hire at Mason.  Implementation of the revised Review-Before-
Rehire Process remains on track for Winter 2024.  



INSTITUTIONAL COMPLIANCE STAFFING 
 
There have been no changes to Institutional Compliance staffing since the last Committee report.  
Below are professional biographies for the two team members. 
 
Vin Lacovara, Associate Vice President for Institutional Compliance 
vlacovar@gmu.edu  
 
Vin Lacovara joined Mason to establish and lead the Institutional Compliance function in 
February 2021.  His responsibilities are to implement and manage an effective, institution-wide 
compliance and ethics program for Mason; oversee and coordinate the efforts of numerous 
distributed, area-specific compliance programs across campus; and provide senior leadership and 
the Committee with information to fulfill their oversight of compliance processes. 
 
Prior to joining Mason, Vin implemented and managed the compliance and ethics program for 
Catholic University for ten years.  For seven years prior to joining Catholic, he worked alongside 
George Washington University’s compliance officer in managing all aspects of its compliance 
and ethics program, and was in the private practice of law for seven years prior to becoming a 
compliance professional.  Vin earned bachelor’s degrees in English and political science from 
Duke University, and a law degree from Catholic University’s Columbus School of Law.  He is 
also a Certified Compliance and Ethics Professional©, and has presented at national industry 
conferences on the topics of compliance program implementation, compliance assessment 
frameworks, and compliance investigations. 
 
Elizabeth Woodley, University Ethics Officer and Outside Interests Manager 
ewoodley@gmu.edu 
Elizabeth Woodley joined OAC in March 2021 to assist in establishing a more robust ethics 
program for Mason; oversee Mason’s Conflict of Interest policies, disclosures, and waiver 
processes; investigate complaints related to ethical conduct; and develop and track ongoing 
communications, training, and education activities.  
 
After serving as a Robert F. Kennedy Public Service Fellow with the University Counsel’s 
Office, Elizabeth joined Mason’s Compliance, Diversity, and Ethics office in 2013 as the 
University Policy Manager.  She later added responsibilities as the FOIA Compliance Officer in 
2014 and the Ethics Officer in 2016.  Elizabeth earned a bachelor’s degree in history and art 
history from the University of Virginia, and a law degree from the University of Virginia School 
of Law.  She is also a Certified Compliance and Ethics Professional©. 
 
  

mailto:vlacovar@gmu.edu
mailto:ewoodley@gmu.edu


APPENDIX 
 
 
 
This Appendix provides a schedule of compliance assessments completed since the Program’s 
inception in 2021, and the Student Health Privacy Maturity Assessment Report issued since the 
last meeting. 
 

 Topic 
 

1 Schedule of Completed Assessments 
 

2 Student Health Privacy Maturity Report 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Schedule of Completed Compliance Assessments Since 2021: 
 
The following regulatory risk assessments and program maturity guided self-assessments have 
been completed since the establishment of Institutional Compliance in 2021: 
 

Summary of Assessment Activity Date 
Completed 

  
Regulatory Risk Assessments:  
Equal Opportunity and Title IX (DEI)  12/8/2021 
Equal Opportunity (HR)  3/30/2022 
Human Resources Benefits 3/30/2022 
Human Resources Hiring and Administration 3/30/2022 
Office of the Registrar 10/12/2022 
Research: Lab Safety 5/1/2023 
Institutional Privacy 10/10/2023 
  
Program Maturity Guided Self-Assessments:  
Equal Opportunity and Title IX (DEI)  8/12/2022 
Research:  Export Control  12/9/2022 
Office of the Registrar 10/10/2023 

 
 
  



ASSESSMENT REPORT

Report Title: Student Health Services 
Privacy Program Maturity Self-Assessment

Report 
Date:

October 10, 2023

Responsible 
Manager:

Mary Davis, Nurse Practitioner,
Student Health Services

E ECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Background 

Distributed Compliance Programs should evaluate regularly whether their design is tailored to Mason’s 
operations and level of risk, and whether they are working effectively in practice.  In May 2023, the 
Office of Institutional Compliance facilitated a self-assessment of the maturity of Mason’s Privacy 
Program administered by the Office of Student Health Services.  The self-assessment evaluated the 
design adequacy and operating effectiveness of each of the elements necessary for an effective program.

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), the Health Information Technology 
for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act, and the Virginia Health Records Act, impose privacy 
and security requirements on institutions that collect, use, store, and/or share Protected Health 
Information1. Such requirements include privacy notices to consumers and a right to access their records, 
data encryption, a formal security plan with administrative, physical, and technical safeguards, and 
breach notification protocols.  These requirements can overlap with certain Family Educational Rights 
and Privacy Act (FERPA) privacy provisions.  

Fines and penalties for non-compliance with HIPAA and HITECH can reach $4 million per year, and the 
Acts provide for private rights of action for individuals.   

The Office of Student Health Services (SHS) reports to the Office of the Vice President for University 
Life, and is composed of 45 staff members at three campus locations.  SHS’ mission is to provide high 
quality, accessible, and affordable health care, counseling, health education, and prevention services to 
current George Mason University students, including diagnosis and treatment, physical exams, lab tests, 
immunizations, and prescriptions.  

Conclusion

The overall self-assessment concluded that the SHS Privacy Program well-defined and working well in 
practice.  The Program has a designated leader with a clear role, skilled staff, detailed and current 

1 Protected Health Information (PHI) is individually-identifiable health information, including demographic data, 
that 1. relates to the individual's past, present, or future physical or mental health or condition; health care; or 
payment for health care; and 2. that identifies the individual or provides a reasonable basis to identify the individual. 
Identifiable health information that is protected includes many common identifiers (e.g., name, address, birth date, 
Social Security Number). See Department of Health and Human Services, Summary of the HIPAA Privacy Rule

Office of Institutional Compliance

https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/laws-regulations/index.html


policies and procedures, required and current training, risk-based assessments, and a culture of 
continuous improvement. Collaboration with relevant units (e.g., counseling, athletics, disability 
services, student affairs, others) is effective.  
 
Assessment 
 
The SHS Privacy Program has a skilled and designated leader, and designated privacy and security 
officers within the unit. All roles in the unit are clearly documented and reviewed at least annually. SHS 
staff undergo central background checks through Human Resources, as well as additional credential 
checks by the SHS Continuous Quality Improvement Coordinator for staff who are medical providers. 
Credential checks also occur during 3-year accreditation reviews. To improve the maturity of the 
Program further, the level of senior leadership engagement with the Program, and the enforcement 
authority of the Program lead, should be reviewed to confirm responsibilities and expectations.   
 
Standards for the Program include formal Bylaws supported by manuals and policies covering privacy, 
security, reportable events, breach notification, and administrative responsibilities. Standards are clear 
and complete, reviewed every two years for accuracy, and support continuity of operations. To improve 
the maturity of the Program, policies and processes should be evaluated for potential simplification 
where possible. 
 
New SHS staff complete a tailored, on-line SHS privacy presentation and test, are required to review and 
affirm that they will follow all unit standards, complete institutional Information Security Training, and 
attend a follow-up meeting with the unit’s privacy officer to reinforce privacy and confidentiality 
requirements and expectations. Both unit and institutional training content is clear and current and 
reviewed at least annually. All staff must complete all trainings every year. A process is being developed 
to more regularly and formally track and report staff training completion. Additionally, the SHS website 
effectively communicates to students the necessary services, polices and processes, resources, reporting 
mechanisms, and contact information for effective use of the Program. To improve Program maturity 
further, consider more regular tracking of training completion rates and reporting to leadership those 
staff who are not current. 
 
SHS staff use a risk-based and continuous approach to planning, assessing, and improving the Program, 
and considers issues and trends in real-time. This is coupled with a culture of continuous improvement, 
which positions the Program to pivot more effectively in the event of unforeseen events or regulatory 
changes. To improve Program maturity, assessment schedules should be more regularized and 
documented in Program standards. Reviews also should be accompanied by additional documentation of 
the issues, approaches, and outcomes. 
 
Investigations into instances of potential non-compliance, as well as initiatives and activities that overlap 
with other units’ responsibilities, are well coordinated and effective due to the collaborative relationships 
in place with relevant units. To improve the Program further, an escalation process for potentially-
significant issues should be implemented. 

 



George Mason University
Information Technology Risk and Control Infrastructure Program

Update for the Board of Visitors
Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee

November 2023 

Prepared by 
Charlie Spann, Interim Vice President and Chief Information 
Officer
Noor Aarohi, Director - IT Risk and Compliance
Curtis McNay, Director - IT Security Office

  



2 | P a g e  
 

Executive Summary 
The following November 2023 update provides a report of activities and accomplishments for FY24 Q2. 
This is a summary of activities for maturing technical capabilities and controls with a focus on specific 
program areas. Since December 2021, with the input of the Office of University Audit (OUA), Information 
Technology Services (ITS) has established a multi-year program to strengthen the risk and control 
infrastructure at Mason and improve the quality of technology services it delivers.  The purpose of this 
report is to update the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee on the status of these efforts as the 
planned improvement activities are undertaken and the progress therein.  

The program is comprised of six areas of focus designed to guide the adoption and implementation of a 
set of controls derived from NIST 800-53 moderate baseline, scoped and tailored to the context of 
institutions of higher education as well as to help support the academic and research efforts while 
maintaining a strong information security posture. This will strengthen policies, standards, processes, and 
procedures related to Mason’s Quality Management Systems (QMS) and Information Security 
Management programs with a goal to improve Information Technology (IT) service quality, reliability, and 
security. The overall program includes the following areas of focus: 

- Mason-Tailored NIST 800-53-Based Security Compliance Framework  
- Portfolio and Project Management 
- Information Security Program Management 
- Risk Assessment and Remediation 
- Change and Configuration Management 
- Identity Management and Access Control 

Each area is comprised of many activities, which are tied to projects and assigned priority and ownership. 
This report outlines the status of projects and activities in each of the six program areas. Please note that 
these projects are only a subset of the technology investments that are currently being made at the 
university. All ITS managed and administered information technology projects (including those related to 
these focus areas) are available for review online at https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-
dashboard/. 

The previous update was provided for the September 28th Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
meeting. Since the next meeting for this committee is scheduled on November 30th, which is less than a 
full quarter schedule, the update in this report is pertinent to activities that occurred from mid-September 
through mid-October 2023.  

 

 

 

  

https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-dashboard/
https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-dashboard/


3 | P a g e  
 

Fiscal Year (FY) 2024 Q2 Accomplishments and FY 2024 Q3 Planned 
Activities 

 

Mason-Tailored NIST 800-53-Based Security Compliance Framework 
Adoption of a NIST 800-53 controls set that has been scoped and tailored to the context of institutions 
of higher education and to help support the academic and research efforts while maintaining a strong 
information security posture. Supporting policy and standards underpin our internal Quality 
Management System for Central ITS and our distributed partners. 

FY24 Q2 Accomplishments:  

• The initial comments from the Banner Core environment control assessment based on control 
owner assertions, have been made available and are being reviewed by the ITS Risk and 
Compliance and Information Security directors.  An updated version of the Banner System 
Security Plan (SSP) and associated Plan of Actions and Milestones (POA&M) documents have been 
drafted and will align with the finalized outcomes of this assessment. This work contributes to 
providing understanding of end-to-end processes and controls for the Banner Core environment 
which is considered high-risk from a compliance documentation perspective. The effort also 
provided a template and framework (repeatable process) for conducting future control 
assessments for other high-risk environments.  

• Project #853: Socialization efforts are underway for the proposed updates to the IT Security 
Standard. This Standard has been drafted to align to the security baselines adopted in Spring 2023, 
that are based on NIST 800-53 moderate threshold and tailored to Mason requirements. 
Information sessions have been held for the ITS staff and the university stakeholders. Workshop 
sessions are being conducted with each of the IT directors to solicit feedback and suggestions on 
the changes. This feedback is being used to align the control implementation requirements within 
the Standard before it is finalized and published (currently estimated to be in the FY24 Q3). An 
informational SharePoint site is operational at https://gmuedu.sharepoint.com/sites/grc for users 
to review and provide feedback on the proposed Standard.  

• Project #842: 
o ITS is working with the Office of Emergency Management (OEM) to upload the Banner Core 

DR and ITS Continuity of Operations (COOP) plan information attributes and documents to 
RSA Archer – the Governance, Risk, and Compliance (GRC) tool. The estimated completion 
date for this task is by November 30.   

o The Disaster Recovery (DR) and Business Continuity application has been moved to 
production in RSA Archer. This is part of the transition strategy from Kuali, the previous 
system of record for storing the DR and COOP plans. Consolidating the DR and COOP process 
into Archer contributes towards creating a holistic GRC view of the technology controls. The 
OEM and ITS have been collaborating on this project and information sessions have been 
scheduled by OEM to help onboard users and plans.  

 
 
 
 
 

https://gmuedu.sharepoint.com/sites/grc


4 | P a g e  
 

 

FY24 Q3 Planned Activities:  

• Finalize the control self-assessment report for the Banner Core environment and supporting 
artifacts i.e., incorporate these results into the Banner Core SSP and POA&M. 

• Project #853:  
o Continue developing ITS Risk and Compliance SharePoint webpage and socializing the 

controls set and compliance strategies to the IT administrators and distributed IT 
stakeholders.  

o Conduct additional information sessions for IT personnel to review control requirements 
and solicit feedback.  

o Publish the finalized IT Security Standard based on Mason scoped and tailored NIST 800-
53 baselines.  

• Project #842: Complete the transition of the Banner Core DR and ITS COOP plans into RSA 
Archer tool.   

Portfolio and Project Management 
Enhancements to the Portfolio and Project Management processes to align with investment lifecycle and 
towards better program/project artifact management. 

FY24 Q2 Accomplishments:  

• The ITS Program and Project Management Office (PPMO) team continued the efforts that began 
last quarter, towards establishing the Financial Services Domain Council pilot. The purpose of each 
Domain Council is to be accountable for setting domain specific portfolio strategy and priorities, 
approving domain area projects into portfolio from project intake requests, approving Project 
Criteria Prioritization Scoring and placement within portfolio, developing prioritized list of 
initiatives for the domain (aligned with business goals) for Senior Leadership approval and 
maintain on-going tracking, re-balance, and resolve funding issues at the domain level while also 
updating domain leadership on status.  

• Operationalized the Information Technology Domain Council.  As of October 2023, ITS has 
conducted three monthly IT Domain Council meetings to help discuss new project requests, and 
conduct gate reviews for prioritization and approvals.  

• The PPMO has engaged with the Provost’s Academic Administration leadership to further define 
steps for establishing a domain council for that area. To this end, currently the PPMO team is 
working on a process to gather project requests for this function.  

• Through the current FY24 Q2, the team is continuing to update the Project Dashboard to 
incorporate Domain Council operations as well as general project and portfolio reporting.  

• Project #847: Team Dynamix Project Module. Requirements gathering and scoring were done to 
plan prioritization of tasks. The purpose of this project is to implement enhancements to the 
current project intake process, using Team Dynamix. This project is estimated to be completed by 
the end of FY24 Q3.  

FY24 Q3 Planned Activities:  

• The PPMO will develop and track performance metrics over the course of fiscal year 2024. These 
metrics will assess department achievement against goals to improve methodology and 
processes.  

https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-dashboard/


5 | P a g e  
 

• Develop a Team Dynamix intake process for the Office of the Provost and Executive Vice 
President.  

• Create methods to set up the Finance Administration projects in Team Dynamix. 
• Continue the effort to help develop and establish the Domain Council for the Executive Vice-

President for Finance and Administration. 
• Create a Standard Communication Package for project intake. This will help streamline the 

socialization of the project intake process.  
• Project #847: Continue work towards delivering the Team Dynamix Project Module by the end of 

FY24 Q3. 
 

Information Security Program Management 
Program enhancements for maturing the information security program at Mason, including protecting 
the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of data and systems while balancing access and productivity 
for the Mason community. 

FY24 Q2 Accomplishments: 

• A combined Incident Response (IR) and Disaster Recovery (DR) tabletop exercise was conducted 
on September 22. The exercise scenario was based on a ransomware attack, involving response 
and recovery objectives and focus on identifying areas of improvement. The draft After-Action 
Reports (AARs) are being circulated to the lead participants and observers for feedback and edits.  

• Project #854: Design for updates to the password reset page was approved and the code is being 
developed. The purpose of this update is to automate the enforcement of mandatory trainings 
compliance through NetID password reset process. The project involves updating the password 
change process to require users complete their assigned mandatory security training prior to 
resetting their passwords. Target implementation is estimated to be in Jan 2024.  

• Project #861: M365 Security, Optimization, Assessment, and Remediation project was approved 
by the IT Domain Council. This program is inclusive of the task to build Data Loss Prevention (DLP) 
capabilities in support of control enhancements especially for the sensitive data storage and use 
on Mason systems. 

• Outreach initiated with external vendor for conducting a penetration test towards aligning with 
industry best practices as well as compliance requirements under the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. 

FY24 Q3 Planned Activities:  

• To meet requirements under GLBA, Mason’s ‘Qualified Individual’ will submit a written report to 
the Audit, Risk, and Compliance committee for the Nov 30 meeting. This report will provide the 
overall status of the information security program, compliance, and brief of any material matters 
related to the information security program.  

• Update the incident response process documents and investigate prioritization to use the RSA 
Archer workflows for this process.  

• Define scope for the penetration test and initiate engagement contract.  
• Project #861: Define tasks and apply resources to support M365 Security, Optimization, 

Assessment, and Remediation project. This work serves towards Data Loss Prevention control 
enhancements especially for the sensitive data storage and use on Mason systems.  

• Project #854: Implement the password reset page code and process to enforce mandatory IT 
Security Awareness trainings.   



6 | P a g e  
 

 

Risk Assessment and Remediation 
Program enhancements to mature the risk assessment and remediation processes at Mason, including a 
Governance, Risk, and Compliance (GRC) program. 

FY24 Q2 Accomplishments:  

• ITS operationalized the pilot ITS Risk Register forum. Members of the ITS senior leadership meet 
on a monthly basis to report, evaluate, and prioritize items for risk treatment.   

• A lightweight Risk Assessment template is being tested in RSA Archer development environment 
to aid risk assessments for all IT systems in Mason and establish their risk profile (High, Moderate, 
Low), so that commensurate applicable security controls can be selected, applied, and 
documented, as required by the IT Security Standard. The plan would be to move this template 
to production and operationalize the process potentially by FY24 Q4 (beginning).  

• The IT Risk and Compliance team created a FAR 52-204.21 compliance security plan template for 
use cases where the researcher wants to use a Mason managed endpoint for the project. This 
template serves as a standard compliance pattern that the research project team and Office of 
Sponsored Research can use to gain assurance that the right controls are in place when the project 
involves use of Mason managed user endpoints and the research has been designated as 
fundamental research but requires FAR 52-204.21 compliance. FAR 52-204.21 are fifteen (15) 
basic cybersecurity requirements that apply to any information system that is owned or operated 
by a contractor or a sub that processes, stores, or transmits Federal Contract Information (FCI) or 
may potentially do so in the future.  
 

FY24 Q3 Planned Activities:  
 

• Continue to configure and operationalize the risk assessment, issues, action plans, and exceptions 
management functionality in RSA Archer tool.  
 

Change and Configuration Management 
Establish a Quality Management Program to improve the delivery of IT Services at Mason, with a first area 
of focus in asset management and change/configuration management across the service portfolio. 

FY24 Q2 Accomplishments:  

• Project #617: ITS has an operational pilot with one team in Team Dynamix (TDX) towards moving 
the Change Management platform from the current Change Management Database (CMDB) to 
TDX.  As part of the training and socialization effort to transition the Change Management process 
from the current CMDB system to TDX, the team has been working to bring the ITS Enterprise 
Collaboration team into TDX. Estimated timeframe to onboard these users is end of FY24 Q3. 
Training documentation to help transition the teams, is being built out. Knowledge Articles are in 
place, but are being reviewed for updates.  

• The Change Management Procedure, Configuration Management and Change Management 
Process, and Change and Configuration Management Policy were reviewed and the drafts have 
been shared with Office of University Audit (OUA) for feedback and inputs.  
 



7 | P a g e  
 

FY24 Q3 Planned Activities: 

• Receive feedback from OUA and finalize the Change Management Procedure, Configuration 
Management and Change Management Process, and Change and Configuration Management 
Policy documents.  

• Continue to socialize and work towards implementing the Banner advisory board before end of 
FY24 Q3.  

• Under a proposed project that is currently undergoing Domain Council approvals and 
prioritization, the ITS team will be working to redesign the development operations (DevOps) 
practice. This will help streamline and enhance the current Software Development Lifecycle 
(SDLC) to align with latest industry best practices. The request was cleared in ITS Domain Council 
for internal resource capacity and impact checks. Next, it is to be reviewed for final approval and 
prioritization.  

 

Identity Management and Access Control 
Continuously improve and mature the processes that support identity and access management (IAM) at 
Mason.  

FY24 Q2 Accomplishments:  

• Project #799: CDW (the consultant) was provided inputs and feedback to incorporate into their 
proposed IAM roadmap. The feedback incorporated Mason’s perspective on the 
recommendations made by CDW at the end of their engagement earlier this year.  

FY24 Q3 Planned Activities: 

• Submit two separate project intake requests, one for an overall multi-year and high-investment 
program to establish a mature IAM service at Mason.  The second project request is for the 
immediate tool/solution to replace the legacy Account Management System (AMS).  Both 
projects will be discussed at the November IT Domain Council meeting.  Approvals will also 
depend on resource and funding availability.  

Information Technology Strategic Plan 

The ITS service and technology roadmaps have been shared with ITS senior staff for review and updates 
to their respective functional roadmaps. This will facilitate top-down cascade on the tenets of the plan 
and any misalignments on planned projects and priorities can be identified early on.  

All ITS managed/administered information technology projects (including those related to these focus 
areas) are available for review online at https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-
dashboard/. Questions regarding projects in the portfolio can be addressed to Charlie Spann 
(cspann2@gmu.edu). 

https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-dashboard/
https://its.gmu.edu/working-with-its/ppmo/projects-dashboard/
mailto:cspann2@gmu.edu


  
BOARD OF VISITORS 

GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY 
 

Meeting of 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 

Merten Hall, Hazel Conference Room (1201) 
 

MINUTES 
 
PRESENT:  Rector Horace Blackman, Vice Rector Jon Peterson, Secretary Michael Meese, Visitors Armand Alacbay, 
Reginald Brown, Lindsey Burke, Anjan Chimaladinne, Dorothy Gray, James Hazel, Dolly Oberoi, Robert Pence, Nancy 
Prowitt and Robert Witeck.  
 
PRESENT VIRTUALLY:  Visitor Jeffrey Rosen and Erin Iacangelo, Previous Staff Liaison.    
 
ABSENT:  Visitor Marquez. 
 
ALSO, PRESENT:  Melissa Broeckelman-Post, Faculty Representative; Will Gautney, Staff Liaison; Paul Wyche, 
Undergraduate Student Representative, Vikas Velagapudi, Graduate Student Representative; Gregory Washington, 
President; Ken Walsh, Executive Vice President for Strategic Initiatives and Chief of Staff; Mark Ginsberg, Provost 
and Executive Vice President; Deb Dickenson, Executive Vice President for Administration and Finance; Anne 
Gentry, University Counsel; and Sarah Hanbury, Secretary pro tem. 
 

I. Call to Order 
 

Rector Blackman called the meeting to order at 2:21 p.m.  
 
Rector Blackman relayed that in accordance with the Electronic Meeting Policy, Visitor Rosen requested to participate 
remotely due to a personal matter.  Due to Visitor Rosen’s need to be in Boston as a Fall 2023 IOP Fellow at Harvard’s 
Kennedy School, the Rector approved his remote participation request and due to this voting would be accomplished by 
roll call.  
 
Rector Blackman stated that the board is accepting public comments at this session and that registration for making oral 
comments was open until 9:30 a.m. on Monday, September 25 through the form on the Board of Visitors website.  No 
registrations for oral comments were received.  Two written comments were received, they were provided to the Board 
and will be made a part of the public record of this meeting.  In addition, written comments will be accepted on the same 
form until the full board meeting adjourns this afternoon. 
 

II. Recognition 
 
A. Appreciation Plaque Presentation to Outgoing Staff Liaison 

 
Rector Blackman recognized Erin Iacangelo who served as the staff liaison to the board from 2021-2023.  Ms. Iacangelo 
thanked the Board for the recognition and apologized that she could not attend in person. Ms. Iacangelo expressed that 
serving as the Staff Senate Chair was a pleasure and an incredible opportunity.  Ms. Iacangelo stated that at times staff 
can feel invisible, especially at a large university, and being seen and heard by the Board means so much.  Ms. Iacangelo 
learned a lot about the inner workings of Mason and the crucial role this Board serves.  Ms. Iacangelo thanked the Board 
for their work and the time they have put in for the betterment of Mason.  Ms. Iacangelo is pleased to have Will Gautney 
as her successor.  Ms. Iacangelo concluded by thanking the Board Members, Rector Blackman and President 
Washington. 
 
Rector Blackman presented Ms. Iacangelo with a plaque of appreciation for her contributions to the Board.  
   
 

III. Approval of Minutes 



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 2 
 
                                     

A. Planning Conference Minutes for July 27, 2023 (ACTION ITEM) 
B. Annual Meeting Minutes for July 28, 2023 (ACTION ITEM) 

 
Rector Blackman called for any corrections to the minutes for the Planning Conference on July 27, 2023 and the Annual 
Meeting on July 28, 2023, that were provided for review in the board meeting materials.  Hearing no corrections, Rector 
Blackman MOVED to approve the minutes.  The motion was SECONDED by Secretary Meese.  MOTION CARRIED 
UNANIMOUSLY BY ROLL CALL VOTE. 
Yes – 15 
Absent – 1 – Visitor Marquez 
 

IV. Rector’s Report 
 
Rector Blackman reported the following items: 
 

• The 2023 SCHEV BOV Orientation is scheduled for Tuesday and Wednesday, November 14-15, 2023 at the 
Lewis Ginter Botanical Garden in Richmond.  He noted that attendance fulfills the requirements for new board 
members along with the continuing education obligation for board members with two or more years of service. 

• Each Board member is required to file an annual financial disclosure through the Virginia Conflict of Interest 
and Ethics Advisory Council portal.  The filing period to submit the financial disclosure through the portal is 
January 1 through February 1, 2024, covering the reporting cycle of January 1 through December 31, 2023. 

• Upon entering a new academic and board year, it would be helpful when Board members have requests of the 
Mason leadership to provide those directly to the Rector, Vice Rector or Secretary and they will follow 
through with coordination.  This approach is an attempt to streamline the request process and will hopefully 
assist with avoiding duplication. 

• Encouraged participation in the Mason Now: Power the Possible Reception following this meeting on the 
Merten lawn. 

• The Board of Visitors, Board of Trustees and Alumni Association Board Recognition Reception is 
Wednesday, October 18 at the Mathy House beginning at 6:30 p.m. 

• Winter Commencement is Thursday, December 14, 2023, at EagleBank Arena and the ceremony begins at 
9:30 a.m. 

• Recognized Visitor Rosen for an announcement confirming the nature of his service to the Board as required 
by the policies of his law firm, Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP (ATTACHMENT 1). 

• Visitor Burke was invited to address the Board.  She relayed that as director of the Center for Education Policy 
at the Heritage Foundation, she oversees research on early childhood, elementary, secondary and higher 
education.  When Dr. Jay Green approached her about conducting research on the diversity, equity and 
inclusion (DEI) infrastructure in Virginia, as an extension of his existing research on the topic across the 
country, she immediately recused herself from the process of reviewing or editing the paper.  A different vice 
president at Heritage reviewed and edited the report.  She played no role in the development or publication of 
the report.  The authors are eager to discuss the research with Mason's leadership.  

 
This concluded the Rector’s Report.   

 
V. President’s Report 

A. FY 2024 Goals Discussion (ACTION ITEM) 
 
Dr. Washington provided the following highlights: 
 

• Who we are: 
o Graduated and enrolled the largest and most diverse classes ever.  Mason is bringing in and graduating 

high-level students with a large percentage of them getting jobs upon graduation. 



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 3 
 
                                     

o About 30% of Mason’s students come from an impoverished background which is changing Virginian 
families' lives.  

o From a cost perspective, Mason is operating more efficiently than any other four-year institution in 
Virginia. 

o Mason managed 27 small business development centers in Virginia and last year these centers had a 
$3.36 billion economic impact on the state.  

• A Great Year, So Far: 
o In FY 24 Mason has the highest enrollment of all time with the smartest and most diverse student body 

which typically doesn’t coincide.  
o Mason had the best ranking performance in the history of this campus.  Next to going to the final four, 

the increase in rankings is going to have the biggest impact on enrollment.  
o FY 23 had the best research award growth and was the best fundraising year.  
o Launched Mason’s first billion-dollar campaign. 
o FY 23 had the best athletics performance with Mason winning three A10 Conference championships. 

• Unprecedented Rankings Performance:  
o US News Rankings: 

1. Mason 105 against all universities which is a 32-spot increase from where Mason was.  Mason 
jumped 32 institutions in one year.  

2. Mason is now ranked 51 against public universities which is a 13-spot increase. 
o Wall Street Journal Rankings: 

1. Mason is up 84 spots among all institutions and up 62 spots among public universities. 
o Forbes Rankings: 

1. In alignment with the rankings of the US News and Wall Street Journal. 
o Washington Monthly Rankings: 

1. Mason has the smallest ranking movement here.  
o FIRE Rankings: 

1. Their rankings are focused on how institutions manage free speech.  Mason moved up seven 
spots to break the top 10. 

2. Mason was ranked number one in Virginia but is now number two, behind the University of 
Virginia (UVA).   

o Social Mobility: 
1. Many ranking entities now include social mobility which centers around how well institutions 

are helping people move from one economic stratification to another.  
2. All ranking organizations rank Mason first in Virginia. 

• Our Plan for Success – FY 2024: 
o Engage Everyone: 

1. Mason Virginia Promise, which is the ADVANCE program, will extend to more institutions 
across the state.  About 18% percent of students who graduate from a community college receive 
a four-year degree.  At Mason, 86% of the students who enter through the ADVANCE program 
leave with a four-year degree within six years. 

2. Engaging Spanish language students. 
3. Currently launching the Direct Entry program.  Within the next five years, it is believed that 

every university will utilize direct entry to engage students. 
o Manage Cost Uncertainty: 

1. Implemented a plan to improve Mason's budget situation by $10 million this year, with $7 
million reductions made to date. 

o Partner or Perish: 
1. Moving forward will be talking about two external partnerships.  
2. Will continue to invest in Mason’s faculty and staff. 

o FY 2024 Goal Additions: 
1. $10 million in cost reductions.  



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 4 
 
                                     

2. Maintenance of FIRE and LGBTQ rankings. 
•  Project Overview – West Campus Expansion 

o Mason’s athletic facilities need an update and state support is not expected; the goal is to partner with 
private industry to expand West Campus.  

• Why Expand West Campus? 
o The current facilities are obsolete. 

1. The field house was built in 1982 which is obsolete structurally as are the facilities within it.  
2. The baseball field doesn’t have lights. 
3. The track needs work. 
4. Lacking soccer and training facilities. 

o There are 192 acres of undeveloped land, which is the largest undeveloped plot of land closest to 
Washington D.C.  Because of this there are private industries interested in partnering with Mason.  

• Market Opportunity Study: 
o Brailsford & Dunlavey was brought in to take a look and talk to developers across the region to 

determine what type of markets make sense.  All of the following markets were strong except for office: 
1. Rental Housing 
2. For-Sale Housing 
3. Retail 
4. Venues 
5. Hotel and Conference 
6. Office  

• Optimal Partnership Structure: 
o Traditional Development: 

1. Money, people and time are necessary to follow the traditional development route.  This 
framework wouldn’t work for Mason as it has challenges in all three categories. 

o  Concessionaire Development and Equity Development: 
1. Either concessionaire development or equity development makes the most sense for Mason. 
2. Concession development is university owned, privately operated and developer financed. 
3. Equity development is developer owned, privately operated and financed through a ground 

lease. 
4. These development structures do not require much money from the academic institution but do 

require Mason to share the facilities with external entities. 
•  Baseball/Major League Cricket Stadium: 

o Entered into a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with entrepreneur Sanjay Govil to start 
investigating if a stadium is feasible. 

o Cricket is the second most popular sport in the world and in India it is the most popular sport.  45% of 
Mason’s international graduate students are from India.  

o If adding cricket is successful, Mason will have the best baseball stadium in the Atlantic 10 Conference.  
• Process of Evaluation: 

o Mission – Is the project in alignment with our basic values and ideals?  Does it ultimately support our 
students, faculty and staff? 

o Leverage – Given that the campus is resource constrained, does the project have the proper fiscal support 
to not burden the university? 

o Resource Generation – Can this be a source of revenue generation?  Have a number of potential partners 
lined up that President Washington would like to begin introducing to the Board for their input. 

• The Heritage Foundation Controversy: 
o   Last week the Heritage Foundation issued a report accusing Virginia and in particular Mason, of 

“dangerous DEI bloat.” 
o There are three challenges with the report: 

1. Indexing DEI staff to tenured/tenure-track faculty instead of students.  The DEI staff serves the 
students and they should be indexed and not tenure track faculty.  



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 5 
 
                                     

2. Classification of the number of DEI staff at Mason.  The Heritage Foundation sent Mason a list 
of all the individuals who are listed as DEI staff on Mason’s website.  Upon checking the list, 
more than half of those entities are students.  Mason has work study and federally funded 
programs that are work study programs and student interns that are going through experiential 
learning in on-campus, part-time jobs.  These students were considered full-time DEI staff, 
which they are not, and accounted for more than half of the list.  

3. Focus on Power 5 athletic conference schools and Mason.  Mason was the only non-Power 5 
school in the cohort that was examined. 

o Advocated to create a university committee to review these results and would like to provide names to 
Rector Blackman for consideration. 

• Dr. Washington presented a table that outlines the data/numbers from the Heritage Foundation.  Please refer to 
the meeting materials and video for specifics:  https://vimeo.com/showcase/8557205/video/870393383. 
 

This concluded Dr. Washington's first report of the 2023-2024 academic year.  Rector Blackman requested that Visitor 
Burke participate on the university committee which will perform an analysis of Mason’s DEI staff, provided there 
were no objections from the Board, which there were not.  Visitor Witeck and Dr. Melissa Broeckelman-Post 
volunteered to serve on the committee.  Paul Wyche spoke to DEI and the West Campus expansion.  Significant 
discussion ensued, please refer to the video for specifics: https://vimeo.com/showcase/8557205/video/870393383. 
 
Rector Blackman MOVED to approve Dr. Washington’s updated FY 2024 Goals.  The motion was SECONDED by 
Visitor Chimaladinne.  There was no discussion.  MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY ROLL CALL 
VOTE. 
Yes – 15 
Absent – 1 – Visitor Marquez 

 
VI. Faculty Action Process 

 
Rector Blackman invited Provost Ginsberg to provide a review of the tenure process due to the significant discussion 
regarding the faculty action process at the Annual Meeting.  Rector Blackman relayed that this process was also 
reviewed at the Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee meeting earlier that day.  
Provost Ginsberg began by noting the tenure review process is comprehensive, clear, and transparent and continued 
with the following overview: 
 

• Tenure Faculty Promotion: 
o There are three ranks for tenure-line professors: 

1. Assistant or Associate Professor (Pre-Tenure) 
• Hired on qualification, achievement and potential for growth on an initial three-year 

contract. 
• They are evaluated toward the middle part of their second year about the possibility of 

returning for a second three-year contract.   
• Most are awarded a second contract but some individuals leave the university after the 

initial three-year contract.  
2. Associate Professor (Without Term): 

• Towards the middle of the fifth year of their second contract, faculty members have 
the opportunity to prepare a dossier for tenure which can take several forms: 

o Assistant or associate professors in the pre-tenure period who stand for tenure. 
o An associate professor who is an associate professor without term.  They have 

the opportunity to stand for promotion to full professor.  This is usually six or 
seven years after being awarded tenure but is not a requirement.  

https://vimeo.com/showcase/8557205/video/870393383
https://vimeo.com/showcase/8557205/video/870393383


Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 6 
 
                                     

o There is no explicit requirement for an associate professor to stand for 
promotion to full professor.  Most do, but there are some who remain at the 
associate level.  

• In order to be promoted to associate professor, they must demonstrate genuine 
excellence in teaching or in research/scholarship and evidence of university service. 

• Provide evidence that their contributions have an impact that goes beyond the 
boundaries of this university. 

3. Full Professor (Without Term): 
• Demonstrate genuine excellence in teaching or research/scholarship and evidence of 

university service. 
• Provide evidence of significant impact beyond the boundaries of the university must 

be much more substantial than in cases involving tenure or promotion to the rank of 
associate professor without term. 

• Promotion and Tenure Portfolio, Required Materials: 
o Provide a comprehensive statement about teaching/mentoring and research, including future plans. 
o Employment chronology, particularly at Mason and before.  
o Current curriculum vita, to include clear evidence about research and scholarship. 
o Evidence for research and scholarly achievement, as well as teaching effectiveness, student 

evaluations and external letters of review. 
o Mason seeks a minimum of five external letters and other materials including an evaluation of 

teaching that speaks to the impact of the candidate's research, scholarship, and/or creative work.  
These letters are sent to Mason on a confidential basis, not to be provided by nor reviewed by the 
candidate.  These external letters are reviewed internally by the university.  

• Promotion and Tenure, Process: 
o Is minimally a year-long review process with seven steps: 

1. Departmental review by the LAU first-level promotion and tenure committee. 
2. All materials are reviewed by the LAU Chair of the candidate's college/school. 
3. Review conducted by second-tier college/school-level review committee. 
4. All materials are reviewed by the dean of the candidate's college/school. 
5. The complete dossier is reviewed by the provost who recommends actions to the President. 
6. After review of the dossier, the president makes a recommendation to BOV. 
7. The BOV confers promotion/tenure or promotion of tenured faculty to the rank of professor. 

 
Dr. Provost Ginsburg concluded that this process is undertaken with great care. Following Provost Ginsberg’s 
presentation brief conversation ensued, please refer to the video for specifics: 
https://vimeo.com/showcase/8557205/video/870393383. 
 
Given that this is Provost Ginsberg’s last report before transitioning to the presidency of Towson University, Rector 
Blackman thanked him for his service, commitment and dedication to Mason.  Provost Ginsberg thanked Rector 
Blackman and replied that it has been the greatest honor of his professional life to serve as Provost and a great honor to 
serve with a great colleague and a dear friend in President Gregory Washington.  Applause ensued. 

 
VII. Committee Reports 

 
 A.   Development Committee 

 
Visitor Chimaladinne briefed the board on the topics presented and discussed during the Development Committee 
meeting, which included: 
 

• Board of Trustees (BOT) – Michael E. Stievater, Foundation Chair 

https://vimeo.com/showcase/8557205/video/870393383


Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 7 
 
                                     

o The foundation was happy to report that the endowment returned a positive 15%, and the market value 
on June 30 was $179 million. The endowment paid out $5 million in support for university students, 
faculty, and programs. 

• Advancement and Alumni Relations – Ms. Trishana Bowden, Vice President, Advancement and Alumni 
Relations/President 

o In FY 2023, Mason had a historic fundraising year, amassing $139.3M by the end of June. This fiscal 
year, we have already raised over $18.4 million, and two of the colleges, the College of Engineering and 
Computing and the College of Public Health are over 50 percent of the way towards their FY 2024 goal. 

o In conjunction with the Office of the President, invitations were extended to each BOV member to the 
following events.  

1. ARTS by George!, will be held on Saturday, September 30. This signature College of Visual 
and Performing Arts event benefits student scholarships and our community arts programs. 

2. On November 30, Mason will mark a meaningful transformation for the School of Business 
with the official renaming celebration of the Donald G. Costello College of Business. 

3. The kick-off of the Mason Now campaign for faculty and staff engagement occurs after this 
meeting.  BOV members were encouraged to attend.  

• Foundation Overview – Ms. Beth Cantrell, Chief Financial Officer of the Mason Foundation, Inc.  
o Shared an overview of the George Mason University Foundation, Inc. with the committee, covering its 

mission, history, structure, function, and financial highlights from the 2023 fiscal year. 
• Campaign Priorities – Dean Ken Randall, Antonin Scalia Law School 

o Presented the law school's Mason Now campaign priorities. The dean discussed the school's progress, 
rankings, graduate enrollment, development income, and campaign support for the school's next era of 
growth. 

 
There were no action items from the committee to bring before the full board. 
 
  B.    Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
 
Visitor Oberoi briefed the board on the topics presented and discussed during the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
meeting, which included: 
 

• The Committee was briefed by Senior Vice President Jackie Ferree and Vice President Frank Strike on Mason’s 
program to assess the condition of facilities and determine action priorities and plans: 

o The Facilities Condition Assessment program maintains a comprehensive inventory of Mason’s 
facilities.  The condition of facility components, such as exterior closure, roofing, plumbing, HVAC, 
fire protection, and many more, are inspected at least once every three years.  Based on these inspections, 
and assessments, component conditions are managed based on risk to the facility function.  Condition 
thresholds are in place to inform ‘repair or replace’ actions.  Annual action plans, in conjunction with 
three, five, and ten-year roadmaps, are developed and prioritized in consideration of health and safety; 
support for mission; student experience; sustainability and resiliency; and continuity of operations.  They 
discussed the application of the program for three recent projects: Horizon Hall, Harris Theatre, and the 
Aquatic and Fitness Center. 

• The Committee completed its annual review and approval of the Committee’s Charter and the Office of Audit 
and Compliance Charter. 

o Minor revisions to the Committee charter were made to reflect the Committee’s May 2023 action to 
adjust the Office of Audit and Compliance charter to reflect the resumption of the enterprise risk 
management program as an integral component of the Finance and Administration organization 
reporting to the Executive Vice President.  The Committee Charter continues to align with the Board’s 
bylaws. 

o Received the annual confirmation of the organizational independence of the Office of Audit and 
Compliance.  The Committee concurred with this conclusion. 



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 8 
 
                                     

• The Committee reviewed the reports covering audit, audit planning, compliance, and management’s program to 
strengthen the IT control infrastructure included in the materials on BoardEffect: 

o The audit team continues to make satisfactory use of co-sourced professionals to accomplish audit work 
while continuing their searches to fill open Senior Auditor positions.  The Committee will continue to 
monitor audit resourcing carefully. 
 

There were no action items from the committee to bring before the full board. 
 
  C.    Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee 
 
Visitor Burke briefed the board on the topics presented and discussed during the Academic Programs, Diversity and 
University Community Committee meeting, which included: 
 

• Provost Mark Ginsberg provided an update for the fall 2023 semester and a retrospective of his time as provost 
as he departs Mason this fall to become president of Towson University. He gave an overview of the provost’s 
office and its efforts to enhance access to excellence and opportunity for Mason students. In Fall 2023, Mason 
enrolled over 40,000 students and welcomed new students during move-in and convocation. Provost Ginsberg 
gave a review of the modality of instruction, detailed that Mason's rankings have seen an upward trajectory, and 
highlighted faculty honors. He discussed faculty promotion and tenure policies and then reflected on 
accomplishments during his tenure as provost across many critical domains, including students, faculty, and 
administrative leadership. 

• David Burge, Vice President for Enrollment Management, and Alan Byrd, Dean of Admissions, reported on 
Admissions and Enrollment for the Fall 2023 semester. At the time of their report, Mason’s overall enrollment 
reached over 40,000 students. They also provided a brief overview of Mason’s admissions processes. Those 
processes are race-neutral and efforts are made to find reasons to include someone in the Mason community, 
welcoming everyone who is academically prepared for the rigors of study. When students apply to Mason, they 
are evaluated on their high school academic performance, extracurricular and community activities, and personal 
essays. Mason reports an admission rate of approximately 90 percent for undergraduates.  

• Before making a motion to approve the action items, Visitor Burke gave the floor to Dr. Washington to say a 
few words about Provost Ginsberg.  Dr. Washington stated that there is a reason why Provost Ginsburg is going 
to be the next president of Townson University, when looking across Virginia and the region he has no peer.  
Dr. Washington concluded by congratulating Provost Ginsburg.  Applause ensued.  
 

Visitor Burke MOVED to approve the following two (2) action items, en bloc, as provided in the meeting materials: 
 

1. Resolution to appoint Mike Meese as the Board of Trustee Member for the Online 
Virginia Network Authority for George Mason University (ATTACHMENT 2) and; 

2. Faculty Actions 
a. Conferral of Emeritus/Emerita Status (ACTION ITEM) 

 
The motion was SECONDED by Visitor Hazel.  MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY ROLL CALL 
VOTE. 
Yes – 15 
Absent – 1 – Visitor Marquez 
 
  D.    Finance and Land Use Committee 
 
Visitor Pence briefed the board on the topics presented and discussed during the Finance and Land Use Committee 
meeting, which included three (3) action item that require full Board approval:   
 



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 9 
 
                                     

• The Committee voted to approve the Amended FY 2024 Budget, which amends the baseline budget scenario 
that was approved in May to reflect the following changes: 

o The final FY24 State budget granted additional General Fund allocations for affordable access and 
operations, financial assistance, and an increase in the cost-share for the 2% salary increase. 

o Mason also projects higher Fall 2023 enrollment growth, improved interest income, and a net positive 
financial impact from anticipated real estate acquisitions.   

o The net result of these changes is a $23 million improvement in Mason’s All Funds Operating Budget 
shortfall, reducing it to $9 million, and an improvement of $6.3 million in the projected E&G Operating 
Budget shortfall to $35.1 million. 

o The FY24 amended budget will not result in a deficit, as the amended budget shortfalls will be mitigated 
with cost containment, operating efficiencies, and other strategies.   

o Per the committee's direction the Antonin Scalia Law School will be exempted from budget reduction 
in the FY24 budget with the offset coming from Mason’s Reserves.  

o The FY24 Capital Budget amendment would increase the planned drawdown of fund balances to $129 
million, from the approved $22 million, in preparation of the acquisition of Vernon Smith Hall. The 
final FY24 State budget also allocated an additional $1.2 million in capital appropriations for 
Maintenance Reserves. 

• The Committee voted to approve a new Incentive Retirement Plan to encourage the voluntary retirement of 
eligible tenured faculty as a standing policy for this and future retirement incentive offerings. 

o The FY24-FY25 plan has been enhanced from previous offerings to encourage participation while 
providing budget relief and flexibility for colleges and schools. 

o For FY24-FY25, a threshold exception will be requested of up to seven percent of the General Fund 
appropriation for faculty salaries and associated benefits.  

o The plan must be approved by the Attorney General and Governor before taking effect.  
• The Committee also voted to approve the required annual Land Use Certification submission to the 

Department of General Services showing present and planned uses of each property owned. The significant 
changes since last year’s report are the acquisition of additional property across Fairfax Drive from the Mason 
Square Campus and the addition of the Masonvale improvements as Commonwealth assets. 
 

Visitor Pence MOVED to approve the following three (3) action items, en bloc, as they are provided for review in the 
meeting materials: 
 

1. Financial Matters 
a. Amended FY 2024 Budget (ACTION ITEM) 

2. Operational Matters 
a. Incentive Retirement Plan (ACTION ITEM) (ATTACHMENT 3) 

3. Capital Matters 
a. Land Use Certification (ACTION ITEM) 

 
The motion was SECONDED by Visitor Prowitt.  MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY ROLL CALL 
VOTE. 
Yes – 14 
Absent – 2 – Visitors Marquez & Chimaladinne  
 

E.   Research Committee 
 
Visitor Prowitt briefed the board on the topics presented and discussed during the Research Committee meeting, which 
included: 
 

• Vice President for Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact, Andre Marshall, reported continued strong 
advancement in Mason’s research enterprise with 55% YoY growth in research awards followed by early 



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 10 
 
                                     

indicators of increased research activity reflected in the 34% YoY increase in July through August research 
expenditures.  A dashboard was also provided aligned with the framework for describing research in terms of 
scholarship, partnership, and translational research activities; and infrastructure, services, and research culture 
support. 

• Dr. Parag Chitnis, Associate Professor in the College of Engineering and Computing and PhD Student Erica 
King provided an overview of their work on Wearable Ultrasound Systems for Assessment of Musculoskeletal 
Injury and Recovery. A multidisciplinary team of Mason researchers led by Dr. Parag Chitnis, is developing 
novel wearable-ultrasound technologies for achieving these objectives. This presentation provided an overview 
of these efforts and perspectives of Bioengineering Doctoral student, Ms. Erica King, who is spearheading 
validation of these ultrasound-based methods against conventional clinical and biomechanical approaches.  

 
There were no action items from the committee to bring before the full board. 
 

VIII. Closed Session 
A. Honorary Degrees and Special Awards (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.11) 
B. Personnel Matter (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.1) 
C. Consultation with Legal Counsel pertaining to actual or probable litigation (Code of VA: §2.2-

3711.A.7) 
D. Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring the provision of legal 

advice (Code of VA: §2.2-3711.A.8)  
 
Vice Rector Peterson MOVED that the Board go into Closed Session under the provisions of Section 2.2-3711.A.11, 
for Honorary Degrees and Special Awards; Section 2.2-3711.A.1  to discuss President Washington’s contract and a 
university investigation; Section 2.2-3711.A.7, for Consultation with legal counsel pertaining to actual or probable 
litigation including briefings on: 
 

Agrawal v. GMU  
Amison v. GMU et al  
Ganley and Surber v. GMU et al.   
Jeong v. GMU et al  
Kinuani v. GMU  
Morrison v. GMU et al.    
Ukor v. GMU 
 

and Section 2.2-3711.A.8 for Consultation with Legal Counsel regarding specific legal matters requiring the provision 
of legal advice concerning the aforementioned items, a university review and admissions policies and the personnel 
exemption to discuss the performance of the school.  The motion was SECONDED by Secretary Meese.  MOTION 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY BY ROLL CALL VOTE. 
Yes – 13 
Absent – 3 – Visitors Marquez, Oberoi & Witeck 
 
Following closed session, Vice Rector Peterson MOVED that the board go back into public session and further moved 
that by roll call vote the board affirm that only public business matters lawfully exempted from the open meeting 
requirements under the Freedom of Information Act were heard, discussed or considered in the closed meeting, and that 
only such business matters that were identified in the motion to go into a closed meeting were heard, discussed or 
considered in the closed meeting. Any member of the board who believes that there was a departure from the 
requirements as stated, shall so state prior to taking the roll call, indicating the substance of the departure that, in his or 
her judgment, has taken place.  The MOTION was seconded by Secretary Meese.  ALL PRESENT BOARD 
MEMBERS RESPONDED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE BY ROLL CALL. 
Yes – 10 
Absent – 6 – Visitors Burke, Chimaladinne, Marquez, Oberoi, Pence & Rosen 



Board of Visitors 
Thursday, September 28, 2023 
Page 11 
 
                                     
 
Rector Blackman confirmed that Visitor Rosen was no longer present virtually.  Rector Blackman then MOVED to 
approve the following two (2) items en bloc: 
 

• The awarding of Honorary degrees at a future date to the individuals discussed in closed session for that 
purpose and; 

• The written resolution of the Board of Visitors of George Mason University authorizing an increase in base 
salary for President Washington (ATTACHMENT 4). 

 
The motion was SECONDED by Secretary Meese.  There was no discussion.  MOTION CARRIED 
UNANIMOUSLY BY VOICE VOTE. 
 

IX. Public Comments 
 
No registrations for oral comment were submitted and two written public comments were received (ATTACHMENT 
5). 

 
X. Adjournment 

 
Rector Blackman called for any additional business to come before the board.  Visitor Brown wanted the record to 
state that the written comment that was received regarding diversity, equity and inclusion does not reflect what 
happened.  Rector Blackman relayed that he supports Visitor Burke and that it’s important for the Board to stand 
shoulder-to-shoulder in that regard.  Rector Blackman adjourned the meeting at 5:12 p.m. 

 
Prepared by: 
 
Sarah Hanbury 
Secretary pro tem 
 
Attachment 1:  Letter from Visitor Rosen to Rector Blackman (1 page)  
Attachment 2:  Resolution:  Online Virginia Network Authority (1 page) 
Attachment 3:  Resolution:  Incentive Retirement Plan (1 page)  
Attachment 4:  Resolution:  Increase in Base Salary for President Washington (1 page) 
Attachment 5:  Public Comment Registrations (2 pages) 
 



Cra va th
Jeffrey A. Rosen 
jrosen@cravath.com 
T+1-202-869-7724 
Washington, D.C.

September ii, 2023

Dear Rector Blackman:

I have been pleased to serve on the George Mason University Board of Visitors (the “Board”). I 
am writing in accordance with the internal policies of Cravath, Swaine & Moore LLP 
(“Cravath”), to confirm the following regarding my service on the Board:

1. I will not request nor accept payment for my Board service.

2. I will not perform legal work or provide legal advice to the Board or George Mason 
University.

3. In serving on the Board, 1 will act in my individual capacity and not as an attorney or 
other representative of Cravath.

Thank you^ 

JefWwA. Rosen

Rector Horace Blackman
Board of Visitors, George Mason University 
4400 University Drive, MSN 3A1 
Fairfax, VA 22030

NEW YORK LONDON WASHINGTON, D.C. Cravath, Swaine & Moore llp

Worldwide l^lazn CitePoim 1601 K Street NW
825 Eighth Avenue One ikopeniaker Street Washington, D.C. 20006-1682
New York, NY 10019-7475 London EC2Y 9HIL T+1-202-869-7700
T+1-212-474-1000 'l'+44-2O-7453-tO0O F+1-202-869-7600
F+1-212-474-3700 F +44-20-7860-1 150

Attachment 1 - Page 1

mailto:jrosen@cravath.com


Attachment 2 - Page 1



Attachment 3 - Page 1



Attachment 4 - Page 1



Public Comments 
George Mason University 
Board of Visitors Meeting 

September 28, 2023 

1 

1. Name:  James H. Finkelstein (Written Comment Only)    Mason Affiliation:  Professor

Comment: I am submitting this public comment to ask that the BOV publicly rebuke one of 
its members, Dr. Lindsey Burke.  As the Director of the Center for Education Policy at the 
Heritage Foundation, she sponsored a report released on September 21, 2023—''The 
Dangerous DEI Bloat at Virginia’s Public Universities."  This report directly aims at Mason, 
stating, "George Mason University, which has a reputation as a right-of-center institution, has 
7.4 DEI personnel per 100 tenure-track faculty, which is the highest of any public university in 
the country analyzed in this Backgrounder." 

This report is fatally flawed in several ways, not the least of which is that Mason was not 
included in the original sample to which it is being compared; that is, it is not a "like 
institution" to the others.  Second, the data for Mason appears to have been collected at a 
different point in time, at least two years later than the rest of the sample to which it is being 
compared.  In addition, the authors assume that Mason is a "right-of-center institution" but 
provide no evidence for making this claim.  They use this claim as a "straw man" to suggest 
that promoting diversity undermines the university's reputation. 

Most importantly, nowhere in this report do the authors or the Heritage Foundation disclose 
Dr. Burke's membership on the BOV and that she chairs the Academic Programs, Diversity & 
University Community Committee.  Nor is it disclosed that she is a frequent coauthor with the 
report's first author, Dr. Jay Greene.  I urge the BOV to request that the State Inspector 
General investigate Dr. Burke's role in producing this report, including what information or 
direction she gave to Dr. Greene. 

Over three decades ago, Ed Meese, Ed Fulner, Bill Kristol, Rich Fink, and Jim Miller were 
members of the BOV. These were all nationally known conservatives. In late 1999 and early 
2000, I worked closely with Mr. Meese and Dr. Miller in creating the School of Public Policy 
despite our significant political differences.  Dr. Fulner was the founder of Heritage.  Mr. 
Meese was the Ronald Reagan distinguished Fellow at Heritage.  To the best of my 
knowledge, neither ever commissioned a study by Heritage staff to criticize Mason.  Mr. 
Kristol did not use the Weekly Standard to do so, nor did Dr. Miller have Citizens for a Sound 
Economy attack the university. 

The BOV should ask Ms. Burke to step down as chair of the committee and issue an apology 
to the Mason community.   Further, the BOV should request that the Heritage Foundation 
retract the report. 

2. Name:  Sophie Wagner (Written Comment Only)   Mason Affiliation:  Student

Comment:  Democracy onAir is coordinating a Meet Your Candidates night. This event will 
occur in Dewberry Hall and Lobby at the GMU Fairfax campus this October 24. See this link 
https://vagov.onair.cc/meet-your-candidates-fairfax/ for more information on the event 
including the 6 Republican and 6 Democratic candidates participating in town halls.  

Attachment 5 - Page 1



Public Comments 
George Mason University 
Board of Visitors Meeting 

September 28, 2023 

2 

The Fairfax County Republican and Democratic Committee and the College Republicans at 
Mason are supporting this event (I am in discussion with the Democrats at Mason). We have 
invited Senator Kaine to lead a town hall for the Democratic candidates at 7:00. We have 
invited Governor Youngkin to lead a similar town hall with the Republican candidates at 7:30. 

We are livestreaming and recording the event. We will be reaching out to local and national 
networks once we finalize the Republican and Democratic leaders for the 7 and 7:30 town 
halls. 

We will be launching the Virginia Government Hub at this event as well as promoting the 
early next year launch of the US Government Network.  

We have also reserved Dewberry Hall and Lobby on October 22, 2024 to have a similar event 
at Mason prior to the November elections with a focus on the NoVA congressional races.  

We would appreciate your assistance in promoting the event in Mason News and Mason 
Spirit. Thank you for supporting the Mason alumni and students who are leading Democracy 
onAir's efforts to engage voters in their democracy.!  

Attachment 5  - Page 2



Gregory Washington, PhD
President

President’s Report
Board of Visitors: November 30, 2023



Transformation from Good to Great!

• Campus shutdown and uncertainty 
relative to COVID-19

• Major racial strife (campus march the 
previous week)

• Most challenging economic climate in 
the state (inflation and competition)  

• Faculty morale low, staff even lower, 
primarily because of salary

• Unclear and inoperable fiscal budget
• Academically isolated, with few 

partnerships
• Stagnant rankings
• Great outcomes that nobody knows
• Unclear vision for the future

2

• Best management of any Virginia 
campus relative to COVID-19

• Launched ARIE Initiative to calm racial 
strife; achieved Minority Serving 
Institution status

• Improved morale with largest increase 
in salaries in Virginia; hired 250 staff 
and faculty

• Modernizing budget with updated chart 
of accounts and fully loaded budget

• Established multiple major partnerships 
with industry and government

• Best rankings performance in the history 
of the university

• Launched most comprehensive 
marketing and communications 
campaign in Mason history

• Executing clear vision to move the 
campus into a Top-50 public institution

November 30, 2023July 1, 2020



2023-2024 Presidential Performance Metrics

• Highest enrollment of all time – FY 24
3

Priority Proposed Status Notes
Deliver a distinctive and inclusive 
student experience that fosters lifelong 
engagement

Manage cost growth by executing on core 
components of the Critical Vacancy Plan

Salaries and wages were on budget as of Q1

Grow undergrad enrollment by 1.5% Fall 2023 undergraduate enrollment grew by 2.7%

Grow graduate and Law School enrollment by 
1.5%

Fall 2023 graduate and professional enrollment was 
down by 1.5%

Grow Mason Korea enrollment by 3% Fall 2023 enrollment grew by 19%

Expand the impact of Mason’s research, 
scholarship, and creative enterprise

Grow research expenditures by 5% (15% stretch 
goal) each year

Expenditures up 42% from FY23 October to FY24 
October

Accelerate economic and social impact Grow corporate support by 5% each year $3.3M raised towards $12.5M goal

Maintain or improve rankings Improved rankings September 2023

Maintain gifts and fundraising at $100M $30.2M raised towards $100M goal

Exemplify a university culture of 
diversity, equity, and inclusion

Completion of recommendations outlined in the 
ARIE Initiative

13 out of 15 recommendations completed

Maintain designation as a Minority Serving 
Institution

Designated in May 2023

Invest in faculty and staff success Implement FY24 Mason’s portion of the State 
Government Compensation increase

Compensation increases go into effect December 10, 
2023

Establish two new programs where faculty and 
staff are recognized

Deans are developing and initiating honorific 
committees. HR is completing a survey on recognition.



Mason has Stable and Growing Enrollment

• Highest enrollment of all time – FY 24
• Freshmen application volume up 14.8% as of Nov. 8

4



Mason is Cost Efficient

• Expenditure growth per student FTE is in alignment with 
inflation

5



Student Debt is Decreasing

• Net price and student debt is lower than it was in 2020
6



Mason is VERY Efficient

• The best efficiency metric is based on state support per graduate
• Total funds (state support and tuition and fees) per graduate show the same trend

7

Appropriations per Graduate Residing in VA — FY22



George Mason University

FY 2025 E&G Recommendations
FY 2024 NPS Funding Disparities VMSDEP Waiver Total Increase

Christopher Newport $46,097,000 $462,000 $1,131,000 $1,593,000 3%

George Mason $208,433,000 $2,868,000 $18,536,000 $4,163,000 $25,567,000 12%

James Madison $136,028,000 $1,770,000 $793,000 $2,040,000 $4,603,000 3%

Longwood $41,843,000 $282,000 $751,000 $1,033,000 2%

Norfolk State $82,467,000 $472,000 $1,048,000 $1,520,000 2%

Old Dominion $177,494,000 $1,648,000 $5,130,000 $6,778,000 4%

Radford $70,290,000 $556,000 $1,018,000 $1,574,000 2%

Mary Washington $41,976,000 $377,000 $772,000 $1,149,000 3%

Virginia $169,628,000 $2,531,000 $2,191,000 $4,722,000 3%

Virginia-Wise $30,520,000 $196,000 $87,000 $283,000 1%

Virginia Commonwealth $250,913,000 $2,691,000 $6,482,000 $9,173,000 4%

Virginia Military Institute $21,641,000 $162,000 $523,000 $685,000 3%

Virginia State $63,158,000 $499,000 $676,000 $1,175,000 2%

Virginia Tech $220,559,000 $3,028,000 $11,179,000 $3,493,000 $17,700,000 8%

William & Mary $66,364,000 $840,000 $1,713,000 $2,553,000 4%

Richard Bland $13,035,000 $143,000 $100,000 $243,000 2%

Virginia CC System $511,910,000 $5,779,000 $2,022,000 $7,801,000 2%

Total $2,152,356,000 $24,304,000 $30,508,000 $33,340,000 $88,152,000 4%

*Does not include GF share of 7.1% salary increases or TTIP.



But, we do have some issues…
• The costs associated with being in a high-cost region are exceeding 

credit hour growth in a number of units. We will need to manage 
growth and make some reductions over the short term (two years).  

• Race, immigration, abortion, freedom of speech, the Israel-Hamas 
War, China, and climate change have become significantly polarizing 
issues. Institutions of higher education have a crucial role to play in 
engaging with these complex issues. 

• The political realities of our state and the nation are in constant 
change and academic institutions must adjust to the new political 
realities. 



A polarized U.S. has emerged as the world’s greatest geopolitical risk. 
Can the U.S. overcome its own polarization to lead globally?

Race Abortion Guns

Immigration January 6 Debt

Climate Change Trade

Source: S&P Global Commodity Insights

Freedom of 
Speech



- Critical hiring process
- Unit spending reductions
- Retirement incentives
- Growth and efficiency

Manage Cost 
Uncertainty

- Mason Virginia Promise
- Spanish language

engagement
- Direct entry

Engage Everyone

- Comprehensive 
campaign

- Medical education:
- Inova, Adventist, 

VHC
- Fairfax West Campus 

expansion
- Invest in our best 

faculty and staff

Partner 
or Perish

11

Our Continued Plan for Success – FY 2024

• Establishing a new Chief Risk Officer
• Submitted Incentive Retirement Plan 
• Provost Search On-going



Provost Search
https://www.gmu.edu/provost-search

Preparation
• Interim Provost Walsh appointed
• Search committee announced
• Search page created
• Search firm proposals solicited

Planning
• Greenwood Asher & Associates selected search firm
• Listening sessions held & survey conducted
• Position profile developed
• Ads placed

Evaluation 
• Screening & review of applicants
• Candidates for first round interviews selected
• Airport interviews
• Finalists selected
• Finalist interviews

Selection 
• Committee recommendation of 2-4 finalists to President
• President selects and announces new Provost
• New Provost introduced to Mason Community

We are here



Thank You!

Obrigado!

¡Muchas Gracias!

感謝!

Merci Bien!

Asante Sana!

СПАСИБО!

Vielen Dank!

Grazie!

谢谢!

Tak!

დიდი მადლობა!Eυχαριστώ!

감사합니다

@presidentgregorywashington@GMUPres



UNCLASSIFIEDUNCLASSIFIED

Board of Visitors
November 30, 2023

Washington               Washington               George Mason  Washington               
Freedom

Board of Visitors

George Mason  George Mason  
University



2

Introduction 
Sanjay Govil (Owner – Washington Freedom)



3



4

Cricket debuting 
at 2028 OLYMPICS  
in Los Angeles 

Over 30 Million 
Cricket Fans in 
the U.S.!



Our Mission

• Support and elevate the game of Cricket in the US and locally 
• Host Major League Cricket games and International Cricket 

Matches
• Engage the next generation of youth and cricketeers
• Provide opportunities for diverse cultural events

5



2023 Washington Freedom Highlights

6



Why George Mason University?

• Shared goal of connecting the community with their heritage
• Exceptional Diverse Student Population
• Athletic Fields and existing supporting infrastructure for 

practices, sports medicine, and strength & conditioning
• Centrally located with proximity to major transportation hubs
• Growing University and diverse/international student body

7



8

2024 ICC T20 
World Cup Events 
& MLC Season

Proposed Pop-up 
Stadium Concept
Design is in progress



• Exclusive tech recruitment program between GMU and Infinite Computer 
Solutions 

• Robust paid internship program between GMU Career Services Office and 
Infinite Computer Solutions

• International recognition and media with an audience of 1.5 billion people -
showcasing collaboration between Washington Freedom + GMU with a focus 
on the Indian subcontinent

9

Additional Benefits for the GMU Community



UNCLASSIFIEDUNCLASSIFIED

QUESTIONS / DISCUSSION



November 30, 2023 

BOARD OF VISITORS
Sharnnia Artis, VP for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion and Chief Diversity Officer
Rose Pascarell, VP for University Life



2

The committee was formed to:
o Examine Mason’s diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI) staffing levels, the programs they support 

and provide additional clarity as it relates to the Heritage Foundation report
o Provide DEI metrics and impact on Mason’s internal and external communities
o Identify DEI benefits and risks
o Highlight Mason's approach to DEI

Committee Member Title & Office Name
VP for University Life and Committee Chair, APDUC Committee Rose B Pascarell
VP for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion and Chief Diversity Officer, APDUC Committee Sharnnia Artis
Interim Vice President for Human Resources Whitney Owen
President of the Faculty Senate, Board of Visitors (BOV) Member Melissa Broeckelman-Post
Senior, Public Administration, Student Government Advisor Zayd Hamid
Board of Visitors Visitor Bob Witeck
University Business Consulting University Business Consulting

Committee Members

DEI Committee Report
During the September 28th BOV Meeting, President Washington established a Diversity, Equity, and 
Inclusion (DEI) committee.



DEI Staffing Study



4

DEI Staff at Mason

DEI Personnel 
Identified by 
the Heritage 
Foundation 

(69)

Libraries
(1)

Fac Affairs 
& Dev 
Office

(1)

Academics
(9)

University 
Life
(50)

DEI Office 
(8)

The visuals below show the difference between Mason current DEI staff and the staff count reported in 
the Heritage Foundation report1.

All Mason 
DEI 

Personnel 
(13)

Libraries
(0)

Fac Affairs 
& Dev 
Office

(1)

Academics
(3)

University 
Life
(5)

DEI Office 
(4)

MicroStrategy Position by Labor Distribution Org Report, 10/25/2023 Heritage Foundation Report, The Dangerous DEI Bloat at Virginia’s Public Universities, 9/1/2023

1Heritage Foundation Report, The Dangerous DEI Bloat at Virginia’s Public Universities, The Dangerous DEI Bloat at Virginia’s Public Universities | The Heritage Foundation

https://www.heritage.org/education/report/the-dangerous-dei-bloat-virginias-public-universities/#_ftnref1


5

Staffing Analysis Outcomes
Our staffing analysis1 helped us identify similarities and differences between Mason’s current DEI personnel 
and the DEI personnel counted in the Heritage Foundation report.

1The full analysis on Mason’s DEI positions and the positions identified in the Heritage Report can be found on slides 24-26

Mason’s 
analysis 

identified 13
staff dedicated 

to DEI

Positions not counted 
due to the following 
reasons:
o Student Positions 
o Faculty Positions 
o Positions do not 

exist
o Vacant Positions
o Primary job function 

not DEI-related



6

How much does DEI cost Mason?
Mason’s DEI cost made up ~0.16% of the total FY23 budget.

Total Mason 
operating budget for 

FY23
$1.4B

Mason DEI Positions
$2.4M

(Includes salary and fringe for
13 DEI positions)

Total FY23 Budget

T



Student Success



8

Student Demographic Profile

Fall Census Report 2023 OIEP

African Am
Asian Am
Hispanic Am
White Am
Race Not Reported
Non Resident Alien
Two or More
Pacific Islander
Native Am

12%

23%

17%

33%

3%

5%
6%

<1% <1%

Fall 2023 Undergraduate Ethnicity

10%

10%

9%

38%

6%

26%

1% <1% <1%

Fall 2023 Graduate Ethnicity



Measuring Student Success
Mason is the most diverse four-year public university in Virginia and our graduation rates exceed national 
and public university graduation rates.

% Underrepresented Populations 6-Year Undergraduate Graduation % Rates

22

29 31
35

52 53 54

72
76

69
72 71 72

64

77

45

59

68

52
58

63

39

51

61

47

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Overall Asian Black Hispanic White Pell

Mason National Public Universities

NCES Fall 2020 enrollment NCES 2014 Cohort

9



Career Success Outcomes

1Positive Career Outcomes – Outcome rates of UG and graduate students within six months of graduation (includes employment, graduate school, military, or volunteer work)
2Graph based on available data from 4,575 undergraduate and graduate students out of the 9,154 who graduated in August and December 2021 and May 2022; percentages 
for American Indian/Alaska Native students based on <15 graduates and Hawaiian/Pacific Islander <10 graduates.

Mason’s commitment to producing career-ready professionals is reflected in the class of 2022’s 87% 
positive career outcomes1.

10

100%
87% 86% 87% 78% 84% 88% 77% 91%

Am. Indian/
Alaska Native

Asian Black/ African
Am.

Hispanic Nat. Hawaiian/
Pacific Islander

2 or More Races White International Not Reported

Undergraduate and Graduate Career Plans Survey Class of 2022: 
Positive Career Outcome Rates by Race/Ethnicity2

87% 
overall 

outcome 



Underrepresented Minorities (URMs) Graduation Rates in Virginia 

Bachelors (2022-2023)1 Masters (2022-2023)1

Institution # of Degrees 
Conferred % of Total # of Degrees 

Conferred % of Total

George Mason University 1955 19% 687 26%
Virginia Commonwealth University 1699 16% 394 15%

Old Dominion University 1488 14% 346 13%

Virginia Tech 1303 12% 298 11%

University of Virginia 828 8% 230 9%

James Madison University 732 7% 193 7%

Norfolk State University 722 7% 108 4%

Virginia State University 426 4% 97 4%

Radford University 414 4% 88 3%

William & Mary 335 3% 61 2%

University of Mary Washington 183 2% 60 2%

Christopher Newport University 182 2% 23 1%

Longwood University 149 1% 18 1%

Virginia Military Institute 62 1% 0 0%

University of Virginia's College at Wise 17 0% 0 0%
Total Public Four-Year Institutions 10,495 100% 2,603 100%

1SCHEV 2022-2023 Graduation Data

Mason confers the highest number of URM bachelors and masters degrees for public four-year institutions 
in Virginia.

11



12

 The profile of college students is 
rapidly becoming more ethnically 
diverse and female dominant 
(NCES, WICHE, College Board)

 Future projections show more first-
generation students, ethnic 
minorities and non-native students 
whose first language is not English 
(WICHE)

 Future students have lower 
household incomes and will require 
more financial aid and student 
loans to complete a degree 
(WICHE)

Demographic 
Profile of 
College 
Students is 
Changing



Mason’s DEI Programs



14

Mason’s DEI Programs in Action

Office for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion 
(DEI)

Ensure that all people can work and study at 
Mason without boundaries

To champion inclusive excellence through an environment that 
is safe and welcoming for everyone; one that is free of all 
discrimination and harassment; and one where all 
perspectives are valued and encouraged.

• Compliance
• Access and Accessibility
• Student, Faculty, and Staff Support
• Monitor and Assess Climate
• Community Partnerships and Outreach
• Professional Development/Constructive Dialogue

Center for Culture, Equity, and 
Empowerment (CCEE)

We envision a campus environment where every community 
member takes an active role in cultivating a space; that is 
grounded in the fundamental understanding that all identities 
are prioritized, respected, celebrated, and supported.
where members are comfortable to voice perspectives, 
engage in critical and cross-cultural dialogue, and are free 
from harm.

• Student Support
• Freedom of Expression
• Constructive Dialogue/Creating Community
• Community/Civic Engagement
• Co-Curricular/Experiential Learning
• Leadership Development



15

Mason’s National Rankings

Social mobility measures 
the ability for students to 
move from one economic 

class to another.

Colleges where students are 
most likely to encounter 

undergraduates from racial 
or ethnic groups different 

from their own.

Rights include freedom of 
speech, freedom of 

association, due process, 
legal equality, religious 
liberty, and sanctity of 

conscience — the most 
essential qualities of liberty.

The success of Mason’s DEI programs has gained the university national recognition in social mobility, 
free speech, and diversity.

Social Mobility Free Speech Diversity

#8
2024 College 
Free Speech 

Ranking

#8
Most Diverse 

University in the US
U.S. News and World Report 2023



Risks



Strategic Risk Impact
• Hinder innovation and creativity in research and education, 

impacting long-term strategic competitiveness
• Attracting and retaining diverse faculty

and staff becomes more challenging, affecting ability 
to attract top talent

17

Risk Impact

Reputational 

• TBD
• TBD
• TBD

• TBD
• TBD
• TBD

3 2

1

Financial Risk Impact
• Decrease in student enrollment,

retention and tuition revenue
• Negative public perception can lead 

to decreased donations and support 
from alumni and donors

• Legal challenges or discrimination 
lawsuits can be costly and damage 
university's finances

Compliance Risk Impact
• Not complying with 

accreditation standards related to DEI 
could risk accreditation status

• Violations of non-discrimination laws 
and regulations could result in legal 
consequences

Reputational 
Risk

Impacts of strategic, compliance, and financial risks may culminate into Reputation Risk whereby 
Mason’s reputation and brand suffer due to negative media, public perception, backlash and attention. 



Mason’s Approach to DEI



Pathways to Opportunity: The Virginia Plan for Higher Education 

SCHEV Pathways to Opportunity Report 2022

19

https://www.schev.edu/research-publications/strategic-plan/annual-report


20

Mason Strategic Direction

Mason Student 
Experience Research Partnerships DEI

Enhance the academic 
experience for all learners to 
thrive throughout their lives.

Faculty and Staff

Improve the student engagement 
experience within the Mason 

community. 

Build a dynamic alumni 
engagement strategy.

Modernize the student services 
experience. 

Grow Mason’s research and 
creative portfolios

Provide the support structures 
needed to fuel growth.

Promote recognition of Mason’s 
research, scholarship, and 

creative enterprises.

Expand national and global 
partnerships to broaden Mason’s 

reach.

Expand community outreach 
activities and programs to drive 

impact and add value in the 
communities we serve.

Strengthen and build 
relationships with partners to 

support workforce demands and 
drive economic growth.

Achieve and sustain a diverse 
and inclusive population of 
students, faculty, and staff.

Be a community resource that 
can share knowledge and insight 

on diversity, equity, and 
inclusivity issues.

Refine Mason’s governance 
structure, policies, and 

accountability measures to 
ensure diverse, equitable, and 

inclusive practices.

Be a work culture and workplace 
environment that attracts and 

retains top talent.

Enable faculty and staff success 
through effective modernization of 

Mason’s technology, process, 
and sustainable infrastructure.

Mason’s commitment to DEI is incorporated across the university’s strategic priorities published in the 
2023 Strategic Direction.

Mason’s 2023 Strategic Direction, Strategic Direction | Office of the President (gmu.edu)

Enhance the academic 
experience for all learners to 
thrive throughout their lives.

Improve the student engagement 
experience within the Mason 

community. 

Build a dynamic alumni 
engagement strategy.

Modernize the student services 

Grow Mason’s research and 
creative portfolios

Provide the support structures 
needed to fuel growth.

Promote recognition of Mason’s 
research, scholarship, and 

creative enterprises.

Expand national and global 
partnerships to broaden Mason’s 

reach.

Expand community outreach 
activities and programs to drive 

impact and add value in the 
communities we serve.

Strengthen and build 
relationships with partners to 

support workforce demands and 
drive economic growth.

Achieve and sustain a diverse 
and inclusive population of 
students, faculty, and staff.

Be a community resource that 
can share knowledge and insight 

on diversity, equity, and 

Refine Mason’s governance 
structure, policies, and 

accountability measures to 
ensure diverse, equitable, and 

inclusive practices.

Be a work culture and workplace 
environment that attracts and 

retains top talent.

Enable faculty and staff success 
through effective modernization of 

Mason’s technology, process, 
and sustainable infrastructure.

Achieve and sustain a diverse 
and inclusive population of 
students, faculty, and staff.

Compliance

Teaching &
Learning

Alumni 
Engagement

Admissions

Expand community outreach 
activities and programs to drive 

impact and add value in the 
communities we serve.

Workforce

Professional 
Development &

Training

Community 
Partnerships

Be a community resource that 
can share knowledge and insight 

on diversity, equity, and 

Refine Mason’s governance 
Accreditation

Research
Student 
Support

Modernize the student services 

Campus 
Climate

https://president.gmu.edu/initiatives/strategic-direction


21

DEI at Mason

We visited a lot of universities before my daughter 
decided to come to George Mason and the tipping 

factor for her was the environment of the open 
environment and the feeling and sense of belonging.
And the community of inclusion that she felt when she 

came…

Mason's DEI efforts have supported me as a 
faculty member to learn how to serve the 

needs of students from different 
backgrounds and walks of life. 

My student came in through the Guaranteed Admissions 
program, did two years of Community College. They chose 
George Mason University because of the diversity and the 

support that is offered for LGBTQ student.

GMU students are poised to succeed in diverse settings 
as Mason’s classroom environment highlights the melting-pot 
of identities that has made Northern Virginia a cultural hub.

-KPMG

As someone who is a child of immigrants and first 
generation American, diversity is very important to me. In fact, 
diversity was my deciding factor in where I went to university. 
Diversity efforts on campus have made me feel seen and 

appreciated and like a true patriot in this community.

Being an international student, it was a difficult 
transition for me to settle in a foreign land, but the 
DEI efforts of Mason made the transition easier 

and accessible for me. 

Parent Student EmployerFaculty/Staff



Appendix



23

We utilized MicroStrategy1 to conduct a search for central office and college/school-level DEI 
positions using the keyword search criteria below:

• “Diversity,” “Equity,” “Inclusion,” “DEI,” “ARIE,” “Multicultural Affairs,” “African American Culture,” 
“Asian Culture,” “Latino Culture,” “Native American Culture,” “Women’s Center,” and “LGBTQ 
Center.”

We excluded the categories below from the final count to ensure our count was accurate:
• Compliance staff whose primary responsibility is to ensure compliance with legal obligation
• Women and Gender Studies professionals whose primary responsibility is to provide research 

and teaching on gender issues
• Faculty and staff in academic centers dedicated to research and teaching (professors, 

researchers, etc..)
• Students
• Vacant positions
• Primary job function not DEI-related

Mason personnel who spend 51% or more of their time on DEI were included in the count.

Our Methodology

1An internal application that interfaces with Banner to analyze internal and external data in order to make informed business decisions.



24

Positions Correctly Identified 
Position Title Office
Vice President for Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion & Chief Diversity Officer Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Inclusive Education Manager Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Director of DEI Strategic Partnerships and Initiatives Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Equity, Engagement, and Belonging Manager Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

Director, Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment 

Assistant Director, Coalition Building and Diversity Education Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment 

Assistant Director, Student Engagement For Racial Justice Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment 

Director, LGBTQ+ Resources Center LGBTQ+ Resources Center

Associate Director LGBTQ+ Resources Center

College of Science Director of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion College of Science

Associate Dean for Diversity, Outreach, and Inclusive Learning, College of Engineering College of Engineering and Computing

Director of Faculty Diversity, Inclusion and Well-Being, (FA&D) Faculty Affairs and Development Office

Total Count: 12

Position Title Office
Director of Diversity CVPA College of Visual and Performing Arts

Total Count: 1

The position below is a Mason DEI position not included in the Heritage Foundation report count



25

Positions Incorrectly Identified 
Position Title Office Reason not included

Executive Assistant & Office Manager Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Primary job function not DEI-related

Office Assistant Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Primary job function not DEI-related

DEI Coordinator Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Vacant Position

DEI Case Coordinator for Community Engagement Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Primary job function not DEI-related

Assistant Dean, Director of Diversity and Inclusion University Life Position does not exist

Business Manager Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Primary job function not DEI-related

Assistant Director, Office of Diversity, Inclusion and Multicultural Education Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Vacant Position

Officers, Coalition Building and Diversity Education (3) Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Positions do not exist; Student Organization Positions

Office Liaison Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Part-time Wage Worker

IT Tech Support Specialist Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Part-time Wage Worker

Business Manager, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion LGBTQ+ Resources Center Primary job function not DEI-related

Faculty-in-Residence, LGBTQ+ Resources LGBTQ+ Resources Center Faculty Position/Primary job function not DEI-related

Director, Women and Gender Studies Center Women Gender Studies Center Faculty Position/Primary job function not DEI-related

Associate Director Women Gender Studies Center Vacant Position

Director, Office of Diversity and Inclusion, College of Education and Human Development College of Education and Human Development Faculty Position/Primary job function not DEI-related

ARIE Faculty Member College of Education and Human Development Faculty Position/Primary job function not DEI-related

Talent Equity Advisor College of Education and Human Development Faculty Position/Primary job function not DEI-related

Student Recruitment and Retention College of Education and Human Development Primary Job function not DEI-related

Associate Professor & Director of Faculty Diversity (CHSS) College of Humanities and Social Sciences Faculty Position/Primary job function not DEI-related

Diversity Associate College of Engineering and Computing Vacant Position

Director, Corley Institute for Diversity and Inclusion Education (Law) Law Vacant Position

Student Success and Inclusion Librarian Libraries Primary job function not DEI-related

Total Count: 24



26

Positions Incorrectly Identified - Students
Position Title Unit Reason not included

Graduate Assistants (5) Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student; 1 duplicate position

Student Ambassadors (5) Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student; 2 student ambassadors were double counted in report

Office Coordinator Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student

Lead Student IT Coordinator Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student

IT Associate Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student

Front Desk Receptionist (2) Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student

Staff in Black Male Success Initiative (7) Center for Culture, Equity, and Empowerment Student; 2 students in black male success initiative were double 
counted in report

Graduate Assistant, LGBTQ+ Resources Center LGBTQ+ Resources Center Student

BSW Intern, LGBTQ+ Resources Center LGBTQ+ Resources Center Student Intern

Lead Center Mentor Women Gender Studies Center Student

Center mentors (3) Women Gender Studies Center Student

Lead Program Adviser Women Gender Studies Center Student

Program Advisers (4) Women Gender Studies Center Student

Total Count:33

https://lgbtq.gmu.edu/about-us/meetourteam/


President’s Report  

Prepared for the Nov. 30, 2023 Board of Visitors Meeting 

 

Introduction 

This document begins with some selected student, alumni, and faculty highlights followed by 

accolades and rankings highlights. In accordance with the five major priorities of the strategic 

plan, this document then outlines our collective progress in each of the five areas listed below.  

1. Deliver a distinctive and inclusive student experience that fosters lifelong 

engagement. 

Cultivate a high-quality experience that embodies the Mason values and 

promotes student success, well-being, collaboration, and a lasting connection. 

2. Expand the impact of Mason’s research, scholarship, and creative enterprise. 

Bolster the infrastructure and systems that support research and collaboration. 

3. Expand partnerships for economic and social impact. 

Strengthen partnerships, alumni relations, and community building and 

engagement informed by Mason’s research, creative arts and pedagogical 

expertise. 

4. Exemplify a university culture of diversity, equity, and inclusion.  

Live a culture of belonging and inclusion and address disparities that support 

the values of access, diversity, equity, and inclusion at Mason. 

5. Invest in faculty and staff success. 

Ensure appropriate resources, processes, and technologies are in place that better 

support the faculty and staff experience. 

The document then concludes with presidential activities and speaking engagements. 

Student and Alumni Highlights: 

 A multidisciplinary team – representing social work, neuroscience, public health, and 

computer science – of three students and one alumna received $5,000 from VentureWell to 

continue to develop their app, iCONNECT SUD, which helps those struggling with 

substance use disorder connect with resources. 

 Madison Mateo, a geology major with a concentration in paleontology, is a volunteer at the 

excavation of one of the largest therapod fossils in Eastern America at the M-NCPPC 

Dinosaur Park in Laurel, Maryland. 

 Sixteen undergraduates from the Schar School visited the White House to help the Bidens 

welcome Australia prime minister Anthony Albanese and his partner Jodie Haydon to the 

United States. 



 Second-year law student Mack Freilich interned with an aviation-focused law firm 

which afforded him the opportunity to take part in case reviews and sit in on meetings 

with the Federal Aviation Administration. 

 The American Society for Criminologists awarded C.J. Appleton, a PhD student 

in Criminology, Law, and Society, the Ruth D. Peterson Fellowship for Racial and Ethnic 

Diversity. 

 English major Kevynne Dimaano spent her summer interning with the Library of Congress 

where she developed a puzzle game based on early 20th century newspaper rebuses. 

 Alex Hussein, BS Information Systems and Operations Management ’21, is the food 

influencer behind Instagram's @DCSpot, where he dishes on the Washington, D.C., area 

restaurant scene to more than 200,000 followers. 

 Rob Townsend, PhD History ‘09, who serves as the Director of Humanities, Arts, and 

Culture Programs at the American Academy of Arts and Sciences, conducted a national 

study that details humanities graduates' successes in the U.S. workforce in various 

professions. 

 “Jazz,” a film that Andrew Opitz, Film and Video Studies ’23, directed for his senior 

capstone, was a semifinalist in the Student Academy Awards Alternative/Experimental 

category. 

Faculty Highlights: 

 Physics and astronomy professor Fereshte Ghahari Kermani became the first Mason 

faculty member to receive the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Early Career Award.  

She also is part of an international team that developed a "quantum ruler" to measure the 

properties of moiré quantum matter. 

 History professor Gabrielle Tayac led a summer institute called IndigenoUS Northern 

Virginia, bringing students together with different communities and tribal members to learn 

about their role in the foundation and growth of Northern Virginia. 

 Psychology professor Tara Chaplin has been awarded a $500,000 NIH Independent 

Research Scientist Award for her research on understanding the role of parenting and 

emotional arousal in the development of substance use in adolescence. 

 Maryam Parsa, a professor in electrical and computer engineering, is one of the 

four principal investigators on a three-year, $2.4 million NSF-funded project to create chips 

that process information like the hippocampus. 

 Public health professor Y. Alicia Hong received a $115,000 grant from the National Institutes 

of Health-National Institute of Aging Emory Roybal Center to expand her study of a social 

media intervention for Chinese American caregivers of people with dementia. 

 School of Integrative Studies professor Susan Howard, PhD environmental science and 

policy ’20, created “Go Nisha Go,” an award-winning game that helps girls and young 

women in India navigate and negotiate life choices and offers real-world resources they can 

access. 



 College of Business professor Kevin Rockmann co-authored a study that found that 

organizational leaders paying attention – and not just lip service – to creating structures and 

practices that can support positive interpersonal relationships leads to a consistently 

healthier organizational culture. 

 Research by Robinson Professor of Earth Sciences, Emeritus, Robert Hazen found a new 

technique for analyzing samples of planetary bodies that could help determine if the 

materials hold the building blocks of life. 

 Psychology professor Keith Renshaw, associate provost for Undergraduate Education, is 

working with the Virginia Department of Veterans Services on two projects that address 

suicide rates among combat veterans as part of the Governor’s Challenge to Prevent Suicide 

Among Service Members, Veterans and Their Families. 

 Jihye Lim, a global affairs professor at Mason Korea, has been appointed as a standing 

commissioner within the Peaceful Unification Advisory Council, a presidential consultative 

body led by the president of South Korea. 

 Samantha Viano, professor in the Education Leadership program in the School of Education, 

was awarded an Early Career Development (CAREER) Program grant from the National 

Science Foundation (NSF) to address STEM online credit recovery, the practice of students 

retaking online classes that they’ve failed. 

 For research funded by an NSF grant, Mason anthropologist Jamie Clark and two 

undergraduate students spent part of the summer on an archaeological expedition in 

Sefunim Cave, Israel, excavating a site with deposits going back about 21,000 years. 

 College of Engineering and Computing professor Leigh McCue is the lead investigator of an 

NSF-funded project for Persistent and Accessible Maritime Monitoring (PAMM) to create an 

autonomous surface water vehicle designed to collect water samples and reduce manual 

labor for researchers. 

 Mason athletic trainer Corey Dulak-Sigler, Patriots Performance Lab director Margaret T. 

Jones, and Jennifer B. Fields, PhD Kinesiology '20, an assistant professor of nutritional 

science at the University of Connecticut, are among co-authors of what is believed to be the 

first study to focus solely on the training and in-season physical demands of Division I 

women’s lacrosse players (lacrosse returns to the Olympics in 2028). Other Mason teams 

also benefit from the Catapult load monitoring device used in the study. 

 The American Society for Criminologists awarded Faye Taxman, a Distinguished 

University Professor in the Schar School, the August Vollmer Award for scholarship and 

professional activities that have made outstanding contributions to justice and/or the 

treatment or prevention of criminal or delinquent behavior. 

 

Rankings/Accolades Highlights: 

 EduRank ranks Mason No. 1 among public universities for research performance in 

entrepreneurship, and No. 2 overall nationally. 



 The National Academy of Inventors ranked Mason No. 91 on its list of the top 100 

universities granted patents during 2022. 

 Mason is the first Spokin Verified College, meeting a growing need for food allergy and 

celiac safety in campus dining. Spokin is a mobile app and platform dedicated to helping 

individuals with food allergies and celiac disease find safe food options. 

 The League of American Bicyclists recognized Mason as a Bicycle Friendly University for 

promoting safe, accessible bicycling on campus. The Fairfax Campus received the silver-

level Bicycle Friendly University award for the second time, and Mason Square received the 

bronze-level award for the second time.  

 ArtsFairfax honored Mason’s Osher Lifelong Learning Institute with its Education Award 

for providing exceptional arts education and opportunities to the community. 

 

1. Deliver a distinctive and inclusive student experience that fosters 

lifelong engagement.  
 

University 

Enrollment Figures 
Headcount Student FTE Credit Hours 

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 

Total 39607 40185 30380.1 31037 437354 447200.5 

VA 30439 30704 23290 23710.7 339396 346196 

OOS 9168 9481 7090.1 7326.3 97958 101004.5 

         

Undergraduate 

Enrollment Figures 
Headcount Student FTE Credit Hours 

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 

Total Undergrad 27572 28323 23592.4 24288.6 353886 364330 

VA 23451 24107 19729.6 20325.5 295944 304883 

OOS 4121 4216 3862.8 3963.1 57942 59447 

         

Graduate 

Enrollment Figures 
Headcount Student FTE Credit Hours 

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 

Total Graduate 11191 11056 6115.7 6117.7 73388 73412.5 

VA 6676 6297 3318 3154.6 39816 37855 

OOS 4515 4759 2797.7 2963.1 33572 35557.5 

         

Law Enrollment 

Figures 

Headcount Student FTE Credit Hours 

2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 

Total Law 844 806 672 630.5 10080 9458 

VA 312 300 242.4 230.5 3636 3458 



OOS 532 506 429.6 400 6444 6000 

 

ADVANCE:  

 NOVA and Mason representatives recently attended the U.S. Department of Education 

Raise the Bar Transfer Summit. Throughout the day, it was evident that the highlight of this 

nationwide convening was ADVANCE, from the Secretary and Undersecretary of 

Education naming ADVANCE as a model transfer program, to industry leaders John Fink of 

the Community College Research Center and Josh Wyner of the Aspen Institute including 

ADVANCE in their respective presentations. ADVANCE Executive Director Jason Dodge 

presented alongside Josh Wyner for a session on the Transfer Playbook. Another highlight 

of the Raise the Bar Summit was the USDOE’s announcement of new transfer data (a first of 

its kind). 

 

2. Expand the impact of Mason’s research, scholarship, and creative 

enterprise. 

FY23 Highlights: 

FY23 Total Sponsored Award Obligations up 49% from $171M to $255M 

 FY23 Federally Sponsored Award Obligations up 66% from $136M to $225M 

 FY23 F&A (Indirect) Recovery up 20% from $23.8M to $28.6M 

 FY22 NSF HERD Expenditures up 7.4% from FY21 to $230M 

Current Highlights: 

 Fatah Kashanchi in the School of Systems Biology and Center for Infectious Disease 

Research (College of Science) was awarded a $3 million NIH grant to lead an international 

team of investigators collaborating to inform the development of next-generation therapies 

for HIV-associated neurological disorders. Kashanchi also received a $75,000 grant from 

Virginia Innovation Partnership Corporation’s Commonwealth Commercialization Fund 

(CCF) to develop a novel platform to produce extracellular vesicles as a vaccine source, 

which shows potential for strong, long-lasting immunity. 

 Vivian Genaro Motti in the College of Engineering and Computing and Sarah Wittman in 

the College of Business received $1.9 million for research focusing on technology to support 

neurodiverse individuals entitled "FW-HTF-RL: Success via a Human-Assistive Wearable 

Technology Partnership Fostering Neurodiverse Individuals' Work Success via an Assistive 

Wearable Technology." 

 Samantha Viano in the College of Education and Human Development received the 

prestigious NSF CAREER Award in the amount of $1 million entitled, "CAREER: Second 

Chance STEM: Uncovering school policies structuring access to and engagement in high 

school STEM credit recovery."  

 Kai Zeng in the College of Engineering and Computing received $800,000 for Next G 

communications research entitled, "Collaborative Research: SaTC: CORE: Medium: Securing 



Next G Millimeter-Wave Communication in Programmable RF Environments with 

Reconfigurable Intelligent Surface (SECURIS)."  

Research Integrity and Assurance: 

 Research Integrity and Assurance’s Animal Care and Use program added its first USDA-

regulated species in July 2023 when hamsters arrived at the Biomedical Research 

Laboratory. Animal Care and Use staff were instrumental in preparing the BRL to support 

the use of USDA-regulated species in their vivarium and they remain critical to ensuring 

Mason’s compliance with the higher standards and process oversight required to use USDA 

species. 

 Research Integrity and Assurance, in collaboration with Institutional Compliance and 

Ethics, continues to foster a research culture of transparency and integrity. University Policy 

4021: Outside Professional Activities and Conflict of Commitment took effect in September 

2023 after more than two years of development and with collaboration from all 10 colleges. 

RAMP COI, Mason’s new electronic disclosure management system that went live in May 

2023, has provided critical infrastructure that supports Policy 4021 and updates to Policy 

4001: Conflict of Interest (August 2023) and Policy 2227: Outside Employment (currently 

underway), and the development of a new policy on Organizational Conflict of Interest that 

is planned for completion in January 2024. 

 Implementation of the IRB module of Mason’s Research Administration Management Portal 

kicked off in October 2023 with a planned go-live date in June 2024. 

Research Development Services: 

 In 2022, Mason’s Office of Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact (ORIEI) invested 

$600,000 in 10 seed funding projects to catalyze transdisciplinary research and scholarship at 

Mason, foster internal and external research collaborations, support student research, and 

ultimately enable Mason researchers to achieve external funding. In the first 12 months, this 

seed funding has resulted in:  

 20 Research Papers 

 15 grant submissions 

 5 research awards (totaling $1.9M) 

 25 collaborations 

 27 students supported or involved 

 9 new projects will be awarded in November 2023  

 Working in collaboration with the Office of Diversity, Equity and Inclusion, ORIEI recently 

notified five applicants that they will be awarded 2023 ARIE seed funding. A mid-project 

survey of the seven 2022 awardees is under way. 

Institutes: 

 A new facility for the Center for Community Mental Health, led by Robyn Mehlenbeck, and 

Center for Evidence-Based Behavioral Health, led by Christy Esposito-Smythers, was 

opened in the City of Fairfax to expand care and workforce training in the community. The 



Center for Community Mental Health provides state-of-the-art, accessible, affordable, and 

culturally sensitive therapy and testing services to those in need, regardless of income. In 

parallel, the center provides advanced research and training for the next generation of 

behavioral health providers. The Center for Evidence-Based Behavioral Health brings 

together Mason faculty, with different areas of expertise, to offer training and consultation 

to the community’s behavioral health workforce in culturally responsive, research-based, 

behavioral health treatments. Both centers are building on prior significant impact within 

the community. 

 The Institute for Biohealth Innovation partnered with non-profit IndoUSrare to host the first 

Bridging Indo US Rare Summit to raise awareness and support for over 330 million 

Americans and 1.5 billion Indians affected by rare diseases. Leaders from the FDA, NIH, 

small and large pharma, academia, healthcare, and patient advocate organizations convened 

at Mason to explore the opportunities to accelerate diagnosis and treatment of rare diseases.  

 Mason’s Institute for Biohealth Innovation is a founding member of the Virginia 

Coordinated Clinical Research Network (VCCRN) launched in Fall 2023. The statewide 

network was created to foster collaboration and accelerate the growth and impact of clinical 

research and trials across the Commonwealth. The network unites healthcare, higher 

education, and biotechnology/life sciences with a vision to make Virginia a national leader 

in clinical research and trials, address health disparities and improve outcomes, and 

generate economic growth. This creates expanded opportunities for faculty and students at 

Mason to engage in clinical research studies. 

 The Center of Excellence in Government Cybersecurity Risk Management and Resilience 

was launched on Nov 8. The center is co-directed by Amarda Shehu, associate vice 

president of research for IDIA, and JP Auffret, Director of the Center for Assurance Research 

and Engineering. The center is a collaboration between the College of Engineering and 

Computing and the College of Business, envisioned and brought to fruition by IDIA and 

supported through a $1.04 million community project championed by U.S. Congressman 

Gerry Connolly. The all-day event, with more than 100 participants, brought together 

Mason leadership, faculty and researchers, and prominent leaders in government and 

industry. The event included remarks from President Washington and Andre Marshall, Vice 

President for Research, Innovation, and Economic Impact, and a panel discussion among 

Marshall and the deans of CEC and the College of Business, Ken Ball and Ajay Vinzé. 

Engaging presentations and panels brought together leaders from government, industry, 

and our community, including the Government Accountability Office, the Virginia 

Information Technologies Agency, Fairfax County Public Schools, the ACM US Technology 

Policy Committee, IBM, CGI, aiLeaders LLC, Naval Surface Warfare Center Dahlgren, and 

more. The center will advance Mason's mission of cutting-edge research and innovation, 

workforce development, and community impact. 

 

 



3. Expand partnerships for economic and social impact. 

Tech Talent Investment Program:  

The Tech Talent Investment Program (TTIP) is a partnership between Virginia and its 

universities to increase the number of highly skilled graduates in computing fields. Awarded in 

FY20, the TTIP program provided a $235 million grant with an additional $125 million 

philanthropic match commitment to grow computing programs and graduates over the next 20 

years. 

 

 Through FY23, Mason has exceeded cumulative BS and MS computing degree production 

targets (3 SCHEV Classification of Instructional Programs Codes).  

 Annual TTIP BS graduate degrees have increased by 35%. 

 Annual TTIP MS graduate degrees have increased by 186%. 

 Philanthropic match of $21.6 million has been secured ($125 million required). 

 

Current highlights:  

 On Nov. 13, State Secretary of Finance Stephen Cummings informed Mason that based on 

FY23 performance, Mason will receive the full TTIP funding amount for FY24.    

Mason Enterprise:  
 Mason Enterprise is the host to federal, state, and local programs that support entrepreneurs 

and small businesses.   

 The FY23 economic impact was $3.36 billion, achieved through 40,000 hours of 1:1 

counseling to 10,000 small businesses, 1,600 training programs for 30,000 attendees, and 

550+ companies incubated. 61% of businesses served were woman-owned, 46% were 

minority-owned, and 15% were veteran-owned. 

Current Highlights: 

 The Accelerate Investor Conference attracted 66 investors with 42 companies pitching and 

hosted 400 attendees across four venues. Last year’s impact (so far) was $11.1 million, 

expected to continue to grow. 

 Mason life science startup, AexeRNA, has been acquired. AexeRNA licensed a lipid 

nanoparticle-based mRNA delivery technology developed by researchers at Mason and the 

University of Pennsylvania. The technology’s founders from Mason include the late Michael 

Buschmann as well as Mikell Paige (College of Science), Suman Alishetty (CEC), and PhD 

student Manuel Carrasco (bioengineering). 

Fuse at Mason Square: 
 Fuse at Mason Square will house a mix of university R&D and related education programs, 

as well as corporate innovation labs, incubators, accelerators, co-working facilities, retail, a 

below-grade parking garage, and enhanced public spaces on the Mason Square (formerly 

Arlington Campus). The 345,000 square foot project will incorporate state-of-the-art smart 



and green building technologies, as well as advanced cyberinfrastructure essential to 

advance the digital innovation goals of thousands of university, industry, and community 

innovators who will use Fuse facilities. CEC now has the largest enrollment on Mason 

Square after the Scalia Law School and the Schar School. 

Current Highlights: 

 On Nov. 3, university officials, regional economic leaders, government partners, media, and 

students gathered at Fuse at Mason Square to celebrate the building's "topping out," the 

completion of the building’s structural frame. President Gregory Washington and Liza 

Wilson Durant, associate provost for strategic initiatives and community, spoke at the event, 

and hard-hat tours were conducted. Students and faculty demonstrated some of the novel 

technologies, inventions, and solutions that will flourish at Fuse. 

 

Development/Advancement: 

Fundraising to date (as of 11/14/2023): 

 $385.5 million raised toward $1 billion overall campaign goal 

 $25.9 million raised toward $100 million FY24 goal 

 The Mason CEHD Research Practice Partnership (RPP) is a collaborative effort between the 

College of Education and Human Development and administrators and educators 

representing the 19 school divisions comprising Virginia Region 4 (Northern Virginia). The 

RPP is dedicated to harnessing collective resources to address key challenges in the region 

and measurably contribute to improved conditions for the education community, and in 

turn, to equitably impact the quality of life for students, families, and society. The RPP is 

intentionally organized to engage diverse forms of expertise and perspectives, across 

practitioners, scholars, and organizations, as well as disciplines and methods, in knowledge 

generation around pressing problems of practice and/or policy. The Mason/Region 4 RPP 

will be focusing primarily on three problems of practice with multiple work streams within 

each: 

 Building teacher and leader capacity  

 Education community well-being, including teachers, students, and staff  

 Creating a new narrative around teaching, and teachers  

 Mason’s RPP efforts will ideally result in new insights into the processes, practices, and 

policies that improve education for learners, educators, families, communities, and 

educational institutions. 

 University Priorities/Corporate and Foundation Relations (UP/CFR) partnered with 

University Events to host the “topping out” celebration for Fuse at Mason Square. The event 

featured 16 faculty/student demos of Fuse-related technologies and research (in total, more 

than 80 faculty and students displayed their work for event guests). 

 UP/CFR partnered with Paula Sorrell and the Mason Enterprise Center to host Accelerate 

2023. The event featured: 



  $250,000+ in event sponsorships 

 103 companies applied; 42 pitched at conference 

 32 student teams; 20 pitched at conference; 14 student teams from Mason 

 Event registration: 500 (estimated attendance; awaiting final number)   

 In partnership with the President’s Office, UP/CFR hosted the President’s Innovation 

Advisory Council. The meeting included discussion around Fuse/TTIP partnership 

opportunities, expansion of the Mason Enterprise Center into Fuse and impact on 

programs/services for Virginia’s small businesses and entrepreneurs as part of the Mason 

Virginia Promise.  

 In September, the PIAC launched its Partnership Subcommittee co-chaired by Pallabi Saboo 

and Victor Hoskins. The Partnerships Subcommittee explores thematic areas of focus to 

create greater alignment between industry partners, Mason’s three institutes (Institute for 

Digital Innovation, Institute for Sustainable Earth, and Institute for Biohealth Innovation), 

and the region’s industry associations (Northern Virginia Technology Council, National 

Defense Industrial Association, Virginia Bio, Data Center Coalition, etc.). The Partnerships 

Subcommittee also explores opportunities for community partnerships, exploring thematic 

areas of focus and strategic partnerships with local and regional stakeholders, such as the 

Arlington, Fairfax, Prince William County EDAs and Chambers, school districts, nonprofits, 

etc.  

 On Oct. 20, more than 250 people attended the Celebration of Distinction, the university’s 

longest-running celebration of Mason alumni. Advancement awarded 16 academic and 

affinity chapter Distinguished Alumni awards, and five Mason Alumni Awards, including: 

Student of the Year, Faculty Member of the Year, Graduate of the Last Decade (GOLD), 

Alumni Service Award, and Alumnus of the Year. Awardees traveled from as far away as 

Liberia to attend and included the Secretary of State for the state of Wisconsin, a former 

Miss DC America, and the alumnus of the year, Shaza Andersen, who is the founder of two 

Washington-area based banks.  

 The Office of Alumni Relations is preparing to roll out a nationwide engagement tour. 

Alumni, donors, and friends of the university within 100 miles of each city will be invited to 

attend an event. Planned tour stops include Atlanta, GA; Jacksonville, FL; Memphis, 

Nashville and Knoxville, TN; Emmitsburg, MD; Richmond, VA; Orlando, FL; Brooklyn, NY, 

and multiple cities in California. More stops will be added throughout the year. 

 The Office of Alumni Relations and University Career Services partnered to launch a new 

series called “Real Talk.” These webinars, geared toward students approaching graduation, 

feature alumni panelists and are focused on career and professional development as well as 

workplace topics once they’ve landed the job. The inaugural webinar was entitled “Support 

Your Community AND Expand Your Network.” It was moderated by Career Services and 

featured four alumni panelists. 

 Homecoming is Saturday, Jan. 27, 2024. The Office of Alumni Relations will host its 

traditional tailgate in the alumni tent which features food and beverages, as well as music 



and family friendly entertainment. The men’s basketball team will take on Rhode Island at 4 

p.m. Saturday and the women’s basketball team will play VCU at 3 p.m. Sunday, Jan. 28. 

4. Exemplify a university culture of diversity, equity, and inclusion. 

 Mason’s Faculty and Staff Affinity Group hosted a networking reception on Nov. 15, with 

more than 130 faculty and staff from across Mason’s academic and administrative units 

coming together to encourage collaboration and engagement across college/school and 

departmental lines. 

 The Campus Pride Index has rated Mason a 5-Star Premier Campus. Mason has also been 

recognized as a Best of the Best Campus for LGBTQ+ students. 

5. Invest in faculty and staff success. 

Recruit and Retain Talent:  

 Successfully completed the next phase of the PageUp system transformation to manage, 

streamline, and enhance the recruitment process. Position descriptions were launched in 

PageUp in Spring 2023 and applicant tracking went live on Oct. 16. These enhancements 

have several benefits: the new applicant tracking system (ATS) is now an integrated solution 

with Position Management and Banner data, eliminating duplication. It simplifies the hiring 

process for the unit and applicant overall experience, and addresses compliance and 

recordkeeping gaps. 

 In parallel, the process of advertising positions was simplified, resulting in same-day job 

postings to external sites from posting on https://jobs.gmu.edu. HR also centralized 

advertising funding to take advantage of economies of scale and provide significant cost 

savings to the university. 

 297 jobs were posted and 97 were filled between 5/13/23 and 11/13/23, which is a 26% fill 

rate. The average time to fill during this six-month period was 66 days. The month of 

October affected hiring timeline and fill rate because of training, cutover and transitionary 

period between PeopleAdmin and PageUp migration.   

 

Performance Management:  

 Increased performance review participation by 35% for employees and supervisors in the 

first (optional) midcycle performance check-in. 

 The HR Performance Management team will administer the Mason Korea staff annual 

evaluation for the first time – anticipated to launch Dec. 10. 

 Faculty-Staff Enrichment Day took place on Oct. 25 with over 200 in-person attendees, with 

resoundingly positive feedback. 

 The Inclusive Excellence Incubator, a self-led training and networking program for 

administrative professionals, should rollout in early 2024. 

 The FY24 Reward & Recognition Email Program is a new program to engage and retain our 

employees: 



 5,140 emails sent from July to November congratulating Mason employees on 

their work anniversary month (all employee classifications) 

 335 1-year work anniversary certificates sent via email to faculty and staff 

(full-time classified staff, A/P faculty, and I/R faculty) 

 128 3-year work anniversary certificates sent via email to faculty and staff 

(full-time classified staff, A/P faculty, and I/R faculty) 

 Recognized and appreciated a collective total of over 7,000 years of service to Mason and/or 

the Commonwealth of Virginia during the November Green and Gold Day ceremonies 

denoting 5-year increments of service. Longest serving employees: 20 years: 53; 25 years: 38; 

30 years: 21; 35 years: 5; 40 years: 4; 45 years: 2 

 

Improved Policies and Procedures: 

 An updated University Policy 1204: Prohibited Relationships with Students was enacted in 

October in collaboration with Legal. 

 

Faculty Awards: 

 Christopher Kardambikis, associate professor in the School of Art, was recently named the 

Fenwick Fellow award recipient for 2023-24. Kardambikis’ research project, “Documenting a 

Quarter Century of Small-Press and DIY Publishing in the United States,” will collect 

interviews with people who are or were engaged in small-press or independent publishing 

projects across the country, focusing on individuals who can speak to specific local 

publishing scenes and describe how these scenes developed since the year 2000. 

 4-VA@Mason, part of a statewide collective of higher education institutions, announced the 

Collaborative Research Awards for the 2023-2024 academic year on October 3, with 10 

projects spearheaded by Mason faculty and eight with Mason faculty acting as co-PIs. The 4-

VA@Mason 2023-24 Collaborative Research Grant winners, with partner schools in 

parentheses, include: 

 Akerlof, Karen (COS) – Bridging Science and Policy in the States: A Study of 

Emerging Mechanisms to Train Scientists and Engineers (VT) 

 Enfield, Jacob (CVPA) – MySQL Murder Mystery (VMI) 

 Furst, Kirin Emlet (College of Engineering and Computing) – The role of the 

air-water interface in breakthrough of PFAS and phthalate esters during wastewater 

treatment (VT) 

 Jones, R Christian (COS) – Using Taxonomic, Pigment and Molecular Analysis to 

Characterize Algal Blooms in the Shenandoah River (ODU) 

 Kang, Pilgyu (CEC) – Machine learning assisted laser manufacturing of alloy 

nanoparticle graphene hybrid materials for high performance hydrogen sensing 

(UVA) 



 LaFrance, Michelle (College of Humanities and Social Sciences) – The Virginia 

Community and Public Writing Collaborative (JMU, VCU, VT, UVA) 

 Lawrence, Heidi (CEHD) – A Rhetorical Approach to Challenges in Blood 

Donation (VT) 

 Raffegeau, Tiphanie (CEHD) – Using Virtual Reality to Study Cognitive and 

Affective Risk Factors for Falls in Older Adults (ODU) 

 Straus, David (COS) – The Role of Diabatic Heating in Determining Atlantic 

Storm Paths (UVA) 

 Van Aken, Benoit (COS) – Protection of RNA by Association with 

Macromolecules Implications for Wastewater Based Epidemiology (VT) 

 Yu, Yun (COS) – Nanoscale Visualization of Electrocatalytic Carbon Dioxide 

Reduction Activity at Cu Nanocatalysts (UVA) 

 Zhu, Ziwei (CEC) – Towards Consolidated and Dynamic Debiasing for Online 

Search and Recommendation (VT) 

The following Mason faculty received funding as Co-PIs collaborating with other 4-VA 

institutions in parentheses: 

 Chowdhury, Ahsan (COS) – The Commonwealth Proofs Project Collaborative: 

Promoting Students' Understanding of Logical Implications and their 

Transformations (VT) 

 Dromgold-Sermen, Michelle (CHSS) – New American Resources: Partnerships 

and Initiatives at Virginia Higher Education Institutions to Strengthen Virginia's 

Migration Support (VT) 

 Jing, Hao (COS) – Acoustics-enabled Noncontact Manipulation, Patterning, and 

Assembly of Complex-shaped Micro/nanoparticles for Advance Manufacturing (VT) 

 LaToza, Thomas (CEC) – Visualizing Code Changes to Understand Students’ 

Mental Models in Programming Education at Scale (VT) 

 Stone, Victoria (CEHD) – Increasing Mental Health Services in K-12 Settings by 

Helping Provisionally Licensed School Counselors Meet the Requirements for Full 

Licensure as Professional School Counselors in Virginia (JMU) 

 Stone, Victoria (CEHD) – Supporting K-12 Students after Psychiatric 

Hospitalizations: Piloting Mixed Reality Simulation Training for School Mental 

Health Professionals (UVA) 

 Van Aken, Benoit (COS) – Hyperspectral Imaging for the Real-time Detection of 

Microplastic Particles in Seafoods (VT) 

 Zhu, Ziwei (CEC) – Break the Dilemmas between Model Performance and 

Fairness: A Holistic Solution for Fairness Learning on Graphs (VT) 

 The Office of Research Innovation and Economic Impact (ORIEI) announced the results of 

the 2023 ORIEI Seed Funding Initiative in early October 2023. More than 50 applications 

were submitted and nine were selected for funding: 



Building the Foundation: 

 Creating a Mason-based interdisciplinary community-academic partnership for fall-

prevention in older adults: 

 PI: Tiphanie Raffegeau (CEHD) 

 Co-PIs: Jatin Ambegaonkar (CEHD); Debra Stroiney (CEHD); Emily Ihara (CPH); 

Catherine Tompkins (CPH) 

 Contributions and Challenges of the H-1B Visa Program in the United States 

 PI: Michelle Dromgold-Sermen (CHSS); Co-PI: James Witte (CHSS) 

 Foam fractionation for simultaneous removal of PFAS and DBP precursors in potable reuse 

 PI: Kirin Emlet Furst (CEC) 

 Advancing Distributed Deep Learning: Computation, Communication, and Data Efficient 

Algorithms 

 PI: Mingrui Liu (CEC) 

 Computational Simulations of Human Habitats in Space 

 PI: Anamaria Berea (COS) 

 Bio-inspired Metamaterials via Additive Manufacturing: Design & Optimization  

 PI: Shaghayegh (Shay) Bagheri (CEC) 

 Co-PI: Maryam Parsa (CEC) 

 

Take It to the Next Level: 

 Influence of Internalized Racism on Maternal Mental Health and Infant Health Outcomes in 

Washington, DC 

 Co-PI: Amira Roess (CPH) 

 Co-PI: Akila-Ka Ma’at (CHSS); Leah Adams (CHSS); Virginia Espina (COS); Anna 

Pollack (CPH) 

 Ubiquitous Sign Language Recognition and Interactions Using WiFi 

 PI: Parth Pathak, Department of Computer Science (CEC) 

Huzefa Rangwala, Department of Computer Science (CEC) 

 Breaking Cycles of Crime Through Employment: A Study of Tempus Novo’s Successful 

Rehabilitation Model 

 PI: Daniel Houser (CHSS) 

Co-PI: Cesar J. Rebellon (CHSS) 

New Resources: 

 The Office of the Provost and University Life released two important resources on Oct. 16 

that reinforce the university’s commitment to educating the Mason community about 

inclusivity, accessibility, and mental health; providing resources for faculty, staff, and 

students; and connecting those in need with clinical care:  

 The “Language Matters” guide provides faculty, staff, and students with critical 

information to dispel myths about mental health and to address language that may 

create barriers to seeking help. 



 The guide, “Let's Help Our Students: Access, Equity, and Inclusion for Students with 

Disabilities,” outlines for faculty and staff how to work with students who need 

accommodations by providing guidelines, key terms, laws and policies, examples, 

and resources to help with inclusion and the breaking down of barriers. 

Milestones: 

 Fairfax City Mayor and Mason alumna Catherine S. Read, BA Government and Politics ’84, 

and College of Business Dean Ajay Vinzé signed a partnership agreement on Oct. 2 aimed at 

promoting economic growth in the city while giving students access to experiential learning 

opportunities that will benefit local businesses and students. 

 The Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter School for Peace and Conflict Resolution hosted a two-day 

symposium, “A Celebration of Legacy and Impact: Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter 

Peacemakers and Leaders for Change,” on Oct. 16-17. The symposium commemorated the 

Carters’ contributions to making the world more peaceful. Highlights included: 

 A behind-the-scenes photo presentation of the Camp David Peace Accords by 

Bill Fitz-Patrick, former White House photographer 

 A discussion of the history of global and mental health and the impact of the 

Carters’ work in addressing, de-stigmatizing, and making treatment available 

for mental health 

 A panel of local religious leaders speaking on the topic of humanitarian 

service and religion 

 A discussion of the events and politics that impacted Jimmy Carter’s 

presidential campaigns and the parallels to today 

 The Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter School for Peace and Conflict Resolution and the U.S. 

Department of State’s Bureau of Conflict & Stabilization Operations signed an agreement on 

Nov. 10 to become an Academic Center of Conflict Anticipation & Prevention partner.  

 With oversight from Carter School faculty, select undergraduate and 

graduate students will provide research on “current, real-world conflict-

related issues” in the interest of supporting conflict resolution and 

stabilization efforts. 

 This partnership will allow Carter School students to contribute to 

international peacebuilding efforts with actionable research and provide 

valuable insight as to how the State Department considers approaches to 

conflict prevention or mitigation in regions around the world. 

 A ribbon cutting was held on Oct. 27 in partnership with the City of Fairfax in the Center for 

Community and Mental Health’s (CCMH) new location on Main Street. The center is the 

main training clinic for Mason doctoral candidates in clinical psychology, as well as 

students in other behavioral health disciplines. CCMH provides evidence-based, accessible, 

affordable and culturally sensitive therapy and testing services to the Northern Virginia 

community.  

 



Federal Government Relations Update: 

 Two Open House Seats Affecting Mason: Two Virginia Congresswomen announced that 

they will not be seeking re-election in 2024 and both represent part of Mason.  Rep. Jennifer 

Wexton (D-10) said she will not seek a fourth term because she is suffering from 

supranuclear palsy, a rare neurological disorder that affects body movements, walking and 

balance, and eye movements. The 10th district includes Mason’s Science & Technology 

campus, which she has visited twice, along with the Mason and Partners clinic in Manassas 

Park.  The Congresswoman has sponsored four Mason earmarks. Congresswoman Abigail 

Spanberger (D-7) announced that she will forgo re-election to a fourth term, choosing 

instead to run for Governor in 2025. The 7th district includes Mason’s Potomac Science 

Center, which she has recently visited.  Both the 10th and 7th districts are considered 

competitive, but lean Democrat. 

 Honoring Rep. Connolly at Center Opening: Paid tribute to Congressman Connolly (D-11) 

at the opening of Mason’s new Center of Excellence in Government Cybersecurity Risk 

Management and Resilience. In his keynote address, praised Rep. Connolly for securing the 

$ 1 million in Congressional funds via an earmark for Mason to establish the Center. The 

Congressman had intended to be there but had to withdraw at the last minute due to votes 

on the House floor.   Rep. Connolly has a long history of leadership in authoring and 

advancing legislation to improve government IT modernization, management, and 

cybersecurity. The Center will directly support and advance cybersecurity leadership and 

governance across the U.S. federal government by developing and providing career-long 

cybersecurity and IT modernization learning opportunities for federal government IT and 

cyber executives and middle managers. 

 Mason Earmark Requests: Mason currently has five earmarks for $4,198,000 pending in 

FY24 appropriations bills. The earmarks focus on health care workforce development; 

establishing an interdisciplinary space center; using AI to reduce emergency response times, 

helping small business understand and use AI; and developing techniques to reduce crime 

on Metro. The appropriations bills that contain one or more of the earmarks are the House 

Commerce-Justice-Science, the Senate Financial Services and the Senate Labor-HHS-

Education measures.  These bills must become law for the earmark funding to be released. 

 Three Members of Congress Join President Washington in Addressing Event Honoring 

President Jimmy Carter: The Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter School for Peace and Conflict 

Resolution hosted a two-day symposium event entitled “A Celebration of Legacy and Impact: 

Jimmy and Rosalynn Carter Peacemakers and Leaders for Change. Provided opening remarks, 

followed later by U.S. Senator Tim Kaine (D-VA), Congressman Gerry Connolly and 

Congressman Don Beyer (D-8). Each of the three discussed different aspects of President 

Carter’s contribution to peace and conflict resolution during and after his presidency. 

 Schar School Capitol Hill Day: Two key staff members of Virginia’s Congressional 

delegation participated in the Schar School’s Capitol Hill Day. Congressman Don Beyer’s 

chief of staff discussed policymaking in the House of Representatives, and Sen. Tim Kaine’s 



legislative director discussed policy making in the Senate.  The day included experts in the 

Congressional process representing various organizations. 

 Mason Joins College Cost Transparency Initiative: Mason, along with over 400 other 

higher education institutions, has joined the College Cost Transparency (CCT) initiative, a 

voluntary effort to follow clear principles and standards for financial aid offers. The effort 

comes after concerns raised by Members of Congress and a GAO report that found widely 

different financial aid offer letters can be extremely confusing to students and families. The 

initiative is to help institutions make sure that aid offers are transparent, that costs are 

understandable for students and families, and that aid offers include the most accurate 

estimate possible of a student’s costs. 

 Harmful Algal Bloom Workshop – With a grant from the National Oceanic and 

Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), Mason’s Potomac Science Center conducted a 

workshop on Harmful Algal Blooms and their ongoing impact on the Chesapeake Bay.  

Participants included experts from NOAA and the Environmental Protection Agency as 

well as the environmental staffers from Senators Tim Kaine and Mark Warner (D-VA). 

 

State Government Relations Update: 

 FY 24 Budget Bill Signing: Governor Glenn Youngkin signed amendments to the FY24 

budget, which passed the legislature during special session in early September. Mason 

succeeded in securing an additional $8 million for operating, $12.75 million for financial aid, 

$1.2 million for maintenance reserved, and a 2 percent salary increase, effective December 

10.  The Governor’s proposed budget for the remainder of his term will be introduced on 

December 20. 

 Met with Legislators in Southwest Virginia: Traveled to the Southwest Virginia region in 

late September to meet with legislators projected to be on committees relevant to Mason’s 

policy priorities. Traveled to Bristol, Abington, Duffield and Tazewell, Virginia, 

highlighting community college partnerships and investments from the Mason managed 

Small Business Development Center (SBDC) program in each part of the region.  

 Pioneer Center/SBDC Event: Hosted a roundtable celebrating small business innovators in 

southwest Virginia, and highlighted the need for investment in Small Business 

Development Centers (SBDC) which are managed by Mason. Joined Mt. Empire 

Community College (MECC) President, Dr. Kris Westover, Vice President for Academic 

Affairs, Dr. William Brownsberger and Virginia House of Delegates Majority Leader, Terry 

Kilgore (R-1) in welcoming local leaders, economic developers and small business owners 

operating in Scott, Lee and Wise Counties, known as the LENOWISCO Planning District, in 

rural southwest Virginia. The roundtable included Keith Harless, Town Manager of 

Pennington Gap in Lee County, Jeannie Stidham, Town of Pennington, and Jean Jordan, 

representing Virginia Coalfield Economic Development Authority (VCEDA), who detailed 

ongoing efforts to incentivize small business development in the region by leveraging SBDC 



funds and other grant opportunities to provide workforce development and employment 

opportunities. Local business owners Renee Huffman Morris of Henry’s Produce, Jan 

Meade of Ivils Tutors, and sisters Melissa Hubbard and Jan Brown, owners of the Whistle 

Pig Country Store in Lee County spoke about their experiences working with the Mason-

operated SBDC in Duffield, VA, and the critical support they received to develop business 

plans, find accounting and business services and mentorship on their journey to start a 

business. MECC SBDC Director, Becki O’Quinn-Purdie facilitated the discussion, detailing 

her experiences managing the incubator and partnerships with the small business clients 

that use the center. 

 Attended Council of Presidents meeting with Governor Youngkin: Governor Glenn 

Youngkin convened a meeting of the Council of Presidents in Richmond on October 2 to 

discuss student safety and behavioral health, K-12 education preparedness, best governance 

practices, six-year plan feedback, and planning for the upcoming Higher Education Summit 

on Free Speech and Diversity of Ideas, to be hosted by the University of Virginia in late 

November.  

 Mason’s Costello College of Business Hosts Administration Officials on Fairfax Campus: 

Virginia Department of Labor Secretary Bryan Slater, the newly created Department of 

Workforce Development and Advancement Director Carrie Roth, and economic 

development colleagues from the Youngkin Administration visited the Fairfax campus in 

early October to meet with the Costello School of Business Dean Ajay Vinzé and University 

leadership to tour facilities and hear more about Mason’s workforce development 

programs. 

 October Legislative Visits: Traveled to Central Virginia and the Tidewater region to meet 

with six legislators in mid-October, continuing efforts to highlight Mason’s impact across 

the Commonwealth ahead of the 2024 General Assembly Session. 

 Virginia Economic Development Partnership and Workforce Agency Meetings in 

Richmond: Mason’s Costello College of Business Dean Ajay Vinzé traveled to Richmond to 

meet with several workforce development agency leads. In follow up to the early October 

campus visit from Labor Secretary Bryan Slater and Virginia Department of Workforce 

Development and Advancement (VDWDA) Director Carrie Roth, Dean Vinzé, JK Aier, and 

Mason’s Government and Community Relations team met with Virginia’s Secretary of 

Education Aimee Guidera, and Deputy Secretary Nicholas Kent, Meghan Welch and Abby 

Wescott from the Virginia Economic Development Partnership, and Carrie Roth and 

VDWDA’s head of legislative affairs, former Delegate Kathy Byron. The meetings resulted 

in several potential initiatives between Mason and key workforce development agencies. 

 SCHEV Council Meeting, Enrollment Projections: The State Council for Higher Education 

of Virginia (SCHEV) met in late October to receive a report from staff on enrollment trends 

and projections, and budget recommendations from the agency. SCHEV Council members 

approved Mason’s enrollment projections after a brief presentation from Vice President of 

https://www.schev.edu/home/showpublisheddocument/3261/638336523301830000
https://www.schev.edu/home/showpublisheddocument/3261/638336523301830000
https://www.schev.edu/home/showpublisheddocument/3265/638336553825130000


Enrollment David Burge. The Council voted to table the proposed budget suggestions with 

hopes of revisiting ahead of the General Assembly session. 

 VBHEC/Virginia Chamber Host Joint Education and Workforce Summit: The Virginia 

Business Higher Education Council (VBHEC)/Virginia Chamber Joint Education and 

Workforce Summit hosted more than 400 government, industry and academic leaders to 

discuss opportunities and partnerships designed to promote paid internships. Peter Blake, 

Director of the State Council for Higher Education of Virginia (SCHEV), was honored 

during the event for his years of service to the Commonwealth ahead of his retirement in 

late December. 

 October GPAC and COP Meetings: The General Professional Advisory Committee (GPAC) 

met on October 30 to receive and update on the Pell Initiative from Senate Finance & 

Appropriations staff and the Virginia Talent + Opportunity Partnership (internship 

initiative), among other matters. Senate Finance Committee staff and Education Secretary 

Aimee Guidera attended. The Council of Presidents met immediately afterwards to discuss 

cost containment, financial aid, internships, and an upcoming meeting with Governor 

Youngkin. Was joined by EVP of Finance and Administration Deb Dickenson for both 

meetings. 

 Mathy House Legislative Dinner: Hosted several legislators representing Mason’s campus 

and surrounding areas at the Mathy House. The dinner discussion focused on priorities for 

the University for the upcoming legislative session in Richmond, and ways that legislators 

can engage with the campus community throughout the year.  

 House Appropriation Committee Retreat: Current and incoming members of the House 

Appropriations Committee convened in Richmond on November 14 for the annual retreat, 

briefing members on the status of the economy, Virginia’s economic outlook, and budget 

projections. The legislators were briefed by Secretary of Finance Steve Cumming, Sonya 

Ravindranath Waddell from the Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond, and senior agency and 

committee staff. The committee discussed potential legislative and budget proposals for 

higher education, including enrollment projections, six-year plan submissions and capital 

outlay. 

 Senate Finance Retreat and Mason’s Senate Reception: The Senate Finance Committee 

held their annual retreat on November 15-17 in Tyson’s Corner, convening both current 

members of the Senate and Senators-elect. The three-day retreat provided an opportunity 

for potential new members of the committee and all members of the Senate to receive an 

overview of the budget process, economic outlook, and upcoming projections and policy 

priorities for the Commonwealth. Mason co-hosted a reception with the Virginia 

Foundation for Community College Education (Virginia’s Community Colleges System) for 

Senators, Administration officials, and senior agency staff on November 16. Provided 

remarks highlighting the support for affordability, access, capital projects, and partnership 

that the committee has championed for Mason. 

 



 Looking Forward 

o November 28: Mathy House Legislative Reception  

o November 29: Campus Free Speech Summit, Council of Presidents and Governor 

Youngkin Meeting 

o December 1: President Washington Legislative Meetings 

o December 4-5: Hunt Institute Education Summit-President Washington joins 

panel on higher education pathways 

o December 20: Governor’s Budget Release 

o 2024 General Assembly Legislative Session, January 10 

 

President’s Other External Activities & Speaking Engagements: 

 Participated in meetings of the Atlantic 10 President’s Council and Executive Committee. 

 Engaged in professional development by participating in the New Director Program hosted 

by Spencer Stuart. 

 Was elected to the National Academy of Engineering and inducted as a new member at 

their annual meeting in Washington, DC. 

 Attended the Raise the Region gala hosted by the Community Foundation for Northern 

Virginia, where Sumeet Shrivastava was recognized with the Community Leadership 

Award. 

 Provided remarks at the American Society for Engineering Education 130th Anniversary 

Celebration Gala, for which Mason was a presenting sponsor. 

 Hosted a virtual member-led forum of the Economic Club of Washington D.C. 

 Attended the 21st Annual Greater Washington GovCon Awards, hosted by the Northern 

Virginia Chamber of Commerce and the Professional Services Council. 

 Joined members of the business, investment, and tech communities at the Accelerate Investor 

Conference VIP reception, organized by the Northern Virginia Technology Council. 

 Gave an interview with Caitlin Lyons of the Washington Business Journal to discuss Dwight 

Schar and his many contributions to Mason over the years. Dwight was recognized with the 

Lifetime Achievement Award at the Washington Business Journal’s annual CEO of the Year 

program. 

 Attended the annual meeting and Council of Presidents meeting of the Association for 

Public and Land-Grant Universities in Seattle, WA. Participated in a panel on Rebuilding 

the Public Trust in Higher Education. 

 Gave an interview with Jill Devine of NOVA Magazine on the topics of Mason’s College of 

Public Health, enrollment milestones, the direct admissions program, and Mason’s future. 

 Engaged with Mason alumni from the Atlanta, GA and Jacksonville, FL regions at special 

events organized by the Office of Advancement and Alumni Relations. 

 Cheered on the Men’s Basketball Team at the Jacksonville Classic in Jacksonville, FL. 

 Hosted members of the Virginia General Assembly at a special reception at the Mathy 

House. 

 



Select President’s Internal/Campus-Related Activities & Speaking Engagements:  

 With WGMU Studios, recorded episodes of the podcast Access to Excellence:  

o An episode where the topics of public health and healthcare were discussed with 

Melissa Perry, Dean of the College of Public Health. 

o An episode where the topic of solar activity was discussed with Peter Becker, 

professor in the Physics and Astronomy department at Mason. 

 Recognized Mason’s Employees of the Month for October and November: Kyin (Jenny) Thi 

and Ethan Carter, respectively.  

 Provided remarks at the Mason Now: Power the Possible celebration attended by Mason 

faculty, staff, and students on the Merten Hall lawn. 

 Provided university updates and answered staff members’ questions at a meeting of the 

Staff Senate. 

 Engaged with staff members from Mason’s non-academic departments at a townhall session 

where university priorities and updates were discussed. 

 Hosted sessions of the President’s Student Advisory Group, where topics of importance to 

Mason students were discussed. 

 Engaged in a fireside discussion on Mason accomplishments and priorities at a reception 

hosted by Board of Trustees chair Mike Stievater. 

 Tipped off the basketball season by providing remarks at the Green Coat Society Dinner and 

Mason Madness celebration. 

 Participated in the Mason Nation Thriving Together 5k/1-mile Race, benefitting the First Gen 

Next Gen Student Scholarship Fund.  

 Marked the beginning of the season and celebrated members of the women’s basketball 

team at the Family Weekend Dinner. 

 Provided keynote remarks at the Fall Premiere, Mason’s largest annual prospective student 

open house hosted by the Office of Admissions. 

 Provided welcome remarks at the event A Celebration of Legacy and Impact: Jimmy and 

Rosalynn Carter, Peacemakers and Leaders for Change, hosted by the Carter School. 

 Recognized the contributions of members of the Board of Visitors, Board of Trustees, and 

Alumni Association at the annual recognition event at the Mathy House. Former Board of 

Visitors members Simmi Bhuller, Juan Carlos Iturregui, Mehmood Kazmi, and Carolyn 

Moss were recognized for their recent tenures on the board. 

 Provided keynote remarks and introduced Mason’s Alumnus of the Year, Shaza Andersen, 

at the annual Celebration of Distinction, organized by the Office of Advancement & Alumni 

Relations. 

 Celebrated the completion of the next phase of Mason Square at the FUSE topping out 

celebration. 

 Engaged with area business leaders on the topic of Mason’s impact in the Commonwealth 

and opportunities to support the university’s mission at the National Leadership Council, 

hosted by the Office of Advancement and Alumni Relations. 

 Engaged with faculty and staff members from Mason’s schools and colleges at a townhall 

session where university priorities and updates were discussed. 



 Engaged with students by leading sessions of the Fall cohort of the President’s Leadership 

Seminar. 

 Gave remarks at a special event hosted by the College of Engineering and Computing and 

the College of Business, Furthering U.S. Government Cybersecurity & IT Modernization 

Leadership and Governance. 

 Celebrated the accomplishments of Mason employees that have served the university 

and/or commonwealth for 20-45 years at the annual University Gold Day Lunch. 

 Celebrated the accomplishments of Mason employees that have served the university 

and/or commonwealth for 5-15 years at the annual University Green Day Breakfast. 

 Presided over the Fall meeting of the President’s Innovation Advisory Council on the 

Mason Square campus. 

 In association with the Mason ROTC program, honored our nation’s veterans at the annual 

Veteran’s Day luncheon. 

 Provided remarks at Mason’s DEI Affinity Group Networking Reception.  This networking 

reception was for faculty and staff from the following affinity groups: AAPI—Asian, Asian 

American, Pacific Islander Faculty, BLIM—Black, Latinx, Indigenous, Multiracial Faculty, 1st 

GEN—First Generation Faculty, LGBTQ+ Faculty/Staff Alliance.  The goal of this reception 

was to encourage collaboration and engagement of these groups across college and 

departmental lines.  

 Provided university updates and answered faculty members’ questions at a meeting of the 

Faculty Senate. 

 Marked the holiday festivities at the annual Thanksgiving Turkey Carving hosted by 

Sodexo. 

 

President’s Mason-Relevant Board Service: 

 Northern Virginia Technology Council 

 Consortium of Universities of the Washington Metropolitan Area 

 NOVA Chamber of Commerce 

 Virginia Business Higher Education Council 

 Internet2 

 

President’s External Board Service: 

 HBCU-UP Advisory Board 

 S&P Global 

 WGL 

 Sandia Engineering Sciences Research Foundation External Review Board 

 

Select Upcoming Events: 

 President’s Holiday Reception: December 8 



 Winter Commencement: December 14 

 Winter Break (University Closed): December 19 – January 1 

 Next Board of Visitors meeting: February 22, 2024 

 


	Continental Breakfast
	Full Board Agenda - November 30, 2023.pdf

	Executive Committee Meeting
	Executive Committee Agenda - November 30, 2023.pdf
	Executive Committee Meeting Minutes - September 28 2023 - DRAFT.pdf

	Academic Programs, Diversity and University Community Committee Meeting 
	Academic Programs, Diversity, and University Community Committee - Thursday, November 30, 2023.pdf

	Finance and Land Use Committee Meeting
	Finance and Land Use Committee - November 30, 2023.pdf

	Development Committee Meeting 
	Meeting Book - Board of Visitors Development Committee Meeting - November 30, 2023.pdf

	Research Committee Meeting 
	Research Committee Meeting - November 30, 2023.pdf

	Lunch Break
	Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee Meeting
	Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee - November 30, 2023.pdf

	I. Call to Order - Full Board Meeting
	II. Approval of Minutes
	A. Full Board Meeting on September 28, 2023 (ACTION ITEM)
	Full Board Meeting Minutes - September 28 2023 - DRAFT.pdf


	IV. President's Report 
	DRAFT Full President's Report 11-30-23 v2.docx




